
        
            
                
            
        

     
   
      
 
      
 
      
 
    Foreword 
 
      
 
    Hello, please accept my thanks for taking the time to read my book. I would like to preface your experience with some information in case you didn’t fully read the blurb before picking it. 
 
    This book is intended to be read by adults and is not for children. It features violence and descriptions of explicit sex as well as profane language. 
 
    The characters in this book are fictional, who make choices and take actions which defy societal norms and legal definitions of sexual consent.  
 
    This work is for entertainment purposes only and is not an endorsement of these activities or attitudes. 
 
    It is a bit smutty, it is a male erotic harem fantasy, emphasis on the fantasy. If you don’t want to read something of that nature, I recommend you stop now.  
 
    This book also includes Gamelit/LitRPG elements including stats and levelling. 
 
    Like many writers I have occasionally borrowed elements of my real life and incorporated them into my characters. Yet the MC is not me and should not be mistaken to reflect me or my actual feelings or opinions.  
 
    I can’t stop you from leaving a scathing review, but if any of the above is the sum of your criticism, you’re wasting your time. I intend to continue writing smutty male erotic harem fantasy set in a sex dungeon. Well maybe some of it won’t be set in a sex dungeon, but it’ll still be smutty male erotic fantasy, or sci-fi, possibly urban fantasy. Scantily clad, sexy women will be a given, everything else is negotiable I suppose. 
 
    I also have a patreon group. Please consider joining it to offer me support, maybe my patron the supreme dark sorcerer himself won’t obliterate me or turn me into a luminescent gerbil if it does well enough.  
 
    https://www.patreon.com/Devantus_Drakonis 
 
    I will also put out my new work, after it has been on my Patreon first, on Royal Road and ScribbleHub before publishing it. 
 
    Check out my second series which is debuting their Corsair & Cataclysms. An RPG Apocalypse series with harem elements. 
 
    https://www.royalroad.com/fiction/47847/corsairs-cataclysms 
 
    https://www.scribblehub.com/series/377700/corsairs-amp-cataclysms/ 
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    Chapter 1 
 
      
 
    I was relaxing in my enormous four-poster bed. It was in the early hours of the morning, Proving Grounds Time, and there was limited impending activity in the dungeons to disturb me. 
 
    Although I had instructed the Dark Moon Rising, the guild under my control, to cease their delving after midnight, because I continued to keep an open-door policy there were other groups active after that time. Mostly it was dark elf groups in zone six who were more naturally nocturnal but even most of them had knocked off by now. The final group to enter was still making their way through to the end but we could let the avatar autopilot function handle them. 
 
    I was making so much experience each week the XP penalty for not actively participating, which could have been fatal for me in the early days, was now as inconsequential as a drop of water in the ocean. If I did it with every run, I would notice the difference but not from the odd one here and there when I had more engaging activities to enjoy. 
 
    Activities like living up to my name as a sex dungeon with my harem. They currently surrounded me, but most of them slumbered in a post-coital coma. 
 
    What with the numerous dungeon runs and other important gathering and crafting work to be done, it was rare that I could gather the full harem for the requisite length of time for a proper uninterrupted orgy. 
 
    Jessamyn, the beautiful auburn-haired wood elf and my alpha mate, was pressed up against my right side in the crook of my shoulder. Fiadh, my redheaded berserker was closely moulded to Jessamyn’s back, effectively placing her in my arms as well, and my right hand gently stroked the small of her back. Karragh, my busty blonde ironskin dwarf, completed the set on the right-hand side of the bed. 
 
    Tabitha, a cute, shy brunette hare-kin was softly snoring on my left arm as I played with her ever so cute short fluffy tail. Her legs twitched softly in her sleep. Nessa, the feisty, but petite dryad once again used her diminutive size to her advantage and had crawled up onto my chest, her vine-like dreadlocks were draped around my neck. 
 
    That only left the most recent addition to my bed, the statuesque and stunningly attractive dark elf Jen’Zadeer Shadestar. She was the only member of my harem who hadn’t collapsed in sleep and was kneeling between my legs. I watched lazily as her white-haired head bobbed up and down with her sexy plump dark-grey lips welded to the shaft of my lengthy cock. 
 
    The room was filled with the combination of gentle snoring of the other women and the sloppy slurping sounds coming from between my legs as Jen’Zadeer lavished attention on my member. She was twisting the base of my shaft with her hand softly as her tongue flitted about and teased the head of my dick. Her lavender eyes met my golden-yellow ones and her lips quirked in an awkward grin. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer pulled my cock out of her mouth and saliva dribbled down her chin. She used her free hand to wipe it up and licked her fingers clean. 
 
    “May I mount you, Master?” she asked with mock innocence. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer was anything but innocent. I had been able to deny my urge to fuck her after I first claimed her, but now that she fully accepted her place in my harem, I was powerless to resist. And she knew it, the dirty minx. 
 
       “You may, and be quick about it,” I growled roughly. 
 
    She lifted herself up with a coy smile in my direction. My usual preference was to be in control of the lovemaking, but I also didn’t want to disturb the rest of my mates, so was willing to allow Jen’Zadeer to take the lead this time. She shuffled herself up my legs until her shins rested on my hips and her feet were hooked on the inside of my thighs. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer knelt up fully and grasped my foot-long length in one of her slender-fingered hands. She rubbed the tip of my cockhead against her grey vulva, smearing a healthy dollop of her precum over it. Then ground the eyehole of my cock onto her budding clitoris. Jen’Zadeer gasped and I grunted as she continued to play and mutually tease our erogenous zones. 
 
    “If you make me wait much longer, I will have to punish you,” I grunted out. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer giggled lustily. The scent of her sexual desire buffeted around me. One of the side-effects of the months-long lesson of denial that I’d needed to teach Jen’Zadeer to break her in fully, was that she had developed a heightened taste for delayed gratification. 
 
    The dark elf temptress found the anticipatory excitement utterly thrilling. 
 
    This wasn’t usually a problem if I was binding her and leaving her for later or filling the pussies of my other mates with my member first and leaving her for last. However, on rare occasions like this, it could be a minor inconvenience. 
 
    “Anything for you, Master,” she cooed and pushed her hips down. 
 
    The head of my cock parted her grey labia easily and slid inside her wanton tunnel smoothly despite its size. Jen’Zadeer eased herself up and down gently, inching me deeper with every shuddering plunge until she took me in fully and her firm butt slapped my seed-filled balls wetly. 
 
    I couldn’t help but groan with pleasure. 
 
    “But will you punish me even if I’m a good girl,” she gasped, as she sank to the base of my cock again. 
 
    I chuckled darkly. 
 
    “You will get everything you deserve and so much more,” I promised her. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer rode my cock with wild abandon, whispering words of desire as she went, often switching into the dark elf dialect that I found very sexy. 
 
    Her bountiful assets bounced and jiggled for my visual delight as she toyed and tweaked with her thick pert nipples and licked her lips. 
 
    After a few minutes, the walls of her tunnel clenched on my cock tightly as she approached her orgasm. The copper tints at the end of her white hair flipped about as she whipped her head around in circles, her dirty talk degenerating into an unintelligible keening moan. I felt the aching flex in my cock as I neared my crescendo and then we came together. 
 
    My white, hot, spunk jetted powerfully from my twinging cock, and coated her insides with my creamy goo. Jen’Zadeer’s clenching cunny squeezed my cock hard and milked every last drop from my spasming testes. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer’s shudders faded after a short while and she pulled herself off my shaft. 
 
    The dark elf woman was tired, but as she had been taught, shuffled back down and used her tongue to lick and clean the combination of our juices from my shaft and groin before settling down between my legs and curling up into a ball. 
 
    Her fingers played with her clit and fished out strands of cum which she lapped up with moans of pleasure before she finally drifted off to sleep as well, leaving me alone with my thoughts. 
 
    Having sex with Jen’Zadeer reminded me of the first time we had fornicated, or I should say the first time in my dungeon, as we had a grand old time in the final of a Gauntlet match before that, which was how we first met. 
 
    That second fucking had been several rest days ago, just over two weeks as far as the rest of the Proving Grounds were concerned. 
 
    For us, inside the dungeon, it was far, far longer. With time outside freezing due to so many runs, it had been the better part of three years in here, but I remembered it all as if it were yesterday. 
 
    I hadn’t noted it at the time, but Jen’Zadeer had been the first of my disciples with whom I did not bestow a Daxasian Blessing during our first sexual experience together after I discovered that I could do so. 
 
    At first, I had been concerned. The only other person I hadn’t bestowed a blessing on during sex for the first time has been Jessamyn, who had been my first disciple. 
 
    However, Jessamyn got hers during our first sex session with the busty ironskin dwarf, Karragh. Who received her own blessing at the same time. 
 
    My concerns proved to be unfounded, and this turned out to be good news. It was merely a sign that my control of this soul energy continued to improve. 
 
    Previously, it wasn’t my choice of whether I forged that deep bond with another, it just happened. Now, the choice was mine to initiate or not. 
 
    Despite practising every day, I hadn’t quite progressed to the familiarity with the energy that I could guide the effects of the blessing. Although I sensed they would always be beneficial, but believed I was very close. The closeness was what made it all the more frustrating that I hadn’t mastered the skill yet. 
 
    During that first week as part of my experimentation I blessed Jen’Zadeer, and she received a helpful upgrade. 
 
    Cold Heart of the Deceiver: [Daxasian Blessing] The Concealed Casting ability works for the first casting of each spell the caster possesses. 
 
    Concealed casting was an ability Jen’Zadeer already had before I met her, but it was a one and done effect which only reset for the next battle. Now she could cast multiple spells and keep using the incredibly effective skill. This also meant she could use utility spells during encounters without worrying that she was wasting it. 
 
    Which of course, also meant we didn’t have to worry that we were wasting her progression points on spells she would never use. 
 
    Over the last few weeks, the Wolf King’s Lair had progressed to rank ten, the Caverns of Jen’Zadeer to rank eight and the Forest of Xanathia was now up to rank five. The avatars of Jen’Zadeer, Nessa and myself had similarly advanced to those ranks. Of my other disciples Jessamyn, Karragh, and Fiadh had all levelled to ten, the maximum they were currently allowed with my rank. Tabitha and Marux were a couple of ranks behind on eight, with Gretsch bringing up the rear at rank seven. 
 
    This had given me a lot of leeway on how I wanted to boost everybody and apart from Fiadh who went berserk during combat, I stuck with my earlier plan of giving all of them a solid magical foundation. 
 
    With that being said, when it came to my progression, I hadn’t yet used the ten points I had earned for getting to rank ten from eight. I didn’t like not spending them, but I knew when I made rank eleven during the next rest day I would be advancing into the next tier. This not only added to the list of spells I could take from the various domains represented here is the Proving Grounds, but I could enhance the existing spells to increase their effects. 
 
    A second-tier spell cost two points to add and upgrading a first-tier spell into a rank two version also cost two points. Which is why I had saved all ten points. In fact, I had kept eleven points in reserve for both Jessamyn and Karragh as well and only spent the full allotment of points on the lower ranked members of my team. 
 
    Although unless the next tier proved underwhelming, I would be doing the same for all of them once they progressed beyond rank 8 as well. 
 
    Most of the points which we did spend went on spells or improving their base Spell Power and Mana. Fiadh aside, every member of my team had bought a depth of spellcasting options.  
 
    We plugged the hole in Jessamyn’s repertoire and gave her some more offensive capability to complement her Sanctified support spells of Heal, Bless and Purge. To that end, I gave her both first tier Life domain spells that I had, Summon Beasts and Venom. That wasn’t enough offence, though. We added both first-tier spells for the Fire domain and made that Jessamyn’s primary element. 
 
    Flame Bolt 1 (Fire) 
 
    Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
 
    Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used 
 
    Description: Throw a sphere of fire at a target. On a successful hit the target takes heat damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of the original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 
 
    Flame Fists 1 (Fire) 
 
    Cost: 10 Mana 
 
    Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
 
    Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 2 heat damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/10 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of ten. 
 
    Karragh already had a primary element with Earth, but I similarly added the two Life domain spells to her arsenal. There was no reason why we shouldn’t, as disciples of a Life domain dungeon they could cast them without penalty, though they weren’t afforded the affinity which halved the casting cost as I was. 
 
    Also, as Karragh often acted as guardian for Fiadh when she was in beast mode, she took the three Sanctified spells too. This meant she was barred from the Infernal list, but that wasn’t a problem as I had others adopting those options into their builds. 
 
    For Fiadh we pumped most of her points into her Stamina. Her Battle Frenzy ability already made her a whirling dervish of destruction and ramping up her survivability was my primary desire. Her frenzied state prevented her from casting spells, so I hadn’t wasted any points on any for her. However, I had hopes that some of the next tier options, which I was prevented from knowing until I reached the tier, might offer some auto-casting variations. If it did, we could invest some points in that area too. 
 
    Nessa, like me, as a Life domain dungeon had it as an affinity. Therefore, it will surprise no one that we added the same two Life domain spells to her list. The only variation was as a Flora sphere dungeon Nessa’s Summon Beasts allowed her to pick plant-based creatures like the thistle-folk warriors instead of animals. Nessa was our second healer in the group, so it made sense to set her up with the Sanctified suite of spells as well. 
 
    That brought Nessa up to six spells, but she hadn’t taken a primary element. Wanting her to have a ranged option and knowing some of the tier advancements that would be available from Jen’Zadeer’s Ice Blast spell, we added Frost as her primary element and gave her both of the spells available. 
 
    Ice Blast 1 (Frost) 
 
    Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
 
    Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used. 
 
    Description: 1) Throw a blast of ice at a target. On a successful hit the target takes cold damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of the original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 
 
    Frostbite 1 (Frost) 
 
    Cost: 10 Mana 
 
    Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
 
    Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 2 cold damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/10 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of ten. 
 
    Nessa’s version didn’t have the potential paralysis effect yet, but that would come later. It certainly wouldn’t hurt to have two team members able to potentially stun our enemies. 
 
    Next up was Jen’Zadeer, she hadn’t advanced as much as many of the others, so we were a little more conservative with her updates and we gave her the Frostbite spell from the Frost domain. The other major difference, of course, was that Jen’Zadeer was not a Life domain dungeon, but Destruction. This gave her an affinity for Destruction spells instead of Life, so it only made sense to add them in. 
 
    Strength Boost 1 (Destruction) 
 
    Cost: 10 Mana 
 
    Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
 
    Description: Strength stat of the target is increased by 5 for (Spell Power/2 rounding down) minutes to a max of ten. 
 
    Armour Breaker 1 (Destruction) 
 
    Cost: 10 Mana 
 
    Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
 
    Description: DR of the target for Impact and Piercing damage is reduced by 5 for (Spell Power/2 rounding down) minutes to a max of ten. 
 
    We didn’t add the Life spells to her because as a Destruction domain dungeon they would be double the casting cost. As much as I’d hoped we’d be able to share the properties this was not the case. The only wiggle room we had discovered was that for my disciples we had the option of choosing which of those two domains, Life or Destruction, they could use at cost, but after you selected a spell from one of the domains, they were committed to it, as it was with the elemental domains. 
 
    Tabitha, the hare-kin I had claimed to add to Nessa’s Ring of disciples, already had the Wind Affinity but hadn’t taken any of the spells while she was an adventurer. We soon corrected that and gave her the two Life domain spells as well. 
 
    Agility Boost 1 (Wind) 
 
    Cost: 10 Mana 
 
    Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
 
    Description: Agility stat of the target is increased by 5 for (Spell Power/2 rounding down) minutes to a max of ten. 
 
    Wind Blast 1 (Wind) 
 
    Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
 
    Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used. 
 
    Description: 1) Throw a blast of wind at a target. On a successful hit the target takes Impact damage (spell power/2 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of the original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 2) Target is pushed back (Spell power/2 rounding down) feet. 
 
    The Wind Blast spell did less damage than any of the other bolt or blasting spells and with the damage type being impact and not elemental, the damage reductions of our enemy’s armour would mitigate most of it. However, it provided the capacity to move a person and as my dungeon had many pits, chasms, and treacherous pathways this spell offered a lot of utility.   
 
    That was a lot of updating but we weren’t done yet. Gretsch, I chose to send down the Destruction domain route and gave him the spells from that domain. Marux, the infernal minotaur, whom I had acquired by claiming Jen’Zadeer already had the Infernal domain affinity. He had the Blood Rage spell, but we gave him the other two spells from that domain to big him up even more. 
 
    Infernal Talons 1 (Infernal) 
 
    Cost: 10 Mana 
 
    Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
 
    Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 2 infernal damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/10 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of ten. 
 
    Hex 1 (Infernal) 
 
    Cost: 10 Mana 
 
    Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
 
    Description: Highest physical stat of the target is decreased by 5 for (Spell Power/2 rounding down) minutes to a max of ten. 
 
    As always happened when I had a bit of time for introspection, I was reminded of a missive I received seconds before the week began a fortnight ago PGT. The note had been from Alyssa and had been the first contact I’d had with her in some time then, and the last since. 
 
    The DDD responded to my musings and a display with her message popped up. I read it for what felt like the millionth time. 
 
    My Darling Daxas, 
 
    It breaks my heart that I can’t deliver this message to you in person, but we must be grateful that I’ve been able to contact you at all. 
 
    I have the gravest of news. I have been replaced as the arbitration representative overseeing your time in the Proving Grounds. Complaints were made that I was not suitably neutral and due to an intervention by the dark sorcerer supreme, Devantus Drakonis, the ethereal entity has been forced to put another in my place. 
 
    I cannot fathom Drakonis interest in these affairs, for without his intervention I would still be there to guide you. I don’t believe Drakonis seeks your death, his power is so far-reaching he could end us all with little effort, but nor does he wish this to be easy for you. As to why, he will not say. 
 
    I can tell you now that the path you were on would have almost certainly led to your salvation, but things are far less certain now. 
 
    In the alleged interests of balance, the new Arbiter will examine the essence of Timian, the Divine Lord of Prophecy, in a similar manner that I was intimately familiar with yours. Now that I have been replaced, I can freely admit that this intimacy did influence me, as I believe it has with Tenzing. (Although not in the same manner thankfully, can you imagine the awkwardness) I never broke our commitment to balance, but perhaps our regular communication did confer more advantages to you than it really ought. This can only mean my successor will be tainted in the opposite direction and will seek to interpret balance in such a manner as to stymie you where he can. Furthering Timian’s designs, which is your destruction. 
 
    I was able to secure a single condition on your behalf. The new Arbiter must request an audience with you before he can use the Arbitration process to impose any changes or strictures upon you. However, this will not prevent him from taking actions that don’t affect you directly. I urge you not to speak with him, for his impositions will almost certainly be skewed in favour of destroying you. 
 
    I believe I was only granted this condition as they did not think I would be able to contact you and you would accept any such invite believing the invitation to be coming from me.  
 
    We have Jezebel to thank for that. I may have had to bully her, but it is she who made this possible. 
 
    Just know you have all my faith and love. 
 
    Alyssa. 
 
    No sooner had I got and read this message than the first ‘request’ for a meeting with the Arbiter popped up on the DDD. A fresh one arrived every few minutes, but I had the DDD automatically sweep them into the equivalent of a trash folder. 
 
    I’d followed Alyssa’s advice thus far and hadn’t acquiesced to his request. 
 
    Unfortunately, she wasn’t wrong about him being able to take other steps, though. There had been several out of the ordinary things that happened during the last couple of weeks. Most of it hadn’t been anything more than an inconvenience, akin to an annoying insect bite, but if you get bitten enough, that could develop into something more precarious. 
 
    I blew out a loud breath, flapping my lips with a childish raspberry. 
 
    The commotion woke Jessamyn, and the gorgeous elf’s green eyes fluttered open, and she looked up at me with an adoring smile. 
 
    “What is bothering you, husband?” she whispered and lightly kissed my chest muscles. 
 
    We had been together so long now that it was impossible to hide anything from her. She followed my gaze and spotted Alyssa’s message on the display and frowned. 
 
    “Yes, Jess, this again,” I said pre-empting what was going to be her next statement. 
 
    “I love that you care about us so much,” Jessamyn started, “but I’m afraid you dwell on this too deeply. You have created a formidable dungeon and cultivated a powerful ally in the guild on our doorstep. Those orc dungeons continue to return each rest day and even armed with foreknowledge of our dungeon’s tricks they are unable to make it to the Core floor any longer, falling to our defenders. We are safe here. Follow Alyssa’s advice and ignore this Arbiter and all will be well.” 
 
    Her words were a familiar refrain. In the last few years of dungeon time, we’d had many similar conversations. 
 
    I knew why she continually advised the same course of action. Yet there was information Jessamyn was not privy to. 
 
    For obvious reasons, I concluded long ago that we were being watched, potentially all the time. 
 
    Therefore, I kept close counsel on my plans and never revealed them until they were in motion. It was frustrating being unable to share my vision with those I cared deeply for, and over such a prolonged length of time, but our survival depended upon it. 
 
    I had grown to rely heavily on my soul sense, which would often give me a feeling of certainty over a particular path for me to take and it had never failed me, until now. 
 
    Perhaps failed was too strong a term, but it was proving far less reliable. 
 
    A dozen times or more in the last year alone I had ruminated upon my options until I had that feeling which filled me with confidence for my eventual success. Happy at reaching a decision I would start making preparations only for that sense to sour into dread and doom whenever I made a move. 
 
    I had experimented extensively over the last year and proved it wasn’t my soul sense that was defective. The only reasonable conclusion was that I was being countered by external forces, forces that reacted to my actions. This began happening after Alyssa was replaced and confirmed for me that even if this new Arbiter couldn’t affect me directly, there was enough he could do to derail my plans. 
 
    “I fear that is no longer the best course of action, Jess. Whoever is now in charge has consistently shown a willingness to target me, us,” I said quietly after a moment. 
 
    “You mean the pogrom and the change to supplicant arrivals?” she said in a small voice. 
 
    “Yes, amongst other minor irritations,” I said gravely. 
 
    Those were the two clearest indications of the new Arbiter’s indirect meddling. 
 
    The day after the Novice Champion’s Gauntlet I was informed that a Pogrom to exterminate me, my dungeon, and my allies had been announced by a collection of rival dungeons with what was termed as a genuine grievance against me. 
 
    The grievance stated was that I had Gauntlet totems in their dungeon’s. Which was true, but I had been granted them as rewards for my victories in the Gauntlets. 
 
    All the dungeons I faced in the Novice Champions Gauntlet were signatories as well as the dwarf dungeon, Thurgar Greybeard, whom I had defeated during my first gauntlet match. Interestingly, Maladosh the Merfolk dungeon I met during my semi-final was not part of the group. The others I defeated, with the exception of Jen’Zadeer, had been destroyed by adventurers. 
 
    The Pogrom itself wasn’t dangerous to me. None of those dungeons individually or collectively were a threat. 
 
    However, as Tenzing had explained while the Pogrom against me existed, this prevented me from invading other dungeons, including those orc annoyances that continued to show up every rest day. Removing them or frightening them into withdrawing their complaint were my options for ending the Pogrom. 
 
    The second and more significant change was directed at the Dark Moon Rising. The number of fresh supplicants arriving each rest day in zone seven and the surrounding zones was greatly reduced over the last few weeks. And those that were arriving were typically ill-disposed to joining my guild. Dwarves and high elves for the most part. This had affected recruitment over the past couple of weeks, but we continued to draw new members from the zones further away and higher ranked existing adventurers. 
 
    To be honest, that was a relief of sorts, more members meant more runs and while the experience was always welcome it further extended each week. I was already frustrated at the necessarily glacial pace of my advancement from my perspective. 
 
    I continued. “These haven’t been overly problematic for us. The Dark Moon Rising’s numbers were already very healthy. And with Alyssa’s missive, I had already concluded to put my expansion plans on hold and that a period of consolidation was in order before going on the offensive.” 
 
    “Yes, my husband. We have been working incredibly hard. Do you truly think this has not been enough?” she asked worriedly. 
 
    “My concern is that by sitting back and playing the game how it is meant to be played will only mean we surrender the initiative. Our guild may have numbers, but we narrowly avoided an expungement declaration. If those arrayed against us are being strengthened while our allies weakened, how long before those allies abandon us? Our dungeon is likely the strongest of its rank in the Proving Grounds, but as we advance increasingly stronger enemies can attack us directly while we are held back,” I told her. 
 
    I kissed the crown of her auburn-haired head. 
 
    “I trust you will make the right decision, husband. You have never steered us wrong,” she said. 
 
    “I wouldn’t say never, but then I’ve had you to kick me back onto the right path,” I said to her huskily. 
 
    Jessamyn shuffled up a little and pressed her lips to mine and we kissed passionately for several minutes. My rod returned to the horizontal position and the wet smacking sounds of our lips roused the rest of my harem. I indulged in my favourite pastime and made love to each of them again and forgot my troubles for a little while. 
 
      
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
      
 
      
 
      
 
    Chapter 2 
 
      
 
    Later, I walked into the banquet hall with Krista Belhoff on my arm. Over time we had fully decorated and expanded the room. Almost every inch of the slate-grey granite walls was covered by a variety of tapestries and paintings. In the ceiling, I had installed a series of varnished wooden rafters carved in a twirling pattern. They served no functional purpose but reduced the oppressive dungeon feel of the place.  
 
    The table large enough for fifty dominated the centre of the room with the bar I built on its left and a vast roaring fireplace fifteen feet wide on its right. 
 
    Krista was wearing a beautiful gothic silk black gown with a plunging neckline that showed off her modest but enticing breasts. There were two pinpoints where her hardened nipples pressed against the silk, defining themselves nicely for my visual appetites. 
 
    The rest of my women were already seated, and I led the dark-haired pale vampire woman to the head of the table. I pulled out the cushioned high-backed chair for her in the space on the left-hand side at the end. 
 
    “Thank you, my Lord,” she said. 
 
    Jessamyn was sitting directly opposite her, with Fiadh and Karragh taking the next two seats on her side. Nessa, Tabitha, and Jen’Zadeer were sitting on the same side as Krista, with Jen sat beside her. 
 
    Once the vampire woman was settled, I took up my traditional place at the head of the table and gazed at the beautiful feast before my eyes. Not food, we hadn’t had anything brought from the kitchens yet. Regardless of my current troubles and concerns, I counted my blessings every day that these women were brought into my life. 
 
    “Krista, welcome,” I began. “I hope I haven’t inconvenienced you too much by asking you to join me in the dungeon proper for our little get together.” 
 
    The pale beauty regarded me with her piercing red eyes and smiled a seductive sharp-toothed grin. 
 
    “Not at all, my Lord” she purred in what sounded like a sexy Eastern European accent. “I have been intrigued beyond measure since young Simeon regaled me with the tale of how you two met. Your home is more impressive than he led me to believe. This hall reminds me of the great castles of my homeland before the civil wars left them as nought but charred ruins.” 
 
    You would think such dark memories might evoke sadness in her, but her tone conveyed mirth at the fall of the vampiric kingdoms, not melancholy. 
 
    “Ah, yes. Well to be fair to young Simeon,” I said, stressing the young with mild incredulity. “Time passes differently here in the dungeon than it does in the Proving Grounds. We’ve had considerable time to make the place a bit homier. You will notice this for yourself soon. When it comes time for you to return, you will find that a mere two minutes have passed outside since you entered.” 
 
    She nodded her head gracefully as she acknowledged me. 
 
    “I had long wondered how this realm kept groups apart during runs of the same dungeon. Considering that two minutes is the length of time different groups must wait before they are permitted to enter and if I am inferring your meaning correctly. They don’t meet because they are simply not there at the same time,” Krista mused, and looked to me for confirmation. 
 
    “You are correct,” I said with a smile and sage nod of my own. 
 
    She smiled, showing me her canines and then I saw the lightbulb go off in her head as she thought through the ramifications of what I had told her. 
 
    “Then that must mean time passes much slower here than I imagined if you must wait for the conclusion of each run before another begins,” she said with amazement. 
 
    “Roughly just over a year for every week above. And that is lengthening as more people join the guild each week,” I said, and grinned at her dumbstruck expression. “Although my dungeon is something of an outlier. I doubt there is another in the Proving Grounds who sees even a quarter of the activity we do.” 
 
    “My Lord, I had no idea. Your patience is impressive, rivalling that of even the Coven Kings, before they slaughtered one another, of course,” she complimented me. 
 
    “The Coven Kings?” I asked. “You may not know, but I’m not from the Realms. Who are they?” 
 
    This was a white lie. Not the part about me not being from the Realms. But my disciples had given me as much information as they knew about vampires and their society. I was interested to learn more about Krista’s from her reaction and get a better handle on who she was. I wanted to ask the vampire to fulfil a very important task for me but was unsure whether I could trust her to do so. 
 
    “The Coven Kings, or Queens in a few cases, were the great powers of the vampire world in years gone by,” Krista began. “Their power was vast and their empires mighty at one time. Vampire kind was feared and respected in every Realm and many were under the coven’s direct control. Alas, their success was also their downfall. My kind often craves dominion and are jealous of the power held by others even if their own is impressive beyond measure.”  
 
    “Confident of their place ruling much of the Realms they turned on one another and sought to wrest their allies’ power for themselves. All they achieved was to weaken their kingdoms and strengthen those with cause to despise vampire kind. Soon the great keeps were overrun and burnt to the ground either by a Coven King’s rival or rebellion from within,” she finished with a shrug. 
 
    “You don’t seem disappointed at your people’s fall from grace,” Jessamyn noted. 
 
    Krista threw her head back and laughed loudly. 
 
    “Indeed, my Lady Jessamyn,” she said after her chuckling ceased. “As you well know, this happened centuries ago and I was a young vampire then, part of a lesser coven. We were inconsequential, and thus, were largely ignored during the Coven’s many wars. Therefore, many of us survived while others, older and stronger, fell. My prospects during the height of vampiric power were limited. Paradoxically my kinds fall from favour afforded me…opportunities for personal advancement.” 
 
    “Until your true death?” I interjected. 
 
    My barb struck true, and I observed Krista’s mask of gentility slip ever so slightly. There was a brief furrowing of her brow and the sharp scent of anger wafted from her. She only allowed her visage of unflappable confidence to drop for that moment, before she recovered quickly, and her face brightened with a self-deprecating grin once again. 
 
    “You have cut to the quick, my Lord. But that is done and can’t be changed,” she said with false brightness, trying to dismiss her death as of little concern. 
 
    Her turn of anger was a good sign. You can’t trust someone who consistently fakes their emotions. Time to push that barb a little deeper. 
 
    “How did it happen?” I asked casually. 
 
    Krista’s discomfort showed around her eyes, but she did her best to hide it. 
 
    “Just a small matter of the betrayal of my family by our cousins who we believed could be trusted. The Eckhoff’s got what was coming to them, but their machinations exposed our location to the self-righteous Lionnestal empire that had arisen from the fall of the Coven Kings in the Tenth Realm and they hunted us down like dogs,” she said, her mask slipping again at the end and her bitterness manifesting. 
 
    “Shatzah licking fuckers,” Jen’Zadeer muttered. 
 
    The dark elf was sitting next to Krista, and she patted the vampire woman’s hand with her own in comforting solidarity. 
 
    “You have a betrayal story of your own, I presume,” Krista said with a grateful smile. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer nodded, scowled deeply and practically snarled. “My bitch sisters sacrificed me and sent me here. I will have my retribution, though. As soon as Daxas gets us back to the Realms he has promised to help me tear down their whole Spire. I will dance on the debris and revel in the destruction of their dreams.” 
 
    “A worthy goal, my Lady Jen’Zadeer,” Krista said companionably. 
 
    I scented genuine pleasure from the shared camaraderie between the two women. I hadn’t missed her mention of the name Eckhoff either. Possibly fortune was on my side in that regard too. 
 
    “One of these Eckhoff’s who wronged you so, wouldn’t happen to be named Jarlath by any chance?” I asked innocently. 
 
    Krista’s focus returned to me. She had regained her composure and flashed me another of her coquettish smiles. 
 
    “Why yes, he is a maternal cousin of mine. And, no, you would not be surprising me with the revelation he is one of the dungeons here in the Proving Grounds. I am fully aware of his existence and toyed with the idea of challenging his dungeon, but by all the evidence I acquired he is a wily one. I may have deeply desired vengeance, but I’m no fool to risk myself unnecessarily. Now, thanks to your generosity I’m too high of a rank to venture inside and that opportunity has passed me by,” she said. 
 
    I kept it close to my chest that perhaps that was not necessarily true and decided to ask her about something else vaguely related that had piqued my curiosity. 
 
    “Forgive me for asking the obvious question,” I started. “How are you maternally related if vampires can’t have children?” 
 
    “No forgiveness necessary, my Lord. It is a fascinating subject oft-misunderstood,” she answered. “The truth is that vampirism is not as easy to pass on as one might think. The sharing of vampiric blood, even with most humans, will result in their permanent death. For those not human, death is almost a certainty.” 
 
    “Over the millennia, families with a higher-than-average success rate for conversion were preserved and cultivated by the covens. With time, these developed into the noble vampiric bloodlines. The Belhoff’s and Eckhoff’s were two such minor noble bloodlines. My mother was born an Eckhoff. For most born into these families, it is a solemn duty to produce several offspring before you can be granted the gift of vampirism.” 
 
    I nodded along with her explanation. What she was saying ran counter to Nessa’s description of Realms reproduction which seemingly ignored genetics entirely. Perhaps if Earth humans were used as a template for Realm’s humans there remained some overlap, which might possibly explain the failure rate for non-humans. 
 
    “Does that mean you had a child before coming here?” Jessamyn asked, her eyes lighting up with keen interest. 
 
    I wouldn’t say that my mates had come down with ‘baby-fever’, but the impossibility of pregnancy here in the Proving Grounds topped their list of frustrations. When we got out of here, I would likely be surrounded by rugrats a year later. Therefore, Jessamyn’s curiosity was unsurprising. 
 
    “I did not,” Krista started and Jessamyn’s face fell at the news. “I was an exception to the rule. I grew sick with a wasting illness when I was a young woman. Facing true death prematurely, I was offered the gift and was fortunate to survive the transition in my weakened state.” 
 
    Just as Krista was finishing, a female goblin in a chef’s outfit entered the room, with Gretsch following hotly on her heels. I’d given her the name Gretta, and she was a life-seeded goblin dungeon creature. Officially she was one of the goblins stationed on my core floor, but I had her doubling as our head chef in the kitchens. Technically she fulfilled a third purpose as Gretsch’s wife or woman, it was hard to tell with the usually sour goblin. 
 
    I had forgotten for several months dungeon time that I had promised the little bugger a reward. Which explained why after his behaviour had improved early on, he had regressed for a while to being an aggravating little oik. 
 
    By that point, Nessa and Tabs were popping out the life seeds at quite a rate with my other mates contributing at a slower pace. We now had over ninety life-seeded mobs in the dungeon. 
 
    I didn’t precisely apologise to him but feminising a goblin and giving her a real personality had cheered him right up. Not knowing, and not really wanting to know, the details of goblin relationships I did have some early concerns about him mistreating Gretta. 
 
    Those proved completely unfounded. 
 
    I don’t know if their relationship was typical for goblin-kind but Gretsch was well and truly whipped. He did everything for her, literally worshipped the ground she walked on and followed her around like a lost puppy. To each their own, I guess. 
 
     When I was life-seeding some of our infernal minotaur creatures I did the same for Marux. Though Marux and his mate didn’t spend much time together. Karragh explained that was typical for minotaur’s whether they were infernal or not. They were naturally solitary creatures. 
 
    Gretta stopped short of me and bobbed her head in deference. “Master, everything is prepared. Are you ready for the staff to serve?” 
 
    “Yes, I think we are ready. Krista, the girls have told me a vampire’s diet isn’t strictly blood,” I said. 
 
     “Yes, my Lord. We drink blood to fuel our state of undeath, but our bodies require nourishment lest we wish them to waste away. This is, of course, in the Realms, here it is a little different,” Krista answered with her trademark inviting grin. 
 
    “Excellent, in which case, Gretta please proceed,” I told the goblin woman. 
 
    “Yes, Master,” Gretta said, and she bobbed her head again before withdrawing from the room. 
 
    Gretsch moved up to one of the free chairs at the end and pulled it out, scraping it along the floor creating an unpleasant screeching sound. He promptly sat down and smacked his lips together. 
 
    “Gretsch, what are you doing?” I asked with fake civility, which went over the goblin’s head, of course. 
 
    “Eating the food,” he said with a look of genuine confusion. 
 
    “Not here, you’re not. Most of us have seen how you eat. Toddle off back to the kitchen, if you behave yourself, I’m sure Gretta will let you have some of the leftovers,” I told him. 
 
    Gretsch slowly climbed off the chair and reluctantly filed out of the room with an exaggerated slope to his shoulders. His drama queen strop lacked any impact for two reasons. First, I didn’t really care. Second, about two-thirds of the way it must have occurred to him he could use my dismissal to get sympathy from the goblinette chef. At which point, he practically skipped out of the room with a goofy grin plastered across his face. 
 
    “What a curious dungeon creature,” Krista remarked as the goblin left. 
 
    “Gretsch the wretch? He’s not a dungeon creature, unfortunately. He is one of my disciples,” I told her with embellished regret. 
 
    “My Lord!” she exclaimed in surprise. “I was under the impression you could only claim women.” 
 
    “That is true. However, I didn’t claim Gretsch directly,” I said. 
 
    “He’s my fault, actually. I took him on before Daxas conquered my dungeon,” Nessa said with a grimace. 
 
    “Whyever would you claim one such as him?” Krista asked. 
 
    “That is a long story best told with a glass of wine of four,” the petite dryad joked. 
 
    “An excellent suggestion,” Jessamyn started. “Fiadh, remain here with Karragh while I get the bottles,” she told the fiery redheaded berserker woman and stroked her cheek lovingly. 
 
    Minutes later we all had full glasses of a red Malbec and sipped conservatively as the gremlin servers brought out our meal. The first course was Leblebi soup, a Tunisian dish with chickpeas, onion, and vegetable stock. This was followed by the main course of Beef Bourguignon and a simple apple tart with cream for dessert. 
 
    We ate and conversed amiably for an hour, during which time I asked several innocent sounding, but probing questions, to get a fuller picture of where Krista stood. 
 
    Her attraction to me was undeniable and I had full faith I could rely on her while I was present, but what I needed from her would require her to work independently of me and if her loyalty to the guild proved greater than her attraction to me then it could make things awkward. 
 
    The servers had removed the remains of our repast and we were idly enjoying our digestif beverage. A glass of port or a sniffer of Armagnac brandy for those who fancied something with a bit more kick. The pleasant meal hadn’t revealed any red flags in Krista’s character, and I decided it was time to broach the subject of what I wanted from her.  
 
    “This has been a delightful evening, Krista, but I must admit to having an ulterior motive in asking you to dine with us tonight,” I said. 
 
    Krista let out a light tinkling laugh. “I did not think this was merely a social call. What is it that I can do for you, my Lord? I am eager to prove my worth as your servant.” 
 
    She was laying it on a bit thick, but I didn’t call her on it and gave her a predatory grin instead. 
 
    “I shan’t waste any more of our time playing coy,” I started. “I’m a simple man with simple needs.” 
 
    All my mates sniggered at that, but I continued despite their treacherous mockery.  
 
    “It was no accident that I made it clear just how much time passes down here compared to up above. I have shown an enormous level of patience and restraint in my dealings with the Dark Moon Rising. Restraint that has hampered my expansion and growth as a dungeon. I don’t regret this decision, for it benefitted us all, but it is time the guild starts to give back. There is much I shall be asking of them and you in the next few weeks and while I trust Simeon to follow through in most regards, there remains one area where he continues to exhibit an unacceptable level of recalcitrance.” 
 
    I paused and Krista mulled over my words. Jessamyn stroked my thigh and smiled mischievously, quirking her eyebrow upward at me. Her meaning was clear, my claims of simplicity were belied by my meandering request, which had yet to get to the point. 
 
    Krista intuited my entreaty and helped out by cutting to the chase. 
 
    “You want to claim the female guild members as disciples,” she said. 
 
    I nodded. “Not all of them,” I clarified. “But yes, it is time to fill this table and I will not wait years down here for Simeon to get over himself.” 
 
    “I understand, my Lord. What can I do?” Krista said. 
 
    “Over the next week, I wish you to approach the two hundred odd female members of the guild and appraise them. I need you to determine which are already primed to become mine and which for whom the concept is genuinely unappealing,” I said. 
 
    “Is that all you wish?” she asked. 
 
    “For now, yes. Compile the list to be delivered before the next rest day. Krista, you will be greatly rewarded for this service,” I said. 
 
    “Thank you, my Lord. I seek only to serve you well,” she said in response, buttering me up no doubt. 
 
    “That is good to hear. I believe we are done here,” I said. 
 
    I stood from my chair and walked around and assisted Krista from her seat, taking her arm in mine as I had before. We left the banquet hall and made our way through the tunnels of my home floor in the dungeon complex. The rest of my harem were walking quietly behind us. I could see the knowing smiles on their faces when I looked over my shoulder at them. 
 
    “This is not the way you brought me earlier, my Lord,” Krista said, after we turned down a tunnel that took us away from the hidden exit to the dungeon. 
 
    “Of course, Krista. You didn’t think I was letting you leave without fucking you first did you?” I said with feigned innocence. 
 
    For the first time, the confident vampire woman smiled shyly. 
 
    I leaned into her ear and whispered. “I might be making a liar of myself, my dear. There may very well be six or even eight minutes passing up above before we’re done with you.” 
 
    Her smile grew wider, and the musky scent of her arousal filled the corridor. There was nothing more gratifying in my opinion. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
      
 
      
 
      
 
    Chapter 3 
 
    Simeon Reedwhistle 
 
      
 
    My fingers drummed on the small round table I was sitting at in the tavern beside Alpha House, as the guild outpost was now known. Daxas had expanded this building to the largest size allowable and it now contained three separate levels with bars on each. Daxas had named the place The Firehouse. 
 
    There were oval holes in the ceilings of the ground and first floors, surrounded by a bannister to prevent people accidentally falling over. This gap ran almost the length of the tavern except for a bridging platform in the centre. Each of these platforms had its own smaller circular holes with a metal pole installed down to the next level. Daxas informed me they were called a Fireman’s pole and you could slide down them to get to the lower level. 
 
    They’d been very popular since he put them in. Despite numerous drunken accidents, which weren’t permanent, of course, the poles were the favoured method of descent. I had to privately admit they were a lot of fun, and being a fellow of smaller stature, they helped the likes of me, as most stairs were designed for the taller members of our guild. 
 
    It hadn’t been long before a new game was invented that involved descending the pole while carrying a tray of drinks. Gambling on how much each competitor spilt had become a popular pastime. 
 
    I wasn’t here for such hijinks on this occasion. 
 
    Technically I was holding a meeting of our guild officers, but most were absent on missions for Daxas today. Missions that had left me unexpectedly nervous, so I’d made the executive decision to meet here instead. This way we could relax and talk shop at the same time. 
 
    It may have been early, but the tavern was as busy as always and Piotr had volunteered to go to the bar rather than wait for one of the overworked lasses to finally make it to our table. 
 
    I may have been the Guild Chief, but that didn’t get me any special treatment on the service front. 
 
    At our meeting with Daxas yesterday evening he had promised to deliver more workers for the tavern and the guild outposts next week. 
 
    Apparently, Daxas had been focused on expanding our infrastructure and claimed to not have the coin for increasing the workforce. Although I suspected this wasn’t the real reason, he hadn’t informed me of why he chose to hold back for a week. 
 
    I couldn’t fault him for what he had been doing on the building front, though. The glade that housed the original dungeon entrances for the Lair and the Forest of Xanathia were surrounded by a turreted stone wall fifty feet tall with a moat encircling the defences. This would keep those of us within safe from most attempts, by the likes of the Black Hills Brigade, to ‘spam kill’ us as Daxas described it. 
 
    He had built a full suite of facilities that would be found in the City which made us totally self-sufficient. Additionally, two other fully upgraded guild outposts had been constructed in the glade and were named Delta and Gamma Houses. 
 
    Outside the high stone walls, the dungeon had placed secondary entrances to the dungeons and some basic facilities, that way those not part of the Dark Moon Rising could still access the dungeons. The guild booths had been upgraded to their highest potential as well, which was a windfall for all of us as we were getting more quests and they were paying out more experience and coin. 
 
    What we had was mirrored in zone six at our second site. Plus, Beta House had been joined by Epsilon House over there, giving us a total of five spruced up guild outposts which were almost enough to house our expanded guild without needing to convert office space into extra bunk rooms. 
 
    Arash was sitting beside me, absently scratching the back of his neck, which was a nervous habit of his. Apart from Piotr, who I could see weaving his way back to us with a tray of drinks, we were only waiting on Krista to join us before we could officially begin. 
 
    Krista was late for the meeting; she was always late. I believed she did it on purpose to test me, but as long as she didn’t overdo her tardiness, I was content to ignore her games. 
 
    Piotr reached us and began distributing the drinks. He’d brought two tankards of ale for me, Arash and himself. He was a clever lad, getting two rounds in at once would save us the trouble of getting another later. 
 
    And if we were lucky, we might get the attention of one of the serving lasses before we polished off the brace of foamy dark ales. Although as we were in a booth at the back, which was necessary as we needed a bit of quiet and privacy, it did mean any free server would likely be snagged by another interested party before she got as far back as us. 
 
    Piotr hadn’t got anything for Krista, he wasn’t being rude, as she rarely drank with us. 
 
    “Is Krista not here yet, Chief?” Piotr asked when he finished. 
 
    “She’s late, as we have come to expect,” I said, trying and probably failing to keep the frustration out of my voice. 
 
    Arash grunted beside me and picked up his tankard and took a deep gulp. He wiped the froth from his upper lip and let out a satisfied sigh. 
 
    Speaking of the devil, Krista swept into the Firehouse with regal poise as if she owned the place. She was flanked on either side by two of her thralls. She scanned the throng until she located us. We locked eyes and she smiled showing off her elongated canines. Whenever we interacted, Krista always adopted an air of wry amusement that irritated me. I was the Guild Chief and should be respected as such. 
 
    Sure, Krista never outright defied or disrespected me but it was in those mocking red eyes of hers. I tamped down my discontent and forced myself to repeat a calming mantra. By the time she had deigned to saunter over to us, and dismissed her thralls in the process, I had recovered my composure. When I put my emotions aside and thought plainly, I could admit there was a fair chance I was reading more into her demeanour than was truly present. 
 
    When her group had joined the Dark Moon Rising, bringing her in as a guild officer had seemed like a great idea, but her appointment had proved problematic on two fronts. 
 
    First, she was involved in private meetings with Daxas. In the best-case scenario, this was simply because Krista was an attractive woman, and he was a sex dungeon doing what sex dungeons do. The likelier scenario was Daxas had her operating behind his back and was doing what sex dungeons do. 
 
    Which left the open question of what shenanigans Daxas was up to that he didn’t want me to know about.  
 
    My attempts to have her followed and watched had proved fruitless. Those bloody thralls were with her almost all the time and were hawkishly perceptive. Whenever a new tail was spotted one of them would break off and intercept so she could wander off unseen. 
 
    Secondly, word spread like the pox. 
 
    Since the arrival of Krista’s group, half a dozen more over-ranked teams had joined up with the guild. In each case, it took them less than a day to hear of her rapid elevation and no more than a day after that before they made ‘polite’ inquiries angling for the same thing. 
 
    Unfortunately, I couldn’t simply tell them that despite being Guild Chief, I couldn’t increase the number of guild officers whenever I chose.  
 
    Tabitha becoming Daxas disciple allowed me to have two more officer positions, making twelve, which I had filled before these new groups arrived. 
 
    However, only twelve officers for a guild of this size was unusual. I had reached my limit and when I brought it up with Daxas you can imagine what the smug git’s solution to my problem was. 
 
    I wasn’t willing to hand over the women in the guild to him.  
 
    Yes, his rationalisations were convincing, and I wasn’t foolish enough to believe that if he ordered me directly, I would be able to stand up to the force of his personality and deny him. And yet, Fiadh and Tabitha’s fall, no matter how happy they appeared to be since, rankled deeply within my soul. It felt wrong to me and I couldn’t shake that oppressive weight from my shoulders. 
 
    My continued reluctance to institute any policy that would encourage further ‘defections’ had been the subject of many lengthy, and sometimes heated, discussions with my core cadre of officers. But as long as it remained my decision to make then I refused to compromise. I would always proffer and prioritise the traditional path to salvation in the Proving Grounds 
 
    I shook my reverie and conflicted thoughts aside before those with me noticed. The three of us rose as Krista arrived and waited for her to be seated before sitting back down. She may be the source of several of my niggling problems but that was no excuse to be rude. 
 
    “Simeon, Arash, young Piotr,” Krista purred, by way of greeting. Piotr blushed crimson red, as I’m sure she had wanted him to. 
 
    I couldn’t help but sigh and covered it by finishing off my first tankard of ale. 
 
    “Krista, good of you to join us. It shall just be the four of us today as the other officers are on various scouting missions,” I opened with. 
 
    “Ah, yes, those troublesome dungeons causing such an inconvenience for our gracious host,” Krista said semi-cryptically, in case there were any perked ears in the area. “It is a shame my team has already reached rank twenty-one, otherwise, I would have volunteered our services.” 
 
    I smarted a little at Krista’s passive criticism of my venue of choice for today’s meeting. She wasn’t wrong, if Sindar or Pacclo had been here they would have talked me out of it. Of course, if they had been here instead of on missions for Daxas, I wouldn’t have felt in such dire need of relaxation and distraction. 
 
    “Yes, quite,” I coughed. “If everything goes as expected then the five scouting parties will return to us by tomorrow morning with the reports for our…gracious host. Thanks to him, they are as well-equipped as they can be, and should be in no danger.” 
 
    Piotr squinted, not fully understanding. “Do you mean Pacclo and the other teams who are hitting those other dungeons for Da…” 
 
    I plonked my hand over his mouth and cut him off before he could finish the sentence. 
 
    Krista gave me a knowing look. Yes, it had been a dumb idea to meet here, but I wasn’t going to openly admit it now and drag us back to my office. Here we were and here we would stay, I had my pride. As tattered as it may have been right now. 
 
    “Let’s just get on with other guild business, shall we? The extracurricular stuff can wait until later,” I said. 
 
    Krista and Arash nodded. Piotr tried to as well, but I still had my hand over his mouth, which I removed. The scouting missions were to several dungeons Daxas had named and provided locations for. He wanted us to delve into them and report back on their strengths and weaknesses. 
 
    He was a little vague as to why he had us doing this, apart from informing me they were an inconvenience. Most of them weren’t even in zones six or seven. The other officers were leading five parties we’d formed to run these dungeons as he requested. 
 
    “Arash, how is recruitment progressing?” I asked him. 
 
    “As of this morning we had 4,216 active guild members,” the man said and scratched himself. “This is up seventeen on yesterday. However, with the unusual constriction of new arrivals in nearby zones, overall recruitment has mostly tailed off. None of those who joined since yesterday are newcomers to the Proving Grounds. They’ve all come from other zones, having heard about our open-door policy, and even those numbers are dipping each day. We’ve only had six arrivals at the gates so far, we may get a few more by the end of the day, but not many.” 
 
    “Thank you, Arash,” I said. 
 
    The news was what I expected. When no humans, halflings or wood elves emerged from the pools on the previous rest day we had been shocked, at first. There had been a notice about a temporary reallocation to other zones to make up for ‘unforeseen events’ and that regular supplicant allocations would resume when these circumstances were resolved. 
 
    A suitably vague announcement that Daxas all but confirmed was aimed directly at us. The Dark Moon Rising was the ‘unforeseen event’. Neither he nor I were worried, though. That the guild already had more than enough members was something we both agreed on. 
 
    “Piotr, what are the ranking projections for guild members?” I asked my protégé. 
 
    This was the first time he had been given responsibility for making an official report for the guild and he was visibly nervous, despite there only being four of us, including him, present. Piotr fiddled with his tankard and took a swig before answering me.  
 
    After a moment longer he cleared his throat. “Yes,” he croaked. 
 
    “There is no need to be so anxious, young Piotr,” Krista interjected. “We are all friends here.” 
 
    Piotr nodded gratefully before continuing. “Yes, as I was saying,” he managed his voice growing in confidence. “Projections for our member’s advancement remain positive. With the recent upgrades to the quest facilities for each of the dungeons, our members can now complete eight quests daily. The enhanced experience from these quests, along with the dungeon completion experience, if we maintain squad sizes of ten, will garner every member a minimum of 27,840 XP this week.” 
 
    Piotr paused then and looked around the table. I gave a small smile and motioned for him to keep going. 
 
    “As we have figured out thanks to Krista,” Piotr restarted and nodded to the vampire woman who grinned in return. “Female guild members are getting an XP bonus compared to their male counterparts. They can be expected to accrue a minimum of 33,400 XP if they take full advantage of what’s available.” 
 
    Piotr took another full gulp of his ale. “General expectations are that folk like yourself Chief and Arash, who already had a few ranks and were part of the guild from the beginning should reach rank fifteen or higher by the end of this week. The first wave of newcomers who joined the guild during the first week should make rank thirteen. Second wavers, like myself, should get to at least rank twelve. The third wave should get to rank eleven and the fourth to rank nine. The few newcomers we picked up last rest day will power up to seven in only a week, but as Arash reported there aren’t many of them.” 
 
    “Thank you, Piotr,” I said. “That is excellent news. With any luck, the Brigade and the Tower will underestimate our strength.” 
 
    “Everybody will also collect 4,860 coins each week for completing the Rat Hunting quests,” Piotr added eagerly. “More than enough for the new gear Da…uh…our gracious host is making available on the Auction House for guild members,” he finished with barely repressed excitement. 
 
    Yes, once the Quest Booths were boosted to their highest rank and the rewards for the quests were increased Daxas began to make much better gear available for purchase. Which was just as well as the rewards in the dungeon chests coincidentally changed to be more in line with what was being offered everywhere else. 
 
    Obviously, I was happy that those I was responsible for had access to gear no other adventurers of our rank could fantasise about owning. Plus, the prices Daxas charged were more than reasonable for the quality he provided, but it hadn’t escaped my notice this meant most of the coin the guild earned ultimately found its way into his coffers and not ours. 
 
    He appeared to be spending a lot of that coin on our facilities which was great. Except that meant we continued to be beholden to him. Our collaboration had been mutually beneficial, but I would never forget he was a predator. I’d seen his eyes when he didn’t think he was getting his way and felt the flush of my mortality while under that gaze. 
 
    That was what the others didn’t understand. What if one day what was most beneficial to him was to turn on us. Did they think he wouldn’t out of sentimentality? No, many of us would fall before we were even aware of what was happening. 
 
    It was dark contemplations like this that gave me pause at his largesse with the new weapons and armour. This was a further sign he wasn’t afraid of us fighting against him even if we were geared up to the gills. 
 
    “Ah, just the halfling I was looking for,” a voice with an undisguised arrogant sneer cut across the Firehouse. 
 
    This was a voice I recognised, and I groaned inwardly. It was Kennilen Brightmuss. He was the self-elected leader of one of those half dozen over-ranked groups that had joined the guild recently. Of the lot of them, he was also the biggest pain in my rear. The man strode across the tavern, pushing those unfortunate enough to be in his path out of the way, towards our table. He was in full set of iron delving gear, freshly bought from the Auction House by the look.  
 
    From the top of my head, I recalled that it was his teams’ slot to complete their daily dungeon runs in about twenty minutes. Oh, joy, he had decided to make sure I had the displeasure of his company before he would be gone for eight hours or more. 
 
    There were times the guild’s motto of ‘We turn no one away’ was something of a chore. 
 
    I buried my irritation and sporting my best fake smile addressed him. “Kennilen, I’m afraid I’m currently busy with guild business. Can you come and find me after you have completed your runs for the day?” 
 
    “Is this pathetic collection,” Kennilen gestured to the four of us, “the sum total of this guild’s leadership?” 
 
    “You know it isn’t,” I told him patiently. “The other officers are engaged in important tasks for the guild and will be back with us tomorrow.” 
 
    “Hmph,” he sniffed at my explanation. “All the more reason there should be more officers to ensure there is no short-fall of leadership at times like this,” he said, and snuffled gaily like a pig at his poor pun. 
 
    “Why you…” Piotr bristled at Kennilen’s clumsy slur. 
 
    I put my hand on the lad’s shoulders and kept him in his seat. The arrogant fool hadn’t even noticed the blade in Piotr’s hand that was a second away from being buried in his groin. 
 
    I couldn’t, however, prevent Krista from unleashing her own verbal barb. “I would have thought such crass punning was beneath a scion of the Lionnestal nobility,” she chuckled lightly. 
 
    “Simeon, I will not converse with one of her kind,” he sneered. 
 
    “Kennilen,” I said sternly. “We’ve been through this already. When a position becomes available you can put your name forward for consideration. This will be a decision that all current guild officers have input on, so perhaps you should mind your manners.” 
 
    Kennilen snorted his derision, without another word he turned about and stormed out of the Firehouse tavern. 
 
    I really should have held this meeting in my office and locked the door. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
    Pacclo 
 
    I led my team into the final room of the aptly titled dungeon the Pit of the Dishonoured Dead. This was the last of three dungeons we had been sent to scout in zone ten. All three were Death domain dungeons and were far less hospitable than the Lair. 
 
    Daxas had informed me the Dungeon Master’s name was Prarow Bane and that if present, he inhabited an emaciated, dishevelled avatar. He was not in sight, but I suspected he lurked in here somewhere. 
 
    The room was decorated as a macabre Doctor’s office. There were several heavy wooden tables in orderly rows running the length of the room. On each, lay bodies in the midst of being dissected. Their stomachs had been opened from just beneath their sternum down to the groin. Strewn on the tables was a collection of their intestines and other internal organs. These bodies twitched and moaned with pain. They weren’t alive, precisely, but they had the appearance of being aware. 
 
    “Welcome to my laboratory,” a hoarse voice cackled from the shadows. “I hope you enjoy pain, as you will not be leaving for some time,” Prarow crowed. 
 
    As he finished, his dungeon creature victims sat up on their tables and shuffled their way off them, disgorging more of their bloody guts onto the floor. Their sightless eyes trained on my group, and they lurched forward. 
 
    We had discussed at length how we would handle the threats a Death dungeon posed. Five of my team who were armed with shields stepped up without needing my direction to hold the line and provide a distracting focus for our opponents. 
 
    “You know what to do,” I said offhandedly. 
 
    Then I and the remaining two others with me stepped up behind the shield wall of five. We stabbed through and above the shields at the undead creatures now swarming at the front. Aiming for their necks and heads where we could. 
 
    We made good progress before we heard the vile cackling from the shadows in the far end of this chamber of horrors. Black smoke arose from the flagstones up to knee height and popping up from within the smoke were summoned skeletons. This could be problematic as they were behind our lines. 
 
    I switched from my favoured cutlass to a mace, one which I had purchased for just this type of scenario and walloped the nearest bony monstrosity. Our shield-bearers held their position and trusted the three of us at the back to deal with this new threat. 
 
    I despatched another summoned skeleton when my latest target opened its mouth. 
 
    “Surprise!” the hoarse voice of Prarow jeered at me from the clacking jaw of the skeleton. 
 
    Streaming from the eyeless sockets was a double beam of the blackest energy, which hit me in the centre of my chest. The voice of Prarow cackled madly from the skeleton’s gaping maw.  
 
    My damage notification flashed in front of me. 41%/39%. 
 
    It was a shame I couldn’t see the look on the foul necromancer’s face as I shrugged off the powerful spell strike and bashed his skeletal proxy to pieces. 
 
    “Impossible!” came the plaintive wail from his hiding place.  
 
    Before we had come on this mission Daxas had provided each of us with nine pieces of superior leather or steel armour for these delves. Each piece of armour had two enchantments. One that granted us eight damage reduction against necrotic damage and a second boosting our stamina by four. This pushed every member of the team to over one thousand Health and significantly dulled the bite of his Necrobolt spell. 
 
    The fight didn’t last much longer as I heard a strangled cry coming from those shadows where Prarow Bane lurked. The surviving summoned skeletons dissipated back into the black mist they sprang from and the zombies, while still standing, lost any combat coherence and were easily ended by my team. 
 
    “Well done ladies,” I yelled across this laboratory of death. 
 
    “Thank you, Uncle Pacclo,” twin voices spoke from the shadows. 
 
    Stepping out into the eerie light were two identical Cat-kin women. They were tall, with long tawny hair. They walked towards me in lockstep. The twins were Yanna and Yuni and despite what they called me; we were not blood kin. 
 
    The girls were both Cougar breed whereas I was a Jaguar. When they became part of my delving team, they started using the uncle honorific. I knew them well enough not to bother trying to dissuade them.  
 
    We had been acquainted before I joined the Dark Moon Rising and they had decided to follow my example, leaving zone four, and came to test themselves at the Lair. I pulled them aside for some privacy. 
 
    “Will Daxas be pleased with our efforts, do you think?” Yanna asked excitedly. 
 
    “Oh, please tell us he will be, Uncle,” Yuni spoke before I could answer. 
 
    “I’m positive he will be. Your stealth and strike abilities are already formidable,” I told them honestly. 
 
    The pair clapped and jumped about with exuberant joy. 
 
    I couldn’t repress a grin at their behaviour. These two were destined to be disciples of the Wolf King. Had he been anything other than a wolf I think they would have thrown themselves on his tender mercy already. That sliver of doubt, that he might reject them for being catkin, was the only reason they held back after they came face to face with him for the first time in the Arena. 
 
    I genuinely cared for the pair, but unlike Simeon, I could see past my distrust of our natural enemy. If he could have taken me, I would have volunteered to be a disciple myself. Daxas had vision and was going places, and I suspected he would do so rapidly. 
 
    Something had caused him to hold back for the last few weeks, but I could sense the dungeon’s patience wearing thin when he met with the guild’s officers. His manner screamed that he was a coiled spring ready to explode, waiting for the right moment. 
 
    Where Simeon feared he would turn on us, I believed our biggest concern should be that he would outgrow his need for the guild and leave us behind. 
 
    This was why I had informed Yanna and Yuni of what I could about our guild’s relationship with the Wolf King. Their excitement at the prospect of serving him directly was palpable.  
 
    So, no I did not have a guilty conscience about preparing the pair for their inevitable future with him. And if that ingratiated me with Daxas in the process, all the better. I didn’t feel any remorse for that either. 
 
    “Come let us make haste. We have a long journey ahead of us,” I said, and guided them back to the rest of the group. 
 
    I wondered briefly if the other teams had been as successful as we had been. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
      
 
      
 
      
 
    Chapter 4 
 
      
 
      
 
    I was in the forge with Karragh working on my Metalworking skill when I received the alert from the DDD, that a challenge on the Lair was underway. 
 
    The timing was astonishing enough to get my attention. It was the middle of the day PGT, this alone made the event unusual. 
 
    Challenges had been few and far between lately. There had been a couple of unaligned dark elf groups in zone six who had tried, but their tendency remained for nocturnal raids. There weren’t any other probable candidates, like a party from the Black Hills Brigade, nearby either. This made it likely that it was a traitorous group from within the Dark Moon Rising, and such groups usually only did so after dark as well, when they were out of sight. 
 
    Secondly, this group had challenged the Lair directly. Most teams that turned on me had the common sense to go after the Forest of Xanathia as the lowest ranked of the dungeons which led to our cores. Whoever this lot were, they had chosen the most difficult path. 
 
    “What is it, Master?” Karragh queried when she saw me with a display screen up. 
 
    “A challenge, Karragh,” I answered distractedly. 
 
    I opened the run information on the screen and confirmed my belief that it was a group of traitors from the Dark Moon Rising. The party was led by Kennilen Brightmuss, a human noble of some sort. I recalled him vaguely, his group had joined the guild last week PGT, and he thought very highly of himself. 
 
    I’d observed his first run with his team and despite them being ranked between eighteen and twenty I wasn’t impressed, particularly by Kennilen. His decision making as a leader and fighting prowess were pathetic for his rank. But he had a gaggle of toadies who lavished praise on him with every run, most of whom were nearly as useless as their incompetent delving captain. 
 
    If my recollection was accurate, it had been some time for me after all, he was the sixth son of the most powerful Duke of the Lionnestal Empire. Hence, why he had a collection of arse-kissing types who sucked up to him. 
 
    During the solitary run I’d bothered to observe, the team was carried by two members who displayed actual ability. Who coincidentally also seemed least inclined to pander to Kennilen’s preening need for fawning praise. I would refresh myself on the particulars soon enough. 
 
    “Do you need us to ready ourselves, Master?” Karragh asked. 
 
    “Hmmm, no need, Karragh” I answered as a plan formulated in my brain. “Keep up your work here. This isn’t a true threat. Just a spoiled rich boy about to get the comeuppance of a lifetime,” I finished and smirked to myself evilly. 
 
    I put aside the tongs I had been working with. My current Metalworking project would complete by itself eventually and left for the viewing lounge. I wanted to observe this group in comfort as I fine-tuned my welcome for them. 
 
    Less than a minute later and I was ensconced on the black leather of the huge couch. Kennilen’s crew were in the Basement wing hunting the rats which gave me plenty of time to go back and review what had prompted his foolhardy challenge. 
 
    The DDD intuited exactly what I needed and displayed up on the big screen the preceding half an hour of footage that followed the man. I watched his confrontation with Simeon in the Firehouse and then he stormed out and joined the rest of his team who were already lined up outside the entrance to the Lair, ready for the run. I sat back to enjoy the rest of the show. 
 
    “My Lord, Brightmuss. What is it that troubles you?” a human bootlicker I saw tagged as Kiefer asked and bowed deeply to the petulant armoured fop. 
 
    “What troubles me you ask!” Kennilen barked angrily. “That wretched excuse for a Guild Chief is what troubles me. Can you believe this Kiefer, the little toad had the audacity, the sheer audacity to refuse me, me Kennilen Brightmuss, a son of Clarecroft Duchy itself, a position in his wretched little council of wretchedly little people,” he raged, and almost ran out of breath before completing his tirade. 
 
    Apparently, an expanded vocabulary was yet another area where the pompous ass was sorely lacking. 
 
    “He is a disgrace, my Lord,” Kiefer simpered, a sentiment resoundingly supported by the six other petty human lordlings and lickspittles that made up most of his retinue. 
 
    The only exceptions were the two individuals that had shown an aptitude for dungeon delving. I examined their details a bit closer.  
 
    The first was Yorsashi Fukuro, a short Owl-kin man. He was notable as one of the few adventurers I’d seen who had managed to get their hands on some spells. Firebolt and Flame Fists if my memory was accurate. The second was a huge shaggy, white-furred, brute called Thrasher Razorclaw. A bear-kin of the Polar Bear subtype. He was the big and silent type, who was rarely far from Yorsashi’s side. 
 
    They were two interesting characters and any wonderment I had on how they fell under Kennilen’s influence was quickly answered as the raider’s conversation continued. 
 
    “Indeed Kiefer, indeed,” Kennilen whined, he then smirked nastily before he continued. “But we shall teach that short-arse a lesson to respect his betters. Gather round all of you, I don’t wish the rabble to get wind of my perfect scheme,” he said, and motioned for his group to lean in closer. 
 
    His lickspittles gathered in close, Yorsashi and Thrasher got nearer, though they didn’t quite huddle up as the others did. 
 
    “Today my friends, we are going to challenge the Wolf King’s Lair,” Kennilen murmured in a low voice. 
 
    Although he couldn’t quite hide his childish glee at the declaration, and the pitch of his voice went up an octave by the end and was audible for any nearby listeners. 
 
    Yorsashi shook his head and grimaced. “My Lord, are you sure that is wise? This dungeon is the lifeblood of the guild. You will not earn yourself any friends by threatening its survival,” he warned Kennilen. 
 
    “Of course, I’m sure, Yorsashi,” Kennilen spat at the Owl-kin man. “And I couldn’t care less about making friends amongst these commoners. After we have claimed the Wolf King’s scalp, I will have the power. That halfling toad will have no choice but to accede to my demands, lest I take us back in repeatedly and destroy the ‘lifeblood’ of the guild as you so eloquently named it. In fact, I’ve got a good mind to demand he hand over the position of Guild Chief to me. Not just a mind, but I shall. This guild will soon be dancing to the tune of my fiddle, mark my words,” he bragged. 
 
    His little speech was met with a chorus of claps and hearty “Here! Here!” from the lordling toadies assembled around him. 
 
    Yorsashi remained unimpressed and made one last attempt to reason with the spoiled noble brat. “I understand your frustrations, my Lord. However, wouldn’t claiming the core from the Forest of Xanathia equally send the necessary message? Its official rank is half that of the Lair and we could avoid facing the Wolf King himself.” 
 
    “Do you think I’m afraid of the Wolf King? The only thing impressive about him is the unearned title he awarded himself. No, Yorsashi, crushing him and claiming his core is exactly the message I want to send. That I am indefatigable and to be feared by all,” Kennilen announced, sealing his fate. 
 
    I was definitely going to obliterate this mouthy ingrate now, whether he had challenged me or not. 
 
    This wouldn’t cause any problems for me down the line, as Kennilen despite warning the group at the beginning had forgotten entirely about the concept of circumspection. 
 
    Several heads from other guild members had spun about at his grandstanding and a few of those members were already on the way to the guild house, to inform the Chief, no doubt. 
 
    Nobody could claim I didn’t have just cause for smiting the arrogant cunt and it would be such a pleasure. 
 
    Simeon would probably have had long enough to stop Kennilen and his party if he hadn’t been in the Firehouse instead of his office. Which had been good news for me, and bad news for Kennilen’s life expectancy. 
 
    “But…” Yorsashi started. 
 
    “Enough!” Kennilen yelled and interrupted him. “You and Thrasher both swore yourselves in service to my family in life and beyond. You will do as I say, unless you plan to forsake those oaths?” he asked with cold menace. 
 
    “No, my Lord. Thrasher and I remain your servants until fate is sealed,” Yorsashi intoned and bowed low. 
 
    Thrasher didn’t speak but mimicked the deep bow. 
 
    “Good. Ah, look we are up next. Now come along, we should take the quests too. There is no reason not to make the most of it. We could run through this dungeon in our sleep. I suspect the vaunted changes that are supposed to take place are nothing more than fallacies concocted by that wretched halfling. Petty little liars the lot of them, everyone knows that.” Kennilen announced brightly before moving onto the quest booth. 
 
    His toadies followed him eagerly, they were all in high spirits and as over-confident as their master. Yorsashi and Thrasher were more subdued but voiced no further objections as the challenge option was invoked and they entered my dungeon. 
 
    That largely brought me up to speed. His group were about to finish up with the rat hunting and make their way back up into the dungeon proper. I decided at that moment to stand down most of the more lethal alterations that happen during a challenge. 
 
    I also called in Jessamyn, Karragh, and Fiadh at that point. The three of them were all still officially stationed on my path to the dungeon core. I sent them inside to give my mobs some new orders. I needed the gremlins in the ‘Chimney’ and ‘Chandelier Falls’ to follow their regular orders and not the specific challenge versions. 
 
    The ‘Chimney’ trap had been upgraded to deal two hundred points of piercing damage and now covered the top ninety feet of the climb. Enough to encompass the entirety of most raiding groups. 
 
    In addition, I had been busy changing out every copper spike in the dungeon for iron spikes which had been enchanted to deal four points of an elemental damage type. That was four extra damage, per spike, and their armour wouldn’t be stopping that. 
 
    I was reasonably confident that even though Kennilen’s entire party were above rank eighteen and well armoured, the fall, plus the extra spike damage would likely kill or at least severely cripple several of them. Enough at any rate that they might think twice about continuing and I didn’t want that. 
 
    ‘Chandelier Falls’ similarly had too much potential to do harm and my football hooligan gremlin needed to be stood down from triggering the trap. 
 
    Finally, the hidden troops who were in the concealed adjoining corridors had to be ordered to stay where they were, otherwise, they would jump the party at predetermined opportune moments. 
 
    I didn’t pull every enhancement, that would be suspicious, so the ‘Stairway to Hell’ would remain challenging, but nothing this over-ranked group couldn’t handle. 
 
    Shelly, as a life-seeded dungeon creature, could be updated remotely using the communication features of my DDD. Like me, he wasn’t very happy at throwing fights, but he was a dutiful servant and would obey my commands. 
 
    That actually reminded me that apart from bumping Shelly up to rank ten and replacing the basic rooms that made up his wing with advanced Cavern rooms. I hadn’t made any changes to his abode. I had just shy of one hundred Dungeon Power to spend in there and it was the only wing or chamber in all three dungeons where I hadn’t maxed out my allowance. 
 
    When this fight was done, I would bring Shelly in and see what his thoughts were on the matter. The wing was his to defend and as I said, he was a dutiful servant, he should get a say in how his ‘home’ was upgraded. 
 
    I had a good reason for sandbagging the run. 
 
    One of the new quests which they had taken was to venture through the Arena on their way to the end of the dungeon. The Arena where they would face me. I wanted Kennilen to make it that far, and then feel the crushing weight of my maul as I annihilated him. 
 
    I could have confronted him earlier in the dungeon, but his downfall would be all the sweeter if he believed he was on the cusp of victory. Allowing them to proceed mostly unmolested ought to achieve the desired effect. 
 
    There wasn’t any real danger in doing this as I had made several changes to the dungeon that virtually guaranteed our success against any challenge. Each dungeon path as well as the Core floor now sported a sizable secret wing capable of supporting six hundred Dungeon Power worth of creatures. These wings were made up of sixty advanced rooms, either Forest or Cavern. 
 
    I had populated these wings with twelve infernal minotaurs, twelve dryads and twelve hobgoblins. All these mobs were boosted to rank ten as well as wearing a full set of the best gear I could produce for them. There were also sixty fully kitted, unranked, wood elves, armed with heavy crossbows in these armies as I’d come to think of them. 
 
    I had started seeding those rank ten mobs but didn’t have enough life seeds to cover all four armies. Instead, I spread the seeds around and currently half the minotaurs and hobgoblins were seeded and eight dryads in each army. This meant that like Shelly they could leave the hidden wings if they went unexplored and follow challenger or invasion groups onto the Core floor and attack them from behind. 
 
    Last, but certainly not least, with all the extra rooms generating bonus dungeon power, I greatly expanded the defence forces on the Core floor. The goblin and troll numbers I left alone, but there was now an eye-watering one hundred and seventy-two wood elves available to run around the forest or be ensconced in the treehouses and forest platforms. 
 
    From a gear perspective, like the new wood elves on the optional floors, I had replaced their bows with heavy crossbows. This meant their rate of fire would be lower. Although with the agility enchantments they had on their gear, they could reload quite swiftly. Even so, the reduced rate of fire was compensated by the crossbows increasing the damage of the bolts by fifty percent. Which with their high agility scores was a significant beat down even for the best armoured of combatants. 
 
    The attack by the orc dungeons illuminated the need for more damaging strikes to break through armour.  
 
    So effective were they, that during the weekly invasion by those orc dungeons, I moved most of the wood elves into the Core room itself. This way if the orc avatars reported back to whoever held the whip to their backs, they wouldn’t reveal just how well prepared we were. 
 
    All told, my renovations to the dungeon set me back almost ten million experience. I kept two million back for emergencies and was on course to rack up a further eight and half million experience this week. 
 
    If you thought my XP rake each week was impressive that actually paled in comparison to the coin that flowed into my account. Projections were for an intake of over eighteen million by the end of the week. Which gave me a war chest of twenty-three million. I had plans for that coin and plenty of them, but that would wait until the next rest day. I shook off my avaricious thoughts and re-focused on the raiders in my dungeon. 
 
    Jessamyn and the other girls’ eyes opened as they each returned their consciousness to their avatars on the Home floor. 
 
    “Your orders have been relayed, Husband,” Jessamyn assured me and bowed her head. 
 
    “Excellent. Jess, when I was observing them outside, they mentioned something about two of the group having sworn some kind of oath to Kennilen or his family. I think Yorsashi referenced ‘until fate is sealed’. Do you know anything about this?” I asked her. 
 
    Jessamyn’s lips thinned with disgust. “I have heard of this practise, yes. It is technically banned throughout most of the Realms, but it does not surprise me that the nobility of the Lionnestal Empire chooses to ignore such laws when it suits them.” 
 
    “You can swear an oath on the Lord’s names which binds your soul to another. You must serve them in life and then when they pass on, your service continues into the afterlife. Forsake this oath and you are condemned to the Infernal Reaches. You are only released from this service if the holder of your oath joins the Lords in their heavens. The purpose of these oaths, as I’m sure you can appreciate, is to give those who are sent here protectors who must assist them to attain salvation if they wish to find it for themselves.” 
 
    “Okay, I understand now. Why is the practice banned? I don’t think I’d ever choose to bind myself in such a way, but why remove the option?” 
 
    My curiosity was piqued. 
 
    “There are two principal reasons, the first of which you touched upon yourself. Few would willingly choose to make such an oath. In the past the wealthy and powerful forced many, with threats and torture, to swear. The oathsworn, they wouldn’t be beastkin by any chance?” Jessamyn said. 
 
    “As a matter of fact, they are,” I replied. 
 
    “This is usually the case within the Empire. Their tribes or families were likely fleeing conflict elsewhere in the Realms and sought sanctuary within the borders of the Lionnestal Empire. It is not uncommon for the less reputable nobles, either because they are out of sight or powerful enough in their own right, to insist on such oaths from their most capable fighters as the price of admittance. Often the beastkin are desperate enough to accept.” 
 
    “The second reason it was banned, is it reduced the fear of being sent here to the Proving Grounds and encouraged nefarious behaviours. For example, the Lionnestal Emperor has the Lords given power to brand any citizen, noble or not, a traitor to the Empire. Regardless of whatever else they have done in life, they would be sent here upon death, even if the emperor died before them.” 
 
    “If they had an army of oathsworn to shield them here then such a threat loses its efficacy. And insurrection or secession becomes a real proposition for the ambitious,” Jessamyn finished. 
 
    “The fate is sealed part; does that mean they are freed of their oath if Kennilen damns himself?” I asked her. 
 
    “I suppose it does. However, by the terms of their oath, they must do everything in their power, short of disobeying an order from him to prevent that from occurring, otherwise, they would be sent to the Infernal Reaches themselves,” she responded. 
 
    “Interesting. I think I have an idea,” I chuckled to myself. 
 
    I sat back then and watched as the group moved through the dungeon. Their progress was rapid, except for the double ‘Mud Bath’ rooms. Nobody got through those quickly. They elected to clear Shelly’s cavern for the quest experience, so it did take a further hour before they reached the decision room just before the ‘Lair’. 
 
    Allowing the group a smooth ride worked like a treat, and Kennilen didn’t even hesitate to take the Arena route. 
 
    My mind shifted to my warwolf avatar in the Arena. My jowls pulled back in my trademarked wolfish grin as the delvers trooped onto the varnished wooden decking on the other side of the sand-pitted arena. 
 
    I didn’t have to follow the rules I set down for the Arena during a challenge but didn’t see any need to advertise as such. To complete the surprise, I was wearing my gear loadout for a regular run but would change once the duel began.  
 
    I was being prompted to declare a duel but wanted to wait for Kennilen to step onto the sand-covered floor first. What he and the rest of this group didn’t know was that Jessamyn had gathered the force hidden in the corridors and was even now awaiting them in the decision room. Once their leader was dead, they wouldn’t be escaping, it was too late for all of them now. 
 
    “Watch this, lads. I’m going to teach this mangy cur a lesson in real power,” Kennilen laughed haughtily. 
 
    He jumped off the platform, with a swagger in his step, and approached me. Kennilen had bought the best iron armour I provided on the Auction House. He had also decided against wearing a shield and brandished two iron long swords which he swished about with a flourish in a display I was sure was supposed to intimidate me. 
 
    Of course, we always kept the best equipment for ourselves. I laughed in his pompous face and switched my gear in front of him. Something he hadn’t realised I could do. 
 
    If the sudden shift in Kennilen’s demeanour was any gauge to go by, I looked as impressive as I thought I did. If the annoying human had been capable of assessing what he faced he would have seen the following. 
 
    Masterwork Steel Brigandine Chest Piece 
 
    Damage Reduction: 13 (9) (Piercing), 10 (7) (Impact) 
 
    Requirements: Strength score of 3. (this adds cumulatively with any other items with a strength requirement). 
 
    Enchantments: +4 Strength, +4 Stamina, +4 Spell Power, +4 Agility 
 
    Gem Slot: +2 Strength 
 
      
 
    Masterwork Steel Brigandine Shoulder Pads, Cuisse 
 
    Damage Reduction: 12 (8) (Piercing), 9 (6) (Impact) 
 
    Requirements: Strength score of 2. (this adds cumulatively with any other items with a strength requirement). 
 
    Enchantments: +4 Strength, +4 Stamina, +4 Spell Power, +4 Agility 
 
    Gem Slot: +2 Strength 
 
      
 
    Masterwork Steel Brigandine Boots x2, Gloves x2, Bracers x2, Greaves x2, Rerebraces x2, Helmet 
 
    Damage Reduction: 10 (7) (Piercing), 9 (6) (Impact) 
 
    Requirements: Strength score of 1. (this adds cumulatively with any other items with a strength requirement). 
 
    Enchantments: +4 Strength, +4 Stamina, +4 Spell Power, +4 Agility 
 
    Gem Slot: +2 Strength 
 
    Everything I equipped was masterwork quality which increased the damage reduction by fifty percent. On some of the armour pieces, I swapped out the Agility enchantment in favour of Mana to give me enough to cast all my spells. But it wasn’t just fancy new armour I was using. I had a new maul, shield, and enchanted jewellery. 
 
    Masterwork Steel Double-Headed Great Maul 
 
    Damage: 33 (22) + STR (Impact) 
 
    Requirements: Strength score of 40 to wield 2-Handed, 50 to wield 1-Handed. (this adds cumulatively with any other items with a strength requirement). 
 
    Enchantments: +4 Strength, +4 Stamina, +4 Spell Power, +8 Necrotic 
 
    Gem Slot: +4 Necrotic 
 
      
 
    Steel Tower Shield 
 
    Requirements: Strength score of 10. (this adds cumulatively with any other items with a strength requirement). 
 
    Enchantments: +4 Strength, +4 Stamina, +4 Spell Power, +4 Mana 
 
      
 
    Masterwork Silver Ring x2, studs x3, belly-bar 
 
    Enchantments: +7 (4) Agility, +7 (4) Stamina, +7 (4) Spell Power, +14 (8) Heat  
 
    The masterwork nature of the silver jewellery meant the enchantments were enhanced by 75%, instead of 50%. I added some variations changing up the damage types as you could only have one such enchantment within the set and only on jewellery and primary weapons. 
 
    For most people that restricted them to a maximum of three of the different damage type enchantments. My team and I had six pieces of enchanted jewellery and a primary weapon. So, we had all seven represented. Heat, Cold, Electrical, Corrosive, Infernal, Sanctified and Necrotic. The other two damage types, Poison and Venom, were not available as enchantments.  
 
    Our gathering had also improved to the degree that we found small gemstones in the desert and cavern resource rooms. 
 
    We had found only one-carat gems so far, and these could have a single low-level enchantment applied to them and then the gem could be slotted on any piece of armour or on a weapon. The jewellery, paradoxically, did not have any gem slots. However, gems were removable, so you could change them out for something more useful if the unexpected occurred. 
 
    The only restriction was you couldn’t add a gem with an enchantment that wouldn’t be allowed on that piece of equipment in the first place. So, only the primary weapon could have a damage enhancement gem. For my maul, I had added a bit of extra Necrotic via the gem as the Necrotic enchantment on the Maul itself didn’t benefit from silver’s property that boosted the power of an enchantment. 
 
    All told, each of my hits dealt twelve points of Necrotic and fourteen points of the other six damage types. Oh, and my impact damage, of course. My base impact damage per strike was a hefty one hundred and sixty-one. 
 
    “Mangy cur was it,” I growled at the much less confident Kennilen. “Well, lads…” I addressed his cohorts “…I’m going to teach Kenny here, just why the Dark Moon Rising advises against challenges.” 
 
    With that, I issued the forced duel which had procced. Kennilen, of course, had to accept. 
 
    The Proving Grounds automatic mechanisms took over and forced us to take up our positions. I knew what the coward was going to do once the duel began, and I was prepared for it. 
 
    3…2…1… 
 
    “I forf…urk,” Kennilen tried to give up, so his party could attack me as a single unit. 
 
    His cry was cut off by my sub-vocalised full power Lightning Bolt that blasted into his chest and caused him to stumble backwards and collapse on his knees. The spell had stripped him of half his health. 
 
    I leapt forward as Kennilen’s eyes rolled and he drooled from the shock of the hit he just absorbed. 
 
    “I…fu…fufit,” he stuttered out. 
 
    Such a shame for him that he had to get the words right for them to work and the duel continued unabated. 
 
    My double-headed maul came swinging down from an overhead strike and connected squarely with his forehead. Kennilen’s head crumpled as four inches of my maul’s prongs penetrated his skull and killed him instantly. 
 
    “On my God, I killed Kenny, I’m a bastard,” I chuckled loudly. 
 
    I put my foot on Kenny’s shoulder and hauled my weapon out of his smushed-up head. 
 
    “Who’s next?” I challenged the shocked lordlings. 
 
    Like a murmuration of starlings, they turned and fled in unison. 
 
    They hightailed it back down the corridor, foolishly believing my no chase rule remained on the table. All of them that is, except for Yorsashi and Thrasher who regarded their fallen party leader with grim determination and stepped off the platform. 
 
    “I didn’t think you two would be the type to cut and run, but you don’t really have a choice do you,” I growled out. 
 
    “We do not,” Yorsashi answered and advanced on me. 
 
    Rather than engage, I danced backwards towards the exit door. This confused the pair of them enough that they hesitated. I pulled back the bolt and flung open the door. Jen’Zadeer sashayed through the door first followed by Nessa and several of the life-seeded minotaurs and wood elves. 
 
    Before they had a chance to react Jen’Zadeer zapped Thrasher with her Ice Blast and he tumbled over, paralysed. Flanked by half a dozen of the minotaurs we backed Yorsashi up against the far wall of the Arena. Nessa and a few of the wood elves quickly started to bind the paralysed bear-man with shackles. 
 
    I heard the cessation of the sound of combat from further up the corridor and summoned a display screen with the party details. The seven lickspittles who fled had been despatched by Jessamyn, Karragh, and Fiadh. I shifted back to my humanoid avatar; it was much easier to talk without a mouthful of teeth. 
 
    Yorsashi held his arms out and unleashed his Flame Bolt at me, one of the minotaurs graciously stepped into its path and shrugged off its effects. 
 
    “Thank you, Dastin,” I said to the selfless minotaur, who nodded in return. “I hope you’ve got that out of your system, Yorsashi,” I addressed the surrounded Owl-kin. 
 
    “It behoves me to inform you that the rest of your party met a rather sticky end, I’m afraid. It is just you and Thrasher who stand between your parties continued existence and the lot of you being sent to the Infernal Reaches. Including this asshat,” I said, and kicked Kennilen’s corpse for good measure. “It’s hopeless, so why keep fighting, eh?” 
 
    Yorsashi’s face fell at my question. “Because I have no choice. Not to do my all to save him damns me, fighting damns me. I choose to retain my dignity and fight to the end,” he finished, his resolve stiffening. 
 
    “Well said. But it doesn’t have to be that way. I’ve watched the pair of you fight and you are impressive. Without you, that gaggle of geese would have been well and truly cooked long ago. You are just the kind of help my subordinate Simeon needs to help run my guild,” I said reasonably. 
 
    “Your guild?” Shock etched on his vaguely owlish features. “Of course, now it makes sense, but your words mean nothing. You do not understand the nature of the oath Thrasher and I have sworn,” he said, with a resigned sigh. 
 
    I crossed my arms and peered at him sternly. “That’s where you’re wrong. Breaking the rules has become something of a speciality of mine. And besides, what do you have to lose?” 
 
    “Fine,” he said, exasperated and dropped his fighting stance. “I’m damned either way, if listening to you earns us a few more minutes, then so be it.” 
 
    I laughed happily. Yorsashi unbeknownst to him was halfway to understanding the very exploit I planned to use. 
 
    “Exactly. We are agreed then that you acknowledge this is a hopeless battle. One that not only can you not win but will last a very short while when we recommence,” I pressed. 
 
    “Yes,” he answered with a shrug. 
 
    “Capital. Then Yorsashi, you and Thrasher must leave this room as soon as his paralysis wears off, bound, disarmed, and under guard by these fine bulls. And my lovely disciples, of course,” I winked. “Who will then escort you back to the beginning of my dungeon. Where upon arrival they will fight and kill you, or we can get it over and done with right now and send you to the Infernal Reaches.” 
 
    “What? What kind of offer is that?” he scoffed. 
 
    “The only one that will delay this miscreant’s inevitable fate of damnation,” I punctuated my words with another sound kick to Kennilen’s body. 
 
    “There is one last condition I should point out. I need you to swear that if by some miracle you should find yourselves no longer in my dungeon and Kennilen’s fate is sealed, that you will remain in the guild and offer your services to Simeon. Now, you have five seconds to decide which of those options to take. Tick tock,” I finished. 
 
    Yorsashi scowled in confusion, the penny hadn’t quite dropped. However, it didn’t need to. The oath he swore meant he had no choice but to accept my strange terms to delay Kennilen’s damnation. 
 
    “I…I so swear upon the terms you have laid out,” he said and lowered his head. 
 
    “Just what I wanted to hear. Nessa, be a dear and do the honours,” I asked her. 
 
    “Of course, Master,” she said, and sprang from her position where she was sitting on the unfortunate bear who was probably a few seconds from regaining movement. She approached Yorsashi and bound him in chains in the same way as Thrasher.  
 
    By the time Thrasher had regained the power of movement, Yorsashi was similarly trussed up and he explained to the bear-kin what he had agreed to. The bear-kin maintained his stoic reserve and penchant for silence throughout it all but nodded his understanding and assent.  
 
    To keep them in the dark, literally, we put bags over their heads before leading them back to the front of the dungeon via the concealed tunnels. I didn’t want to give away their locations to anybody. Thirty minutes later we were in the ‘Entrance Hall’ standing in front of the shimmering field that denoted the way in and out of my dungeon. 
 
    We debagged the pair and Yorsashi blinked his feathered eyebrows, they flexed in a manner that really accentuated his owlishness. 
 
    “So, this is it,” he said. “I must confess I haven’t divined why you wanted to kill us here and not in the Arena,” 
 
    “I’m afraid so,” I answered his initial question with my best shit-eating grin on my face. “I could make a joke about the hallway being easier to clean, but let’s cut to the chase. I lied.” 
 
    “Lied?” Yorsashi queried, his astonishment evident. 
 
    My answer was pre-empted by a deep belly laugh from Thrasher that boomed throughout the hallway and caught everyone by surprise a little. 
 
    “He isn’t killing us. He is freeing us,” Thrasher announced in a deep gruff voice. 
 
    “Way to steal my thunder, big guy,” I chuckled and patted him on the shoulder. “Push them out,” I ordered my minotaur guards who held them. 
 
    Yorsashi, who I assumed was still a bit confused, was tossed out easily. Thrasher, who had figured out what was happening had no choice but to fight harder, but it was four on one, and he was still tied up tightly, so his resistance only delayed him from being ejected by a few seconds. 
 
    Their ‘escape’ and the demise of the rest of the party officially ended the challenge. 
 
    I shifted back to my avatar on the Home floor. Kennilen, Kiefer, and the other lordlings stood before my throne in a zombie state. Unsure if Yorsashi and Thrasher might be compelled in some manner to try and re-enter my dungeon, I stripped Kennilen and his cronies of their gear and booted his over-privileged ass into the infernal oblivion he so richly deserved. 
 
    Then I sat back on my throne and imagined the range of strangled exclamations from Simeon when he learned what I’d done. 
 
    The only thing that could make this moment sweeter was a willing young damsel in my arms and that was an absence I could quickly rectify. The only decision was who to choose. 
 
    Fuck it, I thought, and summoned all six of them. 
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
      
 
      
 
      
 
    Chapter 5 
 
      
 
      
 
    The remaining days passed above as the months passed below and now mere seconds remained before the rest day began. Nothing else out of the ordinary occurred during that time. The scout teams I asked Simeon to send against the dungeons involved in the pogrom directed at me returned unharmed and were resoundingly successful. 
 
    The only piece of good news was that Thurgar Greybeard’s dungeon had been destroyed by the Jagged Boar Tusks. Turns out he sited his dungeon a little too close to their territory and the Black Hills Brigade, who might normally protect a young dwarven dungeon were otherwise focused on something else. Me. 
 
    Simeon had been in an unusually good mood during that meeting. Of course, I had removed the Kennilen problem for him and he even thanked me for sparing Yorsashi and Thrasher. In typical Simeon fashion, he tried to twist my generosity into more gains for himself in the form of more guild officers without me getting more disciples. I said, no. 
 
    However, if everything went as I intended today, Simeon would get his wish tomorrow and would then bitterly regret it if I knew the conflicted halfling and I did. 
 
    I was sitting in the lounge, alone, when Tenzing materialised in front of me on the dot of midnight. 
 
    “Daxas,” he smiled. 
 
    “Tenzing,” I grinned back. “Long time, no see.” 
 
    “Indeed, it has been, Daxas,” he agreed. “Where are the girls? It’s unlike you to be on your own.” 
 
    “True enough, bud. I wore them out and left them sleeping it off in the bedroom,” I smirked. 
 
    Tenzing sniggered lightly. After all this time he had become accustomed to my occasional sex jokes. I had to work hard to get that royal blue flush in his cheeks these days. 
 
    “That is also unlike you, my friend. Not wearing them out with your sexual endeavours,” he chuckled. “But leaving them during the post-coital haze.” 
 
    He left the last comment hanging between us. Tenzing was right, of course, and I shouldn’t have expected him not to be suspicious of my behaviour. 
 
    “You’re not wrong,” I sighed lightly. “I’m contemplating…no, that’s not true, I’ve decided to do something I was strongly advised against doing. And while I know Jessamyn would support me publicly, I also know she would be unhappy with my decision privately.” 
 
    “You’re going to answer the new arbiter’s summons, aren’t you,” he said flatly. No judgement, just stating the facts. 
 
    “Yes, I am,” I answered. “And I didn’t want to worry her beforehand. A forgiveness is easier than permission king of deal.” 
 
    Tenzing approached the sofa and plopped himself down next to me. “I knew you would, you know,” he confided. 
 
    “I thought you might. Will you come with me? Be there to stop me from putting my foot in it too badly,” I grinned. 
 
    “Absolutely, you couldn’t stop me even if you wanted to,” he answered, and nudged me companionably with his elbow. 
 
    “Well, it is kind of your job,” I snarked back at him. 
 
    The room was filled with the heart-swelling sound of friendly laughter. 
 
    I summoned a display from the DDD and selected one of the new Arbiter’s summons requests from the trash folder I had created and accepted before I could change my mind. I felt a surge of rightness from within as I did so. Tenzing slipped his hand into mine just before we were overcome by the transition. 
 
    Blink. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    I was in a white space room with no visible walls. Around me was a series of displays of what was happening in various dungeons in the Proving Grounds. Tenzing was standing alongside me, he had a concerned expression on his face as he let go of my hand. 
 
    Something was definitely up. 
 
    Sitting in front of me on a black swivel chair was an older man with stark white hair and wearing a crisp white suit. He had a close-trimmed white beard and the whole scene was eerily familiar. 
 
    “If this creepy motherfucker calls himself the Architect, we riot,” I joked casually to my blue-skinned companion. 
 
    This drew a disgruntled scowl from the man who had drawn me here. 
 
    “You may call me the Arbiter,” he said with a slight sneer on his face. 
 
    “Not better,” I snarked back at him.  
 
    This was not an auspicious beginning.  
 
    “Arbiter,” Tenzing said formally, getting our attention. “You are the one who replaced the previous liaison, Alyssa. We were contacted by her and told The Lords complained that she was not…impartial. That her familiarity with Daxas soul had corrupted her purpose. And that Drakonis himself intervened and forced the ethereal entity to bow to the Lord’s pressure for her to be replaced. Is this true? We are both of the entity and you must answer me truthfully.” 
 
    I still didn’t know much about this Drakonis character. Alyssa had warned me he was a powerful sorcerer. So far, he just seemed to be another asshat trying to screw me over. Thoughts about this person I’d never met had to wait as the Arbiter who had taken his time, finally, albeit reluctantly, responded to Tenzing. 
 
    “This is the case, yes. I have been spared the contamination,” the Arbiter gagged as he referred to me, “of this supplicant.” 
 
    His disgust for me was readily apparent. Normally behaviour of that nature might piss me off. Today, though, it was ammunition.  
 
    “So, Alyssa was right, he is like you guys except he hasn’t examined my soul?” I mused. 
 
    “Yes. Will you confirm you are a compartmentalised extension of the entity as Alyssa and I are, but who has had exposure to the essence of the Divine Lord Timian,” Tensing pressed the Arbiter. 
 
    “Better known as the prophecy asshat dude,” I interjected before the Arbiter could answer. 
 
    The Arbiter chose to ignore me, but if the working of his jaw muscles was any indication I was getting under his skin, as I hoped. 
 
    Eventually, he deigned to answer Tenzing. “You have been informed correctly,” he intoned, and attempted to assume an air of haughty superiority. 
 
    Tenzing nodded in response. I was less diplomatic. “No wonder this guy looks like such an IP stealing twat.”  
 
    I pointed at the Arbiter to punctuate my insult. 
 
    For some time, I had suppressed my frustrations and anger that the dickhead Lords engendered with their ass-fuckery. In this setting, I could let loose a little. The familiar flames were stoked, and I would need to use that to redirect the incoming shafting to those who deserved it. 
 
    “Umm…” Tenzing mumbled to me. “How you see him is still dependent on you. That you see him as an adversarial character is indicative of the relationship between you.” 
 
    “Enough,” the Arbiter barked. “You are here on sufferance, Tenzing.” 
 
    “I am here because Daxas has a right to have his adviser present,” Tenzing shot back. “Despite your desire to exclude me. Daxas, this is why I had to take your hand. That way I was brought with you as you were summoned. You could have asked for me to be present once you arrived, but as I think you can guess, he would not have informed you of that right.” 
 
    “Is this true, Arbiter?” I said leadingly. 
 
    “Humph,” was his response. A yes then. 
 
    “Very well, from now on I wish my advisers to be present in any meetings between us,” I told him. 
 
    He didn’t answer but bopped his head forward in acknowledgement. 
 
    “How is Alyssa?” I asked. 
 
    “Your former liaison is fine. I would have reabsorbed her, but the entity has chosen to keep her separate for the time being,” the Arbiter answered. 
 
    “She should be here with me also. She is one of my advisers,” I argued. 
 
    “Alyssa is not an adviser. She was to be an impartial liaison, a role she failed to perform miserably,” he sneered at me. 
 
    “Fucker,” I growled. “I want her here, now.” 
 
    “No,” the Arbiter grinned smugly. 
 
    “Daxas,” Tenzing cautioned, putting his hand on my arm. “This Arbiter may have been unduly influenced by Timian, but he is still of the entity. No matter the influence Timian has had on his character, he must still seek balance. Alyssa was bound in the same manner. The difference is she would warn and advise you, whereas this person has no compunction about keeping you in the dark.” 
 
    “What do you mean Tenzing?” 
 
    “If you asked for or demanded something from Alyssa that would break that balance, she would deny you, yes, but then tell you what you could have. The Arbiter will not,” Tenzing advised. 
 
    He was being a bit cagey, but sometimes he had to be. Tenzing could advise me, but he wasn’t supposed to tell me what to do. However, when I let my discontent with the smug prick stop clouding my judgement I saw where his words had attempted to aim me. I needed to change tack. 
 
    “When can I have Alyssa with me?” I asked instead. 
 
    “I have allowed your adviser to be present. Alyssa is not an adviser. Now I wish to move on to the purpose of your summons to me,” he responded. 
 
    Responded, not answered. I asked when I could have Alyssa with me, not when could she be in these meetings. A slip of the tongue on my part, maybe, maybe not. Regardless of why I asked the question as I did, it opened an avenue of opportunity. 
 
    “I think not,” I said.  
 
    I recalled my first encounter with Tenzing when he needed my permission to continue. It would appear that the Arbiter also needed me to agree to this meeting before it could take place. 
 
    “We haven’t finished our discussion on the subject of Alyssa. You have replaced her, so she is no longer my official liaison. I don’t see any reason why I can’t have her with me, in my dungeon.” 
 
    This elicited a glare from a less than happy Arbiter as the only response. 
 
    “I want Alyssa to join me in my dungeon.” 
 
    “No,” the Arbiter said curtly. 
 
    Curt was good. This meant he didn’t want to elaborate and give me any clues, but he should have realised by now it was too late. He would soon learn I was like a dog with a bone, unwilling to let go. I knew just from looking at him that I would have to drag every last iota from him. 
 
    “When can I have Alyssa in my dungeon?” I pressed once more. 
 
    The Arbiter sat there for a moment and looked like he was chewing on a lemon. He really didn’t want to help me but having to retain a commitment to balance stymied his attempt at denying my request.  
 
    His struggle to undermine me didn’t bode well for the real reason I was brought here, though. Eventually, the lemon won, and he had to spit out what I wanted to hear, well mostly what I wanted to hear. 
 
     “She can join you in your dungeon, but not yet. You spent fifteen weeks with only Alyssa and her horribly biased oversight. You must go fifteen weeks with my sole oversight to compensate. Then she may join you as an inactive member of the dungeon. As part of your filthy little harem only,” the Arbiter scorned, deriding us with the last part. 
 
    I sensed he was trying to get a rise out of me and then I figured out why. He was still trying to get one past me. 
 
    “Eleven weeks,” I corrected. “Alyssa has not been overseeing my progress for the last four weeks, has she. You were.” 
 
    “Very well, you can have her in eleven weeks,” he agreed, without confirming the reason for her silence. 
 
    “Of which, four weeks have already passed. You said my oversight without her should last only as long as my oversight with her,” I pressed. 
 
    “Very well,” he groused. “Seven weeks,” 
 
    It was my turn to give him a smug grin. I was fronting, though. Seven weeks with the time dilation was going to be a long fucking time before I could get my hands on the gorgeous bespectacled brunette. 
 
    Then the Arbiter’s lips quirked upwards. 
 
    It was ever so brief, but it happened. The white suit-wearing douche thought he was getting the best of me. But I hadn’t agreed, not yet. A couple of moments of introspection on the conversation illuminated what I had initially missed. The time dilation. 
 
    “Not so fast. Time in the Proving Grounds can be measured in more than one manner. If we measure the time from within my dungeon, which let’s be honest makes more sense as I am a dungeon after all. I have, in fact, suffered years longer under your oversight than I benefited under hers. Not only should I get her right now, but I think you owe me,” I argued. 
 
    The Arbiter’s cheeks reddened with anger, and he slammed his fist on the arm of his swivel chair. 
 
    When he had calmed down, he muttered. “Very well, she shall join you at the conclusion of this meeting, not before. Before you argue, her return is a consequence of this conference, so I do not have to bring her here.” 
 
    I felt much better now but wouldn’t let him overlook the last element by being too eager to agree. 
 
    “Understood. And you acknowledge that from the perspective of balance you actually owe me a little,” I reminded. 
 
    “Yes, I acknowledge you have a smidgen of credit in that regard. Are you happy now? May we continue?” the Arbiter asked testily. 
 
    It was good to know how much I had got under his skin. 
 
    “Yeah, let’s get on with it. How are you screwing me over?” I asked rhetorically. 
 
    His eyes flashed his annoyance, but then his lips curled with cruel smugness. 
 
    “I am not screwing you over, you are doing that to yourself. You have taken another dungeon as a disciple and I have brought you here to tell you how that is going to change your circumstances,” he said. 
 
    “Whoa there little doggy,” I interrupted. “This is ancient history, and the terms were already determined. I had a pow-wow with the Lords and everything. They agreed as to how this would be handled in the arbitration. There is nothing else to discuss.” 
 
    “I’m aware of the results of that arbitration, as flawed and poorly managed as it was. What was agreed during that meeting stands unaltered…” He paused and there was a malicious glint flash across his eyes. “…for those who claim one dungeon as a disciple. However, you have taken two,” the Arbiter announced, his shit-eating grin widening. 
 
    “What a load of bollocks,” I roared. “That agreement specifically allowed me to take more dungeons as disciples.” 
 
    “Yes, but it made no mention of what would happen if you did. You may have assumed it would all be the same, but assumption is not fact,” he commiserated with faux sympathy. 
 
    “You’re fucking me over on a technicality,” I snarled, shifting to my warwolf form and towering over him. 
 
    Alas, as much as I wanted to tear the colonel sanders look-alike to pieces like the contents of a bucket of KFC. I was struck by a similar lack of control over my body that Alyssa had used when she teased me. 
 
    I felt Tenzing pull me back from the Arbiter and I shifted back as I paced the white room. The Arbiter just chuckled at my frustration, enjoying his power, and glorying in having turned the tables on me.  
 
    He didn’t, however, have as much power as he thought. 
 
    Yes, I was angry, but I wasn’t in an uncontrolled rage as much as my behaviour might suggest. When people think they are winning, that is when they make mistakes. And I was happy to let him think he was winning. 
 
    He started talking again as I glowered at him. 
 
    “From now on your dungeon will count as one and not three. Supplicants and invaders may enter any of the entrances but may only do so once a day. What were three separate dungeons will each be a part of a greater whole.” 
 
    “When groups complete one dungeon, they will have the option to leave or continue and complete the next part/dungeon in whichever order they choose. This means challengers and invaders may choose to advance to your combined Core floor after completing any one of your dungeon paths. If they choose to conquer your Core floor before completing the other dungeon paths, they can then complete those dungeons afterwards. This, of course, means they will then be able to revisit your Core floor after each dungeon completion. Just as your other dungeon floors do not repopulate during a single run, neither will your Core floor.” 
 
    I tried to object but the grinning git had frozen my vocal chords. 
 
    “To compensate supplicants for the greater difficulty of completing multiple dungeon paths without a break, the experience rewarded will be multiplied by the number of paths completed. Additionally, the ‘Over Six’ rule shall be increased by six for each dungeon that is part of the whole even if the groups choose not to continue. This will make the rule ‘Over Eighteen’ in your dungeon’s current incarnation. This will continue to rise if you somehow add further dungeons to your own,” he explained. 
 
    “As you are now a single dungeon the fallen totals of the subservient dungeons will be added to the dominant dungeon. That would be you in this example. When you advance in rank, they will advance in lockstep with you. The combined dungeon rank will continue unchanged. Also, when your combined rank reaches one hundred you will have to participate in the Divine Challenge. This will be mandatory,” he finished. 
 
    Tenzing gasped out loud at the last part. The hold on my vocal chords was released 
 
    “Divine Challenge?” I said to my adviser, pointedly ignoring the Arbiter. 
 
    “The Divine Challenge is the final test for dungeons. Each week a rank one hundred dungeon undergoes a challenge run made up of champions representing the Lords. Both Divine and Infernal, despite the name. Fight them off and you get your reward of reconstitution, lose and you’re done,” he told me. 
 
    “Win or bust,” I muttered. 
 
    “Daxas he is forcing this on you much earlier than it should occur. As things stand when you get to rank thirty-six, the combined rank of your dungeons will be one hundred and one and you will join the queue. There are few dungeons at that rank, so you will have to participate within a few weeks. You will not have time to accrue many more ranks following that,” Tenzing informed me. 
 
    “I am doing no such thing, Tenzing,” the Arbiter snapped, pronouncing my blue buddies name snidely. “Daxas himself agreed to the combined rankings.” 
 
    “He would not have, had facing the Divine Challenge early been a requirement. Alyssa would never have allowed this,” Tenzing argued angrily on my behalf. 
 
    “The less said about that useless bitch and her incompetence the better. I am being more than generous. I have boosted his fallen total immensely and his subservient dungeons advance for free. I have maintained balance without favouring this cur and his pack of…females,” the Arbiter spoke with false piety.  
 
    I hadn’t missed the contempt he had for Alyssa or when he spoke about my women. Alyssa had mentioned Timian’s misogyny before the arbitration. The Arbiter appeared to have inherited this trait from that arsehole of a God. 
 
    “Fuck you, you cunt,” I spat, my policy of politeness in the face of authority a thing of my past life. “You’re just a fawning lap dog. Begging for a tummy rub from an indifferent owner. Willing to do whatever it takes for a smidge of attention.” 
 
    This got a reaction from him. He stood from his black swivel chair; his cheeks glowed redder with wrath than when I baited him before. 
 
    “How dare you. I do this for the Proving Grounds, for the entity, for balance. You…” he screamed, pointing at me. “…are the problem. You are the imbalance. Every moment you remain is a visceral threat to the existence of the Proving Grounds, our very purpose endangered by your mere existence. Hastening your exit by any means necessary is the very essence of balance. Alyssa and Tenzing would see this if they hadn’t been corrupted by your lecherous soul.” 
 
    I laughed in his face. Unbeknownst to him, I had the Arbiter exactly where I wanted him. 
 
    “This is why you waited until after the orc dungeon’s first invasion to begin sending your demands to haul my ass in here. You hoped they’d finish me off, didn’t you? And I have you to thank for the alterations to the Gauntlet. Oh, how it must sting to see your machinations fall short,” I mocked. 
 
    I could see he wanted to say more but thought better of it. 
 
    “We are done, begone,” he said instead, sitting back in his swivel chair. 
 
    “No, not yet,” I smarmed back. 
 
    His face creased with anger at my refusal. That he couldn’t send me back as good as told me there was something more I could secure, and he had hoped I would simply accept his dismissal. 
 
    We stood staring at each other while I thought over what he might be leaving out, what else I could get out of him before I made my last play. 
 
    “The dungeon laws,” I said slowly. 
 
    “What of them?” he asked. 
 
    “Ambush, Matriarchal, Dominance and Fecund Abundancy. All of them will apply to my dungeons regardless of which entrance is chosen,” I said. 
 
    “Acceptable but the Female, Diversity and Fertility penalty laws will also apply to all,” he said almost cordially. 
 
    “Now go,” he muttered with displeasure. 
 
    “I’m still not done,” I grinned. 
 
    “What else is there?” he complained. 
 
    “Two things. First, privacy. I know you are spying on me, constantly. That ends now,” I ordered. 
 
    “Impossible, I have to be able to observe what happens in the Proving Grounds,” he dismissed. 
 
    “I’m not demanding you be blinded to my activities for the whole of the Proving Grounds, or even in the parts of my dungeon that adventurers can enter by right. Just my Home floor, you’ll recall you still owe me credit and I’m calling that marker in for this,” I reminded him. 
 
    “Unghh, done,” he groused. “You said there were two things.” 
 
    “Privacy from the Lords as well as yourself. I want to hear you say it,” I demanded. 
 
    “Yes, privacy from all,” he agreed. 
 
    I straightened up to my full height. “Yes, secondly, it’s time to close the arbitration on me. I’m sick of the constant meddling by you and by the Lords. Both directly and indirectly,” I announced. 
 
    “You are insane,” the Arbiter laughed. “Why would I ever agree to that? You have already spent your ‘credit’, and even if you hadn’t, it wouldn’t have come remotely close to being enough to earn such an enormous gesture given your nature and circumstances.” 
 
    I’d expected that reaction, but I wasn’t done. Time to dangle the carrot.  
 
    “I’m no fool, I wouldn’t expect you to agree without something major in return. So, I’m willing to give you what you want more than anything else to help restore balance in the Proving Grounds. Me, gone one way or the other in a matter of weeks, instead of the likely months or even years,” I offered. 
 
    The Arbiter leaned forward in his black chair. I genuinely had his interest for the first time. “I’m listening,” he stated. 
 
    “A simple change to one you are already making. You’ve merged the dungeons, our fallen total and advancement. Go one step further, don’t just have us advance one rank at a time. Progress us to the highest available rank that our fallen total qualifies us for,” I suggested. 
 
    “Daxas, no,” Tenzing warned. “If he did this you could be facing the Divine challenge in no more than six or seven weeks.” 
 
    “Too late, Tenzing,” the Arbiter crowed. “Daxas has made the offer in good faith and I happily agree. It is done.” 
 
    “As long as the arbitration is officially closed, and your role in all this is also done,” I clarified. 
 
    “Yes, yes,” he sniggered. 
 
    Then he got out of his chair and danced about the room. It was a bit creepy if I’m honest. Once he finished his jig, he stopped in front of me. 
 
    “We are done and so are you. I almost hope you last long enough for Lord Timian to strip your soul bare,” he laughed. 
 
    “So much for your impartiality, not that I believed you truly possessed any,” I commented wryly. 
 
    “The arbitration is closed, and your fate is sealed. I may have had to maintain balance, but that doesn’t require me to like you or wish you well. Your overconfidence has sealed your doom,” he scolded gleefully.  
 
    “Daxas, what have you done?” Tenzing cried softly. 
 
    “I’ll explain when we return and can enjoy our newly won privacy,” I assured him. 
 
    “Yes, begone. Go, plot and scheme, not that it’ll do you a single jot of good,” the Arbiter exulted.  
 
    This time I couldn’t forestall him, nor did I want to. 
 
    I did, however, deliver a verbal barb as we departed. “If you think I was disruptive before, you’ve not seen anything yet.” 
 
    Blink. 
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    We were back in the viewing lounge, sitting on the black leather couch as we had been before the meeting. Tenzing released my hand, but my eyes and awareness were centred elsewhere. 
 
    Standing in front of me was Alyssa. She was almost unchanged from the last time I saw her. Her chocolate brown hair remained tied in a bun. The grey business suit top was gone which left her in the white blouse that her busty assets strained to free themselves from. The top three buttons were undone and provided a pleasant view of her cleavage. She peered down at me over her black-rimmed spectacles and smiled sexily. 
 
    “Daxas, my darling. You’ve really gone and done it now,” she purred. 
 
    My cock grew rock hard, and I had to fight the urge to take her on the black carpeting of the viewing lounge floor. 
 
    Tenzing coughed lightly from beside me. I imagined he knew well what kind of internal battle I was involved in and wanted to remind me he was still there. That helped. 
 
    Using the DDD I opened a fresh communication display. 
 
    “Ladies, can you assemble in the Lounge, please,” I announced throughout the dungeon to summon my harem. 
 
    I stood and paced over to Alyssa, unable to wait, I had to do something. There was no unseen force to hold me back now. I swept her into my arms and our lips crushed against one another in a long-overdue wanton tongue-filled sloppy kiss. Alyssa moaned in response, and I grunted my desire as my hands roamed freely over her legs and ass. My hands squeezed and kneaded unopposed. 
 
    Tenzing coughed again, more loudly than before to break through the haze of lust.  
 
    “I believe I was promised an explanation for the deal you just sealed with the Arbiter,” Tenzing remarked. 
 
    I squelched an angry retort about his interruption. 
 
    Tenzing was owed an account of my decision, everyone was. I broke the kiss with Alyssa and released my grip on her. She looked as disappointed as I was that I had, but we would get to the fun stuff shortly. 
 
    “When the rest of the team arrives, I will tell everyone why,” I told him. 
 
    Tenzing nodded his blue head in mute acceptance, the wistful smile on his face letting me know he hadn’t been angered by my behaviour. 
 
    “Yes,” Alyssa crooned and rubbed herself against me. “As happy as I am to finally be here, with you, I can’t say I’m surprised you completely ignored my advice.” 
 
    “I didn’t ignore it completely,” I chuckled. “I followed it for a few weeks, but then I had to go my own way.” 
 
    “I know, darling,” she sighed. “I wasn’t criticising. Well, not exactly. But you’ve chosen a very dangerous path to walk.” 
 
    “I get it, I do, and all will be revealed,” I assured, and led the brunette to the couch, where we sat down. 
 
    The big screen at the far end of the room which I left up by default was flashing red, informing me I had messages to read. One of the messages was the details of the new rules under which my dungeon would operate. The second and more interesting of the two was my weekly advancement notification. 
 
    Congratulations! You have Ranked up. 
 
    We are happy to inform you that based on your position on the leader board you have advanced to rank 20. Well done on making it this far. The Caverns of Jen’Zadeer advance with you and have reached rank 18. The Forest of Xanathia advances with you and has reached rank 15. 
 
    As a rank 20 dungeon, who maintains a first floor, you must increase the minimum size of your second floor from 45 to 50 rooms and you will be unable to make any changes to your dungeon layout until this requirement is met. If your dungeon does not meet these requirements, a missed soul mark tithe penalty will be applied each week. 
 
    You have the option to close your first floor. If you do, then the room requirement for the second floor increases to 65. 
 
    The message hadn’t been changed up much and didn’t properly account for my sudden jump of ten ranks in a single rest day. 
 
    I was both pleased and a little disappointed not to have advanced further. A quick check revealed the merged fallen total to be seven hundred and thirty-six. The Lair was just shy of being eligible for rank twenty-one which would have pushed me up two whole tiers. Which was something that called to the ambitious elements of my soul. At the same time, being a bit lower ranked would limit the enemies who could attack me. 
 
    I had no intention of closing my first floor or the first floors for the Caverns or Xanathia. The combined rank of the dungeon was now an impressive fifty-three, so the Dark Moon Rising members had plenty of room to grow themselves. I didn’t have time to review anything further when my women sauntered into the lounge. 
 
    “Everyone, this is Alyssa. Alyssa, this is Jessamyn, Jen’Zadeer, Nessa, Karragh, Fiadh and Tabs,” I introduced the group. 
 
    Then I shuffled out of the way as the ladies rocked up to one another. A round of hugs and more personal introductions got underway. 
 
    Jessamyn left the huddle and snuck in under my arm before she said. “If Alyssa is here, then you have spoken to the Arbiter.” 
 
    “Yes, I know you were set against it, but it was the direction we needed to take,” I related to her. 
 
    “I knew you would,” she smiled. 
 
    “So, you approve then?” I asked, surprised. 
 
    “Approve? Not really. To me, it was too great a risk, but I also know that those of us who are Realms born don’t see the world the way you do, Husband. I trust that you would only take such a risk if you believed it necessary,” she explained. 
 
    I kissed the top of her head. “Okay, take a seat, everyone, settle down and I’ll cover what has happened,” I instructed the gaggle of beautiful women and Tenzing, of course. 
 
    When they were all sitting comfortably, I related the events that they missed in my meeting with the Arbiter, the new rules we would be working under and the likely advanced timetable for the Divine Challenge. Understandably they were all perturbed and nobody spoke for a few seconds, and then Nessa piped up. 
 
    “I suppose the obvious question is, why? Why give them a crack at us so soon? Surely, waiting and accruing more experience over time would have been safer? Is this because of the wait between weeks?” she asked in true Nessa style, which was to fire multiple questions in succession before getting the answer to the first. 
 
    “First, I need to assure you I didn’t do this because of my frustrations about being trapped down here for years, seemingly without end,” I clarified before I continued. 
 
    “There is much I haven’t disclosed to you during that time and the primary reason for that was the lack of privacy. We were always being watched, and what was observed was being fed back to the Lords.” 
 
    “That is true,” Alyssa interjected. “Technically we still are. The Proving Grounds is part of the ethereal entity, it can’t be unaware of what is happening within it. But before, I or my replacement were also aware of what happened, as it happened, especially in the Lair. We were then obligated to make that knowledge available to the Lords. By the terms of the freshly closed arbitration, the Arbiter is now blocked and thus the Lords are.” 
 
    “Thank you, Alyssa, for clarifying,” I told her. “With privacy, I can open up on my plans for the future and get your input and feedback, which will help us.” 
 
    Nessa opened her mouth to speak, probably to point out the obvious but I beat her to it. 
 
    “However, I didn’t need to offer what I did to gain privacy. It’s important as I wouldn’t have made this offer if the Arbiter hadn’t conceded that already. My justification is two-fold. First, I had to close out the arbitration and this was the only card I had to play to achieve that end.” 
 
    “This was necessary, the Arbiter may not have delved into my soul, but he was still privy to a great deal of information on my behaviour gathered by Alyssa which the entity had to be aware of, and therefore so was he.” 
 
    “That is also true,” Alyssa remarked thoughtfully. “He may not have been as adept at predicting your future behaviour, but he would have had a high level of accuracy in understanding how you would react in any given situation and interpreting your current actions to infer your intent.” 
 
    “Precisely,” I agreed. “This was the assumption I made based on my admittedly less than scientific analysis. Some of you know or may have guessed that I possess a huge reservoir of soul energy. A reservoir greater even than what the Lords have access to. This is what has allowed me to bestow my blessings. It has also allowed me to tap into a precognitive sixth sense of some sort. A sense that has guided me in my decision making at times, provided an intuition of sorts on whether I was doing the right thing.” 
 
    “Several times since Alyssa’s replacement, I have made decisions on how to proceed and not relayed those choices to anyone, not even Jessamyn or Tenzing. My sixth sense has always intuited that these were the correct moves to make. And it remained that way, provided that was all I did, make a secret decision in my head. The moment I took any action to implement that decision then my sixth sense would kick in again, but in the opposite direction.” 
 
    “The conclusion I drew is much as Alyssa stated. That the Arbiter or the Lords with his assistance were inferring my intent from my actions and reacting accordingly to bring about our ruin. Privacy to plan would have helped, to an extent, but too much of what needs to be done would be in the dungeon proper or up above in general, always giving them a chance to counter.” 
 
    “Maybe privacy alone would have been enough, but my gut told me it wouldn’t be. I had to prevent them, the Arbiter especially, from taking direct action against us in the Proving Grounds. This meant getting the arbitration closed and I suspected removing my dungeon as fast as possible would be just the carrot to entice him into agreeing.” 
 
    “Which brings me to the second reason I did this. Time. They think the accelerated time frame is to their advantage. That we will be unprepared. Well, they are wrong. I have many plans and even more exploits we can utilise, and a few weeks PGT will be more than enough to implement them. Believe me, if they thought I was breaking the rules before, they will be clawing their eyes out in rage when they learn I’ve been holding back,” I grinned widely. 
 
    “Also, I don’t believe for a second that closing the arbitration will be a true end to their interference, not from the Lords at any rate. The Lords were meddling even when Alyssa was in charge, it’s what allowed her to give me as much leeway as she did. Now, by the time they figure out what shenanigans we’re pulling, they won’t have the time to adapt, what with them being shut-out.” 
 
    “I don’t know about anybody else, but that sounded pretty comprehensive to me,” Jen’Zadeer deadpanned. 
 
    The room filled with feminine laughter. Just like that the tension faded and everyone relaxed with easy-going smiles. Tenzing got off the couch and came and stood beside me. 
 
    “I am gratified you had a plan,” Tenzing confessed when the laughter died down. 
 
    “Of course, I had a plan. You should know that by now buddy,” I chuckled and nudged him with my elbow. 
 
    “Yes, well it’s difficult not to worry, but I understand why you didn’t confide in me further, ahead of time,” he said. 
 
    “Yeah, I’m sorry about that. But those days are done. I’m just sorry I didn’t get you a pass to stay here permanently,” I lamented. 
 
    “That is okay, Daxas. Unlike the Arbiter, my awareness of what happens when I’m not present is unaffected. You have Alyssa and I doubt he would have permitted you to have us both to advise you,” he reasoned. 
 
    I clapped him on the back and then caught him when he almost faceplanted. This invoked another ripple of good-natured laughter. As much as I would have liked to spend the rest of the day shooting the breeze, rest days being the only day that were truly only twenty-four hours meant they were less than restful. 
 
    “Speaking of exploits and things the Lords and the Arbiter wouldn’t like. I have one I can show off right now,” I announced to the room. 
 
    My disciples settled down and watched me intently, waiting for my announcement. Rather than talking I closed my eyes and concentrated on a little something I had been playing around with. When there were prying eyes upon us I hadn’t been able to make a practical attempt but the mental practice I’d put in over the last year left me confident I would be successful. 
 
    After a few seconds of concentration, a second avatar, Daxas 2.0, a mirror image of me materialised in the room. I opened my eyes and gazed at my double. He mirrored my expression and movements precisely. There were a few gasps from around the room. 
 
    “This is most impressive, Daxas,” Tenzing complimented. “I don’t think any other dungeon has been able to create a second avatar like this. They have always been limited to one in the active part of their dungeon and another in the inactive Home floor, and they certainly couldn’t meet.” 
 
    “Thanks, Tenzing,” I said. “Actually, creating the second avatar was the easy part. Now splitting my consciousness to make use of both avatars at the same time has proved tricky to master,” I laughed. “I’ve been practising with my active and inactive avatars for the better part of two years to develop the skill.” 
 
    “Really?” Nessa quizzed. “I don’t want to seem cheeky, but the new one is kind of just there, like an empty vessel. Not much inhabiting going on that I can see.” 
 
    “You totally wanted to be cheeky,” I teased the dryad. “But you’re not wrong. There are limitations that I haven’t been able to overcome, at least, not yet. The primary issue being proximity. If the avatars are too close, I find my split focus is too close to one another and they are forced to merge. I’m afraid there won’t be any Doc Manhattan type sexcapades.” 
 
    “Doc who?” Tabs asked. 
 
    Alyssa smiled knowingly, so at least one person got my Watchmen reference. 
 
    “Never mind, just something from back home,” I remarked. “The important thing is that once I leave this room,” I said pointing at myself. “Then my mind will settle into my clone or clones, and I can get far more done. I want to keep this under wraps, so I’m not going to be leaving the dungeon with any more than one avatar at a time.” 
 
    “How many versions of yourself do you think you can control?” Alyssa asked. 
 
    “I don’t know for certain,” I admitted. “I only had two to practice with before. However, I’ve already put two others to work while we’ve been talking. One in the forge and another gathering. I’m comfortable with three and think I can easily handle number four beside me when I add him to the mix, but the other two don’t require much concentration for such mundane tasks. I suspect that is what will determine how thin I can spread myself, the complexity of what I need each avatar to do.” 
 
    Alyssa and Jessamyn nodded in unison and then giggled like schoolgirls at the gestural jinx.  
 
    “Alright everyone, we have a busy day in front of us, with much to do. Get your most important daily tasks completed and we’ll meet back here in two hours,” I announced to the room. 
 
    “What do you want me to do,” Alyssa asked with a wink. 
 
    Rather than answer, I strode forward, picked her up and threw her over my shoulder. She squealed and giggled girlishly. The rest of my harem joined in with her giggling. 
 
    “I thought you were going to wine and dine me in a spectacular rooftop venue first?” she managed to gasp as I ran through the corridors with her bouncing a little on my shoulder. 
 
    “We can if you really want to wait longer?” I semi-threatened, semi-offered. 
 
    “Oh no, my darling. Take me to the bed and fuck me senseless,” she moaned. 
 
    I couldn’t have agreed more. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
      
 
      
 
      
 
    Explicit Interlude 4.1 
 
    (This mini chapter contains explicit sexual content. If that’s not to your reading taste you can skip on to the next chapter without missing any story elements.) 
 
      
 
      
 
    In less than a minute we had arrived in the master bedroom. A quick check confirmed that my fourth alternate was up and running and had already started on the dungeon updates, of which there were many. I compartmentalised what he was doing in a corner of my mind, that way I could concentrate on what was before me. 
 
    As soon as we were over the threshold Alyssa wriggled off my shoulder and I had to put her down in front of me. 
 
    “Hmmm,” she purred and stroked my chest with her hands. “Are you sure you can handle multiple avatars? You do seem awfully fully clothed for this situation,” she teased. 
 
    “That can be rectified,” I chuckled, and sent my attire directly to the inventory. 
 
    Alyssa stepped back from me, and she eyed my naked form and bobbing iron rod over the top of her black-rimmed spectacles. The grin that spread across her cherry-red lips could only be described as filthy. 
 
    Frustratingly, Alyssa remained clad in her own skirt and blouse. Although I remembered from our earlier meetings, she wore nothing underneath. 
 
    I reached out to remove her clothing in the same manner as mine and she took another step backwards. Then wagged her index finger in front of me. 
 
    “Not so fast, handsome,” she breathed huskily. 
 
    “Alyssa,” I growled with unrestrained lust. 
 
    “All good things come to those who wait,” she giggled. 
 
    “We’re not in your domain now, but mine,” I said gruffly. “There is no impediment to taking what’s mine.” 
 
    I pounced for the busty brunette but somehow missed. Alyssa had sidestepped out of my way and had manoeuvred herself behind me. Her throaty laughter was a reminder of our previous encounters. 
 
    “No impediment maybe, but I still know you better than you know yourself,” she teased. 
 
    “I will not be denied,” I snarled heatedly. 
 
    “Of course, you won’t be, Daxas, my darling beast,” Alyssa said as she edged around to the end of the bed. “And you’re a big, burly, and ever so dominant alpha, but didn’t you miss me taking you…in hand, even just a tiny bit,” she suggested. 
 
    Then Alyssa patted the edge of the bed with her hand. “Come sit down and let me take care of you. Don’t worry, you’re still the one in control, you’ll just be surrendering it, for a little bit, and I’m positive you will enjoy it.” 
 
    I harrumphed but strode around the bed and then perched comfortably on the end of the large four-poster. The silk sheets were smooth, soothing, and helped put me at ease. 
 
    It had been a long time since I hadn’t been the one in full control of the bedroom activities. I definitely wasn’t a switch, but would surrender the initiative to my lover, this time. Variety is the spice of life after all, and ‘delayed gratification’ was pretty much the byword of mine and Alyssa’s relationship thus far. 
 
    “What did you have in mind?” I practically snarled with impatient longing. 
 
    “You’ll see,” she tantalised. 
 
    Then Alyssa started to gyrate in front of me. Her hips swayed from side to side and her hands roved over and caressed her thighs and butt before she moved them up her body to toy with breasts, the nipples of which pointed plainly through the white blouse she wore. 
 
    I accessed my compartmentalised other self in the Viewing Lounge room and had him pump in some appropriate striptease music into the bedroom. ‘Pour Some Sugar On Me’ by Def Leppard filled the room and Alyssa smiled at my selection. 
 
    Her hands passed from her breasts and shifted up to her head. She pulled out her hair tie and rolled her head a few times shaking out her freed chocolate-brown locks. Then Alyssa reached for her black-rimmed spectacles. 
 
    “Leave those on,” I growled. 
 
    I might be allowing Alyssa to dictate the pace of our first encounter, but I wouldn’t surrender all control, at least I thought I hadn’t. 
 
    But I couldn’t help rationalising that Alyssa almost certainly knew I found her glasses supremely sexy. She would know I’d want her to keep them on, so would she really have taken them off or did she want me to demand that she keep them on. 
 
    Then I foisted such mental meanderings on my counterpart in the Lounge and settled down to enjoy the show, my feet tapping in time with the Def Leppard track playing around us. 
 
    Alyssa smiled and left the glasses artfully perched on the bridge of her nose and continued her teasing gyrations in front of me, slowly turning around on the spot. She waggled her shapely ass as she did and grinned at me over her shoulder. 
 
    When her hourglass ripple dance was done, Alyssa strutted across the room in front of me and finished the first circuit by kicking out with her leg and dislodging one of her shoes. 
 
    The shoe flew off into the corner and was soon forgotten about. Alyssa repeated the action crossing over to the other side of the room, her strut losing none of her graceful balance, despite her uneven footing. Soon, the second shoe had gone the way of the first, but on the other side and then she shimmied back to the centre. 
 
    Alyssa stood in front of me again. She tempted me with a few more twirls in time with the music before she finished that portion of her routine and winked slowly at me. For the next part, her legs stayed in place while she rolled her shoulders and thrust her chest outwards. 
 
    My cock was like a steel pylon, virtually unbreakable. Yet somehow, I managed to retain enough self-control that I hadn’t sprung from the bed and ravished the bespectacled beauty. 
 
    She bent her knees and lowered herself near to the ground in front of me, her hips swaying all the while. Alyssa’s hands had caressed her stomach and returned to her gorgeous assets above. As she knelt in front of me her fingers had deftly unbuttoned the last few remaining clasps on the blouse. All that held it closed were her dainty hands. 
 
    Once Alyssa’s knees grazed the floor, she sprang back up quickly and her hands parted as she did so. Each hand, which held a corner of her blouse, was pulled wide-open revealing her breasts. 
 
    Her sudden upward motion jiggled her tits in a most gratifying manner. She had a pair of creamy, swollen, yet firm, D-cups that wobbled and bounced with the rhythm of her dance. 
 
    The nipples of each boob were pert and pointed with excitement and her large breasts defied gravity. The skin was taut and smooth. Her tits were large but also visibly firm and in no way fake.  
 
    “Those are fucking spectacular,” I breathed heavily, mesmerised by the twin mountains that danced for me. 
 
    Alyssa winked in response. “A girl has to take advantage of being able to create the perfect body.” 
 
    I couldn’t disagree. She had the kind of body the purveyors of internet smut spent hours using photoshop to create. I started to rise from the bed and Alyssa wagged her finger in front of me again. 
 
    “Patience, my King,” she husked. “It’s almost time for the finale and then I’m all yours,” 
 
    She kept up her sexy sway and circled in place a few more times. When her back was to me, she slipped the open blouse from her shoulders and threw it over her shoulder so that it landed on my head. 
 
    I grabbed hold of the blouse and threw it onto the bed with a lusty growl. 
 
    Alyssa looked back at me over her shoulder. Her lips pouted and she air-kissed at me. Her hands slowly stroked the sides of her body, the curvature of her large breasts visible from behind. Then finally the tips of her fingers settled at the waist of her grey skirt by her hip. She seized the zipper and pulled it down to the hem in what seemed to be agonising slowness but was probably only a few seconds. 
 
    The skirt parted and she drew it away from her waist and opened up her front for full visibility. Unfortunately, her back was still to me and she rubbed the loose grey material back and forth on her backside as her hips continued to sway with the music. 
 
    Then as I reached my breaking point, Alyssa dropped the skirt to the floor and revealed her velvety supple ass. She giggled, but my focus was on her peach-shaped bottom. Her legs were slightly parted, and she had leant forward a touch. The shape and shadow of her labia were exposed and the tangy scent of her arousal, which she must have somehow suppressed, hit me like a freight train. 
 
    Which was no doubt wise on her part, as I don’t think I would have been able to control myself if all my senses were under assault. 
 
    I’d lost track of the song that had been playing and had no idea if it had been repeated or if Alyssa had simply timed her show to end with its crescendo. With a final few hip sway’s, she faked twisting to face me a few times, before swerving one way and then the other. With each fake-out, she inched her body closer to me. 
 
    So, when she finally relented and twirled about, her arms raised, hands clutching at her hair, she stood between my outstretched knees. 
 
    My hands left the silken sheets, brushing and caressing her smooth thighs instead. Her delicious pussy was displayed before me and Alyssa whimpered as my hands connected with her flesh. 
 
    With my face so close, I couldn’t help but notice that she had a light thatch of hair above her mound that had been shaped into a wolf’s head. That hadn’t been there when she flashed me her delicates so many years ago, but I certainly had no complaints. 
 
    “It would appear that you are already marked as mine,” I proclaimed hoarsely. 
 
    “Oh yes, my King. Are you going to claim what is yours,” she squealed in delight as she finished the sentence. 
 
    I hadn’t waited and buried my face in her snatch. My hands gripped her buttocks firmly and I greedily devoured the tangy nectar that already dangled from her pussy lips. My upper lip grazed the nub of her clit and encouraged it to poke out further, while my elongated tongue reached to the back of her labia and roughly lapped at them. 
 
    We stayed like that for several minutes, me slathering my glossal attention on Alyssa’s lady parts while her hands were buried in my hair and massaged my scalp with every lick. Several times I had to hold Alyssa up as her legs almost gave out on her as the sensation of my ministrations proved overpowering. 
 
    In the back of my mind, I was aware that the music continued to play, though the songs had changed. Before long the room was filled with a siren song of a different kind as Alyssa screeched her lungs out as a mind-bending orgasm rippled through her body. 
 
    When she recovered Alyssa took charge once more and pushed my head back from her glistening pussy. 
 
    “I’m supposed to be making the decisions or did you forget?” she accused me playfully. 
 
    I leaned back on the bed and licked her tangy juices from my chin and smirked. “By all means, show me what you’ve got.” 
 
    Alyssa chuckled in response. Then she got down on her knees in front of me and took my aching member in hand. So much precum had seeped from my cock’s eyehole during her dance and the cunnilingus session, that it was more than sufficiently lubricated. She stroked my length up and down easily. 
 
    Alyssa pursed her cherry-red lips and kissed the tip of my penis reverently. Her tongue flicked out and lapped from under the sensitive base of my cock, back up and over the helmet, coating her tongue with a layer of my natural lubricant. 
 
    She looked at me over the top of her glasses, every inch the sexy secretary, winked once more and drew her tongue back in. 
 
    She smacked her lips. “Hmmm, you taste fucking fantastic,” she declared. “Worth every second of the wait.” 
 
    “I’m quite partial to your natural flavour myself,” I rasped in return. 
 
    My words were cut off and became a deep groan of pleasure as those cherry-red lips planted themselves on the tip of my dick and spread over its head until it was fully encompassed in her mouth. Alyssa’s tongue swirled over my helmet dexterously and seemed to know each and every one of my most sensitive spots. And she worked those spots mercilessly. 
 
    Despite there being barely more than the head of my cock in her mouth, and Alyssa’s bobbing action being almost imperceptible, this was one of the best blowjobs I’d ever had. She had mad skills and I grinned stupidly knowing she was mine and this was merely the first of many such encounters. 
 
    As much as I was enjoying Alyssa’s fellatio and the slurping sounds she made as she sucked and hoovered up my precum, without taking me over the edge, my hands got restless. I reached down and grabbed hold of her gently swaying flesh orbs and manipulated both until they rested on my thighs. 
 
    Then as Alyssa pleasured my cock, I kneaded her bountiful breasts. I alternated between caressing the flesh and tweaking her pert nipples between my thumb and forefinger. 
 
    We remained like that for the better part of half an hour, Alyssa bringing me to the brink and then letting me recede while I manhandled her gorgeous boobs. However, all good things must come to an end. Alyssa’s mouth released the head of my penis and she knelt up a bit, lifting her breasts from my thighs and I sighed in mock disappointment. 
 
    She lifted her lips to mine, and we kissed passionately, my hands found their way back to those fabulous tits mid-kiss. 
 
    Alyssa laughed lightly. “Why, my King, I do think there is a part of me, or should I say parts,” she giggled and wiggled her boobs, “that you seem to appreciate more than others.” 
 
    “I love and desire every inch of you,” I growled lowly. 
 
    “I know,” she sighed happily in response. “But I still think you will appreciate this,” she whispered mischievously. 
 
    Alyssa reached out and grasped my cock loosely with both hands and stroked my rod up and down. When she had worked up a combination of my pre-seminal fluid and her own saliva into a good lather, she released my prick and slathered the mix over her breasts and sternum. 
 
    My lips felt like they met my ears as I grinned widely, deducing what came next. 
 
    Alyssa grasped my penis again and leant in, giving it another reverent kiss. Then she pressed her stomach up against my balls, which twitched in response, and rested my hard rod in between her large, sweet, titties. Alyssa kept one hand on the base of my cock to hold it in place and then moved her upper arms forward to squeeze her bounteous D-cup breasts around the shaft of my dick. 
 
    Then she locked her gaze on mine, smiled naughtily, and started moving her body up and down. Her sweet, swollen, melons were wrapped around my length and gently massaged it with her every movement. 
 
    And it felt absolutely fucking glorious. 
 
    After a few minutes, my balls and belly were coated in the sloppy effluence that dripped from our mutual activities. Not wanting Alyssa to stop for the reapplication of sufficient lubricant, I summoned a bottle of lube from the inventory. We could make use of it as we were in the inactive part of the dungeon, and I drizzled a generous amount over her breasts. 
 
    Alyssa displayed an equal level of skill in delivering a titty-wank as she did with her efforts in fellatio. She varied the speed of her movements and brought me to the cusp of climax before slowing down and allowing the cum-surge to dissipate before she coaxed the fire in my balls back to life. 
 
    Eventually, she looked up at me. “Are you ready, my King,” she gasped as her chest heaved around my erection. 
 
    “Oh, yeah, so fucking ready,” I grunted. 
 
    “Good…because I want you…to paint my pretty face with your cum, my King. I want you…to wreck these glasses…and then wreck my pussy after,” Alyssa leered. 
 
    Her dirty talk was a huge fucking turn-on. Concurrently she sped up her titty-wank and it didn’t take long before I was at the edge again. This time, nothing was going to prevent me from speeding over that clifftop. 
 
    The only temptation I managed to resist was not seizing her and filling her pussy with my seed. Alyssa wanted it on her face and that was exactly what she was going to get. I felt the familiar aching flex of my cock as I reached my limit and then my balls clenched. My cum rushed up and out of my dick in orgasmic bliss. 
 
    Alyssa showed her skills once more, as she had correctly positioned herself and angled my cock in the perfect manner that my first and most powerful spurt of cum caught her spectacles dead on. The black-rimmed glasses were liberally coated in my spunk and were hit so hard by my first pulsing release, that they were knocked off their perch on her nose. 
 
    But my firehose was far from emptied, and Alyssa kept her large boobs sliding up and down my shaft as I spurted gout after gout of my pearly love juice all over her face and hair. 
 
    After a full minute, my climax finally ceased and she was able to lean back away from my spent, but still fully engorged cock. My seed dribbled from her face in gooey clumps and landed on her breasts which she had squeezed together to catch my release. She smiled happily and her tongue quested around her cherry-red lips, gathering and licking up my cum with a self-satisfied sigh. 
 
    When the most obvious globs of spent seed had let gravity do its work, Alyssa released her hold on her tits and used her fingers to wipe up the result of our lovemaking and gobbled it down greedily. 
 
    I grinned at her and reached past her and picked up her glasses. The lens had smashed on the stone floor, and they were covered in my sticky leavings. I sent them to the inventory and then brought them back, repaired, cleaned, and good as new. Once Alyssa was finished cleaning herself, I placed the specs back on her and lifted her into my lap and started to play with her moist pussy. 
 
    “Aahh,” she moaned. “That feels amazing, you really know what you’re doing down there.” 
 
    “Practise,” I laughed and kissed her pursed cherry-red lips deeply. 
 
    “Hmmm, that was a great start,” I mused when our kiss broke, “but there is plenty more to come.” 
 
    “That sounds fantastic, but we’ve already been over an hour. The others will be gathering in the Viewing Lounge soon. Don’t we need to be there?” she asked with a little regret. 
 
    “No,” I said as I nuzzled at her neck. “My alternate can handle it, plus we have a mission to complete outside the dungeon that will take the better part of the rest of the day. By the terms of my agreement with the Arbiter I can’t take you along. I guess we will have to keep one another entertained here in the dungeon.” 
 
    Alyssa squealed with delight as I stood suddenly with her in my arms and threw her onto the silk purple sheets of the bed. 
 
    “Spread your legs, I’m coming in,” I yelled before I launched myself on top of her. “I believe I promised to fuck someone senseless, and you seem to be far too compos mentis for me to have fulfilled that pledge.” 
 
    “Whatever you say, my King,” Alyssa squeaked and complied, spreading her legs for me. 
 
    I needed no invite and thrust my member into her needy snatch. During this first hour I’d let Alyssa take the lead and now it was my turn. I pounded my cock into her hard, fast and unrelentingly. 
 
    She squealed with ecstasy, and I roared with lust as I filled her pussy with spunk many times over. 
 
    It took me a good ten more hours, but eventually, my vow was kept. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
      
 
      
 
      
 
    Chapter 6 
 
      
 
      
 
    I shook my head and yawned loudly as my consciousness inhabited my fourth active avatar once the primary reached the bedroom with Alyssa. 
 
    The rest of my harem and Tenzing were still in the Viewing Lounge with me. Tabitha who had been silently inspecting my motionless form, was shocked by my sudden animation. 
 
    “Oh!” the Hare-kin woman squeaked, and she jumped almost two feet away from me. 
 
    I rushed over and swept her up into a tight bear hug and kissed her soundly. Her squeaks of fear were rapidly replaced by moans of joy. 
 
    “Yes, that’s definitely him,” Nessa joked. 
 
    “It is indeed,” I confirmed as I put the slightly breathless Tabs down. “Unfortunately, as much as I would like to engage in a bit of less than wholesome fun, we have a long day ahead of us. You have two hours to clear your most vital daily tasks and then I need you back here and ready for today’s mission.” 
 
    “Mission, Husband?” Jessamyn queried. 
 
    “Yes, mission,” I answered. “We need to eliminate the dungeons involved in the pogrom against me today. Particularly the Infernal dungeons, who, if we leave it until next week, will be too low ranked for us to enter. The main reason, though, is because we can’t get rid of those orc annoyances that come back every week due to the pogrom’s limitations.” 
 
    “I understand, Husband. Come now ladies, you heard our masters’ orders, get to it,” Jessamyn ordered. 
 
    I let each of my women come in for an embrace and a kiss and then they filed out to gather and craft. 
 
    “And then there were two,” I laughed to Tenzing as I flopped down on the black leather couch. 
 
    “Yes, Daxas. Is there anything you need from me?” my blue adviser asked me. 
 
    “Hmmm, can you plot out the optimum route between the pogrom dungeons for me, please? Factor in that I can build path networks between them if none exist or if it would significantly cut down on travel time,” I requested. 
 
    “Absolutely, Daxas,” he replied happily and opened up a display of his own and got to work. 
 
    Just as I settled down to begin reviewing the dungeons and upgrades available, I was pinged by the primary avatar who asked me to play some music appropriate for a lap dance in the bedroom before he closed the connection. 
 
    I grinned widely, it appeared I was having a good time elsewhere. 
 
    A stray thought crossed my mind that I had been rather rude to myself. Was that even possible? I chuckled lightly, which distracted Tenzing briefly, but I waved it off and he knuckled back down to his own task. 
 
    It had been Tenzing and Alyssa’s existence that had given me the idea of practising compartmentalisation and using it to run multiple avatars at the same time. If the ethereal entity could create versions of itself that acted independently in the ethereal realm, then so should I. 
 
    However, I didn’t have any concerns that my parted selves might develop an inherently different personality or act of their own accord. We were compartmentalised but not truly separate. Even if we didn’t fully merge on a regular basis, I would be automatically updated of the other’s experiences whenever my focus wasn’t fully required on what was right in front of me. 
 
    I pushed my existential musings to the side, there was plenty to do and only a few hours to cover it all. 
 
    First, I wanted to review what new options were available for my dungeon perks. All three dungeons had moved to the next tier and a quick check of my messages confirmed that all three of us were due a perk. 
 
    I had been slightly concerned that the Arbiter’s ‘merging’ would strip Nessa and Jen’Zadeer of their perks. He hadn’t mentioned it in our interview, and I hadn’t wanted to bring it up. I imagine he would have tried to take theirs away, but the requirement for balance likely prevented him or that I could have argued that I should get perks based on our combined rank which would have evened it all out anyway.  
 
    In fact, as I considered it, I had to ruefully admit to probably getting the short end of the stick on that front. Had I been in receipt of multiple perks as a single dungeon I would likely have had even greater options. 
 
    Oh well, you can’t win them all, I just needed to make sure to win the last. 
 
    I opened the notification specific to me. 
 
    Congratulations! As a rank 20 Dungeon, you may choose one major dungeon perk from the following list. 
 
    Crafting: Advanced options available 
 
    Enhanced Metalworking, Enhanced Leatherworking, Enhanced Alchemy, Enhanced Enchanting 
 
    Combat 
 
    Dungeon Power +10 
 
    Spellcraft: Advanced options available 
 
    Second tier spells, A second boosted spell, or the original spell boosted a second time. 
 
    Dungeon Laws +1 
 
    Disciple Advancement +1 
 
    Dungeon Creatures Knowledge +1 
 
    Soul Expansion +5 
 
    Quest Giving 
 
    The first thing that stuck out was that not only did I have access to the Crafting advanced options, but the Spellcraft advanced options as well. So, I opened Nessa and Jen’Zadeer’s notifications too. They also had access to the Advanced Crafting options as well as the Advanced Spellcraft options and I rubbed my hands together with glee. Maybe we hadn’t missed out as much as I earlier believed. 
 
    Before I made any decisions, I reviewed what these advanced options meant. Under Spellcraft, we could be granted a suite of second tier spells or a second boosted spell which I instantly discounted. It’s not that they weren’t nice benefits, but they weren’t anything we couldn’t achieve using our rank-up points and we had plenty of those. The only tempter in Spellcraft was a boost to the already boosted spells, Regrowth for Nessa and Ice Blast for Jen’Zadeer, as this would push them up through tiers that we didn’t have access to yet. 
 
    However, by the end of the next week, we’d all be up another tier if not two, so even if that didn’t tickle my fancy, we would again be able to do it for ourselves soon enough. 
 
    There was also another slight detractor which I learned from conversations with the two women. You didn’t have direct control over how the spell was boosted. Checking out what new magic was available to me and my team from next week was on my list of things to do anyway, so I would complete that review before making a final decision on the off chance it changed my mind. 
 
    “Tenzing, sorry to interrupt, but what can you tell me about these enhanced crafting options?” I asked my blue-skinned adviser. 
 
    “Not a problem, Daxas. It is unfortunate that despite closing your arbitration some of the earlier difficulties the Lords made for you continue to resonate,” he responded. 
 
    “Yeah, I’d forgotten about the lack of imbued knowledge. I guess this is one of those situations, other dungeons would simply know what each of these options would do,” I groused. 
 
    “Indeed, Daxas. This wouldn’t be so bad for you now, even if you didn’t have me here. Nessa or Jen’Zadeer would be able to fill you in,” he informed me. 
 
    “It would still be a pain in the arse,” I grumbled. 
 
    “Yes, I suppose it is. Anyway, each enhancement must be chosen separately. They will allow you to construct the associated advanced version of the skills workroom or upgrade your existing workrooms. These rooms reduce production time of whatever is crafted within them. The perks also offer a passive bonus of five skill points to that skill within your dungeon. Taking any one of them allows you to purchase the advanced resource rooms early. Finally, the next perk in the chain will be unlocked, but I can’t inform you of what that will be until you have locked in your selections,” he explained. 
 
    “Well, seeing as I can take the enhanced crafting for any of the three dungeons, and it counts for all of us, can I confirm one selection and then see what further options that opens up?” I asked. 
 
    “Regrettably, I don’t think so,” was Tenzing’s downcast reply. “Officially you aren’t locked in until the end of the rest day. This was an area covered by the Accords, the Lords didn’t want dungeons holding onto perks. I don’t think this is precisely the scenario they envisaged the clause would prevent, but it is nonetheless covered by it.” 
 
    “That’s a shame, but not unexpected,” I lamented. “Well then, provisionally I’m going to take Enhanced Leather Working, Enchanting, and Alchemy. Metal Working isn’t as important and Karragh’s blessing already supplies a healthy bonus to her natural skill level. And as most of our armour is Brigandine, Leather Working is the more important of those two. Plus, I’m hoping for some nice options to open up via Alchemy and Enchanting for next week.” 
 
    I picked Advanced Leather Working for my perk, Advanced Enchanting for Jen’Zadeer’s and Advanced Alchemy for Nessa’s. I distributed the perks in that manner with the hope they might pick those skills up for free as well. It didn’t matter if they didn’t, my skill levels were now high enough that I could start creating skill books, at least for the first several ranks and now five more with the effective skill bump. I’d held off on doing so until we had the privacy I’d recently acquired. 
 
    Next up, I reviewed the changes to magic. I had to access our character sheets for this, and I spent the next fifteen minutes or so reading through the new selections we could make. The upshot was that except for the Sanctified and Infernal schools each school got an additional tier two spell. 
 
    Regrowth for Life we already knew about. Destruction gained Crumble, Fire gained Fireball, Frost gained Chill Zone, Wind gained Arrow Shield, Earth a spell called Immersion and finally, Lightning received Chain Lightning. 
 
    Additionally, Death gained Summon Skeletons, Creation gained Summon Golem and Fluid a spell called Acid Rain. However, neither me, nor any of my disciples had taken any spells from those schools thus far. We were unlikely to, either, though Acid Rain could be tempting. 
 
    Just as important were the tier-based upgrades to existing spells. All spells have five possible upgrades common to all of them, and then each school had a specific upgrade available once a user had reached the second tier. 
 
    The five common upgrades were Double Effect, Extra Effect, Reduced Cost, Reduced Cooldown and Increased Duration. With Double and Extra Effect each spell might have a few alternatives of how they could be used, which also meant that Double Effect could be used twice provided it was used on different effects. 
 
    Although not every spell had an associated Extra Effect like Ice Blast, most of the direct damage ones did. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer’s version of Ice Blast was a good example of how these had been used. Her version of the spell was. 
 
    Ice Blast 3 (Frost) 
 
    Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
 
    Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used. 
 
    Description: 1) Throw a blast of ice at a target. On a successful hit the target takes cold damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of the original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 2) Hit targets have a chance to be paralysed by the cold. Base chance is 100% less the target’s resistance. The paralysis lasts Spell Power x 2 seconds. There is a 30-minute cooldown before the same target can be affected by paralysis again. 
 
    Whereas the regular tier one version was. 
 
    Ice Blast 1 (Frost) 
 
    Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
 
    Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used. 
 
    Description: 1) Throw a blast of ice at a target. On a successful hit the target takes cold damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of the original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 
 
    The Extra Effect upgrade had been used to add the paralysis effect. However, this would typically have been fifty percent less the target’s resistance chance of success. 
 
    The Double Effect upgrade was used to increase that fifty percent to one hundred percent. It could have been used on the damage, making the damage base Spell Power divided by two instead of four, though increasing the damage output of a spell always doubled the Mana cost too, otherwise, such an upgrade would be too powerful. You could offset this extra cost by adding limitations on who the doubling could be used on. 
 
    If the cost was doubled, this did not affect the channel min/max as this only counted for the base cost of the spell and ignored extraneous alterations.  
 
    Although Jen’Zadeer had no control over how the spell was upgraded I wasn’t disappointed, increasing the paralysis chance was a much better use of the spell. 
 
    Fortunately, now Jen’Zadeer had reached a tier two rank we could further upgrade this spell, provided we had the points to pay for it, which we did. 
 
    The common upgrades weren’t all that was available. There were the school-specific upgrade options. Life, Death and Creation spells had access to the Fallen Fight On. Destruction, Wind, and Earth spells had an upgrade called Surge. Fire, Frost, Lightning, and Fluid spells Damage Over Time for their specific damage types. Finally, Infernal and Sanctified could select Multi-Target. 
 
    Nessa’s version of Regrowth utilised the Fallen Fight On upgrade. 
 
    Regrowth 3 (Life) 
 
    Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
 
    Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used. 
 
    Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to your spell power per point of mana used. If the target is a life domain creature the effect is doubled. 2) May be used on dead Flora sphere creatures, returning them to life. 
 
    The second portion of the description was the effect of that upgrade. Nessa’s version of the spell had also utilised the Double Effect upgrade for the healing portion, however, as it limited the targets for whom the doubling could affect there was no associated doubling of cost. 
 
    Surge was an option that could be added to spells with a specified duration. The effect of the spell could be doubled, trebled, or quadrupled at will by the caster or the target of the spell. The caster had the option to increase the spell’s effect by increasing the cost by the same multiplier. The target could do the same to the active spell by cutting its duration, which would be similarly halved, thirded, or quartered. Also, Surge did not have to be used when the spell was first cast but could be switched on or off at the caster’s behest. 
 
    The Damage over Time upgrade dealt one percent of the initial spell damage every second for one-hundred seconds. The major difference between this and the common Double Effect is the Damage over Time didn’t change the cost of the spell. Also, they could both be added to the same spell as they were different upgrades. 
 
    I almost giggled aloud with excitement at the thought of putting both upgrades on my Lightning Bolt spell, but that would have to wait until I hit rank twenty-one and made the third-tier next week. 
 
    Lastly, there was Multi-Target for the Infernal and Sanctified schools. This was a simple one, you could twin, treble, or quadruple your spell and apply it to multiple targets. The cost was increased by the same rate. 
 
    You couldn’t mix and match, though. Every target received the same, so you couldn’t vary the mana used on the Heal spell if it was more than what was needed for one of the targets, you would have to pay full cost for the extraneous healing. 
 
    I closed down the magic interface, my curiosity sated. When we were out on our mission later to eliminate the troublesome pogrom dungeons then I would have plenty of time to discuss advancement with my ladies. Marux and Gretsch too, though the latter of that pair wouldn’t get much of a say. 
 
    My review had only taken thirty minutes so far and I hadn’t done much of anything, but two things demanded my attention which I could do now. 
 
    First, I needed to make some updates to my holdings outside the dungeon. Secondly, I had dungeon expansion to review, which included three brand new floors for each path of my freshly combined dungeon. 
 
    I managed my external changes first as this was relatively straightforward. Simeon had been after extra help in the Firehouse, which I duly provided by creating some special helpers, whom I equipped adequately from my overflowing stores, and despatched to their posts at each of the taverns I’d built. 
 
    In addition, I created dozens more identically trained female assistants for each of the Guild Outposts. In fact, the tavern had proved such a hit that I created a second alongside each of the originals to function as casinos to cater for the gambling I’d observed guild members engaged in. Each of these new buildings were supplied with gaming tables for Craps, Roulette, Blackjack and Poker.  
 
    They were also fully operated by a legion of newly created and trained ‘intelligent’ mobs. This was just as well as I suspected there would be a fair amount of explaining of the rules for these games needed. I used games that I knew as I could ‘create’ the blueprints for them with a small expenditure. That and none of my disciples had been particularly partial to games of chance in their lives, at least not the ones I wanted in my establishment. 
 
    My shoulders still shuddered involuntarily when I thought about Gretsch’s suggestions. 
 
    In total, I created four-hundred female mobs and updated the hundred-odd existing girls. As I used coin to buy them all, none of them would be able to set foot in an active part of a dungeon, but it was well worth the expenditure of eighteen million coins, nineteen if you included the cost of two full-sized tavern-casinos. 
 
    The cost for each was very high, but then I’d added extra ranks and training for each of my outside girls and that greatly increased the price. It didn’t matter, I would make most of that back, if not more by the next rest day. Any shit-stirring guild, like the Black Hills Brigade or the Gleaming Towers, would get a very nasty shock if they tried to invade any of my properties. 
 
    Now, I could have bought these new recruits at any time as they were officially outside my dungeon in the Proving Grounds. But if I only did it during a rest day, then I could condition my opposition to only expect such advances on a rest day. 
 
    This didn’t wipe out my war chest, though. I had enough left over to buy forty advanced resource rooms for my Home floor. The Arbiter may have successfully cut the number of resets we got each week by two-thirds, but that was easily compensated for by adding more rooms that could be reset. They cost one hundred thousand each, so set me back another four million, which did finally leave me with under a million in my account. 
 
    The advanced resource rooms didn’t appear any different from the regular ones. The difference was that they didn’t contain any resources that could be gathered with skills ranked thirty and below. The nodes that would have contained those resources were then redistributed to the higher-ranked ingredients, so you got a lot more of them. 
 
    The only thing left was to buy new advanced workrooms. They also cost one hundred thousand each. I had enough left over to buy two of the advanced Enchanters Grotto, Alchemy Lab and Workshop each, and leave me a couple hundred thousand in my account for emergencies. 
 
    If I changed my mind as to which perks to confirm at days end, I would be refunded the coin for those upgrades as they wouldn’t happen. Not that I believed I would. 
 
    That only left updating the three dungeons for me to lock in before my disciples returned and we went walkabout. 
 
    My notifications informed me that the dungeons had earned a little over nine million XP this week, which when added to my two million in reserve gave me eleven. 
 
    And I would need all of it. 
 
    In fact, based on my preliminary projections that I’d been playing with over the last year, eleven million wasn’t going to cut it, not for everything I wanted to do. 
 
    This forced me to prioritise. 
 
    My top three priorities were adding the requisite number of new rooms to make the dungeons legal, maxing out the ranks of my four armies in the secret wings and filling my core floor with as many new wood elf crossbow-women as my new dungeon configuration would allow. 
 
    My secondary priorities were to update Shelly’s cavern, and then add what new threats I could afford to the new and existing chambers, perhaps utilising some of the new options I had available. 
 
    First things first, I needed to make the dungeons legal. The Wolf King’s Lair had already been rank ten, so I only needed to add the second floor. I chose to keep the first floor and that required me to add fifty new rooms for the second. 
 
    I had studied the Accords extensively during the lengthy time I had at my disposal. What I discovered was that hanging onto my first floor and meeting the Golden Path requirements on that floor gave me freer rein in what I could do with the second floor. The decision I made was to make it one large chamber with a final extra chamber for the Lair, which I replaced on the first floor with a new miniboss room. 
 
    I used forty-nine Meadows for my new room, which I christened ‘Tough Mudder’ after the obstacle course race. Each ‘room’ was arranged in a rectangle of two by four cubes and placed long edge to long edge in a column. Obviously, I had created the initial design for each Meadow ahead of time and they all included a hump built from the massive stores of granite blocks that ran from edge to edge. The slopes of which were slathered in mud. The very mud that Jen’Zadeer had helpfully gathered when I first claimed her, and she was being punished for her truculence. 
 
    Every hump was hollow on the inside and had a secret reinforced exit on the back half of the hump. In the future, if I so desired, mobs could be concealed within. 
 
    At the base of the muddy ramp which attackers would need to climb, I’d placed a roll of razor wire to slow them down. On the other side, at the bottom of the descending ramp, I built a trench with obligatory enchanted spikes and a row of chevalier horses on the far side. 
 
    On the top of each hump there was an inbuilt trench for defenders to hide inside. I even went so far as to deposit a foot of water and buckets so the defenders could bail it out during challenges and make either the ascent or descent more treacherous. 
 
    Every room had its own bunker, so they would need to clear forty-nine of them if they wanted to get to the end. My design principle was upheld, this would be more time consuming than dangerous, even when I added defenders. Unless you were a bit of a clutz, then you were probably in trouble. 
 
    My final flourish was to shift the secret optional wing with my army from the first floor up to the second. The wing interconnected with this room via one of the hollowed bunkers from below, keeping the way into the wing hidden but technically accessible. The flourish allowed my secret army to attack from behind when the groups had passed through. 
 
    For the Caverns of Jen’Zadeer on the first floor, I added ten brand new Advanced Caverns and adjoined them to existing chambers to bring the floor up to the required sixty-five chambers after I shifted the final ‘Gallery Cavern’ up to be the end of the second floor, similar to what I had done for the Lair. 
 
    The rest of the second floor was made up of thirty-six adjoined Advanced Cavern rooms which I flooded. There were special platforms built above the floodwaters and the raiders would have to swim between them, some of which involved swimming through fully submerged tunnels. The tunnels I’d created had dead ends, but to make regular runs less lethal, and to accommodate those who couldn’t swim, some chains ran from air pocket areas to other air pockets. 
 
    In the same vein, I expanded the existing chambers in the Forest of Xanathia and shifted the final chamber up to be the finish of the new second floor. 
 
    However, I mixed things up for the second floor and used forest advanced chambers which I stacked, twenty-four of them, on top of one another. This had been something I’d played around with on the DDD and had discovered that if you did so, with the forest setting, you could select Giant Redwood trees and they would link up between floors, giving you single continuous trees to ascend between chambers. 
 
    There were some limitations, most of which I managed to work around. The biggest obstacle was despite merging the rooms the design table recognised there was a floor for each. And you couldn’t have adventurers falling through the floors. 
 
    To get around this each chamber bar the bottom of the stack had to have exceptionally thick and sturdy foliage for its floor. Foliage that was so thick and sturdy that it would prevent fallers from passing through and down into the next ‘room’, thereby making the configuration legal. I seriously doubted any other dungeon had thought of this and was absurdly proud of myself for finding a way to make it work. 
 
    The rest of the ‘Canopy Climb’ was a series of intersecting walkways, Burmese rope bridges, and monkey ropes. Similar in many respects to a maze. The routes often backtracked to the same paths, and you had to find your way to the correct tree with steps up into the next canopy. 
 
    The dungeons were now legal, but I’d spent one and half million already just buying those rooms. Sure, I could have gone for basic rooms, which would have been a great deal cheaper, but that would have severely limited my options and completely killed the ‘Canopy Climb’ idea in its infancy. 
 
    Plus, advanced rooms synergised much better with my Life domain Dungeon Power bonus for siting the Lair in a forest. And that extra Dungeon Power could be spent reinforcing the Core floor, which was the key convincing factor. 
 
    Next up on the agenda was to boost my four secret armies. I had moved those wings up to the respective second floors of the Caverns of Jen’Zadeer and Forest of Xanathia as well and this allowed me to increase the ranks of the dryads, hobgoblins and minotaurs from rank ten to twenty. The fourth army wing was attached to my Core floor, so it didn’t need to be moved. 
 
    There were forty-eight of each sentient type across the four armies and the first roadblock was that the secret wings were already maxed out on Dungeon Power allowance. That meant to increase the ranks I would need more Dungeon Power in each wing, which meant more chambers. 
 
    The wings were currently made up of sixty advanced chambers and I needed to add an extra forty-eight chambers to each wing to allow for the increased ranks. That was one hundred and ninety-two extra chambers at a cost of a little under two million XP. 
 
     Then I had to pay for the ranks themselves and that cost close to another four million XP. It was readily apparent, if it hadn’t been already, why dungeons ranking up was normally a slow process and why so many dungeons chose to close their lower floors. They simply couldn’t afford to build and populate multiple floors adequately. 
 
    Next, was my third major priority, but something that was simply done. With all the new chambers, and the slight bump in Dungeon Power we got from going up in ranks I could fit three hundred and four Dungeon Powers’ worth of extra creatures onto my Core floor. 
 
    I didn’t do anything fancy, simply doubled down on what I had already set up on that floor. Namely, more wood elves with heavy crossbows, one hundred and fifty-one of them. This added another six hundred thousand to the expenses tally. 
 
    The good news was that I had cleared my priorities, but it had cost almost eight of the eleven million XP I had available. 
 
    There was twenty minutes or so left before the ladies returned and I had time to invest some of what remained in my secondary priorities. 
 
    Shelly’s wing was first up. I’d managed to fit in a conversation with the unusually loquacious troll. He hadn’t wanted much, to get stronger himself, and increase the threat of the patrols, which he felt were far too weak. 
 
    With his assent, I shifted his wing up to the start of the Lair’s second floor and then bumped him up to rank twenty. I reassigned the thirty, Dungeon Power one, wolves from his cave and used them to beef up the wolf combat on the first floor. They were replaced by ten dire wolves. 
 
    Dire wolves were a new option for me and had a Dungeon Power rating of ten. They couldn’t be used on the first floor, so it would be nice to have a few of them here. They were much larger, stronger versions of wolves. The goblins I left alone as with the new dire wolves I’d maxed out the troll cave’s current Dungeon Power allowance. 
 
    Then I turned my attention to the new and existing floors. I created a rank ten minotaur to act as a miniboss floor guardian for the end of the Lair’s first floor. Then for the new ‘Tough Mudder’ floor, we needed a few defenders. I added twenty rank-less goblins and one hundred wood elves. That sounded like a lot but spread amongst the forty-nine bunkers that was only two or three mobs per hump. To bolster this room, I put in ten dire wolves. One of which would lurk at the base of every fifth bunker. 
 
    I left the first floor of the Forest of Xanathia alone but added a new rank ten Flora option to the new second floor, Greater Assassin Vines. Twenty-three of them along with ten dryads to enhance their growth. We also had two treants that I bought years ago hanging out in meadows with a bunch of coin bought dryads. This had accelerated their evolutions and they would make fine allies for Nessa in her second floor’s final chamber. A rank ten dryad was purchased to take Nessa’s place on the first floor’s final chamber 
 
    Last, but not least, I decided to put in a third of my new options in the ‘Flooded Cavern’. Greater Electric Eels were perfect for a room where adventurers had to spend a lot of time in the water. I may have gone a little overboard and bought forty of the ten Dungeon Power monsters. We wouldn’t have them all active for regular runs, which would be too lethal, but it would be nice to have them on hand for challenges. And as I had done for the other two dungeons, I installed a rank ten dark elf to take Jen’Zadeer’s spot in the final chamber of her first floor. 
 
    Nel’Van Lackspire’s promise to Simeon about holding back the Sons of the Shadow from trying to destroy my dark elf beauty, Jen’Zadeer Shadestar, had expired. There was a small chance they might decide against trying to destroy her, but I wasn’t counting on it. In fact, I was rather counting on them doing the opposite, but that was a plan for next week. 
 
    With all those extras, my reserve of XP was tapped out, and I had Dungeon Power to spare on the first floor of all three dungeon paths. However, using the DDD, I did some maths. If my rough estimates of how long it would take parties from the Dark Moon Rising to finish all six floors were accurate, my ball-park XP figure for next week would be in excess of twenty million and that didn’t count runs by other groups and miscellaneous other sources of XP. 
 
    That should be enough experience, even if I gained sufficient further ranks that I had to build three more floors next week. I would be able to build those floors, boost my armies and play around with lower floors. My musings on the future were cut short as a train of gorgeous women trooped into the Viewing Lounge. 
 
    I smiled at them. It was time to go and eliminate those who had been foolish enough to stand in my way. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
      
 
      
 
      
 
    Chapter 7 
 
      
 
      
 
    My disciple’s arrival reminded me that we shouldn’t head out until I’d confirmed that the orcs had made their weekly attempt at destroying me. I’d been so engrossed in my work I hadn’t registered if they’d shown up first thing in the morning as they usually did. 
 
    This did cause me a fleeting moment of concern. Although the orcs themselves weren’t particularly important, their repeated attempts to conquer me had left them essentially neutered, but I ought to have paid attention. I put it down to the recent splitting of my mental focus and made a note that it was something I needed to keep an eye on, just in case. 
 
    My oversight was quickly remedied as I interacted with the DDD. They had come back as they had the last few weeks and been soundly defeated. They appeared to have lost hope as they hadn’t even bothered to bring disciples with them this week. Or maybe they were finally wising up that they were just feeding me soul marks and fallen by bringing them along. That they had run out of options was also a possibility. 
 
    I would leave the orc avatars cooling their heels, frozen in my core room, until we returned. There was no point giving them extra time to scurry back to their masters and report back. 
 
    Tenzing had finished the little project I’d given him and displayed his work up on the big screen. His proposed route was traced on a full version of the wedge map. 
 
    He had used blue lines to denote existing paths and roads that we could use to reach our intended victims. In red, linking the gaps in the blue were the road networks I needed to build to facilitate today’s excursion. 
 
    I quickly checked the cost of adding these roads and confirmed we had enough without having to resort to some quick sales on the Auction House. 
 
    The dungeons we’d faced in the Victor’s Gauntlet were clustered in five different zones for the five different teams. The orc dungeons were all in this zone over on the East side of the maps wedge where the orken tribes had established themselves. 
 
    I nodded when I noted Tenzing’s route suggested we visit them last. It made sense to bypass them, as in all honesty, their removal wasn’t strictly necessary today. 
 
    The higher ranked orc dungeons which continually invaded us every rest day were all sited in roughly the same area of zone seven and it wouldn’t take much effort to dispose of the pogrom orcs just before we moved against the invading orcs. 
 
    There was a group in zone six, all human, who had been turned into zombies by the Necromancers during the Gauntlet match. They would be our penultimate targets for the day. This was because zone eight had two dwarves and another human dungeon who would be our first port of call. Then we’d move on to zone ten where the aforementioned Necromancers and the vampire, Jarlath Eckhoff, came from. 
 
    The group of Infernals were all in zone twenty-six and getting to them was vital for today. That need dictated Tenzing’s chosen route. Those dungeons were almost directly North of where we were, and as we couldn’t move through the City itself, we had to complete a full circuit of the zones. 
 
    Therefore, it made sense to hit zone eight and ten along the way to zone twenty-six and then come back, hugging the City walls, from the other side and deal with the dungeons in zone six. That way we wouldn’t have to backtrack. 
 
    With the new roads I built, there was still roughly a hundred miles of travel required, an almost impossible task, for most. Thankfully, we were tireless, but even running flat out, most of us, except for Tabitha, wouldn’t be quick enough to cover the distance and have time to run the dungeons. 
 
    But I had taken care of that. 
 
    Jessamyn sidled up to me and I wrapped my arm around her. “Is this the plan for today?” she asked quietly. 
 
    “Yes,” I responded loud enough for the room to hear. “I hope everyone is ready, as I want us on the road in five minutes. We have a lot to do, fifteen dungeons to eliminate.” 
 
    “All fifteen dungeons?” Nessa squeaked. “In what twenty-two hours?” she questioned doubtfully; her eyebrows furrowed. 
 
    “No,” I said, and Nessa visibly relaxed. “I have something important to attend to before it gets too late and want to get this done in sixteen if we can, eighteen at most.” 
 
    My statement left a row of jaws hanging open in shock. 
 
    “Master,” Jen’Zadeer spoke up first. “With all due respect, just travelling to these dungeons will take most of that time.” 
 
    “I’ve thought of that,” I grinned. “As we speak, coin purchased steeds, warhorses to be precise, are being prepared for our journey. As they are dungeon creatures, we can push them to gallop without rest. They should be able to cover the full distance in four to five hours, if we don’t dally,” I told the group confidently. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer seemed unconvinced. “But how are we going to complete fifteen dungeons in eleven or twelve hours? We’ve all studied the Guild’s reports, but even so, we can’t complete them in less than an hour each,” she countered. 
 
    “Simple,” I smirked and swept my fingers in a circular motion to incorporate the whole group “We aren’t completing fifteen dungeons. We shall split up into three teams, one led by me, the second by Nessa and the third by you, Jen’Zadeer. We may be a merged dungeon, but you are still dungeon avatars and entitled to enter with a group. This way each of us tackles five dungeons. Two hours for each should be enough.” 
 
    “But, Husband,” Jessamyn interjected. “Even with the advantages we’ve accrued, I’m afraid we won’t be strong enough if we separate.” 
 
    Before I answered, Shelly the life-seeded troll, strode into the Viewing Lounge. 
 
    “Ah, Shelly. You are right on time. Is everything ready?” I asked him. 
 
    “Greetings, sir, and my humble greetings to you all as well blessed disciples” he announced in his unusually formal tone. “The horses will be saddled and ready for our departure by the time we exit, sir. The rest of the strike force is assembled and prepared.” 
 
    “Strike force?” Jessamyn queried. 
 
    “The other life-seeded members of the secret armies, of course. You didn’t think I’d let any of you go in undermanned did you,” I teased. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer slapped her forehead with her palm. “Obviously, why the shatzah didn’t I think of that,” she cursed. 
 
    I smiled but didn’t comment on that and relayed the team structure instead. “Jessamyn, Karragh and Fiadh will accompany me.” 
 
    “Jen’Zadeer,” I addressed the dark elf. “Marux and Shelly will go with you.”  
 
    “And Nessa,” I said and turned to the dryad. “Tabitha and Gretsch will join your group. Each group will take ten dryads, eight infernal minotaurs, and eight hobgoblins with them. Nessa, your team will include the remaining two life-seeded dryads as well. Understood.” 
 
    There was a round of head-nodding before Karragh spoke. “Master, I don’t wish to contradict the route Tenzing has set out for us, but wouldn’t it be more efficient if we went in different directions and each team visited all the dungeons in a single zone, rather than all of us travelling the full distance.” 
 
    “You raise an excellent point, Karragh. I’m proud of you,” I complimented the blonde dwarf woman 
 
    Karragh had allowed her blonde hair to grow out from the cropped style she had previously preferred. At one point she had allowed her hair to almost reach her waist, but it had proved to be too much of a hindrance when she worked the forge. She had cut it back after that experiment and her thick gold locks hung to about shoulder height and were held back from her face by a leather headband. 
 
    I chuckled when Karragh blushed from my praise and launched into my explanation. “A point which exposes that there are potential flaws in my grand plan. First, though I’m ninety-nine percent sure I’m right about Jen’Zadeer and Nessa being able to lead separate parties from me, we haven’t tried it before. So, there is always a chance it may go awry, in which case we enact plan B, storming through each dungeon at hell for leather pace, and we need to be together for that.” 
 
    “Secondly, I know it’s been several years, but you may remember when we brought Shelly along to the Caverns that if someone enters our dungeon while we are away, the life-seeded, as dungeon creatures, will all be summoned back here instantly.” 
 
    “Now, with the privacy and other measures I’ve won from the Arbiter today, the Lords shouldn’t have time to react and interfere by sending someone to do something like that. But if they do, I want those of us who remain to be together for Plan C, destroy the Infernal dungeons and deal with the rest later.” 
 
    Karragh and the others nodded and smiled at me with my explanation. “Okay, anything else we can discuss enroute.” 
 
    I clapped my hands together and ushered my disciples out of the room. 
 
    “Tenzing, can you stay here, please. I will leave the DDD’s communications open to all of us, and you can keep everyone in the loop,” I asked my blue adviser as we walked out of the Viewing Lounge. 
 
    “Absolutely, Daxas. I was going to suggest it myself. I should also be able to give you a warning if another avatar does approach your dungeon.” 
 
    “Thanks, chap. I don’t know what I’d do without you,” I yelled over my shoulder. 
 
    “You would still be sitting on the floor of a doorless room, worried about your oxygen supply,” he called back to me as I departed down the corridor to the concealed dungeon exit. 
 
    “Cheeky bugger,” I chuckled under my breath. 
 
    When I exited the dungeon there was a strange sight to behold indeed. 
 
    My other life-seeded dungeon creatures were already mounted on the warhorses I’d purchased with tack I’d made in the craft rooms. The mounted dryads and hobgoblins weren’t that unusual, but the sight of almost nine-foot-tall, six-hundred-pound, minotaurs sitting astride their horses was a little incongruous. 
 
    In the real world, the poor beasts, the horses that is, wouldn’t make it more than a mile with such heavy loads. If they managed to get going at all. 
 
    In less than a minute my disciples and I had mounted our own steeds and with a final glance around the glade, I gently kicked my horses’ side and shook the reins. 
 
    “Yah,” I yelled. 
 
    I’d always wanted to do that. 
 
    It hadn’t been necessary, the warhorses were dungeon creatures, and I could command them mentally, but where would the fun have been in that. 
 
    We tore out of the glade at a speedy gallop and would have caused quite the stir for the members of the Dark Moon Rising, had I not elected to keep us under the effect of Ethereal Roaming, thus we went undetected. Which was a shame as we cut quite the dramatic scene, like a posse riding out of town to hunt some low-down, dirty, stinking, varmints. 
 
    The imagery briefly had me thinking of the gunslinger who came before me. My fate wouldn’t be the same as his. Those who stood in my way would soon learn this for themselves, much to their detriment. 
 
    Although the horses did have effectively limitless stamina, we soon discovered that the increased weight of Shelly and the minotaurs did have a minor impact on their top speed. And they began to lag behind the rest of the group, so we had to slow our gallop a little to keep together. 
 
    Tenzing, who observed us from the comfort of the Viewing Lounge, was able to assess our pace. We averaged about twenty miles per hour, as opposed to the twenty-five that the lighter loaded horses were capable of. This increased our projected travel time by about an hour but remained within the estimations I’d made. 
 
    Although, it had largely eaten the entirety of the travel time contingency I’d allowed for, but that is what contingencies are for after all. 
 
    The landscape flew by as we rode, and shifted, often quite suddenly, as we passed through my forest into savannah, marshland and then desert before we galloped into zone eight in less than ten minutes. 
 
    In all the years I’d been trapped here I had never travelled out of my forest, let alone my zone. Except for when I claimed Jen’Zadeer, but we’d run through tunnels then and that wasn’t the same as actually wandering about topside. There was a part of me that wanted to dismount, shift into my warwolf, and run free. 
 
    That would have to wait, though. 
 
    Most of the people we passed were adventurers who, being unaware of our presence, ignored us completely. There were a few orcs we encountered roaming about on the surface who did react as we rode by them. Whether they were avatars, or merely disciples, I didn’t know. Whichever they were, the orken dungeons in the East of zone seven had been given fair warning as to my strength. 
 
    I probably would have preferred to have kept what we were capable of a secret, but it couldn’t be helped. Besides, a little intimidation can work wonders if applied correctly. 
 
    Shortly after we crossed the border, we separated into three groups and headed in the direction of the individual dungeons we would hit. I had elected to confront Kargan Stonesmith, a rank thirteen dwarf dungeon. He possessed a Creation Domain, Architecture Sphere, dungeon he’d named the Halls of the Glitterfall. 
 
    This was technically the strongest of the three dungeons in this zone on our hit list, which is why I picked it to do myself. Not that I thought either of the other two groups would struggle against him, but better safe than sorry. 
 
    From the guild reports, this was a trap heavy dungeon and that limited the number of mobs we’d encounter. 
 
    The entrance to his dungeon looked like the way into a mine. My team dismounted as we got close and one of the hobgoblins, whom I’d nick-named Grizzlor after the She-Ra character, guided them to the side of the entrance before he re-joined us. His real name was Grizzit, but he didn’t object to the informal nomenclature. 
 
    I relayed instructions to the horses to gallop away and circle around until they came back to the dungeon entrance if they were approached. Just in case anybody got the smart idea of slaughtering them and denying us our mode of travel. Then I asked Tenzing to advise Nessa and Jen’Zadeer to do the same. 
 
    With that sorted, we approached the mine entrance with intent and were prompted with the expected warning. 
 
    This is a Creation Domain, Architecture Sphere, rank thirteen Dungeon with the following specialities. Construction. The following Dungeon Laws are in effect. 
 
    Party of Six: A minimum of 6 adventurers is required to form a party to enter this dungeon. 
 
    Daily Lockout: Adventurers may only enter this Dungeon once per day. 
 
    Over Six Penalty: Every party member over 6 will contribute a cumulative 10-minute time penalty to the 3-hour time limit. (Per rank) 
 
    You have a Life-Seeded dungeon creature in your party. They are not forbidden to enter but are subject to some additional rules. 
 
    First, as a dungeon creature, they are not avatars of dungeons or disciples and can’t exist in two places at once. Therefore, if adventurers or other raiding groups enter the dungeon in which they are stationed, they will be summarily summoned back to take their place. There will be no warning if this occurs. 
 
    Second, as they are not avatars should they be slain as part of the invasion the dungeon creature will be returned to your dungeon but will no longer be Life-Seeded. The Life Seed asset is permanently lost. 
 
    Kargan’s construction speciality didn’t seem to confer any additional dungeon laws, which didn’t surprise me, it probably gave him bonuses to building. 
 
    I glanced back at my assembled team. “Everyone knows their roles. This will be just as we have practised a thousand times before in our own dungeon.” 
 
    Twenty-nine expectant faces gaze back at me, the nervous energy in the air palpable. This would be the first real test for any of my life-seeded creations and one which could prove deadly for them. 
 
    “Most of you are my life-seeded creations and not my disciples, but that doesn’t mean I value you any less because of that. You will be facing a greater risk today than the four of us,” I announced and pointed at me, Jessamyn, Karragh and Fiadh. “Watch each other’s backs, and I don’t want any heroic, but stupid, sacrifice moves for the four of us. Nothing we do today is vital, and your service will be required in the battles to come. Anybody who gets themselves killed will displease me greatly and nobody wants a grumpy-guts wolf in the dungeon,” I smiled. 
 
    The ripple of laughter from my closing joke helped release the growing tension and my followers prepared themselves for the task ahead. 
 
    The infernal minotaurs had been kitted out in a similar manner to me, with large tower shields and doubled-headed great mauls. 
 
    As they were primarily physical combatants their enchantments had focused on their Strength, Stamina, and Agility. But the reason I’d ultimately taken infernal minotaurs over trolls was that they had the Infernal spell school affinity. I’d made sure they each had the Infernal Talons and Hex spells, Blood Rage they got for free, and enough Mana to cast them. 
 
    The hobgoblins were my ranged spell chuckers. They had an affinity for Fire magic, so were armed with the Flame Bolt and the Flame Fists spell. For their suite of enchantments, I had focused on Spell Power, Agility, and Stamina. 
 
    Stamina to increase their health pool and Agility to improve the targeting of those Flame Bolt spells. The Agility also assisted for the times they used the heavy crossbow when Flame Bolt was on cooldown. Mana was important, of course, but could be replenished with a potion, so as long as they had enough to cover the initial castings, stat boosts could be focused elsewhere. 
 
    Finally, the dryads were the group’s healers and would spend most of their time surrounded by a circle of protectors. Similar to the hobgoblins, Spell Power, Agility, and Stamina were the focus of their enchantments. The dryads had an affinity for Life magic, but unfortunately, the Regrowth spell was only available at tier two. 
 
    Currently, my posse was rank ten and the rank twenty upgrades I spent so much on today wouldn’t come into effect until the next week began. 
 
    This meant we’d given the dryads the first-tier Sanctified spells, which included Heal. They didn’t have the affinity for those spells like Jessamyn, so the casting cost for them would be higher. Consequently, I’d used more enchantment slots boosting their Mana than on the other members of the armies. That combined with their naturally low Strength meant heavy crossbows weren’t a feasible option for them, so they used short bows instead. 
 
    Another benefit of not currently being dungeon bound was access to the inventory. We could swap out the armour and weapons we equipped for each of the different dungeons we faced. Kargan Stonesmith’s didn’t offer anything unusual, so our gear loadouts were designed for maximum stat increases. 
 
    After a moment, it became clear that everyone was ready and I turned back to the dungeon entrance, mentally selected the invasion option and stepped over the threshold. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    Kargan Stonesmith 
 
    I watched the projection of events within my dungeon with growing horror as both of my disciples were slaughtered in quick succession. 
 
    “Ironhammer, why have you forsaken me? How could this have happened?” I whispered under my breath. 
 
    The answer to the first question was obvious. Ironhammer didn’t care, none of the Divine Lords did. If I truly had any faith in him or any of them, I wouldn’t have ended up here in the first place. 
 
    And then I’d let the Arbiter manipulate me. I had been so angry after the Victor’s Gauntlet and the rewards the Arbiter offered for signing up to the pogrom against Daxas had been too great a temptation. 
 
    Who wouldn’t have taken the opportunity to get all the experience they had just lost, and more besides, back. There would have been achievements for successfully executing the pogrom on Daxas and the favour of the Divine Lords wasn’t to be sniffed at either. 
 
    What’s more, the Arbiter had assured me I wouldn’t even need to do anything. Other dungeons were supposed to end him, and I could sit back and bask in the rewards of an easy job well done by another. 
 
    That had all been a catalogue of lies and wishful thinking. His imminent destruction never materialised and now the bastard had invaded my dungeon. 
 
    I should have done more to contact the others when he didn’t fall after that first week, perhaps convinced them to rescind the pogrom, but it was too late now. 
 
    I watched as the bastard Wolf King rampaged through my final chamber of traps before my Core room. They barely even bothered trying to avoid setting them off, he and his shield-wall of infernal minotaurs simply deflected or absorbed the damage from each. 
 
    Spears, swing balls, crushing blocks, caltrops, nothing slowed them. I could see the sparkle of healing magic being cast on those who had absorbed rather than deflected my final barrage of defences. 
 
    There had to be thirty of the fuckers. Where had he got so many disciples? I didn’t understand, this had to be more than one dungeon invading me, but the notifications only mentioned him, Daxas. There wasn’t even any sign of his two subordinate dungeons that had participated in the Victor’s Gauntlet with him. 
 
    I sighed with resignation. None of those questions mattered any longer and I shifted my perspective to my Core room. 
 
    When I reopened my eyes, I stood before my core gem. The beautiful yellow Citrine winked softly and bathed me in its warming glow. I smiled wistfully but had to turn and face the cacophony that erupted behind me. 
 
    My last line of defence, a dozen gremlins, were swatted aside by bellowing minotaurs and then Daxas, the monstrous Wolf King strode through the middle of their ranks and growled down at me. 
 
    I was prompted with a message that I’d been challenged to a duel by him and couldn’t refuse. I acknowledged the message and drew my bronze battle-axe as I was forced to take up a position in the centre of the chamber. 
 
    We were flanked on all sides by statuary of my honoured ancestors, the Stonesmiths who had come before me. Their cold unflinching gazes would stand in judgement upon me for my failures this day. 
 
    Numerals appeared before me and counted down. 3…2…1, and then I was freed to move. 
 
    Daxas didn’t immediately attack, his jowls retracted in a cruel grin instead. I felt a wash of dread creep down my spine. What bravery I’d girded deserted me in an instant. 
 
    “This is nay my fault. The Arbiter…and the others…they…uh…they forced me ta’ agree ta’ the pogrom,” I begged in a most undwarf-like manner. 
 
    He chuckled darkly in response. “I don’t give a fuck.” 
 
    I’d hoped for something rather more uplifting for the final words I’d ever hear. Though they would have been a fitting epitaph for my tombstone if anyone cared to commemorate me, which I’m sure they wouldn’t. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    Daxas 
 
    I smashed my double-headed maul into the pulped head of the dwarf avatar one last and completely unnecessary time. 
 
    Kargan had lost this duel before it ever started, I could see it in his eyes, even before his flapping lips betrayed him. His efforts at warding me off during the duel were a mere token from a broken dwarf. Not that the outcome would have ultimately differed if he had fought with all his might. 
 
    “Is everyone good?” I called out to my team. 
 
    I had set a hectic pace for clearing this dungeon and hadn’t slowed down to keep on top of everyone’s well-being, trusting that they could handle themselves. 
 
    I’d like to say the frenetic pace had been because of the time constraints we were under, but the truth was I needed to finish first, before the other two. The Alpha in me would accept nothing less. 
 
    A chuckle-grunt forced its way out of my throat at the thought. 
 
    “Yes, Husband,” Jessamyn answered for the group. “Fiadh is a little upset that you didn’t let her off the leash, aren’t you dear.” Jessamyn stroked the top of the bright orange hair of the berserker’s head as she spoke soothingly to her. Fiadh whined and rubbed herself against the gorgeous wood-elf in response. “But apart from that, we are all hale and hearty,” she finished. 
 
    “This was almost too easy, sir” one of the minotaurs, Gorx, grumbled. “I hope some of the others have more teeth.” 
 
    I laughed loudly at Gorx’s comment. Unlike Shelly, whom I named, I had allowed my other life-seeded warriors to name themselves. Gorx had proved to be quite garrulous for a minotaur, which is to say you might get more than a monosyllabic response from him every now and again. 
 
    “The Death Domain dungeons are up next and are the most dangerous, after that, we take on the Infernal dungeons who will be resistant to your infernal buffs and curses. This was just the warm-up act,” I reminded the minotaur. 
 
    Gorx eyes narrowed, he may not have understood what a warm-up act was, but he accepted my words obediently. 
 
    I turned my attention to the pulsating yellow gem ensconced in an organic pedestal similar to the three we had back in our core room. Victory was simple and I reached out my clawed hands and ripped Kargan’s core from its resting place. 
 
    You have conquered the Halls of the Glitterfall and seized the core of Kargan Stonesmith. 
 
    Would you like to summon the dungeon’s avatar to discuss the terms of his defeat? 
 
    Or 
 
    Destroy the core. 
 
    Kargan Stonesmith does not meet your requirements to become a disciple, and thus this option is unavailable at this time. 
 
    I didn’t hesitate to destroy the core. 
 
    Kargan Stonesmith had two disciples, neither of whom qualify for you to take on. Their soul marks have been added to yours and they have been added to your fallen total. 
 
    This dungeon will now collapse. Do you wish to be returned to your Core room or the exit of this dungeon? 
 
    I selected the exit of the dungeon. 
 
    Blink. 
 
    And just like that, we were stood outside on the scrub at the base of the hills where the entrance and exit to the Halls of the Glitterfall had been. I opened my closed fist to find fine yellow dust adorned my palm. I flipped my hand upside down and let the final remains of Kargan fall from my palm and then blew the last parts that clung to my hand into the wind. 
 
    “Well done, Daxas,” Tenzing’s voice sounded as if he were perched upon my shoulder. “You are the first to finish your target. Jen’Zadeer should complete hers in ten minutes and Nessa appears to be only a few minutes behind her.” 
 
    “Good to know, Tenzing. But it’s not a competition you know,” I fibbed. 
 
    It totally was a competition and I’d won the first round. “Anything else I need to know?” 
 
    “Not really, Daxas,” Tenzing replied. “The confirmation message for your conquest has come through. You earned three-hundred and twelve soul marks and seven soul shards, this doesn’t include anything you might have gained from any disciples he may have had. The Halls of the Glitterfall fallen total was lower than yours, so that has not been adjusted.” 
 
    “Understood,” then I turned to my assembled troops. “Okay, everyone mount up. We’re headed to the first rendezvous point, Jen’Zadeer and Nessa’s teams should be there fifteen minutes after us.” 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
      
 
      
 
      
 
    Chapter 8 
 
      
 
      
 
    I managed to not rub it in too much that my team were the first to arrive at the rendezvous point but couldn’t help mentioning it just a little bit. If Nessa and Jen’Zadeer hadn’t considered today’s mission to be a competition before, they certainly did now. 
 
    We didn’t dally long after Nessa’s group joined us and were swiftly on our way to zone ten and the Death Domain dungeons. This time around Jen’Zadeer wanted to take on the highest-ranked of the trio, Prarow Bane. 
 
    The filthy, raspy-voiced, Necromancer had been the foul miscreant who had killed Jen’Zadeer in the Gauntlet and she figured that some payback was in order. 
 
    This suited my purposes perfectly as I wanted a second showdown with the vampire Jarlath Eckhoff. Krista may have professed not to care if her traitorous matrilineal cousin lived or died, but I had a sneaking suspicion she’d be rather happy regardless. 
 
    That left Foudulous Morte, another Necromancer, for Nessa to deal with. 
 
    The only drawback for me was that Jarlath’s dungeon was the furthest away. And following my mildly triumphal performance earlier neither of my disciples were inclined to give me a head start to even things up. In fact, I could hear Nessa’s tinkling laughter as it rang in the distance as she charged off with her group at the mere suggestion that they allow me a couple of minutes’ grace. 
 
    The cheeky minx knew me well enough that if she gave me a chance, I would have ordered them to do so. Winning was important. 
 
    Anyway, the difference in time wasn’t much and a few minutes later my group dismounted at the entrance of Jarlath’s dungeon, The Bloodless Coup. I sniggered in appreciation of his play on words and approached. 
 
    This is a Death Domain, Assassination Sphere, rank fourteen Dungeon with the following specialities. Urbanism. The following Dungeon Laws are in effect. 
 
    Party of Six: A minimum of 6 adventurers is required to form a party to enter this dungeon. 
 
    Daily Lockout: Adventurers may only enter this Dungeon once per day. 
 
    Over Six Penalty: Every party member over 6 will contribute a cumulative 10-minute time penalty to the 3-hour time limit. (Per rank) 
 
    Marked for Death: One member of the party, usually the leader, but this may be changed at the dungeon’s discretion is the Assassin’s Mark. All damage by any source is doubled against those Marked for Death. Once assigned the Mark cannot be changed. The Marked one’s rewards will be trebled if they survive the dungeon. 
 
    Hidden Amongst the Crowd: Damage from unseen sources is doubled. (Only in effect in the advanced chamber Urban environment)  
 
    You have a Life-Seeded dungeon creature in your party. They are not forbidden to enter but are subject to some additional rules. 
 
    First, as a dungeon creature, they are not avatars of dungeons or disciples and can’t exist in two places at once. Therefore, if adventurers or other raiding groups enter the dungeon in which they are stationed, they will be summarily summoned back to take their place. There will be no warning if this occurs. 
 
    Second, as they are not avatars should they be slain as part of the invasion the dungeon creature will be returned to your dungeon but will no longer be Life-Seeded. The Life Seed asset is permanently lost. 
 
    The reports we received from the Dark Moon Rising had included information on the additional dungeon laws the Bloodless Coup operated under. 
 
    This had been the secondary reason I was happy to be the one to run this dungeon. When my guild had sent parties out to investigate all the dungeons this had been the only one where a soul mark had been lost. The unfortunate individual had been part of Pacclo’s team, and I’d been sure the guild compensated him handsomely for his service in my designs. 
 
      Jarlath had opted to change the default Mark from the leader of the run, Pacclo, to another that would be easier to kill. However, Pacclo’s report also included that he’d been given the option to contest this change. Pacclo’s attempt had failed but I was confident I would be more successful. 
 
    The last bit of pertinent information was that the entire dungeon used the Urban advanced chamber, so that unseen double up bonus, which became a quadruple up bonus for the Marked member of the party, was constantly in effect. 
 
    As a result, similar to the last dungeon, Jarlath’s dungeon leaned heavily towards traps rather than mob heavy clashes. Unlike Kargan’s dungeon, though, we would have to take a bit more care. 
 
    A lot of the traps and surprise assassins inflicted a variety of Necrotic, Poisonous, and Venomous damage sources. All of which would be doubled if unseen and typically not very well protected. The armour we equipped was designed to offset the Necrotic damage primarily, with a bit of Damage Reduction for the Poison and Venom sources. Although we’d be reliant on Jessamyn and our dryads to Purge those effects. 
 
    Once the whole team had changed into their new gear configurations, we stepped through into the first room. 
 
    Immediately, I was pinged by a notification. 
 
    You are currently the default target of the Marked for Death dungeon law. The Dungeon wishes to change the Mark from you to Jessamyn Wolfsbride. 
 
    Do you wish to contest this transfer? 
 
    Oh, that motherfucker. 
 
    By targeting my wife, he was just asking for me to whoop his ass, I didn’t care if it made tactical sense on his part. Had I been inclined to show the jackass mercy, which admittedly I hadn’t been, he just burned that slim bridge of possibility. 
 
    I chose to contest the switch in target and had a tense few seconds to wait before the reply prompt returned. 
 
    Due to your superior dominance, Jarlath Eckhoff has failed to change the Mark’s target. Moreover, your victory in the battle of wills was so dominant you may choose to force Jarlath Eckhoff to rescind the Mark altogether. 
 
    “Take that, you little bitch,” I crowed aloud, and gladly selected the Mark’s removal. 
 
    “I just won a battle of wills with the vampire to remove the Mark of Death,” I explained to the circle of quizzical expressions. 
 
    A few mouths opened with an ‘oh’ of recognition. 
 
    “Right, let’s crack on, this race isn’t going to win itself,” I ordered, and we moved forward. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    Nessa Fiveleaf 
 
    I commanded my thorn hounds to advance and occupy the skeletons Foul Pus, or whatever the fuck his name really was, had summoned in a last-ditch attempt to protect himself. They rushed forward instantly and leapt at the yellowed calcified creatures as they emerged from the roiling darkness a few feet in front of the Necromancer. 
 
    Foul Pus had chosen to make his last stand in what I guessed was his penultimate room before his core. It was a depressive Graveyard advanced chamber that inhibited my Life Domain spells and enhanced his Death Domain spells in return. So, there were half as many thorn hounds as I could usually summon. 
 
    But that was why I’d sent them to intercept the rightmost summoned horde of skeletons. “Tabitha, clear me a path, please,” I shouted out. 
 
    The beautiful Hare-kin woman, who was the first of my Ring, disengaged from the melee that surrounded us. The infernal minotaurs and hobgoblins were battling off the swarm of zombies which occupied this stinking graveyard. 
 
    If we formed a protective square formation and whittled the zombies down over time we’d win eventually, we were simply too strong, but I wouldn’t beat Daxas or Jen’Zadeer if we did things the stolid, boring way. 
 
    Tabitha bounded from the mob and jinked to my right following my outstretched arm, where I’d indicated for her to act. She raised both hands up and unleashed her Wind Blast which pummelled into the throng of summoned skeletons and threw them aside like disgusting skinny rag dolls. 
 
    One of the benefits of Wind Blast was that despite it only having a single target, the wind it created didn’t suddenly stop but continued for forty or fifty feet as it gradually petered out. The skeletons were packed close enough that Tabitha’s spell cleared us a three or four-foot corridor and we sprinted through, Tabitha leading the way. 
 
    As I passed the last of the skeletons and broke into clear ground, as clear as a graveyard could be, littered as it was with tombstones and open graves, Tabs screeched out in pain and fell before me. 
 
    She had been struck in the chest by Foul Pus’ Necrotic Blast. I reacted instantly, casting a maxed-Mana Heal spell, which would be more effective than my Regrowth here in the graveyard, to keep Tabs alive and well even in her sudden vulnerability. 
 
    But I wasn’t done, not by a long twig. “Hey ugly!” I screamed. “Eat ice, you nasty rot-lover.” 
 
    Simultaneous to my insult I jumped up on a nearby grave marker and used it to vault myself high into the air and twirled just in time to unleash the maxed-Mana Ice Blast spell into the creepy bastard’s face. 
 
    I landed comfortably and sighed happily as the Necromancer crumpled to the ground at an unnatural angle. The dissolution of his summoned skeletons and the sudden aimlessness of the zombie mobs who had been fighting the minotaurs, and were now being crushed mercilessly, was all the evidence needed that he was indeed dead. 
 
    I rushed over to Tabitha and helped her back up to her feet. “Are you okay?” I asked. 
 
    Tabitha chuckled lightly and winked. “I’ve suffered worse in our training sessions but thank you. Now I believe we have a core to claim if we are going to win this round.” 
 
    “Damn straight, we do,” I laughed back. “Our troops seem to have what remains in this chamber well in hand. Tenzing,” I said loudly into the air. “How are the others doing?” 
 
    The small blue man’s voice chuckled lightly. “I have only just answered the same question for Jen’Zadeer. She has also just slain Prarow Bane and will soon claim his core. However, Foudulous’ dungeon is the closest to the zone ten rendezvous, if you hurry, you can get there a smidge before her.” 
 
    Tabs and I looked at each other before we turned and ran for the archway, my freed thorn hounds in hot pursuit. 
 
    “And Daxas?” I pressed. 
 
    “Ah, Daxas has encountered some unanticipated difficulties during his run. Nothing dangerous, but it has slowed his advance and…well…he is going to finish some way behind both you and Jen’Zadeer.” 
 
    I smiled mischievously. I wouldn’t be letting him live this one down anytime soon. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    Daxas 
 
    That slippery son of a bitch. 
 
    Jarlath had found some way to change the layout of his dungeon before the end of the rest day. None of the chambers matched the report Pacclo’s team had compiled. 
 
    It wasn’t that any of the threats were different, they simply weren’t where we expected them to be. This slowed our progress through the faux-City streets significantly, especially as none of the chamber exits were in the same places either, so we had to find them first. 
 
    The report hadn’t been a complete write-off, as I said, the threats weren’t different, so we were properly prepared for when we did encounter his traps or squads of ambushing assassins. But instead of making it to his core floor in eighty to ninety minutes as I’d expected it took us almost four hours. 
 
    To say I was in a foul mood would be the understatement of the century. 
 
    Things had got so bad I’d been forced to request that Tenzing inform Nessa and Jen’Zadeer to press on to the infernal dungeons without me. I could have pressed my team to split up or move faster but that would have increased their vulnerability to hidden attacks and with attacks of that nature doubled it would have been a foolhardy order to give. 
 
    I hadn’t been lying when I’d said I didn’t want to lose any of them. I may have been competitive but not self-destructively so. 
 
    Regardless of that we were finally here at the end of the dungeon in Jarlath’s core room. 
 
    He had extended the room, at least quadrupling it in size. The room was opulently furnished with plush red carpets and scarlet silk drapery adorning the walls. There were a plethora of marble statues ringing the room, mostly of scantily clad young women in various poses of supplication or baring their necks with looks of adoration on their faces. On either side of Jarlath were two marble fountains that spewed red liquid. 
 
    I could smell the liquid was red wine and not blood, though. 
 
    He was overdoing the vampire motif just a tad, maybe he was compensating for something. 
 
    Jarlath lounged in a gaudy golden throne with red velvet upholstery, a ruby-encrusted goblet in one hand as he viewed our entrance with forced disinterest. Despite his demeanour, Jarlath was dressed in combat leathers and his rapier was belted to his waist within easy reach. 
 
    “Ah…Daxas, isn’t it” Jarlath greeted me with a pretence of ignorance. 
 
    I snorted at his obvious attempt at nonchalance but didn’t answer. I did have a few things to say, and he wasn’t going to like them.  
 
    “The silent treatment, eh? How juvenile,” Jarlath sighed. “And here I was, thinking an animal…oops, sorry, a man of your reputation would want to prove his strength and fight me, one-on-one, in a duel.” 
 
    So, that was his game. He wanted to goad me into fighting him solo. 
 
    Sure enough, no sooner had the words left his mouth than I was prompted with a duel request. 
 
    You have been challenged by Jarlath Eckhoff to a duel. 
 
    In addition to the standard duel terms, he has added the following clauses. 
 
    If Daxas of The Wolf King’s Lair wins then Jarlath Eckhoff will surrender the ‘Town Planner’ perk. 
 
    If Jarlath Eckhoff of The Bloodless Coup wins then Daxas will withdraw and Jarlath Eckhoff will remove his name from the pogrom. If Jarlath Eckhoff makes no further aggressive overtures towards Daxas then Daxas will be forbidden to enter The Bloodless Coup. 
 
    These clauses will be imposed by the Proving Grounds should the duel take place. 
 
    To be honest Jarlath’s plan wasn’t a bad ploy. 
 
    He’d riled me up good and proper and then dangled a tasty carrot of a perk I didn’t possess, Town Planner, to help encourage me to accept. He’d even gone so far as to essentially give me what I wanted most, him no longer part of the pogrom against me, should I lose the duel. 
 
    It was also fairly safe to say that Town Planner sounded exactly like it might be what allowed him to change up his dungeon chambers early. 
 
    Sadly, for Jarlath, he had forgotten two important and salient points about me. 
 
    I hate to lose, and I cheat like a motherfucker. 
 
    “Bulls, Hex the shit out of him. Hobs, light him up. Ladies, if you would be so kind as to buff me,” I ordered. 
 
    You see, once a duel is accepted nobody else can interfere until its conclusion, but there are no restrictions on what can happen before the duel is accepted. 
 
    A red nimbus surrounded Jarlath as the minotaurs’ Hex spells settled on him and the balls of flame flew past me. Jarlath scrambled out of his throne and managed to avoid half the Flame Bolts but those that hit home sent him tumbling onto the overtly red carpet, scorching it as he rolled to put the flames out. 
 
    Jarlath wasn’t dead but the distraction provided by the flammable assault meant he hadn’t been able to retract his duel offer, which I duly accepted. 
 
    I do love it when a plan comes together. 
 
    The vampire was forced to stand from his curled-up position. The automated nature of the duel didn’t prevent him from filling his goblet with wine from one of the fountains and dousing himself to put out the last of the flames that lingered on his clothing and armour. 
 
    His slick-backed hair was singed and dishevelled. 
 
    3…2…1. 
 
    The duel began and I charged forward swinging my maul in a wide arc aiming for his midriff. Jarlath tried to dance back and out of the way, but the Hex debuffs target your highest stat, which for him was his Agility. Thusly, his evasive manoeuvre was only partially successful, and my maul slammed home on his hip. Jarlath fell to the ground in a heap. I jammed my tower shield on his torso to keep him in place. 
 
    “What a pain in the neck,” I quipped in my best Arnie. 
 
    The pun slash quote was followed swiftly by my maul slamming into Jarlath’s throat to punctuate my comedy genius and end the duel. 
 
    I looked around at my assembled team ready to bask in the glow of their adulation at my comic timing and was instead greeted by a group-effort-groan. 
 
    “Oh, come on, it wasn’t that bad,” I argued. 
 
    “Sorry, Master,” Karragh sighed reluctantly, “but…it kind of was.” 
 
    “I don’t understand why he used a funny voice,” Gorx expressed his confusion. 
 
    “You would understand if any of you had watched the Running Man, which I’ve offered to put on the viewer many times and every one of you always turn me down,” I whined. 
 
    “Come now, Husband,” Jessamyn reasoned. “You know none of us understands the Séance Pictures films you like.” 
 
    “Science Fiction,” I corrected absently. 
 
    “Yes, that,” Jessamyn said. 
 
    And then she and Fiadh were pressed up against me and my woes were forgotten as I kissed my wife and caressed the redhead berserker. 
 
    This may have gone on for longer if Karragh hadn’t coughed loudly. “The core, Master?” 
 
    I acknowledged Karragh’s timely reminder and broke away from my fire-kissed companions. 
 
    Jarlath’s core was a smooth black jet. Once I seized it from his pedestal, I was offered the same options as before. I’d been on the verge of simply making the same decision as last time when a new idea hit me. 
 
    “Tenzing, how are Jen and Nessa doing?” I asked my blue adviser. 
 
    “Daxas, they reached zone twenty-six just under two hours ago. As Dakemon and Vazzezon were only rank eight dungeons they have already completed them. I thought it wise, with your delay, to advise them to combine forces and complete Xordadach, the incubus’ dungeon rather than wait for your arrival,” he answered incorporeally. 
 
    “That was the correct decision, Tenzing. I knew I could rely on you. How far along are they?” I inquired. 
 
    “With over sixty in their party they only have the core floor left to pass before they are done,” he informed me. 
 
    “Excellent. When they are finished, please let them know we won’t be linking back up with them. I’m changing up the plan. Can you locate our horses and command them to return to the dungeon?” I asked him. 
 
    “Yes, Daxas, I can. Do you wish me to?” he asked back. 
 
    “Yeah, go ahead,” I agreed. “I’m going to utilise an option we were unaware of when we started the day and request to be returned to our Core room. As they are all together you can tell the girls they can do the same when they are done. Then they can trek over to zone six while we take care of the orc dungeons in our zone. That should put us back on track.” 
 
    “I concur with your assessment, Daxas,” Tenzing replied. 
 
    “Oh, and Tenzing,” I said light-heartedly. 
 
    “Yes, Daxas,” he said. 
 
    “Don’t let on that regrettably a changed plan means the race has been voided,” I requested, with a healthy dollop of manufactured sorrow. 
 
    I did warn you that I hated losing and cheat like a motherfucker. 
 
    Tenzing’s chuckle echoed through the chamber. “I will see you in a few minutes.” 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    Jen’Zadeer Shadestar 
 
    The fucking incubus had tried to pull his invisibility bullshit again. So, I simply ordered the Hobgoblins to pump out their balls of flame repeatedly in all directions until one of them got lucky and Xordadach’s piggish squeal revealed his position. 
 
    Of course, true to form he tried to glamour me, but I had my own trick to play and let the piece of shatzah have it with my concealed Ice Blast. I sauntered over to his prone form to finish him off. 
 
    The streak of flapping brown vines that zinged past me belonged to that vivacious pest Nessa. She had a pair of daggers in her hands and yelled an overly zealous war cry as she fell upon the downed infernal, stabbing furiously, seeking to rob me of my hard-won victory. 
 
    I had prepared a particularly vicious epithet to lambast her with, just for an occasion such as this, when she rocked back on her heels in disappointment. 
 
    “The great oak’s festering rot,” Nessa swore loudly. “I think he was already dead.” 
 
    I flashed her a triumphant smile. That’s what you get when you mess with me.  
 
    But the moment was ruined by Nessa’s frown of disenchantment and my previously cold and uncaring heart ached for her and my smile faded as swiftly as it emerged. 
 
    “There will be further opportunities, Ness,” I consoled the pouty dryad. 
 
    Nessa unleashed a deep theatrical sigh. “But I wanted to be the winner. Nobody respects me because I’m the little one.” 
 
    “Come on Ness,” I reasoned. “None of us think like that,” 
 
    I walked over to the kneeling dryad and put a reassuring hand on her shoulder. Instead of being cheered up, Nessa’s shoulders slumped, and she sniffled loudly. 
 
    “If it will make you feel better, I can say your dagger took the last of his health. That might even be the truth,” I offered the despondent woman. 
 
    Nessa stifled a sob. “Really? You’d do that for me?” 
 
    “Of course, we are sister-mates,” I told her softly. 
 
    Nessa jumped up and hugged me tightly, her short stature pushed her head under my breasts. 
 
    “Thank you, you are just the best,” Nessa gushed. 
 
    And then I caught her peeking up at me, saw the smug grin, quickly suppressed and knew instantly the cheeky little shatzah-smeller had played me. 
 
    Again. 
 
    To be honest there were days I questioned which of us was born a dark elf. 
 
    There would be retribution, though. I could bide my time, wait for the perfect moment to strike and then exact glorious vengeance. 
 
    My introspection was interrupted by an update from Tenzing. “Congratulation’s ladies. Daxas has asked me to let you know that he has returned to the Lair and won’t be joining you for the remaining leg of the journey.” 
 
    Nessa unwrapped her arms from my waist and crowed loudly with joy. “I am the winner. I am the winner.” 
 
    Which I thought to be a little bit presumptuous of her. I was still in this race too after all. 
 
    Then she started a dance I recognised as a traditional dryad one to celebrate Spring’s victory over Winter. 
 
    “He also wanted to relay that as things have gone so well that when you claim the core to this dungeon you can use the option to return to the Lair and then run over to zone six to conquer the dungeons there,” Tenzing said. 
 
    “What?” Nessa squawked and ceased her happy spring ritual dance. “He wants us to walk!” 
 
    “Run,” I corrected and grinned at her. 
 
    “That’s conker crazy,” she shouted and stamped her feet. “Why run when we have perfectly good horses right here?” 
 
    “What the shatzah is conker crazy? I think you forget sometimes we aren’t all dryads,” I sighed in exasperation at her antics. 
 
    “You know, when young ones eat the freshly fallen conkers, get all dreamy-eyed and do daft things, like run when you have horses,” she explained and growled her irritation. 
 
    “I think that is just dryads,” I said. “Conkers are mildly poisonous to everybody else. We’d get sick, not narcotically intoxicated.” 
 
    “Really?” Nessa exclaimed. “What do young dark elves do for fun?” 
 
    “A cave mushroom we call the Speckled Surprise,” I answered matter of factly. 
 
    “Why did you call it that?” Nessa inquired, distracted from her mini-temper tantrum. 
 
    “Hmmm, because it is speckled, and its effects were always a surprise. I had a cousin who was left so insensate she couldn’t stand for two weeks,” I told her. 
 
    “Ha! That’s funny,” Nessa snorted. 
 
    “Not really,” I said gravely. “You don’t want to be that vulnerable in the Spires. Her brothers sold her to a brothel while her sisters laughed.” 
 
    “That is awful,” she gasped. “Why would you eat the Speckled Surprise if that might happen?” 
 
    I shrugged my shoulders. “It’s a dark elf thing.” 
 
    Nessa just stared at me for a moment. 
 
    “If it would help,” Tenzing started, “I could order the horses to meet you at the zone six dungeons. They would reach you by the time you finished the first dungeon.” 
 
    “Wait,” Nessa said and put her hand up to stall him, even though Tenzing wasn’t here. “Did Daxas order us to do this?” 
 
    “Well, I suppose he didn’t order it, merely commented that you can do this,” Tenzing answered. 
 
    “Then we’re taking the horses. We have plenty of time, don’t we?” Nessa asked. 
 
    “Returning to the Lair is the faster method,” Tenzing hedged. 
 
    “That isn’t a no,” Nessa stated bluntly. “Decision made.” 
 
    I could argue with her, but that would take more time and we’d already lollygagged here for long enough. 
 
    “Fine, we’ll ride,” I agreed. “Let’s claim the core, the sulphurous fumes of this Hellscape chamber are starting to make me gag.” 
 
    Nessa nodded and I seized the red and black gem from its pedestal. After destroying the dungeon, we were moved back outside where our horses awaited us. 
 
     As we mounted up Nessa asked. “What happened to that cousin of yours?” 
 
    “Kalisa? the one who was sold to a brothel?” 
 
    “Yeah, her,” Nessa said. 
 
    “She regained the use of her legs. Burned the brothel down with the owner and his family alive inside. Cut the throats of every customer who used her. Drowned her brothers in minotaur piss and threw the sisters who laughed at her while it happened from the top of the family spire. All of which made Kalisa her mother’s favoured daughter,” I recounted. 
 
    “Fuck,” Nessa breathed. “A happy ending then,” she snorted facetiously. 
 
    “For a daughter of the Unending Dark, very much so,” I smiled in agreement. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
      
 
      
 
      
 
    Chapter 9 
 
      
 
      
 
    Tenzing greeted me in the Lair’s core room as my team and I appeared. We had just finished the last of the orc dungeons. They had all been Destruction/Battle dungeons and the least sophisticated of any of the opponents we faced today. They were literally chamber after chamber of mobs to fight against. 
 
    I didn’t mind, though. It meant we could let Fiadh off her leash and my fierce red-headed berserker queen had feasted on battle. So much so that Gorx and his infernal minotaur compatriots got their noses a bit out of joint when she slaughtered most of the denizens in the rooms before they had a chance to engage. 
 
    There were four hours left in the rest day, which was plenty for what I still needed to accomplish. 
 
    “Tenzing, everything else has gone to plan I hope?” I asked my blue-skinned adviser. 
 
    “More or less,” he chuckled. 
 
    “Oh, really. What is the less part?” I inquired. 
 
    “Nessa and Jen’Zadeer, well Nessa for the most part, weren’t overly enamoured with your idea of returning to the Lair and running to zone six on foot, so they rode their warhorses from zone twenty-six instead,” he explained. 
 
    “That girl,” Jessamyn sighed and wormed her way under my arm. “I love my sister-mate dearly, but she is always pushing the boundaries.” 
 
    “She wouldn’t be Nessa if she didn’t. But they haven’t encountered any unanticipated difficulties?” I replied. 
 
    “No, they have conquered the two lesser human dungeons in that zone and have combined forces to finish off Bertwald de Vincent. In fact, they ought to be returning within a few minutes,” Tenzing assured me. 
 
    “Excellent, we shall wait here for their return,” I said and turned to the rest of my life-seeded team. “Great work today people. You have four hours until the dungeon re-opens, go and enjoy yourselves.” 
 
    “Ah, on that note,” Tenzing interrupted. “Your other guests arrived half an hour ago, Daxas. They are being entertained in the Banquet Hall, but I took the liberty of transferring some barrels of ale and a light repast to the training facilities for those who wish to imbibe.” 
 
    “Thank you, Tenzing. You heard the man, off to the training rooms for booze and bar food,” I yelled, to a loud answering cheer from the hobs and minotaurs. The dryads were a bit more reserved but there were happy smiles all round. 
 
    I sat down upon my wide throne and was quickly adorned by the beautiful bodies of my mates as they draped themselves on my lap or squeezed up against my body. Tenzing seated himself on a side couch I’d added to the dais for those not as comfortable with piling in on top of me. Although after today, it wouldn’t be possible to get all my mates on the throne and in physical contact. 
 
    The guests who had arrived half an hour ago were the women from the Dark Moon Rising whom Krista had identified over the last week, Proving Grounds Time, as the most amenable to becoming my disciples. Krista had already reported back on who she planned to bring today and there should be twenty-four of them in the Banquet Hall along with Krista herself. 
 
    None of them would be leaving. Not as they were at any rate. 
 
    If I claimed them today, I would be able to assign them to the dungeon before the next week begins. I didn’t need them to protect the dungeon, but this way they would accrue experience during the week, otherwise, the only experience they earned would be from the sex part of my sex dungeon. 
 
    As I relaxed on the throne, my mates gently fondled me as I fondled them in return, I was updated on what had happened here by my other-selves. 
 
    The me that was with Alyssa remained balls deep in the bespectacled beauty and wouldn’t be coming up for air anytime soon. That had been an extremely pleasant update. 
 
    Third me was less enthusing, he’d been crafting all day. 
 
    Important work, but boring as shit. 
 
    I’d already ditched the avatar I had gathering when I’d needed to concentrate in the Bloodless Coup. My focus wasn’t infinite, and I needed the extra awareness to ensure we didn’t lose any of my people. 
 
    I’d not created a fourth avatar to initiate my plans with the Dark Moon Rising candidates, even though I could have, to avoid the watchful eye of the Arbiter and the Lords. They couldn’t see into my dungeon now, but they would know when a cluster of women fell and became my disciples. 
 
    That happening during a rest day would no doubt set their tongues wagging, but if it happened while I, and both my subordinate dungeon disciples, were all out of our dungeon where they could observe us then that would pose questions that I didn’t want them contemplating yet. 
 
    My communing with my other-selves and snuggling were interrupted by the sudden arrival of Nessa, Jen’Zadeer and their teams. The dryad saw us upon the throne and her face split into a wide, smug grin. A quick headcount confirmed they hadn’t lost any of their life-seeded companions which was excellent news. 
 
    “Why, hello there, Master. We’re baaack,” Nessa rejoiced. 
 
    I couldn’t help but return her behaviour with an indulgent smile of my own. “So you are, and fully successful too, I’m told.” 
 
    “Indeed, Daxas. You will see when you get back to the DDD a message that the pogrom has been lifted following the demise of every signee,” Tenzing advised. 
 
    “Yes, and you know what that means don’t you,” Nessa sang. 
 
    Jessamyn who was facing me while sat in my lap rolled her eyes, but I decided to play dumb. “Would you care to enlighten me?” 
 
    “That, I. Am. The. Winner,” Nessa trilled as she twirled about and pointed at herself. Then finally gave me an impudent wink. 
 
    “Really? And how do you figure that?” I quizzed her. 
 
    “Because I destroyed the most dungeons, six. That’s why,” she relayed smugly. 
 
    I’d been about to pull the rug from under her and announce the voiding of the unofficial race when another metaphorical sucker punch presented itself and I changed tack. 
 
    I could play dirty too, it was practically a requirement at this stage. 
 
    “Now, hang on just a moment. You completed two of those dungeons with Jen’Zadeer, they only count for half each, so it’s five, and you got back at exactly the same time as her. Therefore, surely it’s a tie between the two of you.” I argued. 
 
    “Fine, the total is five, buuuuuut,” Nessa held her finger up and wagged it at me. “Jen gave me credit for slaying the incubus and Bertwald got trampled by the minotaurs. That breaks the tie and makes me the winner.” 
 
    I just grinned widely as she unthinkingly walked straight into the trap. “Is this true, Jen?” 
 
    “I’m afraid so,” Jen’Zadeer grumped. 
 
    “Then I have the unfortunate duty to inform you Jen’Zadeer that you have come last,” I said to the dark elf sympathetically. “I know that hurts your pride, but I’ll make it up to you in the bedroom.” 
 
    “Ha! Yeah,” Nessa laughed and then stuttered to a stop. “Uh, wait a minute, how does that work? We were kind of tied. Are you trying to get out of the competition, Master, because let me tell you, you can’t cast your acorns out of the glade in a hissy fit on this one.” 
 
    “Of course not,” I replied reasonably. “I came first, and you came second, Nessa. Jen’Zadeer was third.” 
 
    “Fuck off!” she screeched. “I beat you. You were stuck in the vampire’s dungeon for hours.” 
 
    “Did you now? Hmmm, let’s see. You conquered five of the fifteen dungeons. Jen’Zadeer conquered five of the fifteen dungeons and that left me to conquer…” I looked skyward theatrically as I mumbled pretending to calculate the maths. “…five for me. The same as both of you, except I got back to the Lair first, making me the winner,” I finished. 
 
    “That doesn’t count,” Nessa yelled testily. “You cut a corner and came back early using the conquest function. That’s the only reason you beat us back. That isn’t fair,” she exclaimed. 
 
    “Oh my, perhaps I’m mistaken. Tenzing,” I said and addressed my blue adviser who was struggling to hide his amusement. “You did let the girls know that they could take a shortcut to return here directly from zone twenty-six didn’t you,” I asked him. 
 
    Nessa remained oblivious of where we were headed conversation wise in her discontent. 
 
    “Oh, dear,” Tabitha breathed behind the dryad. She had seen where this was going and moved up to Nessa, ready to console her as I unleashed my coup de grace. 
 
    “Why, yes, I did, Daxas. As I recall Nessa turned down the opportunity and chose to ride their steeds instead,” Tenzing answered. 
 
    “Really! And what would have been the outcome had she availed herself of the opportunity afforded her from my suggestion?” I asked to add a little salt to the burn. 
 
    “I do believe they would have arrived ten minutes before you returned,” he said. 
 
    “There you have it,” I said and shrugged my shoulders slightly. 
 
    Nessa gaped at me for a few seconds. 
 
    The silence was broken by a loud guffaw from Jen’Zadeer who held her stomach as she laughed so hard. “Sometimes retribution is a lengthy and involved endeavour, and other times you need only wait a few hours and do nothing,” she chuckled as she wiped a few laughter tears from her high cheekbones. 
 
    Nessa would have dropped to her knees if Tabs hadn’t been there and caught her. 
 
    “You bastard,” she moaned. “I thought I had you this time.” 
 
    I lifted Jessamyn off my lap and bounded off the dais. Then I swept Nessa up into a big hug and kissed her soundly until her moans of despair became moans of ecstasy. 
 
    “A bastard I may be, but that’s why we’ll win this war,” I crooned to the petite woman. Then I addressed the life-seeded armies. “Your brethren are in the training rooms and have a head start on the post-conquest quaffing. You’d best bust a move if you want to keep up. 
 
    After they had trooped out, Marux and Gretsch joining them, I closed my eyes and created a fourth avatar to handle the conversion of my guests into disciples. 
 
    “Ladies, while my fourth handles the expansion of my harem and your new sister-mates, we shall adjourn to the Viewing Lounge and thrash out what we are going to do with our rank-up points,” I announced and led the way out of my core room, my women hot on my heels, chattering excitedly. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
     My freshly created fourth avatar walked into the Banquet Hall and the hubbub of conversation halted at my entrance as twenty-five pairs of eyes, attached to an array of beautiful women, zeroed in on me. 
 
    The musky scent of arousal slammed into me as my aura of sexual magnetism enveloped the crowd of women. 
 
    “Welcome to my humble abode,” I announced cheerfully, with an epically smug grin on my face. 
 
    The soft gasps and moans of need from the assembled ladies practically reverberated through my sensitive ears. 
 
    I took in the group as I strode purposefully across the room to my special overwrought chair at the head of the table. The majority of these feminine prospects were seated at the long table, while a few stood at the bar or by the fireplace. Krista waited patiently by my chair, her hand languidly stroking the top of the woodwork sensually. 
 
    In addition to her there were twenty-four women of various species present. I acknowledged Yanna and Yuni, the two cat-kin women that Pacclo had encouraged to join us. They smiled sweetly in return. 
 
    The rest of the group were made up mostly of guild members from this zone or nearby. Ten humans, three halflings, two hill dwarves, two wood elves and another hare-kin woman. 
 
    That left four either surprising or more exotic entrants. Well, none of them were truly a surprise as I’d been observing many of them for years and Krista had informed me of those she had selected ahead of this meeting. 
 
    The biggest ‘surprise’ had to be Gadiel, a gorgeous, blonde high elf noblewoman. She was a very recent addition to the Dark Moon Rising guild, a member for only four days topside. 
 
    At first, I’d been suspicious of her arrival, and suspected her of being a spy for the Gleaming Towers. 
 
    However, after watching her closely, and you would have too if you could see her. Wink. I soon discovered that despite her undeniable poise, elegance, and dignity that all high elves adopted, she had a serious case of potty mouth and a veritable filthy mind. 
 
    Her repertoire of bawdy jokes had sent many an interested guild member packing in confused disarray in the Firehouse.  
 
    The sharpest spike of arousal in the room came from her. There was no faking that smell. She was a dirty girl seeking an equally dirty master to do unspeakably dirty things to her and she had found that master in me. 
 
    Then we had the three more exotic ladies who had come to me from further afield. 
 
    Eina, a white-haired Naiad with turquoise skin. She toyed with a chalice of water, coaxing the liquid unnaturally into the air with languid gestures of her fingers. She smiled seductively as I passed. 
 
    Sarrass, a hairless snake-kin woman, her mottled green flesh an odd mixture of faint scales and more human-like skin. Her long forked tongue flitted out of her mouth as I walked by, and I could only imagine what she could do to my cock with that glossal protuberance. 
 
    Finally, Vellin, a diminutive faun, who was the same height as the halfling girls and Nessa. She had a mass of brown curly hair with two curved horns peeking out of the organised mess and yellow eyes like a goat. Her feet were cloven, and she had soft brown fur from the knees down, but otherwise, her appearance was human. Vellin’s face was cherubically innocent, and she always tried to make herself look as small and vulnerable as possible. 
 
    The phrase butter wouldn’t melt in her mouth was coined just for this beauty. Looks can be deceiving and certainly were in her case. I’d seen her in action in my dungeon and she was anything but vulnerable. Vellin was spry and those hooves of hers unleashed a vicious amount of damage. She was much stronger than she appeared. 
 
    “Gather round ladies, please,” I said, gesturing to the table, to the few not already sitting there. 
 
    They eagerly obeyed my suggestion, almost fighting one another to grab the closest available seats to me. 
 
    “I shall leave you to it,” Krista announced with an edge of regret in her voice. 
 
    “Nonsense,” I told her and reached out and grabbed her wrist gently and tugged her into my lap. “I wouldn’t do this without the architect of my good fortune with me.” 
 
    “Very well,” she purred demurely, and rearranged her skirt as she sat on my leg. 
 
    That wouldn’t do, not at all and I swiftly sent the ball gown like evening dress she had on to the inventory. This left the elegant pale-skinned beauty in a black corset that barely contained her heaving bosom and tiny pair of panties. Panties that were equally unnecessary here and I zapped them away too. 
 
    I left her the corset, not to protect her modesty but because it was hella sexy. 
 
    “Oh, Daxas,” Krista squealed. Her usual unflappable demeanour abandoned by the unexpected nature of her near nakedness. 
 
    I swatted her rump sharply with the palm of my hand. “That won’t do,” I growled in a rough low hum and looked her in the eyes commandingly. 
 
    Krista inferred my meaning rapidly. “My apologies, Master,” she gulped, her pale cheeks flushing rosy-pink with lust. 
 
    “That’s better,” I winked at her and caressed her butt firmly where I had slapped her a moment before. 
 
    “Well, I’ll be Jezebel’s painted whore,” Gadiel exclaimed with a tinkling laugh. “I knew I made the right fucking choice coming here. The Tower can go shaft themselves with a rusty nail. My cooch is as wet as monsoon season in the Southern Kingdoms.” 
 
    Gadiel had a honeyed voice which made hearing words of such a filthy nature coming from the impeccably put together elf all the more bewildering. 
 
    “I’m glad you approve,” I addressed the elf with a chuckle, while my hands roamed over Krista’s shapely legs causing her to gasp aloud. 
 
    “I’m of a similar sentiment when it comes to the rest of your kin in the Gleaming Towers, but you are most welcome here Gadiel,” I continued, both speaking and fondling the vampire woman in my lap. “As are all of you,” I finished and nodded to the collected and increasingly horny women. 
 
    One of my hands left Krista’s thigh and commenced gently caressing her labia and clitoris. Spreading her natural lubricant liberally and eliciting another groan of contentment from her. 
 
    “I won’t beat around the bush,” and chuckled lightly at my little pun. “You all know why you are here. I’m interested in expanding the ranks of my disciples and you are the prime candidates to be added to my harem of mates,” I told the group frankly. 
 
    There were a few shocked expressions at my openness, but none of them moved from their places. Their eyes were locked on me, and on Krista who squirmed in my lap. 
 
    Any modesty or embarrassment Krista may have had was long gone and her hands had snaked down to my crotch, I dismissed my trousers to make it easier for her and she started to stroke my length. 
 
    I sensed zero reluctance from any of the assembled women, Krista had selected well. Although my overpowered aura probably also contributed to their willingness to entertain a fate as one of my many lovers. 
 
    “Yess,” Sarrass lisped softly. “I ssuspected this would be so, with the dungeon’s expansion. Are you ssure you want one of my kind as an entrant?” 
 
    “Of course. You are an exotically beautiful woman. Any man, wolf or King should count himself lucky to have someone like you in his boudoir,” I reassured the snake-woman. 
 
     “Let’s cut to the heart of the matter,” Eina spoke, her voice reverberating with a faint burble of gentle lapping water. “What manner of contest must we compete in to earn your favour and the position that has become available in your dungeon.” 
 
    I laughed loudly at that. 
 
    They didn’t know I had no limit on disciples. They thought I’d brought them here to pick one from amongst them. 
 
    “Krista,” I scolded as my fingers sawed in and out of her pussy. “What have you been telling them?” 
 
    My words were enough to break through her lusty panting. “Uhhh, that you would select a disciple from among them…now that you had advanced a tier…” she managed. 
 
    I couldn’t help but chuckle again. It hadn’t occurred to me that I’d never mentioned to Krista I wasn’t limited to a disciple per tier like most other dungeons. I had assumed Simeon knew, actually, he almost certainly did and kept the information to himself, the sly little bugger. 
 
    They must have all assumed my extra disciples were due to owning Nessa and Jen’s dungeons. 
 
    “Does this mean you can take more than one?” Yanna squealed eagerly. 
 
    “Oh, yes please say it’s so, Lord Daxas,” Yuni trilled on the toes of her sister. 
 
    “We wouldn’t want to be separated,” they said in unison. 
 
    “Nobody is being separated today,” I assured them. “There appears to have been a slight miscommunication ladies. There will be no contest necessary because none of you are leaving. All of you will be my disciples and mates before the end of the day.” I declared, as my embedded fingers scratched the rough patch in Krista’s velvet tunnel, and she cried out as an orgasm sent her into overdrive. 
 
      Both my statement and actions had left a stunned silence in the room. Broken only by the moist squelching as my fingers exited Krista’s clenched vagina. 
 
    “Uh…how?” Vellin whispered and licked her lips. Her innocent demeanour abandoned and her avarice for what I offered plain. 
 
    “Hmmm…yes, how indeed,” I mused. “Krista dear, I think a demonstration is in order.” 
 
    My words brought the slightly insensate woman back to the room. “Me…?” she muttered doubtfully. “But…I can’t. I’m not fertile.” 
 
    I just grinned. “Let me worry about that.” 
 
    With that, I picked her up by the hips and spun her around with her back to me, so she faced down the table. Twenty-four pairs of eyes stared at us with rapt attention, more than a few of them openly touching themselves. 
 
    With one last lascivious grin, I pulled her back. My long rod impaled her wet pussy smoothly and she slid down my length easily until her pliant ass slapped down onto my thighs as I buried myself to the hilt inside her. 
 
    “You’re so fucking huge,” she gasped. 
 
    But she was unable to say anymore as I gripped her hips and moved her up and down, pistoning my member inside her frantically. 
 
    There was no finesse, just a rampant and hard fucking that sent the vampire woman wild. Her moans and gasps were joined by a chorus of needy panting and muttering from my guests, some of whom had thrown all decorum to the wind and had progressed to the stage of helping one another scratch their mutual itches. 
 
    Which was super fucking sexy. 
 
    However, I couldn’t indulge in the show for long, I had a job to do. 
 
    As Krista neared the peak of a fresh orgasm I lashed out with my soul. There was more resistance than I’d experienced before, Krista wasn’t one of my fallen yet. But I’d trialled this with her when I had her in the dungeon before and knew I could push through and forge the connection. I hadn’t pushed through then but got a measure of what would be required. 
 
    With a commanding shove of my will, the connection between us was established. That had actually been the difficult part. Step two was to bestow a tailored Daxasian Blessing. I’d had more than enough time to practise this part, but I still felt a huge wave of relief when I sensed my symbiotic energy settle around Krista’s soul and alter her intrinsically. 
 
    Other me, in the Viewing Lounge with my harem helpfully checked my notifications as I finished and relayed the good news. 
 
    
     
      
      	  Fertility Unbound: [Daxasian Blessing] Despite being a Vampire this person is fertile, capable of conceiving and bearing a child. 
  
     
 
     
   
 
      
 
    There was no longer any impediment to me claiming her. I did have a backup plan in reserve if that had somehow not worked. It involved using the DDD, to change her when she was within my power as one of my Fallen. That was a riskier proposition and would also cost me a bucket load of experience and would wipe out my reserves and require me to undo some of the less essential dungeon upgrades. 
 
    Krista was ready to hit her peak, as she did so I seized hold of the back of her neck while I pounded her pussy with squat thrusts from my chair, all so she would know she was completely in my power. 
 
    “Krista Belhoff, I command you to forfeit your soul marks to me, now,” I ordered firmly. 
 
    Krista’s cunny had already clenched on my cock, a mind-numbing orgasm ripping through her. “Yeeessssss…” she screamed her surrender at the top of her lungs. 
 
    I felt the change as she fell to my power and allowed my own release as I filled her tunnel with my seed. 
 
    “Krista Belhoff, I claim you as my disciple,” I intoned formally and slipped my iron rod from the spent vampire woman. 
 
    I returned her to my lap and brushed her dark hair behind her slightly pointed ears. 
 
    “What...How?” was all she could manage. 
 
    “I’ll explain later, all that matters is that you are mine,” I told her gently and kissed her lips deeply. 
 
    After a moment, we broke the kiss and Krista hopped off my lap at my urging. I had plenty more work to complete and a little under four hours in which to do it, but that would give me five or six minutes to bring each woman to climax as I claimed them. 
 
    Climaxing wasn’t strictly speaking necessary, but I wanted to give each of them the personal touch, even if it were only for a few minutes, at first. I looked down the table and most of the women were either fully naked or near to it. Pawing, licking and pleasuring either themselves or others. I could simply have commanded the lot of them to forfeit right now and they would.  
 
    I’d rectify the initial short playtime in the tomorrow that would last months for us. 
 
    I coughed loudly to get their collective attention. 
 
    “Well then, who is next?” I asked cockily and patted my thighs meaningfully. 
 
    A chorus of “Me! Me!” rang out through the lofty Banquet Hall. Then the ladies looked at one another and a literal fight broke out. 
 
    It appeared I’d been mistaken. There would be a contest after all. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
      
 
      
 
      
 
    Chapter 10 
 
      
 
      
 
    We’d all just settled down in the Viewing Lounge when a beaming Alyssa stumbled through the door stark naked, her generous breasts bouncing delightfully. 
 
    “Worn me out already have you,” I joked to the slightly unsteady woman. 
 
    “Hardly,” she giggled. “However, during a brief cessation of the lovemaking, you did tell me what it is you are about to do with Krista. And we both felt that you shouldn’t split your focus too much if you were going to manipulate her soul. Plus, we wouldn’t want you making any avoidable errors because you were distracted with me.” 
 
    “True enough. Would you like some clothes while we decide on spell advancements?” I suggested half-heartedly. 
 
    I rather liked Alyssa in the buff. 
 
    “It’s probably for the best, otherwise, I predict there will be an orgy on this lovely shag carpet before we make more than two decisions,” Alyssa replied wistfully, and then summoned and donned jeans and a crop top. 
 
    I sniggered quietly to myself. “You said shag on purpose didn’t you,” I prodded her. 
 
    “Mayhap I did, you naughty boy,” she teased back and sat down amongst us. 
 
    We chatted amiably for several minutes before we got down to the nitty-gritty of spell advancements. I went over with Alyssa what the girls and I had discussed during the ride to the other dungeons and with little extra input our decisions were made and applied to our sheets. 
 
    For the most part, the upgrade paths were self-evident and didn’t require much, if any, discussion. 
 
    We could only apply a single upgrade to any tier one spell. Tier two spells couldn’t be improved until we reached the third tier, which we were all just shy of. The exception was Nessa’s Regrowth as it came from the Spellcraft perk it could be upgraded every time she advanced a tier. As could Jen’Zadeer’s Ice Blast. 
 
    The good thing was the improvements weren’t limited to only tier one spells that we had already taken. Any new spell added to our repertoire could then be enhanced, though each enhancement had to be performed and paid for separately. 
 
    Spells cost whatever tier they came from to add to your sheet. So, tier one spells were a single point, tier two cost two points. Each upgrade cost the tier of the spell plus the new level of the spell. At which point the level of the spell would increase and the number beside the name would increment upward to demonstrate it had been improved. 
 
    Therefore, Ice Blast, which was a tier one spell would cost one point to purchase brand new, then if we improved it by reducing the cooldown, this would cost three further points, one for the tier of the spell and two for it becoming a level two spell and would then be called Ice Blast 2. If we wanted to improve it again at the next tier it would cost four more points to turn into Ice Blast 3. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer’s Ice Blast was already at level three. Halving the cooldown was a no-brainer and cost five upgrade points to apply and turn the spell into Ice Blast 4. 
 
    The paralysis effect was too good to pass up and getting it back in half the time was well worth the cost of five points. 
 
    Ice Blast 4 (Frost) 
 
    Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
 
    Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used. 
 
    Description: 1) Throw a blast of ice at a target. On a successful hit, the target takes cold damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of the original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 2) Hit targets have a chance to be paralysed by the cold. Base chance is 100% less the target’s resistance. The paralysis lasts Spell Power x 2 seconds. There is a 30-minute cooldown before the same target can be affected by paralysis again. 
 
    Nessa’s Regrowth would also benefit most from halving the cooldown. However, as Regrowth was a tier two spell the price to improve it was a point more at six. 
 
    All the stat boost spells were in schools that allowed the Surge effect, so we added that to all of them. 
 
    Other easy decisions to make included increasing the duration of Electro Claws, Frostbite and Flame Fists. All spells that buffed their targets with extra damage. 
 
    Bless and Infernal Talons were the equivalent of those spells in the Sanctified and Infernal schools. But as they could take Multi-Target instead that made more sense than increasing the duration of the spell. 
 
    Heal and Hex which were also in these schools benefitted in the same way and had Multi-Target applied. Which would allow us to heal or curse up to four targets at a time. 
 
    Purge and Venom both had repeatable Extra Effects which improved the rank of the toxins that were either used or removed from the targets and this was applied to spells of this kind. 
 
    For our Summon Beasts/Flora spells, we used the Fallen Fight On upgrade. This meant that when a summon was slain there was a fifty percent chance that they would instantly resurrect at full health. 
 
    The destruction school’s Armour Breaker had an Extra Effect called Diminishment which gave it a fifty percent chance of rendering a random piece of armour useless for thirty minutes. We didn’t tend to use Armour Breaker much as it wasn’t overly useful, but at higher ranks when you would expect raiders or invaders to be better geared this would be far more helpful. Especially, as at the next tier we could apply the Double Effect upgrade to make that a one-hundred percent chance of rendering a piece of gear useless. 
 
    Flame Bolt had an interesting Extra Effect called Heat Metal. This would heat the struck piece of armour if it was made of metal, so that it did one-tenth of the initial damage every five seconds as long as it continued to be worn. This lasted as long as the cooldown on Flame Bolt did. 
 
    This could potentially inflict far more damage than the Damage over Time upgrade the Fire school had access to, but the disadvantage was the target could remove the item and stop the damage or may not be wearing any metallic armour to heat. We concluded that as nice as this was, it was too situational and opted to bump Flame Bolt with a generic Double Effect upgrade instead. 
 
    Ice Blasts got the Paralysis Extra Effect because why wouldn’t we. I really hoped to get my hands on a mob template with the Frost affinity in the future. 
 
    Wind Blast had an interesting Extra Effect called Continuous. This allowed the caster to maintain the blast of wind provided they did not move. It could be used to hold enemies in place so that went straight on the spell for Tabitha. 
 
    For our direct damage options, this left Lightning Bolt. Its Extra Effect was called Lightning Rod, anybody hit by the spell had a fifty percent chance to become a living lightning rod. They would then take double damage from any subsequent Lightning source. More than that, if they were within ten feet of anyone else who was hit by any Lightning damage, they would suffer a quarter of that damage themselves. Which would of course be doubled, and effectively equal half the damage taken. 
 
    Like Flame Bolt this was a situational benefit, but I just had to take it. The potential combination with other Lightning spells was too lucrative to ignore. 
 
    For our existing spells, this just left Blood Rage, which I almost danced for joy when I saw that its Extra Effect was exactly what I hoped for. Auto-Cast. That meant it was safe to give it to Fiadh and it would automatically activate whenever she dropped below fifty percent health. Marux, on the other hand, and my life-seeded infernal minotaurs would utilise multi-target on Blood Rage instead. 
 
    Boosting the current spells of my non-dungeon disciples wiped out all their available points from this week’s rank-ups. They hadn’t advanced as quickly as Jen’Zadeer, Nessa and me. Jessamyn led the way and had reached rank twelve, Fiadh and Karragh were both rank eleven. Tabitha was rank ten, Marux nine and Gretsch brought up the rear at rank eight. 
 
    In contrast, the lowest ranked of the twenty-five ladies in the Banquet Hall was rank fifteen. Krista and a couple of the others were over twenty-five. 
 
    Unfortunately, all the experience they accrued for today’s successful dungeon invasions wouldn’t be applied to them until the next rest day. That and as most of our dungeon runs were from the Dark Moon Rising, they weren’t gaining much from lost soul marks, which were few and far between. 
 
    Next week though, I had plans, big plans. And if everything went well, they would gain many ranks of advancement. 
 
    However, my two dungeon girls and I had plenty left in the tank. Now that I was rank twenty, even after boosting my current spells, I had forty-eight leftover points to spend. 
 
    It was time to expand my spell list. Regrowth was a must-have for two points. As was the tier two Electrical spell, Chain Lightning for another two. 
 
    Chain Lightning 1 (Lightning) 
 
    Cost: Channelled, min/max 5/100 mana 
 
    Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used. 
 
    Description: 1) Throw a bolt of lightning at a target. On a successful hit, the target takes electrical damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana/5 used. The spell will jump to the nearest enemy combatant and inflict the initial damage divided by 2. This will continue until either there are no more unaffected targets or damage has been reduced to 1 or 0. A missed thrown spell costs 5 mana regardless of the original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 
 
    The spell was a bit more Mana intensive than others. My next decision was to take the suite of Sanctified spells and boost them which cost me another twelve points. 
 
    Despite my desire to add even more Magic to my repertoire, Alyssa advised against it. She reminded me patiently that spells are worthless if I didn’t have the Mana to cast them or the Spell Power to make them useful. 
 
    I pumped thirty points into my Mana score to assist with casting all these new spells and banked the last two for an emergency. I would have many more points to spend soon. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer chose to do the same as me and took the Sanctified school over Infernal. Blood Rage was the best infernal spell but then you couldn’t cast any others afterwards. Being able to self-heal or purge negative effects in a pinch was the clincher. 
 
    Instead of Chain Lightning, Jen’Zadeer took the Frost school tier two spell Chill Zone. 
 
    Chill Zone 1 (Frost) 
 
    Cost: 1 mana per square foot affected. 
 
    Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
 
    Description: Create a chill zone that inflicts your Spell Power in Cold damage to anyone currently in or who passes through the area it affects. The zone lasts for five minutes.  
 
    This allowed you to create an area of effect spell that would instantly affect anyone inside the area when you cast it or who entered it later. They would only take the damage once, but at the next tier, we could add the paralysis effect as well. 
 
    Due to the thirty-minute cooldown, it wouldn’t be as reusable as Ice Blast but would be nice if attackers made a mistake and bunched up. 
 
    She could also take the Destruction school tier two spell, Crumble. 
 
    Crumble 1 (Destruction) 
 
    Cost: 1 mana per square cube affected. 
 
    Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
 
    Description: Destroy any structures or barriers within the spells effect range. Deals no damage directly to living beings. 
 
    Defensively the spell was virtually useless. But when we hit other dungeons, it would be more useful, and an eventuality that we’d have to be aware of for our own defences. 
 
    When those had been paid for, Jen’Zadeer slotted her remaining twenty points into Mana as I had. 
 
    Nessa had a little less to do as she already had Regrowth and the Sanctified spells. She took Chill Zone too and put her remaining twenty-one points after upgrading her spells into her Mana also. 
 
    For my life-seeded armies I had to be a bit more circumspect as I was only allowed to reallocate 1 of the points for each of the ranks they gained, so concentrated on improving only the spells they would make the most use of. 
 
    The dryads I turned into less powerful versions of Nessa. They were all given Regrowth, had Heal upgraded to multi-target and the resurrecting Summon Beasts. They each took Frost as their primary element and rounded their build out with Ice Blast 2 and Chill Zone. 
 
    The infernal minotaurs upgraded both Blood Rage and Hex to Multi-Target. 
 
    However, for my hobgoblins, in addition to upgrading their existing Fire spells, I could now give them the second tier Fire spell. 
 
    The classic area of effect Fireball. 
 
    Fireball 1 (Fire) 
 
    Cost: 8 mana per foot of the fireball’s diameter. (Minimum 10 feet, 80 Mana. Maximum 50 feet, 400 Mana) 
 
    Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
 
    Description: Create a ball of fire that inflicts your Spell Power x2 in Heat damage to anyone currently in its area of effect. 
 
    I viewed our sheets when we were done with satisfaction. Although the sheets were getting so long, I had to update the DDD, to hide the information I didn’t need. (Full sheets can be found at the end of the book.) 
 
      
 
    Name: Daxas 
 
    Species: Lupus Rex 
 
    Rank: 20 
 
    Strength: 26 
 
    Agility: 26 
 
    Stamina: 26 
 
    Mana: 50 
 
    Spell Power: 20 
 
    Resilience: 25 
 
    Dungeon Power: 20 
 
    Health: 520/520 
 
    Unspent Experience: 232,476 
 
    Soul Marks: 1232 
 
    Fallen Total: 686 
 
    Skills: Mining 36, Hunting 35, Gathering 37, Farming 35, Smelting 37, Butchering 37, Woodwork 36, Masonry 15, Metal Work 36, Leather Work 39, Alchemy 35, Enchanting 35, General Crafting 14 
 
    Spells: Summon Beasts 2 (Life), Venom 2 (Life), Regrowth 1 (Life), Electro Claws 2 (Lightning). Lightning Bolt 2 (Lightning), Chain Lightning 1 (Lightning), Heal 2 (Sanctified), Bless 2 (Sanctified), Purge 2 (Sanctified) 
 
    Damage Reduction: Impact 25, Piercing 25, Heat 20, Cold 20, Necrotic 18, Electrical 20, Corrosive 20, Venom 20, Poison 20, Sanctified 18, Infernal 18 
 
    Elemental Affinity: Primary: Lightning 
 
    Aura of Dominance: (30) specialities and achievements increase this to 270 
 
    Aura of Fear: (15)  
 
    Aura of Sexual Magnetism: (15) specialities and achievements increase this to 2,430 
 
      
 
    First Disciple and Alpha Female of Daxas harem. 
 
      
 
    Name: Jessamyn Wolfsbride 
 
    Species: Wood Elf 
 
    Rank: 12 
 
    Experience: 24,650 / 28,000 
 
    Spells: Sanctified Affinity 
 
    Heal 2 (Sanctified), Bless 2 (Sanctified), Purge 2 (Sanctified), Summon Beasts 2 (Life), Venom 2 (Life), Flame Bolt 2 (Fire), Flame Fists 2 (Fire) 
 
    Aura of Dominance: (20) 
 
      
 
    Second Disciple. 
 
      
 
    Name: Karragh Dvarhold 
 
    Species: Ironskin Dwarf  
 
    Rank: 11 
 
    Experience: 68,500 / 78,000 
 
    Spells: Earth Affinity 
 
    Summon Beasts 2 (Life), Venom 2 (Life), Heal 2 (Sanctified), Bless 2 (Sanctified), Purge 2 (Sanctified) 
 
    Magnified Metalworker: [Daxasian Blessing] Metalworking and Smelting skills are treated as twenty ranks higher than current skill ranks. 
 
      
 
    Third Disciple 
 
      
 
    Name: Fiadh Longclaws 
 
    Species: Savage Human 
 
    Rank: 11 
 
    Experience: 75,850 / 78,000 
 
    Spells:  
 
    Blood Rage 2 (Infernal) 
 
    Wolf King’s Passion: [Daxasian Blessing] The activation and deactivation of the Battle Frenzy ability is now controlled by Daxas, the Wolf King. Mana will always recharge at a rate of 1 per minute provided Fiadh has no other spell abilities. 
 
      
 
    Fourth Disciple and claimed Dungeon 
 
      
 
    Name: Nessa Fiveleaf 
 
    Species: Oakheart Dryad 
 
    Rank: 15 
 
    Spells: Earth Affinity 
 
    Regrowth 4 (Life) Summon Beasts (Plant-based) 2 (Life), Venom 2 (Life), Heal 2 (Sanctified), Bless 2 (Sanctified), Purge 2 (Sanctified), Ice Blast 2 (Frost), Frostbite 2 (Frost), Chill Zone 1 (Frost) 
 
    Fecund Abundance: (Verdant speciality) Health regeneration for living creatures in this dungeon is doubled. Growth for all living things in this dungeon is doubled. The following advanced dungeon rooms unlocked early. Jungle, Forest, and Meadow. 
 
    Life Finds a Way: [Daxasian Blessing] Life seeds from this ‘Mother’ have a chance to be masterwork items (based on dungeons % chance). A masterwork Life Seed, if charged with 1000 soul marks, can grant true life to whatever dungeon creature it is used upon. If uncharged it can be used as standard Life Seed. 
 
      
 
    Fifth Disciple and claimed Dungeon 
 
      
 
    Name: Jen’Zadeer Shadestar 
 
    Species: Dark Elf 
 
    Rank: 18 
 
    Spells: Frost and Destruction Affinity 
 
    Ice Blast 4 (Frost), Frostbite 2 (Frost), Chill Zone 1 (Frost), Strength Boost 2 (Destruction), Armour Breaker 2 (Destruction), Crumble 1 (Destruction), Heal 2 (Sanctified), Bless 2 (Sanctified), Purge 2 (Sanctified) 
 
    Concealed Casting: Opponents will be unaware of the first spell cast, catching them by surprise. They will actively misinterpret the caster’s words or gestures.  
 
    Cold Heart of the Deceiver: [Daxasian Blessing] The Concealed Casting ability works for the first casting of each spell the caster possesses. 
 
      
 
    Sixth Disciple. 
 
    Name: Tabitha Greenfields 
 
    Species: Hare-kin 
 
    Rank: 10 
 
    Experience: 55,850 / 66,000 
 
    Spells: Wind Affinity 
 
    Agility Boost 2 (Wind), Wind Blast 2 (Wind), Summon Beasts 2 (Life), Venom 1 (Life) 
 
    Frith’s Fleetness: [Daxasian Blessing] When being pursued Agility is doubled for thirty seconds. This ability can only be activated once every thirty minutes. 
 
    With only a few minutes of the rest day remaining, my doppelganger in the Banquet Hall finally claimed the last of my newest disciples and I quickly distributed their assignments across the second floors of the three dungeons. As Krista had provided a list of who she was bringing, we’d been able to determine in advance where each of my newest additions would fit best. 
 
    The seconds ticked down and then the day ended, and the next week began. The DDD was inundated with notifications and beeped at us alarmingly. 
 
    I scanned through them to see if there had been anything unexpected. They were mostly achievement messages which was to be expected after what I’d built and been up to yesterday. 
 
    Resource Cultivator 6 
 
    You have built ten or more advanced resource rooms before reaching rank 31. As a reward, you are granted a minor dungeon perk. Your resource rooms are 20% larger. Collected resources have a 50% chance to be one quality level higher than they otherwise would be. Superior quality resources have a 50% chance of the resource quantity doubling. Mining, Gathering, Hunting, Farming speeds improved by 25%. 
 
    Master Crafter 6 
 
    You have built three advanced workrooms before reaching rank 51. As a reward, you are granted a minor dungeon perk. Weapons, Armour, Potions and Enchantments you create have a 2% increased chance of being labelled as a masterwork. Masterwork items have superior stats or effects. 
 
    Both these achievements had increased from rank three to six. The Resource Cultivator 6 meant more resources of better quality and in a shorter space of time. 
 
    I probably didn’t need the bonus, but I wouldn’t turn it down. Master Crafter 6 had improved the Masterwork achievement bonus from 0.5% to 2%. With our advancing skill ranks our crafted items had a five to six percent chance of being Masterwork. 
 
    Moreover, it seemed like this achievement improved with every new workroom I built. I would likely be taking more crafting perks next week, so presuming I personally didn’t jump past rank fifty-one that would be going up further. 
 
    There were a few more achievements related to the sex elements of my dungeon. 
 
    Phantom Progenitor 3 (afforded by the Fertility speciality) 
 
    You have planted life seeds in eight or more women. 
 
    When expectant ‘mothers’ come to term there is a 20% chance of ‘twins’. (2 Life Seeds created) 
 
    “This one is a surprise,” I said, and pointed it out to the group. “I knew I’d planted seeds in the six of you who have been in here with me for years but who are the other two ‘expectant mothers’?” 
 
    “Welllll,” Alyssa drawled. “One of them is me,” she finished with a blush as all eyes were levelled on her. 
 
    “I might not be allowed to assist in your dungeon battles, but I still count as being physically here and as a member of your harem,” she explained. 
 
    I pulled the bespectacled beauty into my arms and kissed her soundly. 
 
    As we made out Jessamyn must have checked the tab on the DDD. “Ah, the other is Krista. We should probably have foreseen she would have a deep desire to bear a child with our master.” 
 
    “Hmmm, if the escalation continues as it has with the other achievements, rank four should be granted when I knock up sixteen of you and rank five at thirty-two. Which counting Alyssa happens to be the exact number of women in my harem,” I grinned. 
 
    We pressed on to examine the remainder to see what had been granted. 
 
    Polyamorous Lover 4 (afforded by the Lust speciality) 
 
    You have taken twenty-four or more different lovers into your bed with the intent to add more. You gain benefits to assist in this endeavour.  
 
    Disciple experience points for sexual activity with you increased to 350 per day. 
 
    Harem 5 (afforded by the Female Affinity speciality) 
 
    You have taken thirty-two or more females as permanent sexual partners, with the intent to add more. You gain benefits to assist in this endeavour. 
 
    You now have the Harem Builder ability. Women currently in, or from the same zone as your dungeon are granted a 5% bonus to experience and coin gained from your dungeon. This bonus increases by a further 5% each time she enters your dungeon until it reaches a current maximum of 50%., 
 
    The Female Affinity bonus to your aura of sexual magnetism is increased from x3 to x4. 
 
    Diversity Champion 3 (afforded by the Polyspecism speciality) 
 
    You have engaged in sexual congress with twelve or more different species, with the intent to do so with more. You gain benefits to assist in this endeavour. 
 
    The Polyspecism bonus to your aura of sexual magnetism now increases it by x4, in addition to its existing effect.  
 
    Your aura of sexual magnetism will now also be active in your warwolf avatar. The aura will be at its base strength x3, additional bonuses are currently only applied to the passive humanoid form.  
 
    More aura of sexual magnetism, as if I needed it. However, the increase to my disciples’ experience gains was welcome. 
 
    And there were a few more achievements related to our conquest activity. 
 
    Dominator 5 (afforded by the Domination speciality) 
 
    You have successfully conquered sixteen or more other dungeons.  
 
    You are granted the Dungeon Dominator 5 ability which increases your aura of dominance by x6.  
 
    Dungeon Delver 5 
 
    You have successfully completed the first floor of sixteen or more rival dungeons. 
 
    From now on you garner fifty percent of a defeated dungeon’s current experience pool. If you choose not to destroy the dungeon a permanent totem is placed in the defeated dungeon taxing them 5% of all future experience. 
 
    I’d forgotten about Dungeon Delver. Regrettably, as most of the dungeons I conquered weren’t that powerful, my take of twenty percent from Dungeon Delver 2 that I had then was only a little over one hundred thousand. I would be getting much more in the future. 
 
    That concluded my achievement notifications, not a bad haul for a day’s work. 
 
    But there was more. I’d received several messages with regards to additional rewards from my conquests of the previous day. 
 
    The first that I read through confirmed that I had been granted an extra minor perk promised to me from my duel with Jarlath Eckhoff. 
 
    Town Planner 
 
    Rooms constructed using the Urban Advanced Room option may have several different scripted layouts of the urban environment similar in manner to how dungeon creatures can have multiple scripts for different scenarios. There is an associated experience cost for every additional scenario each room has. 
 
    This was how Jarlath had changed up the layout of his dungeon. The clever vampire must have understood potential challengers or invaders would scout his dungeon before making the attempt and written alternate layouts for such an eventuality. 
 
    However, Jarlath’s cleverness only went so far. I’m sure he believed he was cheating me in some manner as the perk was limited to being used in Urban advanced rooms only, something that as a Life dungeon I wouldn’t have. 
 
    Normally. 
 
    Fortunately for me, I had several other notifications informing me of a variety of rewards I had earned for conquering those dungeons beyond what the manuals stated and that included access to several advanced rooms that had been possessed by my defeated opponents. 
 
    Not only did I now have access to the Urban advanced room from Jarlath, but I’d gained Hellscape from the Infernals, Graveyard from the Necromancers, Battlefield from the orcs, and both Dwarven Halls and High Passes from destroying several dwarf dungeons. 
 
    I had also gained access to the dungeon creature lists for the dungeons I had destroyed. There was a drawback to this, though. Unlike with Jen’Zadeer and Nessa’s lists, these came with an associated penalty due to the manner in which they were obtained. So, the base cost, as well as the Dungeon Power the creature required, of anything I selected from these lists was increased. 
 
    The increase was more egregious for the Domains that I had the least affinity for. 
 
    There was a bright side on that front, every time I destroyed another dungeon that would surrender the same list, the penalty was lessened. And I planned on destroying plenty of other dungeons. 
 
    Like so much that had come before, Tenzing and Alyssa had been prevented from telling me about this bonanza and secret method of powering yourself up until I discovered it for myself. 
 
    Fascinatingly, it was something very few dungeons ever learned, as you couldn’t be gifted these boons if you conquered and destroyed another as an alliance and very few dungeons went head-to-head successfully. 
 
    This was another error on the part of the Arbiter, by forcibly merging my dungeon with the girls, we essentially became one. Otherwise, he would have had the wiggle room to declare we were three and hold back such benefits. 
 
    Sucks to be him. 
 
    Finally, we were done, and I addressed my lovely harem of ladies. “Right, off to the Banquet Hall with you. Time to introduce yourselves formally to your new sister-mates. I’m already there, of course,” I quipped. 
 
    The girls hauled themselves up and trooped out of the room with Tenzing. 
 
    I smiled as I watched their perfect swaying behinds. 
 
    How does the old saying go, ‘I hate to see you go, but I love to watch you leave’. 
 
    With everything here done I dissolved this avatar and returned to the sexy action in the Banquet Hall. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
      
 
      
 
      
 
    Chapter 11 
 
    Simeon Reedwhistle 
 
      
 
      
 
    I chucked my almost empty bowl of honeyed porridge across the office with a satisfied grunt as the bowl shattered on the wall opposite. 
 
    The gesture would have been more impressive if I hadn’t finished most of my second breakfast before I did so, but I really liked honeyed porridge. 
 
    “I’m not cleaning that up,” Arash commented languidly from one of the armchairs, and then scratched himself. 
 
    Piotr hopped off the couch and rushed over to the broken crockery and started to gather up the shattered pieces. 
 
    “Piotr,” I called out. “Leave it. I’ll get one of Daxas drones to clear it up later.” 
 
    “Are you sure, Chief?” the young halfling asked doubtfully. “It’s no trouble.” 
 
    I sighed, the kid was always eager to please and I should be setting him a better example. “Yes, Piotr. I just needed to break something. And as that’s his fault, his bloody people can do the cleaning,” I grumbled. 
 
    I could start being a better role model tomorrow. 
 
    There was a gentle knock on my office door. I recognised the cadence and pattern of the knock as being Pacclo’s. Before I had a chance to make a pithy, ‘I’m busy’, type comment the door swung open and the laidback Cat-kin man strode into my office. 
 
    His slitted pupils flicked to the broken pottery on the floor, but he didn’t break his stride as he crossed the room, the claws of his unbooted feet making scratching sounds on my thick plum-coloured carpet and carefully sat down in his customary high-backed chair. Any chance of admonishing him for his assumption that he could just waltz into the Chief’s office as he pleased was sapped by the amused quirk on his lips at my previous childish display. 
 
    “Pacclo,” I greeted and nodded to him instead, salvaging what dignity I had left. 
 
    “Chief Simeon,” he nodded in return. “You are unhappy at our losses and Daxas gains, I take it.” 
 
    “As you should be,” I snapped at him without thinking. 
 
    I couldn’t help myself. 
 
    We’d danced around this discussion many times already and I knew Pacclo held a diametrically opposed view to my own on the matter. Reminding him that he should be upset that the two Cat-kin women he treated like family members had been lost to a dungeon was futile. 
 
    As far as Pacclo was concerned they were better off for it. And maybe they were, but I just couldn’t shake the feeling that I had failed them in some way. 
 
    “Simeon, we have been over this,” Pacclo replied patiently. “Losing some of the female members to our patron was inevitable. I had spoken with many of them before yesterday’s change in their circumstances, and never got the impression from any of them that it was something they wouldn’t welcome.” 
 
    “I know that Yanna and Yuni were more than eager. If it weren’t for the mistaken belief that Daxas could only have a limited number of disciples. A secret we kept at your behest,” Pacclo stressed pointedly. “I believe many of them would have acted to force the issue in some manner themselves, before this.” 
 
    “Well, the cat is truly out of the bag on that front, now,” I grumbled half-heartedly and beamed Pacclo a cheeky grin to show I wasn’t insulting him. “If people haven’t figured out Daxas can take as many women as he wants from the breakfast gossip mill, they will once they complete their runs today. Damn it, Pacclo. Why do you always have to be so calm and…and…fucking reasonable.” 
 
    Pacclo just leaned back, spread his hands and chuckled lightly. It wasn’t long before Piotr, Arash and I joined him, and the built-up tension dissipated. 
 
    Then there came another knock on my office door, one I didn’t recognise. This time the knocker waited for my response before entering. 
 
    “It’s open, please come in,” I called out. 
 
    In walked a pale man in a white doublet and black leather pants. His hair was neatly trimmed, and his eyes rimmed with red. I recognised him as one of the three other vampires that arrived with Krista, though I couldn’t recall his name. 
 
    The man approached my desk and I smiled at him hoping he would introduce himself and cover my lack of recollection. His eyebrow quirked and his lip twitched upwards as he stopped in front of my oak desk. 
 
    If I had read his body language correctly, and I was sure I had, our unexpected guest was fully aware of my ignorance as to his identity and had chosen to toy with me. 
 
    Blasted vampires! 
 
    He waited there in front of me for a heartbeat or two before he bent his knee and waved his arms in a florid bow. “Maximillian Von Trussell, at your service,” he murmured as he returned to a standing posture. 
 
    Tired of being on the backfoot I chose a direct and informal approach. “What can I do for you, Max?” 
 
    Maximillian grinned toothily at that and nodded his head slightly. To signify what, I wasn’t sure, but I’d take it as a win. Then my eyes fell upon the broken crockery at the far end of the office that Maximillian had undoubtedly seen when he entered. 
 
    Damn it, I should have let Piotr clean it up, after all. 
 
    “I believe it is what we can do for one another,” the vampire man smarmed. 
 
    I gave him a moment to elaborate and when he didn’t, I addressed Piotr instead. “Piotr, can you do me a favour while I have a chat with Max here and get one of Daxas serving girls to come in and clean up…the accident.” 
 
    “Of course, Chief,” Piotr squeaked, and he was off the couch and out of the office in a flash. 
 
    I turned my attention back to Maximillian. “Are you going to speak up or are we going to play guessing games all day?” I pressed him. 
 
    Maximillian smiled again, displaying his elongated canines. “May I?” he asked and gestured to one of the nearby chairs that were dotted around the front of the desk. 
 
    I nodded and waved for him to sit. He sat down in the chair with his back straight and crossed one of his legs over the other and grinned again. 
 
    The man sure did like to play the cocky bastard. 
 
    “I met with my mistress, or perhaps I should say former mistress, Krista, in the early hours of this morning.” Maximillian began. “Her conversion into one of Daxas’ disciples surprised us, as I’m sure it did you. My former mistress was under the impression that such a thing was not possible for her. She wished me to pass along her thanks to you, Chief, and assure you that she is quite happy with her unexpected change of roles.” 
 
    “I bet she is,” I chortled. “I remember the first time Krista met Daxas, it was like there was no one else in the room.” 
 
    Maximillian nodded in acknowledgement. “Krista hopes that you would be amenable to me taking her place on your council now that she has become one of Daxas representatives.” 
 
    “Krista hopes or you hope?” I questioned. 
 
    The vampire smiled again. “Both. I shall not lie, we vampires are an ambitious sort and I’m not displeased by my sudden elevation to leader of my small coven, but it is not as if you will never have the opportunity to speak with her again. Or that I would be risking the very existence of my soul should I be lying. I think we can both agree that Daxas is unforgiving of those he perceives as having crossed him.” 
 
    “True enough,” I agreed. “With this morning’s revelations there are suddenly a lot of officer positions available, and your group still needs representation. Provided there are no objections from the rest of your coven then you are welcome to join us.” 
 
    Maximillian bowed his head in thanks. 
 
    “You spoke of things we could do for one another,” I commented. “Giving you one of the officer spots seems to have covered what I can do for you,” I finished leadingly. 
 
    As I finished Piotr returned and was followed into my office by a pretty human girl. I didn’t recognise her specifically, but her too tight black and white clothing that showed far more skin than was necessary, marked her as one of Daxas drones. 
 
    When I asked him why he dressed them like that he told me ‘most blokes would appreciate the slutty maid outfit look’ and didn’t explain any further. 
 
    Piotr sat back on the couch and the young drone-woman curtseyed to me, then knelt with a dustpan and brush, and swept up my mess. She withdrew with a pleasant smile and softly closed the office door. 
 
    The vampire had paused upon her entry and now continued. 
 
    “Of course,” Maximillian said. “During my brief meeting with Krista, she relayed two sets of instructions. The first of which my coven has already completed. We made for the City under the cover of darkness and scouted the headquarters of the Black Hills Brigade among others.” 
 
    Now that got everybody in the room’s attention. Arash who had been slouched in his armchair sat up and scratched behind his ear nervously. Piotr, unthinkingly perched on the edge of the couch, even Pacclo’s eyes widened slightly. 
 
    “And what did you learn?” I tried to ask casually. 
 
    Maximillian paused before he replied. This guy really did like to play games it seemed. “Some of what we learned you could have guessed. The moratorium on species who, shall we say, are more accommodating to the Wolf King’s Lair continues. The majority of those that came through the Emergence Pool are dwarves. The Brigade has changed their recruitment policy and has accepted them all, willing or not, into their guild with no trial period at all.” 
 
    “That isn’t too big of a change,” I interrupted. “You had to be a pretty fucking useless dwarf that going from prospect to full member wasn’t a formality.” 
 
    Maximillian inclined his head. “That is true, from what I’ve heard, but it leads on to what else we discovered. Although we could not enter the Guild Headquarters itself, the sudden influx of so many new dwarven members meant they had to make use of the public barracks to house many of these newer members.” 
 
    “That won’t be because of space,” I interrupted a second time. “Daxas has killed a bunch of their members in the last couple of weeks and we’ve had close to a hundred defections. I bet the arrogant bastards refuse to see them as full members even if they have made them so and are making them sleep in the public barracks to put them in their place.” 
 
    If Maximillian was aggravated by my repeated interruptions he didn’t let on as he continued smoothly. “That may be the case, but it afforded us an opportunity. More senior members of the guild remained with them in the public barracks, to keep the less willing from seeking alternative opportunities. To pass the time they have been drinking the swill that passes for ale in the City.” 
 
    “Ain’t that the truth,” Arash murmured, and then coughed, scratched, and smiled sheepishly when he saw we’d all heard him. 
 
    “Yes, we’re all thankful for the Firehouse,” I chuckled, and gestured for Maximillian to keep going. 
 
    “Yes,” the vampire continued. “By the time we arrived, several of them were deep into their cups and their lips were plenty loose. We learned that they plan to move against the Dark Moon Rising this week. They will try and rank up a few of their newer members during the first few days and then strike before the next rest day. They think that will catch us unawares.” 
 
    “Fucking Hell!” Arash blurted. 
 
    I put my hand up to quieten him. “It’s useful to know they are coming, but I’ve been expecting it. I’d say it was overdue, to be honest. Does Daxas know?” 
 
    “If he didn’t before, he does now. He is always watching, or so my former mistress, Krista, always said. However, I believe he knew before he sent us, and this was merely confirmation. Krista also relayed a request.” 
 
    “Of course, he wants us to do something for him,” I huffed. 
 
    Pacclo snorted at my antics. “What does Daxas wish of us,” he purred. 
 
    “Tonight, he wishes us to place several guild beacons in and near the orken controlled areas to the East.” Maximillian related simply. 
 
    “Hmmm, is he planning to expand his acquisitions again?” I asked. 
 
    “Factoring in the location, I think it unlikely,” Pacclo spoke. 
 
    “I was not given any details apart from the locations of where to place the beacons,” Maximillian added. 
 
    “So, he wants your coven to do it? Is that what you are telling us?” I asked suspiciously. 
 
    “Yes, Simeon,” the disembodied voice of Daxas emanated loudly from behind my head and caused me to jump in my seat. “Stop playing silly buggers, will you. With the Brigade on a war footing, this needs to be done quietly and out of sight. Maximillian and his people are best suited for night work and after tonight my immediate business in the area will be done. They need five guild beacons, and the guild can easily afford to pay for them. If you are so worried send one of your lieutenants along for the ride.” 
 
    That appeared to be the sum total of our patron’s input. Maximillian sat there with a smug grin, but honestly, he’d been like that for the whole meeting. 
 
    “Fine, I’ll arrange the purchase of five guild beacons. They will be ready for you to pick up before dark,” I told the vampire, who inclined his head wordlessly again. 
 
    “Soooo,” I drawled. “Who wants to stay up late then?” I asked the room, but looked at Arash who only shook his head. 
 
    That didn’t surprise me, nor did the young voice that piped up despite me pointedly not looking at him. 
 
    “I will do it, Chief,” Piotr volunteered. 
 
    “My former mistress, Krista, always spoke very highly of young Piotr. We would be happy to take him along,” Maximillian agreed quickly. 
 
    Bugger. 
 
    I looked back over at him and his hopeful eager-to-please eyes. “Are you sure you’re up for this, Piotr? It could be dangerous, and the orcs don’t take kindly to anybody trespassing on their territory. You know what they’re like, what they’ll likely try and do if they find you.” 
 
    “I’m not afraid, Chief,” Piotr asserted. 
 
    “Fear not, Chief Simeon,” Maximillian assured me. “We shall be placing the first beacon on the edge of their territory, not inside it. I believe Daxas plans to erect a small outpost there. Piotr can keep watch on us from there, while we go deeper into the tribe’s domain.” 
 
     After a moment I agreed, reluctantly. “Very well, but you look after yourself, Piotr. Don’t do anything hasty trying to prove yourself, there is no need.” 
 
    “Thanks, Chief. I won’t let you down,” Piotr answered, a big stupid happy smile on his face. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    Piotr Fencropper 
 
    I could hardly believe the Chief had trusted me to go on this mission. Me, little Piotr, only good for cutting reeds in the swamp the village headsman always said. Now, an important, trusted, an officer of a rising guild. 
 
    The rest of the day passed in a blur, and I had to apologise to my dungeon run group more than once for being distracted. If we’d been in any other dungeon I would have been in trouble, but not here. We really were very lucky, and I couldn’t understand how the Brigade and the dwarves didn’t see it. Why did they fight so hard to bring the Lair down? Just plain foolishness, as my dear grandmamma would say. 
 
    We left shortly after dusk. At first, I had been able to keep up, but the three vampires and their eight thralls had much longer legs than me. I hadn’t been running out of breath or anything, but it became clear to me that I had been holding them back. Maximillian wasn’t mean about it or anything, but he did insist I piggyback on one of the taller thralls. 
 
    He promised not to tell the Chief, so I agreed. 
 
    We arrived fifteen minutes after that and as I dismounted my impromptu thrall mount, I looked about us. We were indeed on the edge of orken territory, the rolling savannah they preferred stretched out in front of us and I could make you the hillocks of dungeon entrances and the tents of their encampments in the distance. 
 
    We were in a sparsely wooded area with rolling hills to the Southwest of our position. I was a bit surprised to see the City walls further to the South, we were much closer than I’d expected. 
 
     “Aren’t we a bit close to land claimed by the Brigade,” I asked nervously, but it was already too late as Maximillian had planted the guild beacon and activated it. 
 
    “Don’t worry, Piotr,” he assured me. “Daxas will finish his business in these parts before dawn and then we can depart before the Brigade even knows what is happening. Now I must leave you. Daxas ought to build an outpost soon and the thralls will remain with you to maintain possession of it while Gustav, Holdrich, and I plant the rest of these beacons.” 
 
    With that, Maximillian and the other two vampires crept into the long grass plains and out of sight. 
 
    I didn’t have to wait long before the beacon bleeped a warning that it was to be replaced by an outpost and the thralls and I stepped well back. 
 
    I’d seen buildings emerge around the Lair on several occasions, but it was still a truly remarkable and unusual sight. Watching a fully constructed building burst from the earth in front of you. However, as soon as it started, I knew something was not as I expected it to be. The outpost was consuming far too much space. 
 
    I glanced about me and saw that the thralls had retreated much further than I had, so I ran over and joined them. 
 
    “What’s happening?” I demanded. “I thought this was supposed to be a small outpost?” 
 
    The thralls didn’t answer me and a few seconds later the process was done. Erected before me, was a full-fledged tier eight Guild Outpost, as large as those back in the Lair’s glade. 
 
    “Bloody Hell,” I muttered. “There is no way the Brigade or the fucking orcs don’t get wind of this.” 
 
    I’d been speaking to the thralls, but they were already walking towards the entrance, and I trotted along after them and went in. 
 
    The layout inside was familiar. Which is what concerned me. Daxas had bought everything that he usually did for the outposts he provided the Dark Moon Rising. But I knew how expensive these buildings were, even for him. His resources were not bottomless, it had taken time and a lot of coin to build up what we had back at the glade. 
 
    This kind of outlay did not suggest Daxas considered this to be a temporary base to complete a single night mission. And if that was the case, why hadn’t he sent more of the guild to fortify this place. Something really did not add up, the Chief would not be happy. 
 
    I knew that for a fact. 
 
    I attempted to badger the thralls for answers to no avail. They had dragged a few benches to the entrance and taken up positions to watch the way in, with a few of them keeping watch outside. 
 
    I didn’t relent in my pursuit of knowledge, but they remained closed-lipped for the most part. Eventually, one of them answered me. “Piotr, we do not know the answers to the question you ask. Only our vampire lords could satisfy your curiosity, and they are not here. We are thralls, we simply do as we are told. We were told to guard the outpost and fight off any invaders, so that is what we shall do until they return.” 
 
    The thralls refused or were unable to open up any more than that. After I wasted a further fifteen minutes questioning them which they endured patiently I changed tack and went to explore the outpost instead. 
 
    Perhaps there was some clue I could find as to Daxas intentions, something I could report back to the Chief. Prove to him how useful I could be. 
 
     I wandered the halls futilely for a good half hour when I finally heard voices and laughter coming from the restricted area. Although until guild officers actually claimed the rooms in this cavernously large outpost, it wasn’t really restricted. The thralls seemed unconcerned, the voices were coming from within the outpost, not outside where they had been ordered to watch. 
 
    I raced through the corridors to get sight of what was happening and then skidded to a halt as I turned the last corner and realised where I had been running to. Daxas’ quadruple locked secret office. 
 
    Except, I recognised immediately that in this building it hadn’t been locked down as it had in other guild outposts. I hadn’t thought to look here during my earlier investigation as you couldn’t get in without Daxas permission in any of the other outposts. Now, there wasn’t even a door, and the room was filled with women. 
 
    Women dressed in an assortment of incredibly revealing armour. 
 
    I stood there dumbstruck and could feel the heat in my cheeks as I blushed in mute embarrassment. Once the shock of their presence and attire wore off, I recognised many of these women, they were the guild members who had been claimed by Daxas. 
 
    “Piotr, what are you doing here?” Krista Belhoff called out to me with surprise. 
 
    Then she muscled her way through the throng of other women who seemed to be preparing for battle and knelt in front of me. 
 
    “M…Mu…My Lady,” I stuttered. “The Chief asked me to accompany Maximillian and your former coven on this mission. To look after the outpost…” I trailed off. 
 
    Krista was similarly garbed as the other women and her chest armour barely covered more than her nipples and left her bosoms completely exposed. I couldn’t help but stare and then stutter an apology when my actions became obvious, and she had noticed where I was staring. 
 
    “You have nothing to apologise for, young Piotr,” she whispered and ruffled my hair. 
 
    “The armour is supposed to be distracting,” a pretty auburn-haired wood elf I recognised from the dungeon said kindly. “Husband, did you know Simeon had sent one of his officers along?” 
 
    And that was when I saw him. He strode from the back of the room and the women parted to make way for him, but those close enough reached out and caressed him with their hands, hips, or breasts as he passed. 
 
    I had met him several times before, of course, but never when it was just me and I would be the centre of attention. His piercing yellow eyes bore into my own and I felt rooted to the spot and began to shiver like a leaf. 
 
    “Husband, stop scaring him,” the wood elf scolded him, and gave him a light slap on the arm. 
 
    I couldn’t believe what I had just seen. She had hit him, Daxas, and he hadn’t got insanely angry and struck her down. He just laughed lightly and then the oppressive weight I’d felt seemed to lift. 
 
    “Sorry about that, Piotr,” he chuckled. “I sometimes forget about my aura’s strength.” 
 
    By all the Divine Lords, he knew my name. 
 
    “Yes, Jessamyn, I knew. We’re going to have to work on Simeon’s trust issues. I could have ordered him not to send someone, but, well, that would just cause more problems further down the road,” Daxas said. 
 
    Then Krista looked up at him with some concern in her eyes. “Is there anything you can do, Master?” she asked. 
 
    He nodded. “Ladies make some room. Head into the tunnels, tonight’s first target is ready, and I’ll be with you momentarily.” 
 
    There was a chorus of “Yes, Master,” and then all the women barring Krista and Jessamyn trooped down an opening in the flooring in the far corner of the room, which I hadn’t spotted due to all the distracting bare flesh, and out of the secret office. 
 
    Then Daxas closed his eyes for a moment and when he opened them again, he beckoned to me to come forward. 
 
    I walked over to him in a daze but felt unable to disobey. Once I was inside Daxas moved over to one of the wooden panels on the right-hand side of the room and touched a particular whorl on the wood and then slid the panel up. Behind the panel was a small round hole, barely big enough for even me to crawl into. 
 
    “Piotr,” Daxas addressed me. “This is a chute which leads into a tunnel that will take you back to Alpha house in the glade. Do you remember the spot I pressed to activate the secret compartment?” 
 
    “Yes, sir,” I answered. 
 
    “Excellent, the chute should be small enough that only another halfling could follow you, should they find it, which is unlikely. The panel slides shut unless it is being held. Should there be any trouble before guild reinforcements arrive, you come back here and use the chute to get away,” he told me. 
 
    “So, there are other guild members coming? You’ve asked the Chief to send people?” I asked timidly, but I had to know. 
 
    “I will. Once today’s business is done. Now we have work to do. Stay safe, Piotr. Oh, and don’t follow us down the tunnel in the corner, it leads into tribal territory and the orc dungeons. There is nothing for you there. And lastly, stay out of the annex,” he finished and let go of the wooden panel which slid back into place as he promised. 
 
    In all the excitement it had almost escaped my notice that the doorway into the annex attached to the secret office was similarly doorless, which was very odd indeed. 
 
    “Look after yourself, young Piotr,” Krista said as she passed me and headed into the tunnels with Daxas and Jessamyn. 
 
    I stood there, my mouth gaping at what had just happened and belatedly called out. “What about the thralls?” 
 
    My query came too late and there was no answer. 
 
    After a few minutes, I returned to the entrance foyer where the thralls waited patiently. I explained to them what had happened and asked them what they thought it could all mean, but they just shrugged their shoulders with apparent disinterest. 
 
    Once I’d realised I’d been wasting my time asking them, I curled up on one of the padded benches to wait for the return of Maximillian and his vampire friends. If what Daxas had mentioned was true they had to have planted at least one of the beacons already, so they couldn’t be much longer, could they? 
 
    That thought was one of the last I recall before I dropped off to sleep. 
 
    I was startled awake by a firm hand on my shoulder shaking me hard. 
 
    “Wh…What?” I yawned. 
 
    I shook the cobwebs off and recognised it was one of the nameless thralls that had shaken me. “The Brigade is coming, best you be off,” he said calmly. 
 
    “The Brigade! Here, already” I cried. 
 
    That was when I noticed strong sunlight streaming through the windows of the Guild Outpost. I hadn’t just missed sun-up; it was well into the morning. What was going on? 
 
    “Where is Daxas? Where are the reinforcements from the guild? Where is Maximillian?” I shot out rapid-fire questions in a mild panic. 
 
    The thrall smiled at me kindly. “Daxas and his disciples completed their tasks hours ago and returned to the dungeon. There are no reinforcements. Maximillian, Gustav and Holdrich have not returned, nor will they. Not today.” 
 
    I stared at him in mute horror. What the fuck? 
 
    “If you leave now, you can abscond before the dwarves get here,” he suggested. 
 
    “What about you?” I asked. 
 
    “Our instructions were to remain and fight off any invaders and that is what we shall do. I imagine we’ll all be killed quite quickly, However, with so many of the Brigade here, getting out of the City after we come out of the Emergence Pool shouldn’t be too difficult,” he replied lightly, and then left me to retake his position by the doors. 
 
    I hopped up quickly and ran over to the windows beside the doorway. I had to climb up on a table to get a good look, though. What I saw left me gulping with a dry throat. 
 
    There was a sea of dwarves approaching the Guild Outpost. There was a large square of veterans that jogged towards us in a tight formation and behind them looser formations of the less experienced. They were almost upon us, ten, maybe fifteen seconds away. 
 
    Getting an accurate count in the few seconds I had to observe them was impossible, but there had to be a thousand, maybe two thousand. It had to be almost the entire guild, and there were only nine of us here to defend the outpost. 
 
    I jumped back down and racked my brain for a solution, for a reason, but I came up with nothing. Then I recalled the chute Daxas had installed, in case anything happened, and knew with certainty he had to have known this was coming. Maybe even planned on it. 
 
    What would the Chief do? 
 
    He wouldn’t run for the chute straight away like a coward. No, he would make a plan, learn what he could, for the good of the guild. 
 
    Like the thrall said, the worst that could happen would be the dwarves cut him down and then he’d have to find his way back to safety after he came out of the Emergence Pool. 
 
    Although it pained me to leave the thralls to their fate alone, I retreated further into the Guild Outpost. I knew the layout of this place better than the dwarves did. I knew where I could hide, get a good vantage point to observe events in the main hall, and still be able to beat any clunky dwarves back to the secret office and the chute. 
 
    I ran through the corridors and turned right into a storeroom. I knew this room had a galley port for passing things through into the main hall. I’d be able to raise it an inch and peek out and listen to what happened. Then if I saw them press into the back corridors I could scarper and stay ahead of them. 
 
    I tugged on the rope attached to the pulley gently and raised the galley port door slightly as planned. The last few sounds of combat echoed across the main hall. I was just in time to see the last of the thralls be cut down. They were higher-level fighters than me or most of the other members of the guild, but the Brigade had led the way with their veterans who had to be ranked in the fifties or higher. I didn’t see any signs that they had incurred any losses. 
 
    Hundreds of well-armed dwarves poured into the main hall. They were laughing and cheering as if they’d won some great victory and not just won a battle of eight versus more than a thousand. For the moment they seemed satisfied to pile in and hadn’t split into smaller groups to search through the maze of offices and corridors. Although a few of them did seem to sneak off into the mess hall, to plunder what food and drink they could from there no doubt. 
 
    Then a quintet of dwarves pushed through the crowd, resplendent in burnished adamantine armour. This had to be the High Lodungr of the Black Hills Brigade, and the other four his High Drottinn. When they removed their helms, I recognised the well-trimmed brown beard of Bargarrak Granitefist from the meeting of Guilds a few weeks ago. He had pushed hard for the expungement of the Dark Moon Rising. It did not surprise me that he was here today. 
 
    “Settle down lads,” the lead dwarf, who had a steel-grey beard and wrinkles around his eyes, spoke firmly. 
 
    He waited for quiet for a moment and then roared. “This outpost is ours!” 
 
    The throng of dwarves that surrounded him cheered mightily at that. 
 
    He beckoned with his hands for his army to quieten down. “And this be just the first of that upstart guilds’ property that we be seizin’” he cried, to even more shouts of joy and jeers at the Dark Moon Rising. 
 
    Instantly, I understood why the Chief despised these people so much, as I felt the fire of hate boil in my blood. That was my guild, my people, my fucking family, they threatened and treated as nothing. 
 
    Then before I could do anything stupid like scream my defiance at the bearded blowhards there was a cacophonous blaring of poorly tuned horns that reverberated throughout the entire building. I closed my eyes and put my fingers in my ears until the caterwaul the dwarves called music, ceased. 
 
    But where had it come from? I didn’t see any dwarves with horns or bugles. 
 
    That question faded from my mind when I opened my eyes. 
 
    Floating in the centre of the main hall was a vaguely ethereal twenty-foot red-bearded dwarf decked in the most elaborate, and gaudy if you asked me, armour I had ever seen. 
 
    The assembled dwarves were as stunned as I was. Many of them had dropped to their knees and I heard them whisper “Ironhammer” or “the Smith”. 
 
    Could this be a Divine Lord? In the flesh, so to speak. 
 
    The floating figure rotated for a few seconds until his eyes had swept over all the dwarves who had managed to squeeze themselves into the main hall. There had to be many more outside who hadn’t been able to get in yet. 
 
    “I be proud of ya me children,” the ghostly figure praised the assembled dwarves. 
 
    “Ironhammer, is that truly you?” the High Lodungr whispered reverently. 
 
    “Aye, Thorvik son of Braggarvik Granitefist. It is I,” he spoke and the High Lodungr fell to his knees while thick tears flowed freely down his face. 
 
    “There be nay need for tears lad,” Ironhammer chuckled. “This be a day of great victory for the Sons of the Hammer. Ya have made a good first step, but it be only the first and ya need to climb higher.” 
 
    “Tell us, Ironhammer. What do ya wish of us? The Black Hills Brigade will see that it be done,” the High Lodungr pledged from his knees. 
 
    There was a loud clanking throughout the chamber as the awestruck dwarves beat their gauntleted fists on their chests in assent. 
 
    “I know that ya will laddies, and soon ya shall all receive ya just rewards. Ya days in this limbo be short indeed. That is why I have extended ma power to this extent, so that ya can take full advantage of tha opportunity before ya. The Dark Moon Rising be just the symptom of the foulness that blights the Proving Grounds. Daxas and the Wolf King’s Lair be the source.” 
 
    The ghostly Ironhammer paused in his speech, and there was much-muttered agreement amongst the assembled dwarves. His words only served to make me feel sick to my stomach. If the Divine Lords were free to act against us, what hope did we have? 
 
    Then the ghastly vision continued. “But me proud Sons of the Hammer, the arrogant always make a mistake. Daxas has left a path, a tunnel from this very building directly ta his core. Where ya can destroy him and his bitches. Ya must strike quick me lads, before he has a chance to seal the way,” 
 
    Ironhammer snapped his fingers and a strange ball of soft blue crackling energy appeared and started to float in the direction of the corridors which led to the restricted area, and Daxas secret office, and the chute. 
 
    “The light will lead the way. Go ma proud laddies, and if ya succeed, ya can feast on the core of the wolf who claims to be a King,” the ghostly Ironhammer laughed uproariously and faded from sight. 
 
    The hall was filled with the war-cries of hundreds of dwarves, with more taking up the call from outside. 
 
    “Time to go, Piotr,” a voice I recognised as Daxas, whispered in my ear. 
 
    I stood bolt upright, but he wasn’t in the room with me. The Chief had warned me that he could do this, speak from out of nowhere. It didn’t matter whether he was real or not, the dwarves were charging into the corridors, and he was right, it was time to go. 
 
    I left the galley port and didn’t bother closing it and ran back through the corridors ahead of the thunking sound of dwarven boots on the floorboards until I reached the secret office. There was still no door, either into the room or into the annex beyond, but I did notice that the stairwell Daxas and his disciples had used earlier had returned to being wooden flooring. 
 
    I pressed the correct whorl and slid the wooden panel up and out of the way and then pushed my body through face first. It was a tight squeeze, perhaps I needed to lay off the honeyed porridge, only two servings from now on, instead of three, except for special occasions, of course. 
 
    I slid down the chute and landed on a collection of burlap sacks which broke my fall. 
 
    “The tunnel will take you directly back to Alpha house,” Daxas whispered into my ear. 
 
    “But what about the dwarves? If you don’t close the way into your office, they can use your tunnels to get directly to your core and kill you,” I panted. 
 
    “Your concern is appreciated, Piotr, but how many times has Simeon told you that I can’t be fully trusted?” he chuckled in my ear. 
 
    “Ummm, a lot,” I answered with embarrassment, as I started to trot down the tunnel. 
 
    “Exactly. And that’s because Simeon is a fuckton smarter than the Doomed Brigade,” the Wolf King laughed darkly. 
 
    That laughter was laced with such menace I physically shivered. 
 
    I thanked the spirit of my dear departed grandmamma that he was on our side, or at least, I hoped he was. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
      
 
      
 
      
 
    Chapter 12 
 
      
 
      
 
    I closed the audio channel to Piotr. 
 
    The young halfling was running down the tunnel complex swiftly and should be back at Alpha house in twenty minutes or so. He’d report back to Simeon, who under my orders was holding back this morning dungeon runs for an hour. 
 
    I hadn’t told Simeon why, which always pissed him off, so I’m sure he’d be stewing in his office waiting for me to explain myself after the hour was up. By which point either the Brigade would be no more, or I would be. 
 
    Don’t worry, it’s going to be the Brigade. 
 
    Thinking of the doomed dwarves, I switched the main viewer in the Lounge back to them. 
 
    The lead group had followed what they believed was a mystical ball of light summoned by Ironhammer. It was actually a battery-powered plasma globe, held aloft by Tenzing, whom they couldn’t see. 
 
    That’s right, I said Tenzing. 
 
    It would seem that the Arbiter agreeing to allow Alyssa to be in the dungeon permanently had carried over to Tenzing too, and he hadn’t dematerialised at the start of the new week. It made sense really, Alyssa probably knew more than Tenzing did, so what benefit would there be in taking him away. 
 
    Obviously, I found a way to benefit. I wouldn’t be me if I hadn’t. 
 
    Tenzing kept the globe under his robes, and therefore concealed from view, until ‘Ironhammer’ had snapped his fingers and now led the dwarves to the tunnel entrance like the pied piper of Hamlin. 
 
    The plasma globe was Earth technology but if we didn’t try to take it into my active dungeon, we could make use of it. 
 
    Once they reached the tunnel entrance, Thorvik, the High Lodungr, managed to impose some order on the mob of bearded fools and they proceeded into the tunnels with greater caution. With so many dwarves it was going to take them awhile to all get down there. 
 
    The dwarves wouldn’t have as far to go as Piotr. During the rest day, in preparation for today, I had realigned my entire Home and Core floors so that they physically extended a fair distance beyond the glade underneath the earth. So much so the dwarves were only a twenty-minute walk to the first chamber of my active core floor. I had made this tunnel extra wide to accommodate them getting their people down into my depths as swiftly as practical. 
 
    However, it would still take them a few minutes to organise themselves and another ten for them all to file into the tunnel network. Their vanguard would likely arrive at my core floor a couple of minutes after the last of them entered the tunnel. 
 
    With a few minutes to wait before I could get an accurate listing of who we would face I turned my attention to ‘Ironhammer’. 
 
    “Your performance was perfect, darling. They bought it hook, line, and sinker,” I chuckled. “I particularly liked how you told them their days were numbered and left them to infer that salvation, not doom, awaited them.” 
 
    “I be so very glad you approve laddie,” ‘Ironhammer’ winked at me and shook his plaited red beard. 
 
    Then ‘Ironhammer’ dismissed his armour to the inventory and shook himself vigorously. The very dwarven and very mannish naked Ironhammer’s skin and body began to flex and shift. The figure before me morphed, becoming a little taller and altogether curvier. The red hair shimmered, disappeared from the face and became chocolate brown on her head. It took maybe three seconds for the transformation to complete and then Alyssa was stood before me, nude. 
 
    This was a vast improvement if you ask me and I’m sure most of you would agree. 
 
    Alyssa gave me her trademarked sly wink and then summoned her jeans and crop top, clothing herself and rested her spectacles on her nose daintily. My disappointment at the sudden addition of her apparel fled as she sat herself in my lap and we kissed. 
 
    When our lips parted I looked deeply into her eyes. “Thank you, Alyssa. If it hadn’t been for you this would have been a far more difficult plan to pull off.” 
 
    “It was nothing, my darling Wolf King,” she breathed heavily, her lust evident. “Doppelgangers are incredibly rare, there has never been one sent to the Proving Grounds, but they do exist in the Realms. Even if most of the Realms-born believe them to be a myth. I had a feeling their morphological ability to replicate anyone they’d been in contact with might come in handy. And the Arbiter, in his haste, never specified I had to be human,” she giggled. 
 
    “A feeling? It was more than that my delightfully devious temptress,” I breathed in response to her, and we kissed deeply once more. 
 
    She let loose one of her tinkling laughs. “Maybe…I was able to predict a few of your likely plans before I was replaced as your liaison and prepared accordingly.” 
 
    I truly was thankful for her help in this deception. I did have other ideas on how to pull it off, but they weren’t ideal nor nearly as cost effective. 
 
    One option would have been to use the DDD to buy a dwarf dungeon creature and physically change him to resemble Ironhammer. That wouldn’t have cost too much, but then I would need to program his responses which would be tricky. 
 
    Alternatively, I could have life-seeded a coin-bought mob. Then they would be more capable of adapting to the dwarves’ responses but there was no guarantee they’d make a good actor. I could have even changed either myself or one of my disciples physically but that would cost experience and a lot of it, and nobody was eager to volunteer for the job. 
 
    Alyssa made the whole thing easier, and she demonstrated beforehand what an accomplished actress she could be. 
 
    The second part of the puzzle had been an achievement I’d picked up weeks ago, Communicator 2. This allowed me to project an image into the dungeon and by default my guild. 
 
    I hadn’t thought the achievement would be much use when I first received it as it specified that the image couldn’t be used if there were any potential danger in the same chamber as the projection. Young Piotr could have thrown a royal spanner in the works if he’d chosen to hide in the main hall and not a supply closet. 
 
    It all worked out, though. 
 
    With our canoodling done I asked Alyssa the all-important question once more. “I know this whole thing was my idea but are you sure this will work?” 
 
    “It’s a bit late to back out now, darling,” she chuckled. “But yes, this will work. Like many of your rule-bending activities this scenario had not been anticipated when the Accords were agreed. When the Brigade enters your Core floor the Proving Grounds will attempt to resolve this unexpected conflict following the entity’s dedication to balance.” 
 
    “Because of my former position I know how the Proving Grounds will react, and your deal with the Arbiter prevents him from acting directly to change it. As the dwarves have not come through any of your official entrances they will be allowed to enter as a single mass group, the dungeon laws which prevent this are enacted through official entrances. They will also have no timeframe working against them as there is none once you reach the Core floor.” 
 
    “However, for balance, as they bypassed all the threats in your dungeon you will be allowed to order anything in your dungeon into your Core floor to assist you. Also, the dungeon prompts to adventurers which inform them they are entering an optional wing are disabled, such prompts are for those who enter a dungeon officially.” 
 
    “Should they defeat you and reach your core they will be able to feast upon it and with such great numbers they would drain you of all your shards. But this does mean you can claim them as fallen and receive all the associated experience for their demise.” 
 
    I nodded. Alyssa didn’t really need to tell me again. 
 
    There was a nervous excitement flooding through my veins. Although many of the dwarves I had lured into my dungeon were low ranked, there was a lot of them. I’d been in great danger before, but those occasions had been unavoidable. This was the first time I’d invited potential destruction to me willingly. 
 
    “The real question is are you sure?” Alyssa asked. “This will escalate your endgame with the Lords considerably. Destroying the four orc dungeons that were invading you has already pushed your fallen total to over nine hundred if you add these fifteen hundred dwarves you will be perilously close to ranking highly enough to be eligible for the Divine Challenge after the next rest day.” 
 
    “I’m sure,” I told her firmly. “Keeping my real opponents wrong footed is my best strategy. I want them salivating at the prospect of getting their grimy mitts on my soul energy, with all their focus on that. Give them too much time to think about it and they can figure out what I’m capable of doing to counter them and then prepare for it.” 
 
    With our conversation on the subject complete, I played over in my head the preparations I’d made for today. I had reshaped my official Core floor into an inverted L shape and inserted into the gap an optional Forest wing that matched the Core floor. 
 
    The first forest room of my Core floor had been designed with a wide trail that could be followed directly Southward. When this ended it led to a room in the optional wing with a similar trail that was seamlessly connected to the Core floor. 
 
    Without the dungeon prompts to warn the dwarves they were straying from the official Core floor, they would likely follow the trail into the one hundred and eight chamber optional wing, instead of figuring out they needed to take a hard right followed by a left two rooms later to get to my Core room. 
 
    The trail would continue deeper into the optional wing and away from the exit into my final core room. This would allow my forces, many of whom would be in the treetop walkways above to snipe at the dwarves, hopefully disorienting them, and keeping them out of the actual Core room. 
 
    The dwarves had arrived and begun their march into my Core floor. 
 
    I now had an accurate number that we faced, 1,512. The highest ranked among them was the High Lodungr, Thorvik. He was rank eighty-six and his four-man entourage were all over seventy.  
 
    Alyssa had been allowed to explain that it was rare for guilds to have many members above rank eighty. Mainly because so many perish along the way that it is difficult to find enough of people of a similar rank to run dungeons within a single guild. Once you hit the highest ranks, members tended to break away or had formed a permanent core group that raided together and made a final concerted push to get out. 
 
    People tend to get impatient when their goal is finally within sight. 
 
    They had formed up into roughly ten by ten squares of dwarven warriors, fifteen in total. Strangely, the rank profile of these squares was reasonably uniform, and each square was made up of dwarves of similar ranks. Then again, perhaps that wasn’t so strange. If you were a long-term veteran would you want your flanks covered by the inexperienced. 
 
    However, the cowards hadn’t sent a veteran square of one hundred dwarves to troop into the Core floor first, nor second or third. There was a mixture of different ranks in the first three groups, but they were mostly all under rank ten. This suited my purposes, the lead square, being less experienced were more likely to walk exactly where I wanted them. 
 
    The composition of squares four and five was those ranked twenty to thirty-five. The dwarves in squares six and seven ranked from thirty-five to the high fifties. In the centre of the dwarven procession was the eighth square, which was the command formation. This one was slightly larger and was clearly the elite of the Black Hills Brigade. Every dwarf was ranked sixty or more and it included the High Lodungr and his High Drottinn. Squares nine through twelve were the same as four through seven but in reverse. 
 
    The final three formations which were the least disciplined were made of dwarves ranked two or under, many of whom probably entered the Proving Grounds two days ago. 
 
    Their time here would be short and not very sweet. 
 
    The Black Hills Brigade lacked many members in the teens as the majority of them had either defected to the Dark Moon Rising or had been part of an earlier attempt to purge my dungeon from the Proving Grounds that had ended in their inevitable failure. 
 
    Most of my disciples were already on the other dungeon floors, so I sent the signal of a wolf howl to let them know to start collecting up all my dungeon creatures and lead them onto the Core floor after the dwarves had passed through. 
 
    I still had plenty of mobs already on the floor to keep the dwarves entertained until the trap was shut. The Core floor had three hundred and twenty-three wood elves in the most powerful gear I could equip them with as well as ten warwolf-trolls and twenty goblins. 
 
    The optional Forest wing had one of my armies consisting of twelve each of the infernal minotaurs, dryads and hobgoblins, all at rank twenty and life seeded. As well as another sixty wood elves equipped in the same manner as their Core floor compatriots. 
 
    I waited until the first of the eager dwarves stomped their way into the optional wing and grinned savagely. Most of the Core floor’s wood elves were in the treetop balconies I had constructed. These walkways connected to a second network in the optional wing which they were now allowed to utilise as the dwarves had entered the wing. 
 
    Both sides of the ‘trail’ I had created for any unwary invaders was heavy with naturally built traps. There were many of my favourite spiked pits ready and waiting for them. The balconies also had a series of well-concealed swinging spiked logs ready to be released. 
 
    While I watched from the comfort of the black leather couch with Alyssa in my lap, my new ability to split my focus meant I was also on my Core floor in my warwolf avatar. This version of me was continuously being fed updates by my other self in the Viewing Lounge. I could both lead from the frontline and act as an observing general, the best of both tactical worlds. 
 
    I hadn’t sent all my disciples to their positions on the traditional dungeon floors to collect my mobs. I’d kept the heaviest hitters with me just in case the dwarves hadn’t followed the path I so kindly laid out for them, and we had to hold the line until reinforcements from the other floors arrived. 
 
    Fiadh was with me, obviously. She would have chafed at the idea of collecting mobs when there was actual fighting to be done. This group also included Krista, who like Jarlath, preferred the rapier as her weapon of choice. She had proved herself to be swift and precise with the weapon in training. 
 
    There were five others from the new intake with me. 
 
    Vellin the innocent-looking faun with a powerful kick. She carried a pair of wicked daggers to complement her deadly close quarters work. 
 
    Gadiel, the high-elf with a potty mouth, but she was also the highest-ranked of all my disciples. The elf liked the classic sword and board equipment loadout.  
 
    Sarrass the snake-kin woman preferred to use polearms and keep her foes at a distance. 
 
    My group also had Jovebella who was a short dwarf woman, but one who had curves in all the right places. Any worries that she might be reluctant to battle against her kin were soon allayed by the statement “Fuck those bearded whoreson hammer-humpers”. 
 
    To say she had a low opinion of dwarven males would be the understatement of the century. It wasn’t that she didn’t like beards, she was quite fond of my roguish perma-stubble. It was more the stock the dwarves put in them, vis-a-vis those without considerable facial hair were without worth. 
 
    Finally, I’d included Teotune, a blonde human woman of Amazonian proportions. She was fierce with spear, sword, and bow. She had been the last of my new intake that I claimed on the rest day. 
 
    Not because the others beat her out, she hadn’t taken part in the surprising melee that ensued. No, as fierce and eager as she was in battle, she was equally shy and insecure in the bedroom. I’d had to take her behind the bar, out of sight of the others, to calm her nerves. 
 
    “The Brigade like good little sheep for the slaughter are following the trail we laid out for them,” I told my assembled battle-harem. 
 
    Jovebella snorted. “Probably couldn’t see past the whiskers on their face to comprehend they should explore the harder routes.” 
 
    “Yes, well, we are going to reinforce the misconception that they are on the right path. Teotune, I want you up in the treetops. Take two hundred of the wood elves here and stalk their rear-guard from above but stay out of sight and don’t engage yet. I will signal you when it is time to strike.” 
 
    The blonde warrior woman nodded and ran off to the wooden slats that encircled the trunk of one of the enormous oaks that acted as a stairway up to the treehouse network up above. 
 
    “As for the rest of us we will cut through to them on the forest floor. I’m leaving the warwolf-trolls and the rest of the wood elves to handle any dwarves that might slip through our net. We’ll take the goblins with us,” I advised and jogged over to where the underbrush was lightest. 
 
    The women and the twenty goblins trailed after me. 
 
    “Why are we bringing the goblins, Master?” Krista queried. “Do you not wish to use the army already in this wing?” 
 
    “No,” I answered as I moved some fern stems out of my way. “I’ve ordered them to lay in wait deeper into the forest except for thirty of their wood elves. We will link up with elves that have hung back on the forest floor just ahead of the dwarf column. We’ll send the goblins to attack the lead group with the elves providing ranged support.” 
 
    “It should be a large enough strike force to convince the Brigade it’s a genuine defensive move, without costing us too many defenders in the process. We will likely lose all the goblins and I hope the dwarves will pursue the elves into the underbrush where we can thin their numbers.” 
 
    We pushed through the various chambers until we reached the contingent of thirty wood elf mobs patiently awaiting our arrival. It took us maybe five minutes, but we had the advantage of years of Dungeon Time to learn the easiest passages, and ways to avoid the natural traps, through the wings I had built. 
 
    I had learned from the first battle with the orc dungeon invaders and minimised the number of ways up into the canopy walkways. This would make it difficult for those on the forest floor to get up to them should they be spotted. 
 
    The treehouses all had roped ladders that could be dropped if we needed those up above to make their way down rapidly and then pulled up or cut if the wrong people tried to use them to ascend. 
 
    I relayed my orders to the goblins and wood elves and they we hunkered down behind another of the Giant Redwood type trees that were interspersed with the mighty Oaks. I closed my eyes and opened up to my other self in the Viewing Lounge to watch the outcome of my plan. 
 
    Thorvik and his legion had been trudging through the forest for close to ten minutes. Every square of dwarves had walked through the Core floor chamber and entered into the optional wing. The lead square formation were now more than ten chambers deep and had just reached the end of the open trail and halted. From the muttering we picked up on the DDD, some of the dwarves were beginning to get antsy and started to suspect something was up. 
 
    My sacrifice goblin distraction would be just in time. 
 
    My Lounge based avatar whispered in Teotune’s ear and she directed her force to troop into the treetops of the same chamber as the forward dwarven square formation. I didn’t want the dwarves to technically have superior numbers when I sent my goblins into the fray. They were supposed to be a distraction, yes, but that didn’t mean they shouldn’t earn their fair share of the Brigades butcher’s bill. 
 
    The thirty wood elves on the forest floor started the conflict as they fired their first salvo of bolts into the packed formation of grumbling dwarves. 
 
    Many of the front line had shields but there is always someone that lets their guard down and because I had an avatar present in the chamber, I could mentally instruct the elves to target those gaps. 
 
    Most of these dwarves were only rank six or seven and with the equivalent gear to match. My wood elves, on the other hand, were rocking only a little less than the best my team could craft. The kind of gear rank thirty-five adventurers would be overjoyed to bear. Six dwarves received five bolts to the chest, all but one was slain, a positive start. 
 
    The goblins raced from the underbrush, covered the dozen feet, and hit the dwarven front line. Once more I mentally commanded them as they did so and they split into two groups of ten and hit the fresh gaps in the dwarf front line where some of them had been killed. 
 
    “Goblins!” roared a dwarf in the middle of the square, who had likely been assigned as the formations Lodungr. Followed by “Archers in the trees!” The call was taken up by each subsequent group, feeding the information back to the Thorvik in the centre of their column. 
 
    The melee combat didn’t last too long. The goblins slashed and cut with their short knives, often going low to slice at tendons and inflict movement debuffs on their enemies. However, they were heavily outnumbered, and the dwarves soon swarmed around them sinking their axe blades into green flesh and crunching their hammers into bones protected only by leather. 
 
    But swarming the goblins to slaughter them allowed my wood elves to fire their second and third bolt volleys without having to worry about the friendly fire restrictions they were under as dungeon creatures. They then stepped out from the woodland and onto the trail to let loose their fourth volley, so the dwarves could get a good look at them, and then slipped back into the denser vegetation to reload and lead them deeper. 
 
    The first skirmish of this battle had been completed. Teotune and her treetop forces slipped back to watch the end of the column. The front square of the dwarves held their discipline and did not immediately pursue the elves. 
 
    They had lost another eleven of their number, but then Thorvik sent the order down through his proxies in the column they weren’t to let my mobs get away. 
 
    This was music to my ears as the front square ran forward and pushed their way into the denser foliage of the forest in pursuit. 
 
    My group waited for a few moments longer, but it wasn’t long before the dwarves could no longer maintain the rigidity of their formation and they began to disperse into smaller groups of nine or ten as they spread out to chase the elves. 
 
    Tactically, splitting up as they had was very foolish. Some of the Brigade’s members may have been soldiers in their previous lives and had experience of mass combat situations, but even they had been lulled into following the adventurer raiding pattern of parties of eight to twelve. 
 
    I suspected Thorvik was aware this would be reckless under normal conditions but believed the Brigade’s unprecedented numbers together in a single dungeon guaranteed their victory. It didn’t, paradoxically it would prove to be their greatest weakness, but I wasn’t ready to make that clear to them just yet. 
 
    Thusly, him exposing the vanguard square of dwarves as he had would just be expedient, not foolhardy. It was this very misconception, that they had me by the balls, that would be the end of them. 
 
    Normally it was possible for my life-seeded mobs to follow invaders and challengers onto the Core floor, but only those from the path said invaders chose. As no path was walked by the Brigade all were permitted, including my other mobs. 
 
    My Core floor had already been incredibly strong and deadly. Although admittedly, probably not strong enough to defeat the Brigade by itself. But when you added all four of my armies, my disciples, and the rest of my mobile dungeon creatures into the mix I’d back us to win a pitched battle against them. 
 
    And this would be no pitched battle, they were on ground prepared just for this eventuality. These forest chambers had been enhanced by me with natural looking barriers and large quantities of thistles and thorny bushes to make the way virtually impassable unless you knew the layout as we did. 
 
    I quickly cast Summon Beasts and added a pack of wolves to my party of seven and we stalked through the forest hunting. 
 
    We hit the dwarf groups hard, fast, and as silently as possible. I had to put a ball gag in Fiadh’s mouth for this part as she was incapable of controlling her cries of rage when battle was met, but she didn’t seem to mind. 
 
    We outranked and were significantly better equipped than the disparate dwarf groups from the first square and the battles were short and bloody. We showed them no mercy, and in under five minutes we despatched every one of the first square dwarves. 
 
    At which point we linked up with the army for this wing and turned around and headed back to the new front of the dwarven column ready to strike them head-on. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    While my battle avatar had his fun in the forest, I had mine with Alyssa in my lap as we kept a birds-eye view of the coming carnage from the Viewing Lounge. 
 
    Teotune and her force of two hundred wood elves had returned to their positions watching the back of the dwarven column. Meanwhile my other ladies had finished the round-up of what could be moved from my other dungeon floors. The dwarves had advanced deep enough into the optional wing that we could arrange the emergence of my forces onto the Core floor without the dwarves detecting their presence. 
 
    Tabitha and Gretsch led most of the treants, thistle-folk warriors, thornspitter sprites and dryads from Nessa’s first floor along the L of the Core floor to back up the mobs I had left guarding the way into my Core room. They took the goblins from my first and second floors and Shelly’s cavern with them too. 
 
    This allowed me to send the rest of the wood elves through the treetop walkways to link up with Teotune. 
 
    The twenty-five premade dark-elf assassin mobs from Jen’Zadeer’s first floor and the one hundred and fifty wood elves from my dungeon were ordered into the forest on the wing side where they would hide and wait to strike. 
 
    My three other armies formed up the main strike force with Shelly, thirty more trolls from my dungeon and the rest of my disciples. Jessamyn, Jen’Zadeer, Karragh and Nessa were all riding into battle on the back of a saddled sabretooth panther. 
 
    Eina, the naiad, whose abilities weren’t best suited for a forest encounter would remain at the rear commanding the assorted beasts and gremlins from my dungeon. They were there to mop up any survivors on the battlefield or for any of the smarter dwarves that ran for the exit. 
 
    I watched as my warwolf avatar finished the last of the first square of dwarves who had ventured into the denser chamber. 
 
    “I think we are ready to begin the main event,” I chuckled to Alyssa. 
 
    “I have to agree, darling,” she said, as she teased me by squirming in my lap and grinding her delicious ass into my groin. 
 
    The scene before me reminded me of the opening to the film Gladiator and I couldn’t resist. 
 
    “Teotune, at my signal, unleash hell,” I told her in my best Russell Crowe, using the DDD. “Fire!” 
 
    Seconds later, the first volley of crossbow fire poured into the packed centres of the back three squares. These dwarves were the lowest ranked and poorest armoured. 
 
    With the enchantments on the elve’s equipment and with an extra Cold damage potion they would have quaffed upon Teotune’s order, each of those bolts from the heavy crossbow bolts inflicted approximately one hundred points of damage, which became one hundred and fifty if they hit the body and two hundred for head shots. With their meagre armour and ranks, any dwarf hit in the head was definitely slain, and many of those struck in the shoulder or body were similarly killed outright. 
 
    That first volley alone wiped out a hundred-odd, a full third, of the rear-guard of dwarves. Then as most of the wood elves reloaded their crossbows a handful cut the bindings for the swinging logs and released them.  
 
    Three twenty-foot-long logs swooshed through the air and slammed into the side of the depleted dwarf squares. The dwarves were prepared in a way and had their shields in place, but even with their shields up, the sheer force of the heavy logs colliding with them smashed shields to pieces, broke arms, and only fractionally reduced the momentum of the spiked logs as they battered and impaled my enemies. 
 
    The spikes had been enchanted in the same way as those in my dungeon, just to add to the pain and every dwarf in the first two ranks caught up in the log sweep was killed, another seventy-five added to the tally. 
 
    The logs momentum flung the dead and dying onto the back ranks, though the logs went clear over their heads. 
 
    Then as the spiked logs swung back the other way the elves above had finished reloading and fired their second volley into those dwarves who had been lucky enough to be on the far side of the ambush. More of these bolts were intercepted on shields but close to another fifty of the low-ranked dwarves slumped dead to the forest floor and the remaining seventy-five or so, broke and ran into the trees behind them. 
 
    Those that didn’t run headlong into a pit were picked off by the assassins and wood-elf ambushers who waited beyond those manufactured traps. 
 
    “Teotune,” I spoke into the ear of the Amazon woman. “Send a few of your elves all the way down the line and release the remaining swinging log traps before the dwarves at the front of the column have a chance to adjust. Then arrange your troops to shoot along the front of the column, ignore the new back three squares.” 
 
    “Yes, Master,” she answered me. 
 
    I refocused the DDD on our main strike force who had assembled behind the dwarf column. “Jessamyn, Jen, Nessa, the weak back three squares of their formation have been slaughtered, time for you to hit the more competent groups ahead of them.” 
 
    “As you will, Husband,” Jessamyn answered solemnly and signalled her forces to advance. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer smiled gleefully and nudged her sabretooth forward. 
 
    “Let’s scalp some dwarves,” Nessa cackled wildly. 
 
    The infernal minotaurs and trolls led the way and rumbled forward at a steady jog. It would take them maybe a minute to hit the back of the dwarf lines, unless the dwarves elected to meet their charge once they were spotted. 
 
    I didn’t need to relay orders to my other warwolf self. He already had his wood elves scrambling up into the trees to shoot at the dwarves’ furthest forward square. That would either draw more of them into the denser foliage where they would be picked apart or he would emerge with his smaller army and attack them when Jessamyn’s group had hit the rear. 
 
    Over the next thirty seconds each of the remaining square formations got to eat a swinging spiked log, some of the squares weren’t perfectly positioned for the trap and the log only clipped a corner of their formation which was unfortunate. 
 
    Also, the shield walls of the central five squares, made up of the strongest dwarves, had been able to stop the momentum of the logs completely when they slammed into them and took almost no casualties. They clearly lost Health from the impact, though. Many of them downed Health potions afterwards and had to discard, now useless, shields. 
 
    The spiked logs were most effective on the front two squares and slew roughly fifty dwarves in each group. The chaos the traps caused also made it easier for the tree-borne wood elves to pick their targets and drop even more of them. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    I blinked as the ‘update’ from my eye in the sky avatar flowed into me. 
 
    “All of you, we are moving forward now,” I barked out my order to the few disciples and the small army with me. “They are in complete disarray and easy pickings but be ready for the order to withdraw if we draw too much heat, too early.” 
 
    “Yes, Master,” echoed around me. 
 
    With that, we pushed our way through the ferns and underbrush and out onto the trail. 
 
    Except for the twelve hobgoblins. 
 
    I gave them different orders and soon they were climbing up the rope ladder into the walkways in the leafy canopies. The thirty-six hobgoblins at the other end had been similarly ordered into the treetops by Jessamyn. 
 
    If my slight adjustment to the plan drew the bulk of the stronger dwarves to us, then me, up above, would inform us via the DDD and we could melt back into the forest if necessary. 
 
    The scene before us was anarchy, the spiked logs continued to swing back and forth. Although the logs momentum had started to fade it still interfered with the Brigade’s capacity to reform. 
 
    There were dead and severely hampered dwarves lying or crawling on the forest floor. Our opponents were so distracted by what had just happened they didn’t notice our arrival at first. 
 
    By the time they did, we were already in motion and ran down any dwarf that continued to show any kind of life. The second two squares had been made up of slightly higher-ranked dwarves than the first square formation, but still lower than us and the individual battles didn’t last long. 
 
    I mentally commanded my wood elves to drop out of the trees and then weave their way through the heavily forested area on the wing side to flank and fire upon the fourth square. Teotune’s wood elf force on the walkways were already suppressing them with a storm of bolts from the Core side of the trail. 
 
    This would keep that square pinned down unless they chose to make for the denser part of the forest, which so far, they had refused to do. 
 
    In less than two minutes I pulled my double-headed maul from the crushed skull of my latest victim, glanced about and knew we had wiped out the second and third squares as well as the first. More than seven hundred dwarves dead and the entirety of six of their formations annihilated. 
 
    However, these had been the weakest the Brigade had to offer. It was time to rectify that, but I’d let my avatar upstairs handle it. 
 
    I lifted my head back and let loose with an almighty howl. My howl was met by the battle-cries of my companions. The dryads healed up our wounds and we charged towards the cowering lines of the fourth Brigade formation. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    I watched with amusement as the Brigade’s command group flip-flopped from the sudden turn of events. Things were not going how they expected when they came charging into my domain fifteen-hundred strong, especially now that number had been cut in half. 
 
    Jessamyn had led her army forward and hit their back formation. The minotaurs had Multi-Hexed the shit of that square before they and the trolls ploughed into them. This tipped the balance heavily in their favour and the dwarven line had crumbled. 
 
    These dwarves had been ranked over twenty, and as they had much higher stamina they didn’t go down as quickly, but they did go down. 
 
    This was the seventh square formation wiped out, but now Jessamyn’s army was going toe-to toe with dwarves that closely matched them, and the forward impetus had slowed as a result. 
 
    My alternate down on the field of battle led his people into the new dwarven frontline at the head of the column. He had fewer melee troops, but the dwarves also had Teotune’s wood elf battalion harassing them. 
 
    Thorvik’s plaited steel-grey beard swung from side-to-side as his head whipped from one end of the battle to the other. The screams of dying dwarves and the exultation of my people as they slew them rang in his ears. 
 
    “What are ya’ orders?” one of his High Drottinn demanded. “Do we head into the trees? 
 
    “No!” Thorvik barked at that suggestion. “There be too many of those pointy-eared bitches to risk tha’ trees. We stay on tha’ trail.” 
 
    “Then what?” Bargarrak squeaked, panic pushing his voice an octave or two higher than intended. 
 
    “We push forward, through ar’ own, if necessary. The Wolf King be at the front, we kill tha’ bastard and the rest will go down easy. The Smith watches and we will nay fail him,” Thorvik ordered with more confidence than he truly felt. 
 
    I laughed heartily at his decision. 
 
    That the yelled information he’d received from the engaged dwarves was that my battle-self had far fewer troops than Jessamyn’s army at the rear would have played no part in his decision to go forward, I’m sure. 
 
    Regardless, I couldn’t allow them to push through to the battle line. The command square was indeed formidable and would likely be strong enough to despatch Jessamyn’s army, let alone mine that was a quarter of the size. However, they had so kindly refused to disperse into the forest and maintained their very tightly packed formation. 
 
    I gave them a moment to surge forward and press in nice and close to the next formation before I sent my order to the hobgoblins in the canopy walkways. “Light them up.” 
 
    All forty-eight of them unleashed a Fireball that dealt two hundred and forty points of Heat damage and had a diameter of fifteen feet into the packed dwarven masses below them. That the trail they were on was about fifteen feet wide was no accident. It did mean their squares were really slightly rectangular.  
 
    I had separated the hobgoblins into three groups, two of twelve and a the third of twenty-four. The group of twenty-four all spread their Fireballs on the command group. The other two groups centred theirs on the formations either side of that group. 
 
    The Fireballs were large enough to engulf the dwarves on the trail and burn back some of the underbrush in the forest, but they didn’t reach as high as the canopies, so my hobs and the elves up there didn’t suffer any blowback. 
 
    Presuming the dwarves were not wearing Heat resistant armour, which we had no reason to believe they were, then those caught up in the conflagration of the command group stood to potentially take 5,760 points of Heat damage, depending on the spread. 
 
    A generous estimation of a rank ninety dwarf’s natural stamina would be two hundred, giving them four thousand Health. Their armour would be enchanted, and would likely include extra Stamina, but if by some miracle that provided enough Health that they survived they would quickly learn that my enchanted hobs weren’t out of Mana or offensive spells. 
 
    The red and black cloud of flame dispersed, and the scene below was one of scorched and melted carnage. Almost every dwarf in the Brigade’s centre was dead including Thorvik and his four High Drottinn. They lay there burned and bereft of life, smouldering for my amusement, their beards singed from their faces. 
 
    A handful of those in the three central formations had managed to survive, mostly they had been on the periphery where perhaps the hobs aim hadn’t been perfect, and they took a little less damage than the others or they had just enough stamina to survive the lesser damage of twelve fireballs. The hobs finished them off with Flame Bolts quickly. 
 
    The utter destruction of the Brigade’s finest did not go unnoticed by the handful of formations that were more or less still intact, which wasn’t many. 
 
    They quickly realised what Thorvik and his lieutenants failed to understand, they were outmatched and on ground specifically prepared for this encounter. 
 
    Remaining penned in and exposed to whatever else I could throw at them from above was tantamount to suicide. So, they did the only thing they could, and broke for the trees, hoping they could find or fight their way back to the tunnel entrance and escape my dungeon. 
 
    This happened first at the back of the column, with those who were engaged with Jessamyn’s army, it made more sense for them to come to this conclusion, they were closer to the tunnel entrance after all. 
 
    The lead dwarf at the back end ordered those already engaged to hold the line and then he and his followers ran into the trees, hoping to work their way around the battle. Those that managed to avoid the pitfalls, dark elf assassins, and wood elf snipers then found the tunnel entrance guarded by an assortment of my dungeon’s creatures and Eina. 
 
    None of these beasts individually would trouble a dwarf ranked in the low thirties as most of these were. All of them at the same time was another story entirely. 
 
    Their fate wasn’t aided as some of the dryads from Jessamyn’s army, no longer needed on the collapsed front line, backtracked to help keep the mobs in fighting shape. 
 
    Those that ‘held the line’ at the back of the column lost heart when they realised they’d actually been abandoned and capitulated quickly. 
 
     The front of the column held up better and maintained hope for a short while longer, but when they glanced behind them and saw almost thirty ‘Blood Raged’ rampaging minotaurs lowing as they rapidly closed the distance, they emulated their back column colleagues and legged it. 
 
    Leaving those engaged with me to suffer the consequences. 
 
    The front of the columns had less of an idea as to where they should run and went in all directions, many fleeing deeper into the wing. A handful of them even made it through to the way into my Core room, but Tabitha and the mobs I’d left for her to command dealt with them. 
 
    It took another hour to finish mopping up, with me directing the wood elves to where the dwarves who had run deepest were hiding. 
 
    Finally, it was done. 
 
    The battle was over, every last dwarf that entered the tunnels and dared to set foot in my dungeon was dead. 
 
    Thorvik had left a few of his people in the outpost to protect it. After a quick word with Simeon a host from the Dark Moon Rising were on the move to retake the building before the Brigade held it long enough to re-dedicate it. They already had a direct line from Alpha House; I would just need to construct a new exit for them. 
 
    They wouldn’t be able to squeeze out of the whole that Piotr had. 
 
    The losses we incurred, which wouldn’t have been permanent unless the dwarves had somehow succeeded, were remarkably low. Apart from the goblins I’d thrown away as a distraction and bunch of dungeon creatures at the end, only eleven infernal minotaurs, seventeen trolls and three of my disciples had lost their ‘lives’. 
 
    The trap had been incredibly effective, and best of all, with the moratorium on the Arbiter and the Lords spying on my dungeon, they had no way to know how I did it. All they would know was the Brigade went in and they didn’t come back out. 
 
    I’d given Alyssa my blessing to join the rest of my disciples, the life-seeded and my other self in the Banquet Hall where celebrations were under way while I had monitored the wrap up. 
 
    I was on the verge of dissolving this avatar and merging with my other self when there was a distinctive howl alert from the DDD. 
 
    My dungeon had just been challenged. 
 
    Properly. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
      
 
      
 
      
 
    Chapter 13 
 
      
 
      
 
    Who could it be? Was it a group from the Dark Moon Rising taking advantage of a period where they had been told not to go in to do something forbidden? 
 
    I thought that unlikely, Simeon and I had purged the guild of most of those who clung to that kind of mindset. The few who remained had seen what happened to those that took the plunge and had firmly kept their inclinations to themselves since then. 
 
    I sat my ass back down on the black leather couch and summoned the relevant information up onto the main screen in the Viewing Lounge and all was swiftly revealed. 
 
    It was a party from the Sons of the Shadow led by the Guild Master, Nel’Van Lackspire. 
 
    They had come in twenty-strong. Nel’Van was rank fifty-one, and the highest-ranked member of the party, but none of them were below rank forty-three. A very strong group under normal circumstances but as the Brigade had just aptly demonstrated if they came for my core, the rules changed, and they stood no chance.  
 
    My mind flashed back to Nel’Van’s parting conversation with Simeon after the guild conclave. He had promised to counsel his guild against trying to destroy us but had been unconvinced he would be successful. He had suggested then that we had maybe two weeks. It had been a little longer than that, especially down here. 
 
    Back then, I’d learned what I could of Nel’Van and the Sons. Jen’Zadeer had been a useful source of information, of course. But several groups from the guild had ventured into my halls semi-regularly and I’d observed their runs, listening in to their conversations etc. 
 
    From what I could tell from the information I’d accumulated, Nel’Van was a peculiarly honourable dark elf. An elf born then cast aside into the gutter, he had risen to some mercantile prominence within the Realms before his untimely death. 
 
    He had been noted as saying, more than once, that all he was born with was his word and his honour and he would never give them up. Nel’Van was a dark elf whose word could be trusted, a rare thing amongst the Spires I’m told. It was also what got him killed, when he refused the demands of a Matriarch to break an agreement with a rival of hers.  
 
    No matter, they would be dealt with. In fact, this presented me with an opportunity. 
 
    The Sons of the Shadow had a strange guild structure where the official Guild Master ceded overall control of the guild. He was only the Chair of a council of five that made all the decisions. A position usually held by a houseless dark elf, like Nel’Van, lower-ranked than the rest of the council. These other council members typically represented some of the more influential Spires within dark elf society. 
 
    Nel’Van respected this guild structure, but he was undeniably popular with the rank and file of the Sons of the Shadow, many of whom were essentially Lackspire’s like him. I believed I could turn this, and him, to my advantage. 
 
    Their run had begun, and it was no surprise they made their way through the Caverns of Jen’Zadeer. The first floor, even in challenge mode, wouldn’t present them any difficulties. The second floor would be much trickier, but until then I sat back comfortably and watched. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    Nel’Van Lackspire 
 
    We had completed the first floor mostly unscathed. The behaviour of the assassins differed from what we’d experienced on our earlier runs, but that was to be expected in a challenge. 
 
    Dwarves may be arrogant and overconfident, but they are competent warriors. A dungeon like this wouldn’t have survived multiple attempts by the Black Hills Brigade to destroy it without a few tricks up its sleeve. 
 
    If only the rest of the council had listened to me. 
 
    We had just finished slaying the infernal minotaur, dark elf sorceress, and a pair of sabretooth panthers that acted as the floor’s final guardians. Although the bull-man and sorceress had been well within our oversized group’s capacity to defeat, they had been much stronger than anticipated. Another mark to note that all was not as it seemed. 
 
    Which of course, was the cue for one of the Spire-born to speak. 
 
    “Pathetic!” En’Dak Cerzan sneered. “This is the best that shatzah Shadestar bitch could put up. One lousy arena slave and a subpar magic-user.” 
 
    En’Dak had a talent for understatement, omitting the presence of two sabretooth panthers or that the sorceress was ‘subpar’ only in comparison to Jen’Zadeer herself. Unfortunately, his cousin, another scion of house Cerzan held one of the five council seats in the guild, and I had no choice but to bring him on this exploratory challenge. 
 
    A challenge I voted against. 
 
    Although, as the only council member whose rank was low enough to currently enter the Caverns it was my duty to lead the first expedition, regardless of my personal misgivings. 
 
    Thankfully, apart from En’Dak and three others, who were also the personal representatives of the other three council members that all voted in favour of this foolishness, the rest of the party were sensible veterans who approached this run with the seriousness it deserved.  
 
    “En’Dak, this is merely the end of the first floor,” I tried to reason with the man. 
 
    En’Dak snorted derisively in response. 
 
    “Listen up!” I commanded the group. “I said this at the open council session, but I’ll say it again for the benefit of any of you with attention difficulties.” 
 
    That got a few half-laughs. “Despite outward appearances, this dungeon is deadly. For the past several weeks, ever since the Caverns was taken over by the Lair, my people have searched both the Grounds and City, high and low, for someone, anyone, that has challenged either dungeon or the Forest of Xanathia and come out to tell the tale. Do you know what we found?” 
 
    I paused for a moment to let my words to sink in. “No one. Not a single person, two Life dungeons for Spire’s sake, and not a single successful challenger to be found. Now, I don’t care if you’re of the same opinion as the rest of the council. That the lack of challengers is due to the Dark Moon Rising protecting their asset. We shall approach this run with the caution it deserves. If you suffered any wounds during the fight, take a healing potion. We will wait before we move on.” 
 
    “Shatzah sniffing coward,” En’Dak muttered in a stage whisper and then glared at me. 
 
    I refused to give the fool the satisfaction of an angry retort and ignored him. 
 
    With any luck, his attitude would get him killed shortly and then we could have a bit of peace and quiet. The other three council stooges were of a similar mind but at least they had the common sense to keep their mouths shut. 
 
    We waited fifteen minutes for the potion cooldown to expire and then passed through the passage which led onto the Caverns second floor. 
 
    The Sons had already sent a few groups to try the second floor, so we were aware that it was mostly one gigantic, submerged chamber. As we walked out of the adjoining passage, we had to duck our heads, there was only five feet of clearance to the ceiling of the cavern. 
 
    This initial vestibule area was maybe thirty feet in diameter and led to the pool of dark water that we would have had to swim through to get to the next ledge with a pocket of breathable air. There was a steel stake hammered into the faintly glittering rock of the chamber floor and attached to the stake was an iron chain that ran into the depths of the water. 
 
    The reports from our earlier scouting parties indicated that if you couldn’t swim you could pull yourself along on the chain, and it led to the next breathable area. They also reported many branching tunnels that led off from the guiding chain. 
 
    The stronger swimmers had left the chain several times and explored some of these other flooded tunnels. Some were quicker ways to the air pockets, but others were dead ends or simply led back to the guiding chain a few feet away from where you started. 
 
    There were twenty air pocket way stations we had to travel between to get to the end of the submerged cavern. After that, all that remained was the final gallery cavern with Jen’Zadeer Shadestar and several more of the dungeon’s women, if you didn’t count moving on to the Core. We had no idea what we would face there. 
 
    No surviving challengers to tell the tale. 
 
    I’d insisted that every person on this first challenge could swim. We also had some preliminary mapping of the complex, provided by those scout parties, which all members of this first challenge group should have memorised to the best of their ability and had copies of in their inventory. However, it was a large complex to recall, and the parchment wouldn’t be of any use to you if you lost your way or panicked while in the water. 
 
    “Karoth, your squad is up first,” I said to a white-haired dark elf, garbed in leathers and bandoliers of throwing knives. 
 
    Karoth nodded to me wordlessly, and he and three others moved forward and waded into the pool. The water reached up to their chests by the time they reached the end of this cavern. They took a deep breath, ducked their heads under the water and disappeared from view. 
 
    I had separated the raiding party into five squads of four, who would take turns exploring the flooded tunnels and then come back and tell the rest of the group if it was safe to follow. It should take them two minutes to reach the air pocket with a ledge where they could recuperate and catch their breath. 
 
    Suffocation damage would vary depending on the person and when they last inhaled, but on average we should each get three minutes before any loss of Health began. If all went well, one of Karoth’s squad should be back in about five minutes to inform us that the tunnel was safe for the rest of us. 
 
    “I don’t know why we are waiting,” En’Dak scoffed. “At this rate, we’ll be lucky to harvest the dungeon’s core once, let alone three times. We should be picking up the pace,” he grumbled. 
 
    I flicked my eyes to his and made sure he caught my gaze and nodded my head towards the pool of cold, dark, water. The Sons of the Shadow were not a tyranny, which is why we followed the will of a council and not a single Guild Master. En’Dak and the other three housed dark elves were free to go on ahead alone if they chose and En’Dak knew that. 
 
    His eyes left mine and grazed the pool before he turned his back on me, muttering under his breath. 
 
    Just as I thought. The dark elf males of the houses liked to throw their weight around and looked down on the houseless, but without the might of a Spire behind them, they were reluctant to act on their weighty words. 
 
    Five minutes passed, but there was no sign of Karoth’s squad. 
 
    Then the chain twitched on the hammered stake sharply. The stake held firm but the chain had been tugged with more force than someone pulling themselves along it. 
 
    Another five minutes went by and then another. En’Dak and his squad were getting increasingly demanding that we do something, but I told them we would give Karoth a few minutes more. I trusted him. 
 
    Just as I was about to give orders for another team to go in after them, Karoth splashed from the depths and gasped for breath. 
 
    I rushed into the water and with the aid of a few others and pulled my friend up onto the rocky cavern floor. 
 
    “Karoth, what happened? Are the rest of your team alright?” I asked with concern. 
 
    Karoth held his hand up, wordlessly asking us to give him a few more seconds to recover some air. “They are alive, Nel’Van,” he gasped at last. 
 
    I let out a deep sigh of relief, expelling my own breath that I’d not realised I’d been holding. 
 
    I helped Karoth sit up and he nodded his appreciation before he explained what happened. “The end of the chain has been moved and does not lead to the next air pocket. I’m sorry, Nel’Van but I hadn’t been keeping track of how long we’d been under and when the chain came to an end underwater, we’d already been down there long enough that we began to suffocate.” 
 
    “We turned back, and followed the chain to return here, but about halfway back a grate fell into place that blocked our way.” 
 
    I thought to myself that must have been when there was a sharp tug on the chain, but Karoth hadn’t finished his explanation. 
 
    “Luckily, Tondrun has an excellent memory and figured out where we were and led us through the tunnels, around the grate blocking our path. By that point, we’d been underwater for ten minutes and we were closer to the first air pocket than the entrance, so we swam there. I took a potion to recover some of my lost Health and came back. If you get the map out, I can show you the path we need to take.” 
 
    I looked pointedly at En’Dak who refused to meet my gaze. 
 
    From then on, we largely kept to the original plan, but we no longer relied on the guiding chain. 
 
    Whichever team was pathfinding mapped out the route we needed to take. 
 
    This was fairly simple for the next four air pockets. The scout teams had drawn on our rudimentary maps where the chains led, so the explorers were able to follow those directions and conclude when the chains diverged from their previous placement and we covered the first quarter of the flooded cavern complex in just over an hour. 
 
    After that, the teams that went first found the blocking grates had already been dropped. They were forced to stay under for longer and find an alternative way around. This meant we consistently began to lose Health as the fastest way we could find was usually at least five minutes underwater. Much longer for those who went first and had to find the way in the first place.  
 
    En’Dak and his squad continued to grumble to themselves at the lost time, but it was more disappointment at the lost opportunity for advancement than the burgeoning insubordination from earlier. 
 
    The spire-born may be full of themselves but they weren’t stupid. Stupid doesn’t survive adolescence in the Spires. 
 
    Our progress was slow but steady, and we were only three air pockets from the end when the dungeon run truly began to unravel. 
 
    Karoth’s group had led the way to this pocket, and as the main party hauled themselves out of the water and onto the cavern floor, I did a quick count as I recovered my breath. There were only nineteen of us, we were one short. 
 
    I waited for a few moments longer. Nobody came out of the depths. 
 
    “Karoth, Ibrene hasn’t come out. I need your squad to dive back down and find him,” I ordered. 
 
    “Yes, sir,” Karoth replied. 
 
    He and his three teammates didn’t hesitate to go back in, 
 
    We waited for several minutes until Karoth and his team re-emerged in the pocket and they carried a limp Ibrene with them. We dragged him up onto the rocky floor, but it was too late. He was gone. 
 
    “The bloody shatzah-sniffing fool must have taken a wrong turn and panicked,” En’Dak announced to the group, with false certainty. 
 
    I looked at Karoth for his report. 
 
    “We found him in the tunnel section that we were following. It’s possible he took a wrong turn and had found his way back to the correct tunnel before he drowned,” he suggested doubtfully. 
 
    “Except, he wasn’t under for long enough, though, was he,” Tondrun added darkly. 
 
    Tondrun was correct. Unless Ibrene hadn’t been drinking potions as ordered he shouldn’t have drowned in the time it took Karoth’s squad to find him and drag him out. 
 
    “No, he shouldn’t have. We’ve already seen many unexpected changes in the dungeon. The only sensible conclusion is despite the scouts stating the tunnels contained no monsters, there is indeed something in the water,” I stated. 
 
    “No more scout teams. We all go, and if we have to come back and heal up, we have the time, so we will do that. Unless anybody thinks turning back is a better idea?” I asked the group. 
 
    “Fuck no,” Karoth declared. “This is all one giant chamber. Whatever might be in the water can follow us if we backtrack. Better to go forward.” 
 
    “Agreed,” En’Dak said. 
 
    For once, I found myself on the same page as the elf from Spire Cerzan. 
 
    We waited another twenty minutes before we moved on once more into the dark watery depths. 
 
    Being dark elves, the darkness underwater wasn’t debilitating in the way it might be for the surface-dwelling races, but it was undeniably murky, and the last leg of this journey required us to go deeper and further into the flooded tunnel complex than we had before. Visibility down there, even for us, was severely limited. A few feet at most. 
 
    The party was forced to retreat back to the safety of the last known air pocket chamber twice before we managed to locate the correct route to the next breathable area. We didn’t lose anybody, but every retreat required us to wait another twenty minutes and our stock of Health potions was not bottomless. 
 
    I was forced to require every member of the group to report on how many they had and redistribute potions to those who had used up most of their stock. 
 
    Predictably, En’Dak and his squad had the largest supply and proved the most reluctant to part with them. 
 
    Even with the redistribution, we lost two more party members, one of them from En’Dak’s squad, before we made it to the last waypoint. 
 
    Whether they lost their way in the dark or were dragged into a side tunnel to their deaths I didn’t know, and we could no longer afford to send anyone back to retrieve them. 
 
    I surveyed the sixteen other dark elf men as they shivered and huddled together for warmth. The cavern and water were cold, our clothing and armour were sodden. 
 
    We were hardy enough that had we made our way through the complex in the couple of hours it took the original scout teams to traverse the chamber we would have been unaffected. Instead, we had been in here for close to ten hours and all of us had begun suffering mobility penalties when we reached the previous air pocket, making the going even slower. There was no Health lost, but we were also becoming increasingly vulnerable to Cold damage, which we knew Jen’Zadeer Shadestar utilised. 
 
    “Alright, we have one more leg to go. Keep together we are almost there,” I encouraged the group. 
 
    There were a few exhausted head nods, but their reluctance to submerge themselves in the water again was obvious. 
 
    The Wolf King was diabolically clever. From the perspective of a regular run, his dungeons seemed straightforward and easy to complete, but with a few minor adjustments, they became so much more difficult and dangerous. 
 
    Once we made it to his core, I doubted even En’Dak would push for us to continue and try one of the other paths for a second harvest with how draining this one had proved to be. 
 
    I put those thoughts aside as I led by example and stepped into the frigid water once more. One more leg to go was the mantra I kept repeating in my mind. 
 
    We had been under the water for five minutes and had started to take suffocation damage, but our progress had been excellent. We could see the soft luminescence of the tunnel exit ahead of us. We wouldn’t need to turn back, not even once. 
 
    I felt the elation in my heart and instantly knew the danger we were in. 
 
    Although the other tunnel exits had some illumination, it hadn’t been this bright or visible from so far away. I knew what was about to happen, but communication underwater was difficult at the best of times. 
 
    My frantic gestures that we were about to come under attack, and we needed to maintain our discipline and formation went unobserved or ignored by all apart from my squad. Those ahead of me swam as fast as they could, making for the light, while those behind fought to push us from the path so they could do the same. 
 
    This left my squad last in the tunnel, which turned out to be a boon. 
 
    Seconds after the trailing group had pushed past my squad, I saw them slither from alcoves ahead of us. Huge eels, ten feet long, joined us all along the final tunnel, two dozen of them, maybe more. 
 
    There were a couple of eels that had emerged behind me and my squad, but most of them had come out closer to the tunnel exit. They didn’t attack at first but surrounded the frantically swimming dark elves. When they got close the eels whole bodies shook suddenly. 
 
    I was hit by a wave of numbing pain and recognised it as electrical damage before I lost consciousness briefly. 
 
    I was awakened by the savage bite of one of these eels on my midriff. I hadn’t been out for very long, and I drew a pair of daggers from their sheaths on my hips and stabbed the eel in its eyes. 
 
    The creature retreated from me and sought easier prey, further up the tunnel. 
 
    Something I quickly saw there was plenty of. Most of those ahead of my squad floated bonelessly or were already being dragged into the alcoves by the eel attackers to their inevitable deaths. 
 
    I quickly shook sense back into my squad-mates, by the time we were ready to push forward the rest of the party had been cleared from the tunnel by the eels. There were a handful of the lengthy beasts that remained to block our path but when we swam up and worked as a team, we quickly despatched them. 
 
    The four of us burst from beneath the dark, cold, liquid and crawled out into the well-lit chamber which was blessedly heated or at least seemed so compared to the icy waters. 
 
    I coughed up the water I had swallowed into my lungs while unconscious and mentally reviewed my Health position. Less than a quarter remaining, and I doubted the rest of my squad were any better. I’m not sure we had enough Health potions to heal the damage we had taken before moving on. 
 
    Such thoughts flew from my mind as I heard a slow clapping echo across the rock walls. 
 
    From the far side of the cavern, perhaps thirty feet from where we lay gasping, sat Jen’Zadeer Shadestar atop one of her monstrous sabretooth panthers. 
 
    It was her that had been clapping us with a look of amusement on her face. 
 
    The dark elf dungeon mistress was flanked by a second sabretooth panther with a pale dark-haired woman with a wide smile and visible fangs sitting astride it. There was also a blue-skinned woman with sea-green hair who shook water from herself, who had to be a naiad. As well as a collection of other well-armed women. 
 
    The Wolf King’s disciples, some of them at any rate. 
 
    There was an assemblage of infernal minotaurs and goblins behind the women too, but in our current weakened condition, it didn’t really matter. 
 
    “Congratulations, Nel’Van,” Jen’Zadeer spoke when she stopped the slow hand clap. “We weren’t sure if any of you were going to make it.” 
 
    “Eina,” and the dark elf woman gestured to the wet naiad standing beside her predatory mount. “Has been having so much fun toying with you down there. It’s not often she gets an opportunity to play in an environment suited to her skills. She was ready to drag one of you out if need be, but it’s better that you managed it for yourselves.” 
 
    I closed my eyes. Toying with us, of course they had been. With a naiad and those eels, they could have picked off entire scout groups much earlier. We were fucked the moment we set foot in here. 
 
    I hauled myself to my feet and opened my mouth to speak, when Jen’Zadeer waved at me, which was strange. And then I was hit in the chest by an Ice Blast, the damage was minimal, but I had also been paralysed and fell to my knees. 
 
    My eyes continued to function, so I witnessed the women surge forward and slay my companions with relative ease. My men put up a spirited resistance but had been heavily weakened by all we had endured and had little left to give, but give it they did and I was immensely proud of them. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer sauntered up to me, but instead of striking the final blow, she put a hand on her hip and lifted my chin and looked me directly in the eyes. 
 
    “My master, Daxas, desires a word with you, Nel’Van,” she said. 
 
    Then she snapped her fingers, and I was soon bound in chains and thrown over the shoulders of Jen’Zadeer’s sabretooth panther. She remounted the beast and guided it deeper into the dungeon where I would surely meet my fate. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    Daxas 
 
    I entered my core chamber and jumped up onto the dais where my throne sat. I’d needed to extend both the dais and the throne to accommodate my growing harem. The area was big enough for Jabba the Hutt to seat himself comfortably now. 
 
    I sat down in the centre and Jessamyn, Karragh and Alyssa seated themselves at my side. Tenzing plopped himself down on the separate couch I had situated ahead of the throne. 
 
    Nel’Van’s party had given the Caverns a thorough test in challenge mode and it had been even more successful than I’d hoped for. The environmental debuffs they’d been afflicted with after being wet and cold for eight hours had been an unexpected revelation. 
 
    I could exacerbate that debuff in the future by separating the giant chamber in two and inserting a High Passes advanced room in between. The frigid mountain air and wind on wet bodies in those rooms would accelerate the application of the debuff. 
 
    All thoughts for later as Jen’Zadeer, on her panther, stalked into the room with a bound and helpless Nel’Van. Marux, who had been standing in the corner of the core room strode over and lifted the dark elf man from the panthers back and then deposited him in front of the dais. 
 
    Nel’Van looked up at me, his dark blue eyes showed no sign of defeat, despite his current circumstances. I’d no doubt he stared down the Matriarch who had him executed in the same manner. 
 
    I instantly liked the man. I did hope he wasn’t going to force me to send him to the Infernal Reaches. 
 
    “Marux, the chains aren’t necessary. I’m sure Nel’Van would feel more at home if he could move his arms,” I smiled. 
 
    Marux grunted and Nel’Van stared at me suspiciously. The minotaur adeptly unwrapped the binding chains from Nel’Van and stepped back. 
 
    Meanwhile, Jen’Zadeer had slipped herself from the saddle of her sabretooth panther mount and dismissed him back to the dungeon. She joined me up on the throne and was shortly joined by Krista, Eina and the rest of her ring of women as they trooped back into the core room after her. 
 
    I merely rested my back against the throne and grinned knowingly at the dark elf who remained stoically silent. 
 
    I snapped my fingers and appearing behind Nel’Van were the rest of his delving party in the zombified state of the fallen. 
 
    “Here are the rest of your party Nel’Van, safe and sound, sort of,” I told him. “I’m bending the rules somewhat by summoning them here as technically your challenge run isn’t concluded until your death. But I’ve found that if you know what you are doing, the Proving Grounds can be quite accommodating.” 
 
    “It’s not just the Proving Grounds that can be accommodating, and you definitely know what you’re doing, darling,” Alyssa suggested lewdly, to a round of giggling and gentle thigh-slapping from my ladies. 
 
    I chuckled along and I even saw the hint of a smile, quickly suppressed, on Nel’Van’s lips. 
 
    “Why am I here?” Nel’Van spoke at last. 
 
    Before answering I adjusted the zombification of the other dark elves. They couldn’t move or speak, but they were now aware. They would witness this conversation, though what came after was entirely dependent on Nel’Van Lackspire. 
 
    “You are here because your guild foolishly chose to challenge me. Tried to take what is mine. I will not allow that,” I growled with menace. 
 
    Nel’Van took a step backwards, my aura’s buffeting him, but he quickly recovered his composure. “That is not what I meant.” 
 
    “I know. But I thought this would go more smoothly if I made it clear that I have zero tolerance for those who oppose me in any way. Jen’Zadeer Shadestar belongs to me.” 
 
    Jen’Zadeer let out a little sigh of happiness when I said this. She had come a long way from the haughty noble who threatened to cut my cock off and rub shit in the wound. 
 
    “To harm her is to oppose me and will be answered without mercy,” I finished. 
 
    Nel’Van took a few dry swallows and licked his lips before he spoke again. “If that is the case, why are we conversing? Regardless of the threat you have just issued, this doesn’t strike me as particularly merciless.” 
 
    I chuckled at Nel’Van’s logical bravado. “I knew I’d like you, Nel’Van. Two reasons, first, you being here presents me with an opportunity I wish to explore. Secondly, if I slaughter every dumbass that walks in here, who will tell all the other prospective dumbasses of their impending fatal dumbassery.” 
 
    I may have confused Nel’Van a little at the end there. 
 
    I also neglected to mention that following recent events, I actively wanted to minimise my fallen total. The Brigade had brought more of their number to the vulnerable outpost than I’d expected. I didn’t regret slaughtering the bearded annoyances, they had been on my shit list since near the beginning. But I did want one more week before the Divine challenge countdown began. 
 
    As things stood, I was certain I’d be bumped to rank thirty-five during the next rest day. However, rank thirty-six was the magic number, as that would bring the combined rank of the Lair to one hundred and one and trigger our eligibility for the Divine challenge. Nineteen more fallen might not be enough to push me past that threshold, but there were a few days of this week left and I didn’t know how many others might leave me no choice but to take them out. 
 
    “The good news,” I continued unabated. “You should get to walk out of here today. Whether you do so alone as an abject lesson for the rest of your guild or with the rest of your team, alive and whole, depends on what you say in the next few minutes.” 
 
    I could see a thousand questions on the tip of Nel’Van’s tongue, but he wisely tamped that curiosity down. “I’m listening,” he said instead. 
 
    “Excellent,” I said and clapped my hands together. “So, I’m going to spill a few secrets, but I believe the need for circumspection has passed. The Dark Moon Rising is my guild. Simeon runs it for me, but the guild answers to me and this has been a mutually beneficial arrangement as I’m sure you’ve seen. Their rise has been impressive, has it not?” 
 
    Nel’Van’s eyebrows rose at the news. “I suspected there had to be some kind of relationship,” he said thoughtfully. “Although I hadn’t believed…it to be of that nature. What do you want of me?” 
 
    “Simple really,” I responded. “Two guilds to further my ends are better than one.” 
 
    Nel’Van sputtered at that. “Impossible! We are no tyranny and even if we were, I wouldn’t do it,” he decried. 
 
    “I think that you might, but that isn’t quite what I’m asking of you,” I reassured him. “I’m well aware of how your guild works. All I require from you is your word that if I release your team that you will honestly present the case for placing yourselves under my leadership and call for a vote to install me as the official overarching Guild Master of the Sons of the Shadow and council member, I would get two votes as Guild Master to keep the number of votes uneven and prevent deadlocks. You can even remain as Chair of the council. Obviously, a moratorium on challenging me and trying to destroy Jen’Zadeer comes as part of the package.” 
 
    “I could give you such a promise, but it would be worth nothing,” Nel’Van disagreed, shaking his head. “The other council members would never accede.” 
 
    “True enough,” I agreed. “But I’m not asking for a council vote. I want you to present this case to the entire guild and ask them to decide, not the council. That is within your power as the council’s current Chair, is it not?” 
 
    “Yes,” he said reluctantly after a moment. 
 
    The wheels were turning in his head. “The guild may still say no,” he said. 
 
    “Perhaps, but I think you underestimate your influence. I’ll tell you what, Simeon is about to go on a little expedition to the City. One which I think you and your team, who are aware of this entire conversation, by the way, will find very illuminating. If you say yes, I can send you out the exit on his front door and you can accompany him as observers.” 
 
    I switched the awareness of the other nineteen off for a moment and rose from my throne and hopped down in front of the dark elf man. 
 
    “Nel’Van, you love your guild and your brothers. Do this for them,” I said with heartfelt sincerity. 
 
    Then Jen’Zadeer spoke up unexpectedly. “If you don’t agree to this, and leave alone in disgrace, the rest of the council will use today’s failure to remove you. You know this as well as I do. It is how the Spire-born behave. They will send many more of your brothers to an avoidable demise while never risking themselves.” 
 
    “To accept is your only chance to save them, and even if you can’t convince the majority, you can take those who will listen to the Dark Moon Rising where they will prosper,” she finished. 
 
    “Why would you trust me?” Nel’Van asked. 
 
    “God damn it Nel’Van,” I laughed. “I don’t think I’ve ever met anyone so determined to fuck himself over. Let’s just say I’m a good judge of character, plus once you’ve finished observing Simeon, who you can question about our relationship, I’m fairly positive you will know what an epically poor decision it would be to turn on me.” 
 
    I returned to my throne, snapped my fingers and returned awareness to the rest of Nel’Van’s party. 
 
    “What say you Nel’Van. Will you agree to my terms or are you leaving here alone?” I asked him for the benefit of the audience. 
 
    I knew what he would choose, I’d seen it in his body language after Jen’Zadeer’s intercession. 
 
    “I will, but how? The slain can’t leave with me unless we win the challenge,” he queried. 
 
    “Unfortunately, that is true. Luckily for you, I’ve been an aggressive fucker the last few days. Karragh, would you get the chest from by the pedestals, please,” 
 
    Karragh got up from her seat and went behind the throne where the three organic metal pedestals held two emeralds and one ruby. The dungeon cores, which belonged to Jen’Zadeer, Nessa and me. 
 
    Each of those gems was much larger than they used to be. 
 
    This was something I noticed after we had conquered and destroyed the fifteen pogrom dungeons and absorbed their soul shards. Apparently, the shard part of soul shard was quite literal, the more shards you absorbed the larger your Core Crystal became, having fewer made it smaller. 
 
    When I’d understood this, I couldn’t help but think of ways to try and take advantage of it. Thus, armed with my accumulated experience in matters of the soul, I had been able to experiment when we destroyed the four orc dungeons earlier in the PGT week. 
 
    An experiment that had been wildly successful. Instead of the shards being automatically added to our Core Crystals, making them larger, I had condensed each accrued piece into separate mobile shards. 
 
    Karragh returned to me and opened the simple lockbox. Inside were thirty small red crystals, each of them was a soul shard we had taken from the orc Destruction dungeons. 
 
    I picked out one and threw it to Nel’Van who caught it deftly. “You’re giving me this? Willingly?” he asked, doubt clear on his face. 
 
    I shrugged my shoulders. “I nicked it off an orc dungeon a while ago, not a big deal for me. I wouldn’t let you touch those behind me, you understand,” I said and arched my eyebrow. 
 
    He nodded mutely in response. 
 
    “One last thing. Are you sure you want the whole team? I could keep the other council member’s lackeys if you think it would help,” I offered. 
 
    Nel’Van took a moment to look into En’Dak’s eyes. The panic and pleading in the troublesome elf plain to see. 
 
    Then Nel’Van smiled. “No, thank you. I think they will be more useful in helping to convince the housed to accept a new order.” 
 
    “As you please,” I said, though I agreed with his assessment. “Krista, Eina, if you would escort our guests through the Home floor to the hidden exit by Alpha House.” 
 
    “Yes, Master,” they replied in tandem and rose from their seats. “Nel’Van, absorb the crystal before you leave,” I ordered the dark elf man and restored mobility to his people, but I kept their mouths sealed. 
 
    I didn’t want to be inundated with questions, pleas, snide remarks, or thanks. 
 
    Nel’Van led them out of the room. 
 
    “Tenzing, do me a favour and let Simeon know they are coming and that he should take them with him when he goes to finish off the Brigade and seize their assets in the City,” I asked my blue-skinned adviser. 
 
    “It would be my pleasure, Daxas,” he replied and trotted off to the DDD. 
 
    I sat back, a satisfied smile on my face. 
 
    That had gone better than I’d hoped, and it was time to reward myself. 
 
    And I knew just the pair of catgirls whose turn it was for some sexy alone time.  
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
       
 
    

  

 
   
      
 
      
 
      
 
    Explicit Interlude 4.2 
 
    (This mini chapter contains explicit sexual content. If that’s not to your reading taste you can skip on to the next chapter without missing any story elements.) 
 
      
 
      
 
    I wandered into Yanna and Yuni’s private bedchamber. A large circular bed dominated the space, but there were a collection of colourful throws and carpets bedecking the room. Their bedroom was unusually highly vaulted, with an intricate oaken beam network overhead. The walls were dotted with several struts and ledges that led up to the beams that the cat-kin women used to scamper up and prowl around. 
 
    The room appeared empty at first glance, but the two Cougar girls were ambush predators at heart. With my heightened senses, I knew they were hidden above the threshold of the doorway but decided to play dumb and let them have their fun. 
 
    To assist in that endeavour, I had sent my clothing which would just be getting in the way to the inventory before I entered. 
 
     I heard the faint scritch of their claws digging into the wooden beams above as they readied themselves to pounce and stepped forward a touch so I could guide our fall directly onto the bed, there was no need to waste so much as a second. 
 
    With an excited dual yowl, the sisters launched themselves from the rafters and amazingly managed to avoid colliding with one another as they both landed on an opposite shoulder of mine. I tumbled forward, acting overwhelmed, and we crashed onto the middle of the bed in a heap of flesh. 
 
    Yanna and Yuni were not wearing clothes either, much to my amusement. Great minds think alike and all that. 
 
    “We caught you, Master,” Yanna giggled. 
 
    “Yes, and you know what it means when a cougar girl catches a young male in her territory don’t you, Master?” Yuni breathed lustily in turn. 
 
    I shifted my weight and flipped over onto my back and pulled both girls in close eliciting squeals of joy from the pair. 
 
    “Why don’t you enlighten me?” I inquired huskily. 
 
    “If a cougar woman catches you,” Yanna started. 
 
    “Then you have to mate with them,” Yuni finished the cheeky white lie. 
 
    Not that I was complaining about their misrepresentation of cat-kin society. 
 
    “What an extraordinary coincidence,” I chuckled. “That happens to be how things worked back home too.” 
 
    Yanna and Yuni’s feline ears pricked up at my little joke. 
 
    “I can’t imagine you were caught very often, Master,” Yanna commented. 
 
    “You are far too spry. We practised for hours to lay the perrrfect trrrap,” Yuni purred, rolling her R’s sexily. 
 
    I couldn’t help but laugh at their innocent acceptance of my statement. 
 
    “You’re quite right, they never got their claws into me, unlike the pair of you. I stayed clear of their usual hunting grounds,” I said, telling them the truth, but leaving most of the detail about what kind of ‘Cougar’ I had been referring to. 
 
    Further questions were derailed by contented purring as my hands roved across their smooth, lissom bodies. I stroked their tails; the fine hair felt silky to the touch and then pinched their supple bottoms before cupping both of them firmly. Their firm perky breasts rubbed against me most pleasantly. 
 
    Yanna and Yuni were kissing my chest and their slightly rough tongues licked and lapped at my chest, teasing my pecs while they extended their claws and raked my abdomen and thighs with perfectly applied pressure, enough to depress my flesh without cutting into the tissue. 
 
    My rod was like iron and stood at attention flanked on either side by the animated flicking of the cat girls’ tails. My hands reached around their asses and toyed with their labia, the girl’s tangy cum was plentiful and soon moans of pleasure joined their gentle purring. The sensations and display were mesmerically pleasurable and several minutes passed in idle foreplay. 
 
    But it wasn’t long before I hankered for the main course. I grabbed the back of Yanna’s neck and gently eased her up from my midriff and kissed her passionately. Then did the same for her sister Yuni. 
 
    When I broke the kiss from Yuni I said. “I think it is high time I paid the price for my lack of attention. I believe you are both owed some pleasuring,” I growled and sat up and shuffled back a bit, pulling the pair of them with me. 
 
    The twin sisters smiled and spoke in unison. “Which of us do you want first, Master?” 
 
    “First?” I said in mock surprise. “I’m having you both at the same time.” I grinned. 
 
    “Which of you has the better balance?” I asked. 
 
    This proved to be a silly question as both girls raised an arm, and then raised the other when they saw what the other had done with comical timing. 
 
    Having said that, their frantic arm-waving did jiggle their perky B-cup breasts ever so pleasantly in front of me and I may have let their disagreement continue for a smidge longer than was necessary. I cracked my open palms of their supple behinds to get their attention back on me. 
 
    “Whichever is the better balancer will be second to be filled with my cock,” I told them. 
 
    Quicker than I could snap my fingers they both completely reversed course, complimenting one another’s excellent technique and admitting their inferiority in that sphere of gymnastics. I couldn’t help but chuckle at their antics. 
 
    “Yanna, I’ve noticed you usually go first with your twin-speak, so Yuni will get my cock first. Yuni on your hands and knees in front of me, now,” I ordered to break up the effusive praise fight. 
 
    Yuni had a smug grin of satisfaction on her face as she followed my orders and positioned herself in front of me. I leant back a touch, allowing her to back up her peachy butt closer and I rested my dick in the cleft of her ass cheeks. 
 
    I pulled Yanna into my side, she’d be involved very soon but I didn’t want her to think, even for a moment, that I favoured her sister over her. With my other hand, I grasped the base of my cock and slapped Yuni’s ass cheeks with my meat pole. I started to rub my cock up and down the cleft of her ass, before brushing it over her lady lips and clit. Both teasing her pussy and lubing up my length. 
 
    When I decided Yuni and my penis were suitably prepared I angled the glans of my shaft at her pouting lips and thrust forward. Yuni’s cunny was tight but well slicked, and I entered her smoothly. The catgirl pushed her eager pussy back to enhance the transition. 
 
    Yuni moaned with ecstasy, while Yanna mewled with envy. 
 
    I started gyrating my hips and gently sliding my cock in and out her. “Now, Yuni. You are going to have to do a little more work than usual, thrusting your hips back onto me, you understand?” I growled at the beautiful catgirl impaled on my meat spear. 
 
    “Yeessss, Massster,” she moaned, and she ground herself on me enthusiastically. 
 
    “You will also have to bear some of the weight of your sister on your back,” I told her. 
 
    Simultaneously I lifted Yanna up by her hips and flipped her horizontal, with her face looking down on her sister. Yanna yelped in shock and instinctively, she put her hands out and rested them on her crouched sister’s shoulder blades. 
 
    “Master?” she asked with confusion. 
 
    All became clear to her quite quickly as I shifted one hand to support Yanna from under her flat tummy and used the other to manoeuvre her legs over my shoulders, before returning my grip to her hips and pulling her dripping pussy to my face. 
 
    Yanna purred loudly as I licked her moist folds up and down with the roughened pads of my own tongue. Then I pushed my dextrous glossal protuberance past the resistance of her labia and deep into her vaginal canal, making sure to brush her G-spot as my tongue ran over it. Her pussy clenched at the attention and squeezed my tongue tightly, so I began the corkscrewing motion my wolf nature allowed me. 
 
    Over the years I’d also learned to enact partial elements of my transformation. My tongue as a humanoid Wolf King already had significantly greater length and girth than a human tongue, but the warwolf version rivalled my cock for size when fully extended. It looked bloody daft, like an anime demon, if I let it flop about without putting it to proper use. 
 
    As Yanna’s pussy gripped my tongue her thighs tightened around my head, though not painfully so. I extended and slipped my left thumb past the thatch of tawny blonde hair that tapered to her delicious mound and vigorously massaged her clit. 
 
    With Yanna secured up top I could let go of her hip and gave the ass of the eagerly bouncing Yuni a playful smack. This sudden reminder sent her into overdrive and her pussy clenched hard on my cock as she orgasmed. 
 
    “Yeessss, Masster,” Yuni yowled loudly. 
 
    Yuni was followed a few beats later by the yowling calls of her sister as she orgasmed as well.  
 
    I had a pervy other self who was watching the show with some of my other harem members in the Viewing Lounge, so I knew Yanna’s claws had extended and dug deep enough into her sister’s shoulders to draw rivulets of blood. 
 
    This didn’t deter Yuni in the slightest, her tail thumped against my belly excitedly and she increased the intensity of the pounding of her ass onto my thighs as she speared herself deeply on my length. 
 
    We continued in this vein for several more minutes until I brought both girls to another ear-splitting orgasm. 
 
    The pair of them really could hit the high notes. 
 
    I could also see that Yuni’s arms were beginning to shake, and she fought against letting them buckle while her sister leant on her. 
 
    Fortunately, I felt that familiar aching flex in my groin that preceded an orgasm, so she wouldn’t have to hold out any longer. I shifted my hand from stimulating Yanna’s clit to her breasts to support and lift her, then lightly spanked Yuni and squeezed her supple ass so she slipped off my cock, collapsing forward onto the sheets. 
 
    With Yanna’s legs still firmly wrapped around my head I lowered her down to face my belly, grabbed my cock and angled it up and into Yanna’s open and eager mouth. 
 
    I’d thought as Yuni got to ride my cock first, Yanna should get to taste its produce. 
 
    Her tongue swirled around the head briefly, the tongue stud I’d given her rubbing the sensitive underside before I bucked my hips, and she practically inhaled half my dick. I withdrew my tongue from her pussy and pressed my lips over her engorged clitoris and flicked the tip of my tongue over it rapidly. 
 
    Yuni had recovered enough that she wanted to get in on the action, lying on her back, underneath me, her lips suckled on my swollen cum-filled balls while she grabbed her sister’s head and firmly urged her to swallow more of my length. 
 
    I felt Yanna’s throat muscles tighten around the head of my cock, as it plunged deeper, my balls twitched and contracted in response as I came, hard. My firehose disgorged its creamy contents into Yanna’s wanton mouth. 
 
    After the fourth or fifth pulse of my pearly cum, Yanna demonstrated the strength of her sisterly bond. She grabbed her sister by the hair and pulled her lapping lips from my balls, slipped my cock from her mouth between pulses and offered up my cream dispenser to her sister who greedily accepted. 
 
    When we were all done I gently lowered Yanna onto the bed, gave Yuni’s wounds a quick restorative lick, which wasn’t necessary, but she greatly appreciated the gesture. 
 
    Then over the next hour, we took turns giving one another a very thorough tongue cleaning, after which it only seemed fair to repeat our earlier activities with the twins’ switching roles. 
 
    Of course, that necessitated a second cleansing session, but nobody was complaining, least of all me. 
 
    A very good time was had by all.  
 
    

  

 
   
      
 
      
 
      
 
    Chapter 14 
 
    Simeon Reedwhistle 
 
      
 
      
 
    I trotted out of the large double doors of Alpha house. The sight before me was something I’d never thought to see. 
 
    Well, not if you’d asked me a couple of months ago, but much had changed since then. 
 
    Five hundred of my guild members who were fully equipped and assembled waiting for my order to march to war. 
 
    Their formations weren’t quite as tight and uniform as you’d expect of a professional army from the Lionnestal Empire, but they were mine and I couldn’t be prouder. 
 
    “Yorsashi! Thrasher! Over here,” I yelled over the din created by five hundred excited and chattering people. 
 
    The owl-kin and polar bear-kin left their attempts to organise some of the more independently minded guild members and came over to join me. 
 
    “Guild Chief Reedwhistle, may I thank you again for our recent elevation in status,” Yorsashi opened with. 
 
    I waved off his thanks. 
 
    Daxas harem expansion had opened up over fifty new officer positions. I hadn’t filled them all yet but including the pair of them made sense. They had proved very loyal since they’d been saved from Kennilen’s folly. 
 
    At first, I suspected they might owe their loyalty more to Daxas than me, but the hirsute and brusque Thrasher had been very forthright when he spoke that there had been no such condition as part of their release. It was difficult not to take the towering and powerful man at his terse word. 
 
    “One of our patron’s minions just had a word in my ear and we should expect guests from the Sons of the Shadow over by the primary dungeon entrance. Could you greet them and bring them to me, please?” I requested. 
 
    “At once.” Yorsashi bowed his head and Thrasher grunted lightly. 
 
    Or maybe he just breathed a little heavily, either way, they departed to collect the dark elf guild delegation. 
 
    I would normally have sent Pacclo or Arash, but I’d sent them along with Piotr and a hundred others to reclaim our newest guild outpost which I’d been informed was to be called Zeta House. I didn’t know where he got these names from, he said something about them being letters that reeked. 
 
    It didn’t matter I supposed, but it did irk me, and I couldn’t quite put my finger on why. 
 
    As usual, Daxas hadn’t bothered to inform me of his plans in advance. So, I had despatched the others a few minutes before he bugged me again and suggested we march on the City.  
 
    I would have given him a piece of my mind if the shock of the news that the Brigade had just lost over fifteen hundred members, including most of their senior leadership, hadn’t left me gobsmacked. 
 
    That and he had an annoying habit of not listening, or at least not responding, it was difficult to tell when he wasn’t physically present. 
 
    Nevertheless, this would be an historic day. Guild wars were rare, and successful Guild wars rarer still. Guild wars successfully won by a single guild are the rarest of all. I straightened my britches and walked proudly to the front of the Dark Moon Rising’s army. 
 
    It wouldn’t do for them to see the Chief grumbling to himself. 
 
    Sindar, Gorbrukken and Garbrakken were already at the head of the assembled troops. There was a chorus of “Chief” and head nods when I took my position at the front. 
 
    “Is everything ready?” I asked the wood elf scout. 
 
    “Indeed it is, Simeon,” Sindar assured me. 
 
    “Good, you’ve done an excellent job with the short timescale. Apparently, we have observers from the Sons of the Shadow accompanying us,” I informed them. 
 
    Sindar raised one perplexed eyebrow. 
 
    “Don’t ask. I have no idea how Daxas arranged to have them here in time to come with us when we didn’t know we’d be going anywhere half an hour ago,” I said. 
 
    A moment later, Yorsashi, Thrasher, and the delegation of dark elves led by none other than their Guild Master Nel’Van Lackspire walked over and joined us at the front of the column. 
 
    Was it my imagination or did these dark elves appear equally haunted and relieved? 
 
    “Guild Master Nel’Van,” I greeted him politely. “This is unexpected, but it is a pleasure to see you again.” 
 
    Nel’Van looked about him in every direction and had a thoughtful expression on his face, but eventually answered. “It is a peculiarly welcome sight to see you too, Guild Chief Reedwhistle. And not at all what I expected when I rose this morning,” he said with a mirthless laugh. 
 
    “Based on where you’ve come from, I imagine that is true,” I chuckled. “I suspect we have much to discuss but can we do so on the journey to the City. I need to get this lot moving before the less disciplined start sneaking off to the tavern.” 
 
    Nel’Van smiled at that. “Of course, Chief Reedwhistle.” He gently inclined his head in acknowledgement and stepped back, returning to the rest of his group. 
 
    I reached into my pocket for a small whistle which I’d carved myself and blew loudly. The shrill sound got the attention of all present. 
 
    “Forward march!” I yelled and walked to the open gates of the guild enclosure that led from the glade and through the forest to the main thoroughfare which led directly to the City. 
 
    My guildsmen stood there blankly for a moment and just as I thought I’d suffer the ignominy of having to turn around and order them again in front of our observers, I was granted the satisfactory sound of five hundred and more boots clomping on the road surface behind me. 
 
    We were off. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    The journey, with this many, to the City, should take about three hours. Nel’Van remained with his guild-mates, who talked among themselves quietly, for the first hour before he separated from them and joined me at the very front of the march. 
 
    I’d been walking beside my guild officers but ushered them back a few feet to give us some relative privacy. 
 
    “Simeon,” Nel’Van said by way of greeting. 
 
    “Nel’Van.” I grinned back. “It was a bit of a surprise to see you today. Inside the walls of my guild’s enclosure no less.” 
 
    Nel’Van had the good grace to grimace in embarrassment. 
 
    “Which can only mean you’ve met the Wolf King. Would you care to clue me in? Lords know he won’t,” I laughed. 
 
    Nel’Van stutter stepped in shock but regained his composure quickly. “I led a party from the Sons of the Shadow and challenged his dungeon,” he sighed. 
 
    I winced at his confession. 
 
    “That had to be a rough ride,” I consoled him. “I only know of two people who have survived a challenge.” 
 
    I paused as Nel’Van’s eyes raised in interest and gestured back to Yorsashi and Thrasher behind us. 
 
    I lowered my voice before continuing. “The pair of them were sworn to a lordling fool called Kennilen Brightmuss. Kennilen dragged them into the challenge with him. They were the only ones to walk out, or to be more precise thrown out, trussed up like a birthday gift,” I chuckled. “But he didn’t let them go out of kindness, he exacted a pledge from them to serve me.” 
 
    Nel’Van, who had leant down to hear me better, recoiled as I finished, confirming my suspicions. 
 
    “He let you go didn’t he,” I pressed the dark elf. “Were there more of you? And what did he ask of you?” 
 
    “This is all of us,” he said after a moment longer. “We were…were soundly defeated and I was the last left alive before he had me brought before him. In a manner of speaking our challenge was successful, but only because he allowed it.” 
 
    “He let you defeat him?” I squawked louder than I’d intended in shock. 
 
    “If you count him handing me a soul shard he took from another dungeon and…and exacting a pledge from me in return for the lives of my party as defeating him then yes,” he answered ruefully. 
 
    “That sounds like him,” I snorted. “What does he want?” 
 
    “He wants the Sons, much in the same way I gather he has the Dark Moon Rising,” Nel’Van confessed with resignation and a hint of melancholy. “I pledged to make the case for naming him Guild Master to my brothers. It is why I am here, he suggested that what you are doing today would assist me in convincing them. Although I’m not sure how or why that would be the case.” 
 
    The dark elf paused the conversation, and we walked in silence for a few seconds. 
 
    “You seem to be on a war footing, Simeon.” Nel’Van continued in a lighter tone, changing the subject. “I have not pried but I assume you are moving against the Black Hills Brigade.” 
 
    “You are right,” I responded. “The Brigade seized one of our outposts this morning and now we are retaliating. I’ll admit we didn’t seek approval before siting the outpost, but it was in neutral territory. A bit of a grey area where the guild precedents are concerned, for us and the Brigade, but to be honest the other guilds aren’t really a concern of mine anymore,” I finished. 
 
    Nel’Van had seen our compound and knew something of our deal with Daxas. He was a smart person and would understand what it was I hinted at. 
 
    The dark elf nodded his understanding. “Much has changed in the few weeks since we first met. We will act only as observers; we cannot be seen to provide aid. So, where is this outpost to which we are heading?” 
 
    “Zeta House is off to the East of here, but we aren’t going there,” I said. “A separate group has already retaken it from the dwarves. We are going to the City. To the Brigade’s Headquarters to finish this and eliminate their threat and guild, once and for all.” 
 
    Nel’Van’s eyes widened with surprise for the third time in as many minutes. “Simeon, you jest surely. You only have five hundred here with you. The Brigade has many more than that, many of whom are higher-ranked, and they will be boosted while defending their Headquarters. You won’t stand a chance.” 
 
    I was puzzled for a moment until it occurred to me. “Daxas didn’t tell you upfront, did he? He does like his surprises,” I sighed with a light chuckle. 
 
    “Didn’t tell me what?” Nel’Van asked with a hint of irritation, which I couldn’t blame him for. 
 
    “The Brigade is done. Fifteen hundred of them, including the High Lodungr and his four High Drottinn went into the Lair earlier today. They have not come out the way you have,” I said, dropping the stunning news. “With those losses, deaths as they’ve tried to rank up recklessly to keep up with us and the defections they’ve suffered over the last couple of weeks, we believe they left the minimum of fifty to hold their Headquarters. Five hundred will be more than enough.” 
 
    A less agile person might have fallen flat on their face from the surprise but Nel’Van handled the revelation adroitly. 
 
    “The reason for his insistence that we accompany you has become clear,” Nel’Van whispered. “How did he manage it? When our council voted to try and destroy him, to remove the Shadestar daughter, they weren’t stupid enough to send us all in, one after the other, until the first group confirmed it was possible.” 
 
    I shrugged. “Daxas seems to make the rules up as he goes along, you have experienced this yourself. He found a way to let them all go in together and they took it. If I didn’t know him the way I do, I wouldn’t blame them for taking the opportunity presented to them. Yet, they are dead, and he stands unharmed. The lesson is clear, and it’s a lesson he never grows weary of teaching, don’t fuck with him.” 
 
    “So, your advice would be to keep my word to him?” Nel’Van asked. “I don’t mean this disrespectfully, but the way you describe the Wolf King is contradictory. You seem equally perturbed and thankful.” 
 
    I couldn’t help but laugh. “That about sums it up, yes. I do find him maddening, frequently. But I can’t deny how much I, and those who follow me, have prospered under his management. I haven’t agreed with everything he has done, but he hasn’t lied to me or really even asked for anything the Dark Moon Rising hasn’t been able to give.” 
 
    “Yes, my advice would be to keep your word. He cheats, openly admits to doing so, and is very good at it. If the Sons oppose him, they will lose. If they side with him, they may win. However, I do have a word of warning,” I said, and lowered my voice. “Be under no illusions, this will not be an equal partnership.” 
 
    “I’ve felt the full force of his power, seen under the façade of the playful lothario he portrays. He may prefer for people to work with him willingly, but he can take just as easily and there is nothing you can do to stop him if he chooses to,” I warned. 
 
    Then I continued in a less grave tone. “Some of my officers disagree with me on this, but irrespective of the obvious benefits we’ve enjoyed, I believe there is a grave risk in hitching yourself to his wagon. If everything goes his way, we will come out ahead, but if it doesn’t, we could find ourselves in the position of sacrificial pawns. Honestly though, now you are in his sphere of influence I don’t think you have much of a choice. All you can do is be aware and watch out for you and yours.” 
 
    Nel’Van absorbed my words and walked alongside me quietly pensive. 
 
    Eventually, he spoke. “Thank you, Simeon, for your candour. I will not forget it.” 
 
    Then he nodded to me and fell back to join back up with his brethren. 
 
    The white, high, City walls were in sight. 
 
    We would be there before too much longer. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    I stood back on the City streets, away from the battle. I would rather have been in the thick of things, to be honest, leading the troops alongside the dwarf twins and Sindar, However, there were diplomatic matters to be handled. 
 
    After we arrived, rather than attacking without warning we followed the forms for an official guild conflict and offered those inside a chance to surrender. Nobody was surprised that the stubborn dwarves both refused the offer or believed us when we told them their kin would not be returning to relieve the siege. 
 
    This delay gave other interested parties the time to reach us. 
 
    Torvald Hust, who represented the Blue Pennant, was the first to arrive before we started our assault on the Black Hills Brigade Guild House. 
 
    I’d only met him once when the Brigade had been trying to expunge the Dark Moon Rising and he’d been quite supportive of us then. 
 
    He was less so today when we appeared to be the aggressors. 
 
    Surprisingly, Nel’Van had stepped in as part of his observatory role and backed up my assertions regarding the Brigades earlier attack on one of our outposts. 
 
    The dark elf didn’t lie per se, but he did let Torvald infer that he had witnessed said infractions rather than been told about them by me. A helpful act which fully expressed, to me at any rate, that Nel’Van had made his decision to throw his lot in with Daxas, and the Dark Moon Rising by extension. 
 
    Taliel Sunrider from the Gleaming Towers arrived on the scene after hostilities had begun with a unit of fifty high elf warriors in tow, ready to fight. Thankfully, my people had already forced the door open, and many had swarmed inside and were battling what few defenders remained. 
 
    The combination of Nel’Van’s tacit support, Torvald’s recently convinced neutrality, and that the warriors of the Tower had fewer rights to enter the Brigade’s headquarters without permission than us, had stayed Taliel’s hand.  
 
    When it became clear my guild would win and the Brigade truly was done for, he had just turned on his heel, his blonde hair whipping in the air as he did and led his fighters away. 
 
    “He will be heading to the emergence pool,” Torvald suggested. “To gather up the disgruntled dwarves as auxiliaries for the Towers.” 
 
    “Probably, but my people have orders to take as many of them alive as possible, so he might find that decision isn’t as lucrative for the Towers as would first appear,” I sniggered. 
 
    As I finished, Sindar jogged back into the street through the smashed double doors. “The Guild House is ours,” he said with a slight inclination of his head. 
 
    “Excellent work, Sindar,” I said, and turned to the two other guild representatives “Gentlemen, if you will excuse me, I have a war to conclude.” 
 
    Nel’Van smiled and then turned thoughtful. “I have business of my own with my guild. I will contact you tomorrow and let you know what is decided, Simeon,” 
 
    The dark elf and his party walked towards the City walls where there was a gateway linking the different zones. 
 
    Torvald seemed a bit confused. “I hadn’t realised you were so close,” he said, fishing for information. 
 
    “It’s a relatively new development, brought about by our links with the Lair and the Caverns,” was all I told him and saluted before turning away and heading into the Brigade’s guild headquarters. 
 
    I swept into the building and hurried through the entry corridor with Sindar at my side. The layout was similar to our outpost buildings but larger. There were a few additional intersecting corridors that led to ancillary rooms that could be designated as you pleased. We passed through the main hall, which was as far as I’d ever been allowed to go when I was part of the Brigade. 
 
    I glanced around and there were several disarmed dwarves under guard, and a few corpses too, but they would fade away within an hour as the dead became eligible to come back through the pool.  
 
    “How many were captured?” I asked Sindar, who kept pace at my side. 
 
    “I don’t have the exact total yet,” he replied. “Our estimates of their numbers were accurate, fifty to sixty defenders. I would say we have forty in custody, with twenty dead or thereabouts.” 
 
    I nodded my understanding but wanted to get this done quickly. We wasted no time and headed directly to the High Lodungr’s office-cum-quarters. His office had a roaring fireplace and a wide range of weapons and armour adorning the walls as decorations. 
 
    The décor didn’t matter, though. We would be redecorating at our leisure later. It was what we could do now that we held their guild HQ, and their leadership were dead. I rifled through his desk drawers until I found the parchment I’d been seeking. The Black Hills Brigade guild charter. 
 
    Despite the temptation to destroy the document in the Lodungr’s fireplace and end the bearded blowhards instantly, I held back. 
 
    “Sindar, gather the Brigade’s survivors in the main hall” I ordered. 
 
    He left the office ahead of me and by the time I strolled into the big, vaulted hall, the twoscore dwarf prisoners had been assembled in a huddle before a big circular fire pit in the middle of the room. Sindar had correctly inferred my intent. 
 
    “Dwarves of the Brigade!” I bellowed to get their attention. 
 
    “I have here your guild charter,” I said, in a more conversational tone of voice and waved the parchment in front of them. 
 
    The dwarves muttered gutturally and there were more than a few derogatory comments about halflings. I made a mental note of which of our prisoners were being so rude. They would come to regret that later. 
 
    “That I’ve been able to retrieve your charter with such ease should tell you that the rumours about the demise of the rest of your guildmates are very true,” I announced.  
 
    Then without further delay, I cast the parchment into the firepit where it burned to cinders with a shower of pretty golden sparks. 
 
    The Black Hills Brigade insignia etched across the building faded from the stonework in the hall and the look of dismay on the dwarves’ faces let me know they had felt or been informed of the guild’s formal destruction. 
 
    I walked back and forth in front of them. Although I kept my face placid, inside I danced a jig of victory. Vengeance was sweet indeed. 
 
    “The Brigade is no more. Lucky for you, the motto of the Dark Moon Rising is we turn no one away,” I told the downtrodden dwarves. 
 
    A spark of hope flared in the eyes of a few or maybe it was a reflection from the firepit in those that looked up. Either way, I noted none of the ruder dwarves were interested and that was probably just as well. 
 
    I beckoned the twins to come and join me. They walked over and stood flanking me on either side, stern expressions on their hirsute faces. 
 
    “As you can see,” I continued. “Several of your fellow dwarves have already made their home with us and in the spirit of burying the hatchet, I offer each of you a place within our ranks, regardless of our previous conflict.” 
 
    One of the dwarves, whom I recalled from my time as a Brigade member, was a fairly senior figure. Varandar had always kissed the ass at any rate. He sneered at me with contempt and gobbed phlegm on my boot. 
 
    “Thievin’ halfin’ scum,” he muttered heatedly. 
 
    “I’ll take that as a no from you,” I said, with the fakest smile possible plastered on my lips. 
 
    Thrasher did the honours without needing me to say anything else. He lifted the struggling and swearing dwarf over his shoulder, took him outside and threw him in the gutter. I waited a moment and held my ear theatrically. Then there came the distant sound of the dwarf’s cursing transforming into wails of agony as Thrasher proceeded to break each of his limbs. 
 
    The temporary limb-breaking was the least he deserved. That dwarf, who was so inconsequential I couldn’t be bothered to recall his consonant heavy name, and those like him would soon get theirs, permanently. 
 
    “Anybody else who isn’t interested can simply walk out,” I informed the remaining dwarves with a shit-eating grin. “Those of you who want to stick around can talk to Gorbrukken and Garbrakken,” I finished, and patted the dwarf twins on their shoulders. 
 
    I left them to it and returned to the restricted area with Sindar and Yorsashi to start the process of converting this freshly vacant guild hall into one owned by the Dark Moon Rising. 
 
    I didn’t know what else might happen in the near future, but one thing was for sure. 
 
    Sure as shit stinks, I was naming this Guild Hall and not Daxas, with his reeking letters. 
 
    

  

 
   
      
 
      
 
      
 
    Chapter 15 
 
      
 
      
 
    The last few days in the Proving Grounds passed without any further surprises. 
 
    Nel’Van returned to the Sons of the Shadow after observing Simeon dissolve the Black Hills Brigade. Sadly, I was unable to witness the Sons’ discussions, but as I predicted the honourable dark elf’s popularity carried the day and the guild voted me in as the double-voting Guild Master. 
 
    Theoretically, the rest of the council of my newest guild could defy me. But just as Simeon alluded to on his victory parade, if I unleashed my auras to maximum effect, I could ensure the necessary votes went my way. I was happy to leave them with the illusion of independence if it meant things ran smoothly. 
 
    Besides, I rarely asked for anything from the guilds that weren’t in their best interests anyway. Even if they were a recalcitrant halfling that didn’t always see what was best for them. 
 
    The Sons were not as big a guild as some, with a little over eight hundred members. Regardless, with them firmly in the fold, I redirected as many of their members as possible to running my dungeon exclusively. The experience and coin continued to flow into my coffers. 
 
    My greater entry threshold also drew in more adventurers from the surrounding zones. Guilds I wasn’t familiar with from four or five zones on either side began sending large groups to delve my depths for the easy XP. Then when these new visitors discovered the welcoming nature of the guilds under my control, their ranks continued to swell.  
 
    I hit the rest day with over forty-two million experience accrued for the week. 
 
    And things would only get better from there. I already had plans to have Simeon and Nel’Van approach the Blue Pennant later today, to sign a similar deal, if controlling two guilds was good, three was even better. From there, I might be able to get my fingers in the pies of some of these other guilds from further afield, but I didn’t want to get ahead of myself. 
 
    Despite the bump in activity, I had managed to avoid increasing my fallen total by much in those final few days and received the notifications that confirmed the Wolf King’s Lair had advanced to rank thirty-five, with the Caverns of Jen’Zadeer advancing to rank thirty-three and the Forest of Xanathia to rank thirty. 
 
    Our combined rank was ninety-eight, which meant virtually every adventurer in the Proving Grounds would be able to venture inside next week. And, of course, this meant I had one more week before being added to the queue for the weekly Divine Challenge. 
 
    Slaughtering the Brigade had also power-levelled my disciples. They earned roughly one point six million experience each, enough to push them up into the mid-fifties, but they were currently limited to my rank of thirty-five. Nevertheless, that was a lot of upgrades to process today, not to mention my dungeons. 
 
    For my dungeons, I’d been putting a lot of thought into what I wanted to do. My new rank meant that the Lair needed a new third and fourth floor, as did the Caverns, Xanathia only needed a third floor, being one rank shy of requiring its fourth. 
 
    I’d spent many long hours discussing strategy with Alyssa, Tenzing, and the rest of my harem. The Arbiter’s changes to how our dungeon operated meant I should take the opportunity to reassess how to manage our development. 
 
    As we were technically one dungeon, the ‘Golden Path’ rules changed ever so slightly. On the face of it they hadn’t but the devil was in the detail. We discovered that only one of the three dungeons had to conform, provided I made a few alterations. 
 
    The Arbiter had been quite proud of his decision to allow adventurers a choice of which entrance they used to enter. Yet we were one dungeon. And because of that, this meant you could get to any of the three, eventually, from any entrance. This was the detail that afforded me with some wriggle room to work. 
 
    I could and did remove all the entrances, apart from the ones that led directly into the Lair. 
 
    Without official entrances and provided the Lair retained a ‘real’ first floor the ‘Golden Path’ requirements were technically met for the Caverns and Xanathia.  
 
    Being able to do this and the fact that the Arbiter choked off the supply of fresh unranked adventurers nearby made the decision to close the lower floors for the Forest of Xanathia and the Caverns of Jen’Zadeer logical. 
 
    From now on they would have at most two floors. The Canopy Climb and the Flooded Tunnels would remain as full ten rank chambers making up their ‘first’ floors with each of them having a second ‘Boss’ floor which would vary in size depending on their current rank. 
 
    Only the Lair would have all the floors for every tier.  
 
    You would have to go the long way, through the Lair first, if you wanted to go into either of the other two. That should make challenges and invasions more manageable as I could reallocate all the army wings to the Lair. 
 
    Most of this had been pre-decided and keyed up on the DDD for confirmation first thing after midnight. What had dominated the early morning discussion had been the new spells and tier upgrades that had been revealed. 
 
    A discussion, which now that we had more than thirty interested parties involved, I’d felt would go better in the Banquet Hall with a steady supply of refreshments. We shifted Nessa’s version of the DDD in there, and I planned to leave it in here for convenience as we moved forward. 
 
    It was a few hours into the drinking and discussions when a triple wolf howl reverberated throughout the hall and silenced the festive mood. 
 
    The triple wolf howl meant other Dungeon avatars approached without invitation. We’d grown used to this every rest day, with the regular invasion from the four orc invaders. However, they had been dealt with permanently. This would be somebody new. 
 
    I expanded the ‘video’ of the Glade and put it up on a big screen. Marching down the main thoroughfare was a veritable war host of orcs, trolls, goblins, and gnolls. 
 
    There had to be two hundred, maybe two hundred and fifty of them. The DDD highlighted the Dungeon avatars with a distinctive glow that matched their dungeon type. Most were red for destruction and there were more than fifty of them. 
 
    The gates to the walled enclosure were closed but that wouldn’t keep them out. It was inconceivable someone amongst this group didn’t have Ethereal Roaming, as I did. They would be able to pass through and open the gates for any that didn’t. 
 
    We watched in stunned silence for a moment. 
 
    “I think our orken opponent is making a definitive move,” Alyssa deadpanned, her understatement breaking the tension. 
 
    As per usual there was a hint of an amused smile on her face. 
 
    The DDD agreed and had started to compile a list of the who’s who in this war party. The leader, I assumed, was an orc by the name of Gorvag, ranked at sixty-two. The exact highest rank that could currently enter. 
 
    Although we had just dealt with over fifteen hundred dwarves, this attack force was a completely different kettle of fish. For starters, they would be invading my dungeon officially and this changed things. 
 
    First thing this morning I had removed the extraneous entrances so they would have to go through the Lair, but that meant half my life-seeded armies who were stationed in wings in the Caverns and Xanathia would not be able to participate, nor any of the dungeon creatures on either of those paths. 
 
    The changes I had planned to move those wings and make them offshoots of the Lair would not come into effect until the end of today. I could recall the disciples on those floors, but nobody else. 
 
    I also wouldn’t be able to trick them into the optional forest wing on the Core floor either. They would get the prompts denied to the dwarves telling them they were leaving the Core floor if they followed the trail I’d laid out and would change tack and push through the dense foliage on either side. 
 
    And they were dungeon avatars with their disciples. They would have the best gear their dungeons could buy. The higher-ranked dwarves of the Brigade hadn’t been under-geared for adventurers, but dungeons had more freedom to equip their people as needed.  
 
    Although I had been a little surprised by their sudden appearance, I wasn’t unprepared for such a scenario. 
 
    I waited until they were past the gates and into the courtyard of the enclosure before activating the audio function on the DDD and opened a channel to specific targets that covered all the buildings in the glade. Which I could do because I owned them. 
 
    “There are interlopers within the walls. Seek and destroy all non-guild members!” I ordered. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    Arash Cooper 
 
     I slammed my empty pint mug upside down on the round table in front of me, hiccoughed loudly in satisfaction and scratched behind my ear. 
 
    The dregs of my ale splashed on the varnished wood but not enough to disqualify me from the round. I peered a little blearily at Piotr, my foolish young halfling friend. His head was craned backwards, and he still had his mug to his lips. More of the dark frothy liquid was sloshing from the sides and soaking his shirt than was going into his gullet. 
 
    He reacted to the sound of me finishing by pulling his tankard from his lips and upending it on the table as I had, or he tried to. 
 
    There was still a quarter of a pint inside and that sloshed out, spraying his boots and the stonework of the tavern floor. He clumsily tried to slam the pewter tankard on the table, which he half missed and caught the edge of the table only. His tankard slipped loose from his grip, and he floundered frantically with the vessel in an attempt to stop it from falling to the floor. And only managed to send it skittering across our table. The tankard collided with our other empties and knocked half a dozen of the pewter containers onto the floor. 
 
    Piotr blinked owlishly at the results of his clumsiness, understanding battling with his boozy fugue. 
 
    “Shnine,” he slurred, practically drooling, and he wobbled uneasily in his seat. 
 
    Fortunately, we were sitting in a booth with a backrest, otherwise, he would have toppled back onto the floor. 
 
    It had only been seven pints, not nine, but I didn’t have the heart to correct him or point out most of the last one was on him rather than in his belly. 
 
    “I think you’ve had enough,” I told him mirthfully. 
 
    “Noshneswnse,” Piotr mumbled nonsensically, and then tumbled sideways struggling to stay conscious, let alone regain an upright position. 
 
    Poor kid. 
 
    “Looks like I win.” I grinned. 
 
    Since Daxas had supplied us with a tavern, drinking games on rest day-night had become something of a tradition. No runs the next day meant we could drink our fill and not worry about the hangover impeding us in a life-or-death situation. 
 
    Tonight though, we were a little short-handed for the fun and merriment.  
 
    Sindar and Pacclo were at Zeta House. Simeon was still in the ‘Whistling Warrens’ as he’d dubbed the Guild House we had seized in the City from the Brigade. The twins were with him, helping the thirty or so previous Brigade members who had chosen to sign up with us settle in. Although if we’d given them a sample of the brews available in the Firehouse a few more might have come on board for that alone. 
 
    Note to self, suggest that to the Chief as a recruitment technique. 
 
    I was shocked out of my reverie on guild matters by the heavy banging of two very large and freshly emptied tankards in the white-furred paw-like hands of Thrasher. 
 
    His tankards were called steins and they held two pints, not one. The eight-foot mountain of fur drank two at a time. I’d wager he’d drink straight from the keg if we let him. 
 
    The bear-kin man belched loudly, the stale whiff of ale and bear breath floated across the gap between us, and he smiled broadly showing off his oversized teeth. 
 
    “You don’t count, you big hairy bastard,” I grumbled as I wafted the stink away with my hands. “You’re here for moral support only.” 
 
    Thrasher guffawed and then levered himself out of the booth when his amusement faded to piss and then refill his steins. Leaving me alone, with Piotr. 
 
    “You still with me, Piotr,” I asked and lifted his arm up. 
 
    The young halfling’s arm fell without resistance when I let go of it and was accompanied by snores loud enough to be heard over the hubbub of the busy tavern. 
 
    I shook my head with amusement at the lightweight. 
 
    “Whatever has happened here?” a familiar lilting feminine voice trilled. “Was there an earthquake nobody bothered to tell me about?” 
 
    I turned from my unconscious companion as opportunity knocked. 
 
    The voice belonged to Rosie, one of Daxas serving girls. She was a pretty blonde with dimpled cheeks that I found just adorable. She was surveying the scene of Piotr’s earlier accident with a less than amused expression on her beatific face. 
 
    “My apologies sweet Rosie, but Piotr had a little too much to drink,” I explained. 
 
    I didn’t feel too bad implicating my young friend, all the serving girls like Piotr, he was unfailingly polite and helpful. And it was also true after all. 
 
    “And whose fault might that be I wonder,” she said, while she cocked her hip and arched her eyebrow at me. “Don’t try to wriggle out of this Arash Cooper, you are always at the centre of these foolish drinking games, don’t think I don’t know it. And what might be wrong with your hands that prevented you from picking up these fallen tankards,” she finished, and gestured to the empties Piotr had accidentally knocked off the table. 
 
    “Sorry, again, Rosie. I was just making sure he was okay,” I said, hoping she would believe the excuse and by taking pity on Piotr might do so for me by extension. 
 
    I slipped out of the booth and helped her pick up the empty tankards and load them up on her serving tray. Rosie sauntered off to the bar with the empties, her hips swaying as she weaved through the other patrons. She looked over her shoulder back at me when she got there, smiled coyly, and winked. 
 
    I scratched the back of my head and grinned at her suavely. Although that might be goofily based on the light chuckle I got in return. But it was a fond seeming chuckle, not withering. Things were looking up and suddenly, I wasn’t quite as disappointed so few of us had made it to the Firehouse tonight. 
 
    On her way to the bar, a few of the newer or dunker recruits tried to get her attention rudely, but Rosie had ignored them. There were still some guild members, and adventurers in general, that treated the serving girls as little more than furniture. 
 
    And to be fair to those fools, to begin with, the analogy was apt. 
 
    However, those of us who bothered to pay attention, quickly grasped that the longer the serving girls had spent working for us, the more personality they developed, and their behaviour started to diverge from one another. But if you treated them like furniture, then they reverted to behaving like furniture. Only when you treated them like people would the person inside reveal themselves. 
 
    I’d been getting to know Rosie for a couple of weeks now, she’d given me her name after a few days, and she always made sure to be the one to serve our table. She was easy to talk to and had quite the sense of humour and it may have been my imagination, but I could swear she was getting steadily more flirtatious. 
 
    Being a guild officer, I was a fairly busy guy and didn’t get to spend as much time in the Firehouse as I’d like. 
 
    Some of the other first wavers with a little more time on their hands had similarly been getting to know various girls. If they were to be believed, then things could move on from getting to know each other to getting to know each other.  
 
    Daxas was a sex dungeon, after all. So, maybe they weren’t boastful asses who were full of shit. 
 
    By all the Lords, I hoped they weren’t full of shit. 
 
    Rosie waded through the crowd with her tray expertly balanced on her outstretched palm. There was a fresh tankard and a glass of rose wine on the tray and she stopped in front of my table. 
 
    “Another ale for you.” Rosie smiled, and placed the tankard of frothy beer in front of me. 
 
    All traces of her earlier annoyance with me gone. 
 
    “Thank you, Rosie,” I said and bobbed my head in appreciation. 
 
    “I thought I might join you and keep you company seeing as Piotr is somewhat lacking in conversational capacity, tonight,” she giggled and held the glass of wine motioning it toward me. 
 
    “Absolutely,” I blurted, and felt my pulse race with excitement. 
 
    Nothing like this had happened before. 
 
    I shifted my ass over on the bench and scratched at my chin nervously while Rosie slipped in beside me. She had never asked to join me before and I was ecstatic at this new development. 
 
    We chatted and joked for a while and before I knew it my beer and her glass of wine were gone, but she didn’t race away to perform her waiting duties. 
 
    Then, unexpectedly she put her hand over mine. “Arash, I couldn’t help but notice that you scratch yourself a lot,” she said kindly, without judgement. 
 
    “Um…yeah…I know, bit of a habit I’ve never been able to break. Sorry about that,” I stuttered. 
 
    “Don’t be sorry, I just wanted to know if you’d like me to help scratch your itch, tonight?” Rosie whispered with a voice like silken seduction. 
 
    I was gobsmacked. Gobsmacked and sitting awkwardly with a sudden tumescent surge in my pants. 
 
    Before I could answer in the affirmative Rosie removed her hand, pulled back from me and stood up. 
 
    “Well, this is damned inconvenient,” she grumbled. “Arash, dear, I’ll be back momentarily, and we will pick this up where we left it. This is not a rejection.” 
 
    Rosie bent down and kissed me softly on the lips. Then she stepped away and blinked. 
 
    The low-cut grey gown she wore as she served the patrons disappeared and was replaced by what seemed like a few strips of red leather. I could see a lot of her creamy skin and beautifully toned body, and I do mean a lot, she was about as unclothed as you could be while still technically being dressed. 
 
    There had been so much to take in, it took me a moment to register Rosie was armed with a pair of jewelled long knives. 
 
    Rosie smiled one last time and then rushed away from me towards the swing door entrance of the Firehouse. That was when I realised it hadn’t just been Rosie who had transformed into a barely clad warrior woman, but all the serving girls in the tavern. Those on the ground floor had already poured out the front door, while those on the upper floors were sliding gracefully down the fireman’s poles, ready to do the same. 
 
    There was a large number of very confused guild members with craned necks and muttered whispers of “What the fuck is going on?” 
 
    The last of the serving girls had descended from the uppermost level and sprinted out of the door to join their compatriots. As the general astonishment and confusion wore off, I launched into action along with half the bar. We were interrupted as an authoritative voice boomed. 
 
    “Guild members remain inside until the ladies are done!” 
 
    Then in a more mollifying, jocular tone “Normal service will resume in a few minutes.” 
 
    I recognised the voice, it was Daxas. 
 
    There was power behind his words, I’d felt him use it before and felt it again now. 
 
    Despite their intense curiosity and desire to go outside, which I’m sure afflicted every person in the tavern, they all slowly returned to their seats. Confusion and concern were apparent as they supped their drinks and talked among themselves. 
 
    I had to fight hard to move forward, my body proving unwilling to defy the Wolf King’s commands but I managed to move one foot in front of the other when I purged any intentions of stepping out of the tavern from my mind. 
 
    I made it to the swing doors and stopped but this let me see out into the courtyard area. Thrasher had done the same and stood silently at my side. 
 
    The scene outside was weirdly chaotic. We could clearly see the tavern serving girls, they’d been joined by the servers and croupiers from the casino next door and the maids from the guild outposts. They were all garbed as Rosie was and engaged in combat. 
 
    At first, I thought they were fighting one another. They were the only people I could see, but when I paid closer attention, it became clear someone or something else had to be in the courtyard and had been concealed from my vision. 
 
    Too many of the women were reacting to being hit with no possible opponent in their vicinity. 
 
    I blinked a few times to be sure, as it was dark out, but the guild compound, especially around the tavern and casino, was very well lit. 
 
    I wasn’t mistaken, their opponents had to be invisible. There was gear that could assist in your efforts to be stealthy, but full-on invisibility, I’d not heard any tales of adventurers getting that kind of advantage.  
 
    The fighting continued for several minutes, of the five hundred women that charged into the fray, I noted three quarters had been cut down. And over the course of those minutes, the combat had moved away from the tavern and neared the entrance to the dungeon. 
 
    When they reached the way into the dungeon, the half-perceived battle abruptly ended. The demeanour of the surviving women changed immediately, they dropped their combat stances and returned to the gait and welcoming smiles we were used to. Though they remained in their battle gear. 
 
    Daxas command still held its sway over us. Thrasher and I watched as the women walked back and forth from the impromptu battlefield collecting people or things we could not see and seemingly depositing them in the dungeon. 
 
    Thankfully Rosie was one of those who survived the battle and when the ‘clean-up’ was done, she spotted me watching from the doorway. She sauntered across the courtyard, her hips swaying saucily. 
 
    She pulled the swing doors open, smiled artfully, and wiggled her barely contained breasts. “Well, that was quite invigorating,” she breathed. 
 
    My eyes widened, my mouth opened and shut a couple of times until Thrasher slapped my back with his meaty-furred hand and guffawed loudly. 
 
    “Wh…What just happened?” I managed to stammer out. 
 
    “Oh, just a little dungeon invasion,” Rosie dropped in the conversation as if it were a regular occurrence, like the sun rising in the morning. “Don’t worry, Arash, my dear. The Master will deal with them in due course.” 
 
    “B…But what about the other girls?” I asked and pointed at the scene of slaughter behind her. 
 
    “We’re dungeon-born creatures, silly,” she said as if I was being a bit simple, and maybe I was, but I’d never seen or heard of anything like this before. “They’ll be back, good as new, in a few minutes,” she reassured me before arching her eyebrow again and giving me a smouldering look. “Now if I recall, just before this interruption, you were about to invite me back to your quarters, for an evening of intense and incredibly pleasurable sex. And I was about to say, yes.” 
 
    “I was?” I gulped. 
 
    “You were,” she replied. 
 
    Then she grabbed me by the front of my shirt and dragged me out into the night air, and onto the wood-planked walkway of the tavern. Rosie pressed her soft lips to mine soundly with absolutely no resistance from me. 
 
    Her erotically forward words penetrated the density of my muddled brain, as her tongue did the same in my mouth, and every other thought fled into the dark of the night.  
 
    There was probably a cornucopia of Guild business things I should have been doing right now with what had just happened. And I can tell you with complete honesty, I really didn’t care. 
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
      
 
      
 
      
 
    Chapter 16 
 
    Gorvag 
 
      
 
      
 
    “Runx has opened the gates, Father.” Genya nudged me exuberantly with barely contained excitement. “We are almost there.” 
 
    I grunted with amusement at my daughter’s foot-hopping glee but couldn’t fault her anticipation. This was the first dungeon invasion I’d permitted her to accompany me on. 
 
    Not that I would have allowed her if it were my choice. However, Tamara had been contacted by Jezebel the day before and her instructions had been crystal clear. 
 
    There was to be no more delay or working through proxies. Our alliance was to strike against the Lair at once, with every resource we had at our disposal. If I could go and I could, that included my daughter, Genya. 
 
    Tamara, Gerhalt, Burstan, and several other members of our cabal remained too highly ranked to attack today. I, myself was only just eligible at rank sixty-two. I had already seen that the Lair had officially advanced substantially. If we’d been permitted to wait one more week, we could all have come, but those were not the orders we were given. 
 
    “Forward!” I yelled to the assembled dungeons and their disciples. 
 
    We walked through the gates. I had brought with me many of the mid-ranked orc dungeons from zones seven and eight, all of whom had been compelled to bring their disciples in full battle gear. 
 
    They weren’t happy. They had believed the bargains they struck with us to survive, following the conquests the cabal engineered, only entailed coercing others to destroy a young and inexperienced dungeon. Now they had to act against that dungeon themselves. And the recent unexpected demise of Krognack, Shuzug, Garothmuk, and Drigka had left them particularly nervy. 
 
    Our overwhelming numbers had aided in quieting the murmurs of discontent. 
 
    Additionally, two new members of our alliance accompanied me and brought some of their subservient dungeons along. 
 
    Makas, a plague-ridden troll who owned a Death-Pestilence dungeon and Vynar Scourgemaw, a gnollish Destruction-Disaster dungeon. They were of similar strength to me, rank sixty-one and sixty respectively. 
 
    I know the pair of them disgusted Tamara, and even the irrepressible Gerhalt found their presence disturbing, but Daxas, the Wolf King, had proved to be stubbornly resilient. The Lords demanded results, and needs must. 
 
    Both had been building a base of power by conquering and essentially enslaving lower-ranked dungeons to do their bidding. Their tactics, while distasteful, had been effective and as Burstan pointed out, not too dissimilar from what I had been doing on behalf of the alliance. 
 
    The difference, I told myself at least, was that I would release the dungeons recently conquered once this job was done. Makas and Vynar had no such intentions for those they had indentured. 
 
    Makas and Vynar held back with their followers just long enough to make it plain they didn’t have to follow my orders. They were ‘allies’ not vassals. 
 
    “Useless fools,” Genya snorted at my side, her eyes had fallen upon the recalcitrant duo as well. 
 
    “They are our allies today, Daughter,” I admonished her. “You should show them more…” Genya’s eyebrow arched darkly, and I quickly decided to change what I was about to say “…patience,” I finished. 
 
    Respect was too much to ask for and even patience was probably pushing it. 
 
    Genya snorted once more but then her gaze fell upon the granite stone doors inset on a grassy mound in the centre of the compound and she grinned giddily in anticipation again. 
 
    The compound was a miniature city, and the surrounding buildings were alive with supplicant activity. I had never seen the like anywhere in the Proving Grounds, and I had travelled extensively across every zone over the years. 
 
    The Wolf King was indeed different. 
 
    My inspection of the grounds was interrupted by a series of nearly naked female supplicants who charged out of the buildings suddenly. We’d heard more than a few stories about this dungeon and the apparent attraction women had for him since Gerhalt’s earliest rendition of Daxas first gauntlet match, but their lack of clothing was still astonishing. 
 
    The women had drawn weapons and rushed headlong towards us as if they could see us, but that would be impossible unless… 
 
    “Ambush!” I roared at the top of my lungs and shoved Genya firmly behind me. 
 
    Runx and my other four orc disciples surrounded Genya as they knew they must. Her protection and survival were paramount, above all else. 
 
    Despite my screamed warning, many of those in our group were caught unprepared by the first wave of warrior women. 
 
    I grinned with appreciation at the Wolf King’s novel tactic, to strike at us before we entered his dungeon. But any further thoughts faded as the first of the women, a wood elf with braided fire-red hair, reached me. She darted speedily about me, lashing out with her daggers and I gloried in the pure joy of worthy combat. 
 
    After I slew the first wood elf, she was replaced by two more of the Wolf King’s women. 
 
    I fought for several minutes, striking down a half dozen opponents. This attacking force had us outnumbered, but we were superior fighters, and they were falling in droves while our losses had been minimal. I began to lose myself in the lust for battle when my daughter seized my attention by punching me forcefully behind the ear. 
 
    I could become ‘distracted’ in the haze of battle; it was a flaw I’d been working on resolving for many years with little success. My daughter had developed this rather direct method of returning my focus to marshalling our forces.  
 
    “Father!” she screeched. 
 
    I stepped back from the front line, my place taken by Runx, and turned to address my daughter. I prepared myself for one of our traditional arguments about me being overprotective or lost in bloodlust, but the look of rage, not frustration in her eyes, alerted me instantly that criticising me wasn’t why she wished for my attention. 
 
    “Those fucking idiots have gone into the dungeon,” Genya yelled over the din of the battle and pointed at the grassy mound a few hundred feet from where we fought. The granite double doors had been opened. 
 
    I couldn’t see Makas or Vynar but the remnants of the forces they brought with them for this expedition were filing into the Wolf King’s Lair. 
 
    I growled angrily. 
 
    My daughter was right. They were fucking idiots. 
 
    I had to make a quick decision. “Fighting withdrawal to the dungeon entrance,” I called out, and my orders were repeated down the line. 
 
    By entering the dungeon Makas and Vynar had started the two-minute timer. If my forces didn’t enter within that timeframe we would be placed in separate runs. 
 
    What the fuck had they been thinking? 
 
    Worse, abandoning the battle allowed the Wolf King’s forces to rally and surround us. 
 
    Had they stood their ground with us we would have been victorious in a few minutes and could have waited for those who fell to return before entering the dungeon at full strength. 
 
    I led the mass of orcs in a disciplined quick-step battle to the entrance. My preference would have to go at a slower pace, one that would help keep our ranks together and reduce our losses, but the damned timer made that impossible. 
 
    The only other option would be to abandon Makas and Vynar to complete the invasion without us, but that would be contrary to the direct orders relayed to us by Jezebel. 
 
    And the Lords did not take kindly to their orders being disregarded. 
 
    We reached the opening on the grassy mound in time, and one of my conscripted dungeons and his disciples held the furiously battling women at bay as we passed through. 
 
    We lost them in the process but hadn’t lost the day. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    Daxas 
 
     We watched the conclusion of the outside activities with keen interest. I was in two minds as to whether the dozen dungeons, led by the pox-ridden troll, abandoning the fight and entering the Lair early was beneficial or not. Obviously, if the other dungeons under Gorvag’s banner either didn’t notice or chose not to join them in time, it would be. 
 
    But I seriously doubted that would happen and it didn’t. 
 
    Had they stayed outside I would have had the opportunity to send my life-seeded people from the Caverns and Xanathia to hit them, as a second attack wave, once my coin-bought forces seemed to be on the verge of defeat. 
 
    For once, the extensive size of my Home floor had been a detriment and not helpful. The two armies had been running through the corridors to the concealed exit when the diseased troll had stepped in, and they had been automatically returned to their starting positions in the dungeon. 
 
     Presuming that they would move directly to my Core floor if they completed the Lair floors, and why wouldn’t they? Then those armies would not be eligible to get involved in any way today. 
 
    A lesson learned and I would need to reorganise the layout to prevent this for future invasions. That was fodder for later contemplation, and I focused on my dungeon feed. 
 
    “What the fuck do you think you are doing?” An enraged Gorvag roared at the avatars of the disgusting troll and gnoll. 
 
    Makas, the pox-ridden troll, leered at the female orc who stood closely at Gorvag’s side instead of answering and she recoiled in disgust. 
 
    I couldn’t blame her. The troll’s light-blue skin was a patchwork of scabby splotches and weeping sores. Mucous flowed freely from its wide flaring nose and dripped from the creature’s cracked and suppurating lips. Makas extended his tongue, lapped up some of the pus and snot mixture and let loose a hacking cough that I think was supposed to be a laugh. 
 
    The female orc shuddered at the foul creature’s display. Her name was Genya, and she was listed as one of Gorvag’s disciples. 
 
    Genya was a short-tooth orc, so the lower canines of her underbite barely jutted over her upper lip. She had a toned, gym-fit look, not bodybuilder. A similar defined muscular structure as Karragh but on a dark green almost seven-foot-tall woman with thick lustrous black hair tied in a ponytail. 
 
    Nobody would call her pretty in the classical sense, but I could see the spirit in her soul. She was fierce, proud, resourceful, and chafing at the bit to prove herself. 
 
    I could sense an intense desire to be and do more. To take the world by the proverbial horns and bend it to her will and force upon it a destiny of her choosing. I must confess to getting hard at the thought of claiming such a wild woman. 
 
    Gorvag reacted to the leering of the troll and hefted his great axe, ready to strike, but was held back by Genya as she gripped his biceps. 
 
    “Father! Do not befoul your axe with the blood of these spineless cowards,” she advised, her disdain for them clear. 
 
     “We are not spineless, stupid female,” Vynar, the hyena headed gnoll spoke, answering Genya’s disdain with a heap of his own contempt. “It was a tactical decision. By entering the dungeon, the Wolf King’s retainers would be recalled, and the battle concluded. Now we won’t have to face them twice, you should be thanking us, not whining like a spoilt cub that you weren’t consulted.” 
 
    I think the gnoll was standing there with a smug grin on his face, but it was hard to tell due to the hyena head. They always looked like that. 
 
    I could kind of understand where the gnoll was coming from, though I wasn’t convinced he was being honest as to that being the pair’s genuine motive. I may have a lot of disciples, but I didn’t have that many. Maybe the Lords had informed them about my life-seeded forces, but the Accords limited what details they could impart, just as Alyssa and Tenzing were restrained with what they could tell me.  
 
    Gorvag lowered his great axe but advanced on Vynar, his eyes sparkling with barely suppressed wrath. “But that isn’t what happened. They were not the dungeon’s disciples, and they were not recalled” he growled with menace. 
 
    “We lost a dozen more fighters than we needed to because you acted rashly,” Gorvag continued, though his voice had calmed somewhat, his control returning. “And we could have waited for them to return before we continued. This place is more dangerous than you suspect, there had to be a reason the Lords wish it gone so badly. If you listen to me and we act together we increase our chances of victory.” 
 
    Vynar nodded, reluctantly, but he nodded. 
 
    Makas, on the other hand, sprayed a stream of his rancid snot from his nose as part of some cough/cackle. 
 
    Gorvag and Genya only just avoided the spray of rotten phlegm. It probably hadn’t been intentional, but there was no apology coming from the troll and his disagreement on the relative danger of my dungeon made plain. 
 
    Makas turned on his heel, ignoring that Gorvag had to hold back some of his disciples who reacted angrily to the troll’s disrespect and lumbered into the adjoining passageway with his retinue of diseased followers covering his back. 
 
    I did love over-confident trolls. They had a tendency to make things so much easier. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    “What does everyone think?” I asked my assembled lovers and adviser. 
 
    It would take the attacking dungeons at least an hour to make their way through the first floor of the Lair, they were too strong for it to trouble them beyond it sapping time. 
 
    “This is a dangerous group,” Alyssa started. 
 
    “You can fucking say that again. How many of the cunts are there?” Gadiel cussed. 
 
    “Two hundred and thirty-four remain. Two dungeon avatars and twenty-eight disciples were slain in the courtyard,” Tenzing stated. “Normally you should not get credit for those kills. Rosie and the rest of your topside forces are dragging them into the dungeon via the secret entrance, which means you shall. Although with that being said, nobody anticipated dungeon mobs operating outside the dungeon in the first place, until you came along.” 
 
    “Thank you, Tenzing,” I said. 
 
    With the addition of so many extra disciples last week, my life-seed production had gone into overdrive. As such, seeding the remaining dryads, hobgoblins and minotaurs in my armies had been completed by the end of the first day PGT. 
 
    Meanwhile, I had noticed that the coin-bought dungeon mobs up above had begun to develop some independent personality traits. 
 
    I’d talked it over with Alyssa and Tenzing and we’d concluded that as the girls were outside of the dungeon, they never ‘refreshed’ as the mobs inside did every time a new group of adventurers began a run. Then when you added in that the girls were based on intelligent being templates, which made them capable of remembering everything they had experienced since they had been ‘born’, we had inadvertently created the perfect scenario for limited personal growth. 
 
    We also understood that this growth would be lost if they ever ‘died’ and were reset. So, with a glut of life-seeds on my hands and a plan to use girls as ambushers already in place, I started to distribute the seeds to them to preserve and supercharge the progress they were making. 
 
    The results had been everything we hoped for, and the resultant happenstance of the women beginning relationships with guild members was a happy benefit. 
 
    That which tied them closer to me was always welcome. 
 
    It had even given me an idea for an entirely new wing on my Home floor, but that was something for later today. After we had given our unexpected visitors the greeting they deserved. 
 
    “We shall destroy them, like every other shatzah-licking filth that dares set foot inside our domain without permission,” Jen’Zadeer added enthusiastically. 
 
    Her statement was met by cheering cries from my harem. Even Marux, the taciturn infernal minotaur lowed loudly. 
 
    When the racket died down Jessamyn spoke up. “Husband, I’m as confident of our victory as the rest of the ladies, but I think we should be cautious. I believe this might be the continuation of us being targeted by other dungeons and not the conclusion.” 
 
    There were several bobbing heads, displaying their agreement with Jessamyn’s words around the table. 
 
    “Perhaps we should show caution by being bold,” Karragh suggested. “If there are to be more invasions to come, keeping them out of the Core floor should be our priority.” 
 
    “I like the way you’re thinking but apart from those of you in this room, we can’t move any of our forces between floors, unless our opponents have already passed through them,” I told her. “We are all pretty badass, but I don’t think we have the strength to stop them before they make it to the Core floor. Shelly and the army can’t leave their optional wings until the invaders move on. We can’t do this without them.” 
 
    There was a murmur of agreement from around the table. 
 
    “That is not precisely true,” Alyssa interjected with a light chuckle. 
 
    Her words seized the attention of everyone in the Banquet Hall. 
 
    A few silent seconds passed. “Well, are you going to tell us or not?” Tabitha groused impatiently, her hare-paws thumping rapidly on the stone floor. 
 
    Alyssa gave her a put-upon expression and then the deadlock was broken by my laughter that echoed through the rafters of the impressively large room. 
 
    “That’s not how it works, Tabs,” I told the hare-kin woman. “We might have Alyssa and Tenzing with us here on a permanent basis, but there are still some things which they are restricted from telling us outright.” 
 
    “You are correct, Daxas,” Tenzing confirmed. 
 
    Tabitha looked crestfallen at my explanation. 
 
    “That’s not much fucking use is it,” Gadiel exclaimed with exasperation and threw her empty wine glass into the roaring fireplace for emphasis. 
 
    “I wasn’t quite finished, my foul-mouthed lover,” I sniggered. “They are restricted unless we figure out what it is, and then they are allowed to confirm it, or something like that.” 
 
    We spent the next fifteen minutes throwing ideas around and used the negative confirmation trick I’d utilised way back in the early days of my dungeon, when it was just Tenzing and me, to discount a lot of them. 
 
    Ultimately, it was Nessa that stumbled across the minor loophole. “I don’t know, can’t we order them to move? I mean Tenzing did that for Shelly during the first invasion,” she asked in frustration, tugging on her vine-like dreadlocks. 
 
    “Ahem,” Tenzing cleared his throat. “I only informed Shelly that the invaders had passed from his floor. This allowed him to advance from his position under his own recognisance. I didn’t issue him any orders.” 
 
    “Fine,” Nessa sulked. “What if I ordered them to do it instead.” 
 
    “They would not be able to follow that order if issued through the DDD,” Tenzing answered her carefully. 
 
    Nessa’s eyes lit up with excitement and she jumped off her chair and bounced up and down with unconstrained delight. 
 
    I had also picked up on Tenzing’s unspoken hint but decided to let Nessa have this one. 
 
    “What if I issued the orders to them, in person,” Nessa managed to squeak out when she calmed down enough to talk. 
 
    Tenzing and Alyssa looked at one another, smiled indulgently, and answered in unison. “I can’t tell you that, Nessa.” 
 
    Which meant that she was right. Possibly I should have considered this earlier, I did have experience of changing mob behaviour in person during a challenge. The truth was genuine challenges had been so rare over the years, I’d had little opportunity for experimentation. 
 
    A few more minutes of questioning revealed that sadly we still couldn’t break the moratorium on moving mobs to prior floors, so anything of the Core floor had to remain there. 
 
    However, it did mean we could put up a more spirited resistance in ‘Tough Mudder’. I had my doubts we would have enough to stop them from getting to the Core floor, but we could bleed them enough that we might be able to keep some of what the floor contained under wraps. 
 
    I issued orders to my disciples, and they rushed to obey. I transferred my consciousness to my avatar on the Core floor but kept this one active with Tenzing and Alyssa for company. 
 
    Unsurprisingly, the first floor of the Lair presented close to zero problems for a group of two hundred, many of whom were ranked over fifty and equipped with top-of-the-line gear. Not all of them, mind you, but enough that it dented any difficulties that the rooms like the ‘Chimney’ or ‘Chandelier Falls’ put in their path. 
 
    We had two minor successes. The ‘Bramble Maze’ was large enough now that there had been close to a hundred of them inside when a wood elf mob set it ablaze. The conflagration finished off half a dozen of the weaker disciples who had been inside, but most had significant reserves of stamina and were only inconvenienced. 
 
    What it did reveal, was they were reliant on potions for health regeneration with no sign of any curative spellcasters. 
 
    Then as Makas and his troops swarmed into the final chamber to kill the Miniboss minotaur, those behind who were still in the ‘Decision Chamber’ were jumped by a small force of thirty trolls and forty wood elves from the concealed corridor network. 
 
    None of these mobs had been ranked up, but they were equipped with the best steel and superior leather enchanted gear I could give them last week. The close quarters reduced the efficacy of the wood elves but played into the hands of the trolls who made bloody work of the invaders rear-guard and claimed ten more, including one of the weaker orc dungeon avatars. 
 
    That gave us a few more minutes of preparation time as Gorvag chewed out Makas again. Which the disease-ridden troll largely ignored, but he did wait for the potion cooldown to expire before he proceeded into the next floor without announcement. 
 
    So, he had a fraction more patience than Shellitz. 
 
    Now we would see how they fared in ‘Tough Mudder.’ 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
      
 
      
 
      
 
    Chapter 17 
 
      
 
      
 
    I saw them pour out of the archway and into the first meadow. The first fifteen feet or so I had kept the half foot long grass and wildflowers, after that my alterations came into effect and it looked more like World War One trenches and no man’s land. 
 
    However, I couldn’t do anything about the artificial sunlight that came as part of the Meadow package, so it looked much brighter than the wet and miserable overcast conditions war movies always portrayed it as. 
 
    Which was silly if you thought about it. I know the Great War was tragic and grim, but France was famed for its pleasant weather. The winters were unquestionably difficult, but you’d think they took every summer off between 1914 and 1918 if you based your opinion on cinematic depictions. 
 
    The invaders had forty-nine bunkers to overcome to get to the end. There were one hundred wood-elves stationed here normally. They were bolstered by an extra sixty who had been brought from the hidden optional wing and ten from the final Lair room. For the regular run, there were two in the trench of each bunker, but we had rearranged that and pulled most of the elves further back. I had left a welcoming committee of ten in the first bunker, though. 
 
    The water from that front trench had been bailed out onto the forward slope making the ascent nice and slippery. The wood elves stood from their crouched position and started to pepper Makas’ party with their crossbow bolts as soon as his party entered. 
 
    This enraged the troll, and without waiting for any assistance, even from his indentured followers, he charged with his disciples close on his heels. 
 
    He had five disciples, two of whom were also trolls and seemingly afflicted with whatever nasty rotting pestilence he was. As I knew from our own experience, trolls were Resilient and regenerated. This probably helped them carry their afflictions without perishing. 
 
    The elves concentrated their shots on the other three disciples. We would deal with the trolls once we had thinned their support. 
 
    Makas and his people crossed the meadow grass rapidly in a lumbering run and then encountered the first of the obstacles they would be unfamiliar with. 
 
    Fences made with coils of steel razor-wire. 
 
    The razor-wire was a design of mine. Based on the stuff from my world, of course. The coils were threaded through and attached to wooden posts that had been sunk deep into the earth, making them virtually impossible to dislodge. 
 
    The guild runs typically formed a shield wall at the base and then shot it out with the two wood elves up top until they had been killed and then hacked down the wooden posts or threw carpets over the wire fence to make climbing over them easier. 
 
    I may have dropped a hint or two to Simeon about that last tactic, but it was only shared with the most trusted, tight-lipped groups. It wouldn’t do for everyone to know how to overcome my obstacles, especially groups like this. 
 
    Makas’ group did neither and ran into the razor-wire at full tilt. 
 
    Admittedly, he and his two troll disciples had the bulk and momentum to tear the wire from the fence posts. They didn’t anticipate the damage it would do as it did, or that it would tangle around them, the barbs and razors making it difficult to shake off easily. This made their subsequent attempt at clambering up the slippery and muddy slope that much more problematic as their mobility had been restricted by their entanglement. 
 
    They took heavy damage before they were joined by their allies behind who could go through the gap in the fence. Some shielded Makas and his people while the rest slogged their way through the mud and into the trench with the elves and slaying them. 
 
    “Why you so slow?” Makas roared at Gorvag when his group entered the chamber. 
 
    Makas had a goblin disciple who was trying to untangle the razor-wire from his legs as he lay in the mud at the base of the slope. He and the two trolls hadn’t made it to the top, they hadn’t even been remotely close. 
 
    “Follow my orders in the future and we can avoid incidents like this,” the large orc answered curtly, without sympathy. 
 
    Gorvag, Genya and the rest ignored the troll, letting him stew in frustration. Frustration which he took out on the goblin disciple for not working quickly enough to disentangle him. 
 
    A plan formed in my mind to further sow dissension within the ranks. 
 
    I let them crest the first hump and slide down the other side unmolested. A few of the less agile slipped on the treacherous footing and slid into the spike trench at the bottom of the downhill slope. 
 
    They went over the next four bunkers until I observed that it was Vynar and the dungeons he had brought with him that scrambled up the sixth hump first. 
 
    The last four bunkers having no threats had lulled the gnoll and his companions into a false sense of security. They were unprepared for the barrage of crossbow bolts that slammed into them as they reached the top and stood tall. 
 
    The wood elves had popped up from a trench where they had been hiding in the twelfth mud hill. There were sixty feet between each bunker. The heavy crossbows they bore certainly had the range for that distance, though their accuracy did take a bit of a hit. 
 
    Nevertheless, Vynar’s frontline was struck several times and several of them were even knocked back of their arses to slide back down until they collided with the next group struggling to make their way up. 
 
    Now aware of the danger, those who reached the apex of the bunker kept their shields up and rolled into the stonework trench as fast as possible. The elves continued to shoot the occasional bolt, just enough to keep them on their toes. 
 
    When the whole group had made their way over the sixth hill and were regrouping in the sliver of meadow grass between the mud hills it was Vynar’s turn to complain to the orc leader. 
 
    “First it was Makas people who were attacked and now mine,” he snarled at Gorvag. 
 
    The orc was unperturbed by the gnoll’s verbal assault. “Bad luck,” he said at last. “Makas made his own and you just happened to be first to come into their range and you didn’t take adequate precautions.” 
 
    A whimpering rumble slipped from the back of Vynar’s throat. Part angry, part moany, like a spoilt teenager. 
 
    Gorvag shrugged his shoulders, unbothered by Vynar’s whining. 
 
    “We aren’t here to be your meat shields,” Vynar spat. “We are done at the front. You take the lead from now on.” 
 
    “Makas agree with Vynar,” the troll suddenly contributed with a sneer. “Orcs take their turn.” 
 
    Gorvag squared up to the pair of them. “I have been the leader from the beginning. Had the pair of you not been so…headstrong,” he glowered with a politic change of wording. 
 
    I would have said stupid and I’m sure that Gorvag meant that too. Vynar realised this and his hackles bristled, Makas not so much. 
 
    “…and listened, we would have been in a stronger position,” he finished. 
 
    “Bah!” Makas huffed. “Orc always blames other for failures.” 
 
    The troll turned back to his own cartel of thirty avatars and disciples. The hypocrisy of his statement was lost on him. 
 
    It wasn’t lost on the others, though. 
 
    Vynar winced in embarrassment. 
 
    Gorvag snorted with derision and Genya doubled over with laughter. The rest of Gorvag’s people kept better control of themselves, but I saw a few eye rolls. 
 
    I rubbed my hands together in the Viewing Lounge. The plan was coming along swimmingly, though my alternate in the dungeon was growing a little bored cooling his heels. 
 
    Gorvag and his orc dungeons took point from then on. Over the next ten artificial hills, in addition to dodging the crossbow fire when they got to the top, they battled forty goblins in one stonework trench and were assaulted by a pack of direwolves twice. 
 
    Some of these were mobs that were in this room normally, albeit spread out more. They were reinforced by the mobs from Shelly’s cavern that would otherwise have gone unused. 
 
    To make things a little harder during the goblin fight we had a few dryads drop chill zones in front of the goblins trench to sap some more health from the combatants. The dryads and wood elves fell back to a new bunker each time the invaders got closer, so it was only the goblins and the direwolves who were slain. 
 
    Even with all of that, we only managed to whittle the entire attack force down by two more. 
 
    They were at the halfway point when I enacted stage two of my dissent plan. 
 
    My twelve life-seeded hobgoblins exited from the secret compartment on the previous hillock the invaders had cleared and crept up behind them before they dropped fifteen-foot diameter fireballs into the slice of meadowland where Makas and Vynar waited. 
 
    Sadly, unlike the dwarves, they weren’t standing in closely packed formations. The strip of meadowland was one hundred and twenty feet long. Although they weren’t dispersed out along the entire length, maybe about sixty feet in the centre, it meant the twelve hobgoblins had to spread the spells to incorporate as many victims as possible. 
 
    Each of those in the fire zone was hit by at least four fireballs, for roughly one thousand heat damage. The hobgoblins followed up by quaffing a Mana potion and launching amped up Flame Bolts at twelve of their victims who hadn’t perished in the wave of fireballs. Between Makas and Vynar they had almost seventy retainers and the hobgoblin ambush killed twenty. 
 
    The fifty remaining angry fuckers rushed back and engaged the hobs who slipped back into the stonework trench. In their haste and anger, they forgot they would still be in range of the crossbow-wielding wood elves. And with Gorvag’s orken forces keeping low when they rolled over the top of the hillock in front they could be seen and targeted, which they duly were. 
 
    The flight of bolts claimed another seven and during the ensuing melee fight with the hobgoblins, the already weakened state of the invaders cost them another six. None of the fallen were Makas or Vynar, but that was just as well. 
 
    “Fuck this, Makas,” Vynar growled at the troll. “This was supposed to be easy. That’s what that bitch, Tamara promised. Why are we the ones taking all the losses?” 
 
    “Gnoll right,” Makas hacked a cough in response. “Makas think, snakehead think we stupid. Makas not stupid. Makas know when he been tricked. Snakehead lies, so does orc. Bet they lie about Lords too, no favour. Want Makas weak so they can backstab. Make slave.” 
 
    Vynar staggered a little at what the troll said. Probably at the depth of thought, as much as the potential betrayal. The gnoll had obviously thought they’d undersold the danger and hadn’t considered the possibility it was all a deception, not that it was. He recovered quickly, though. 
 
    “Yeah, my thoughts exactly,” Vynar lied glibly. “So, uh, what are we going to do about it?” 
 
    “Orc too strong,” Makas remarked as he looked back at Gorvag’s warriors. 
 
    Most of them had either reached the trench or had gone over to the back slope and were working their way over spike pit and chevalier horses at the bottom. The orken backmarkers had noticed what happened to the troll and gnollish groups. 
 
    Balls of fire aren’t exactly subtle. 
 
    And they were calling back to them asking what they were doing. 
 
    “We leave,” Makas said with a snort of disgust. 
 
    Without waiting for a response from Vynar he clambered up the bunker behind him and headed back to the start of the second floor. 
 
    Vynar looked between the troll and the angrily remonstrating orcs on the hillock further forward. 
 
    “Right, I’m with you,” he said to no one in particular, before he motioned what remained of his disciples and subordinate slave dungeons to head back as well. 
 
    Which was just what I wanted. 
 
    I moved the perspective of the viewer to observe Runx informing Gorvag of the bad news. 
 
    “Chief, Makas and Vynar have abandoned the field. What are your orders?” Runx relayed to the orc leader. 
 
    “Unreliable bastards!” Gorvag cursed. 
 
    “Do we go after them, Father?” Genya asked from his side. 
 
    Her eyes radiated fury and she stroked the haft of her battle-axe that was looped in her belt. 
 
    “No,” Gorvag sighed, reimposing his placid demeanour. “We would only lose more warriors. And even if we cajole them into pushing forward with us, we could not trust them. They would be danger-filled deadweight.” 
 
    “What then? Do we turn back?” she asked with a doubtful look. 
 
    Runx bristled at her question. Clearly offended on behalf of his master at the mere thought of conceding the field to me. 
 
    Gorvag put a meaty hand on his lieutenant’s shoulder to remind him of his place and placate him. 
 
     “No,” Gorvag said, turning back to address his daughter. “The Lord’s commands were quite specific. This must be done today. If we left, we would have to re-enter. We would gain little by leaving and mustering those that fell outside back to our side. The dungeon would reset, and we’d likely lose as many returning to this point.” 
 
    Of course, he didn’t know that my lovelies had dragged the corpses of those slain outside into the dungeon, so they would not be returning if they did leave. 
 
    Gorvag surveyed those still under his banner. I could see his lips move as he counted. “A hundred and forty is enough to finish this. We push on.” 
 
    And they did. 
 
    I updated my alternate on the change in circumstances and he prepared to make a stand at the penultimate artificial hill. 
 
    Makas and Vynar wouldn’t be getting away scot-free. Although it was true that I didn’t have anything that could assault them on the way back to my dungeon entrance. They had both forgotten about my warrior women topside, who were very much still in the game. 
 
    Those that had been resurrected would not be allowed to take part, but the hundred and fifty who had survived from earlier could. And I had reinforced them with some of their sisters from the zone six guild outposts for an eventuality such as this. The only thing that could save them is if they somehow didn’t leave my dungeon before the rest day ended and were automatically returned to their own dungeons, which wouldn’t happen. 
 
    The orcs took their time and the wood elves kept them honest but eventually, they neared the penultimate hillock and battle was truly met. 
 
    The wood elves remained standing on the back of the stonework and forced the orcs to advance under shields, with the occasional bolt getting through. Then as the orcs attempted to charge up the mud-filled slope, the dryads put down as many chill zones as they could, which was effective as the wood elf firepower forced the orcs closer together and left them unable to utilise the full length to their best advantage. 
 
    My avatar was in the stonework trench along with the twelve infernal minotaurs and all my melee-oriented disciples. Jessamyn, Nessa and the dryads were behind the woof elf firing line and had marked us in advance so they could Heal when it was needed without exposing themselves. 
 
    Gorvag and his people absorbed everything we could throw at them, but they were disciplined, hardy and motivated. We weakened them but when they reached the lip of the trench, very few had fallen. Plus, they had the melee numbers. I had just over thirty with me, they had one hundred and forty. 
 
    Once they engaged us along the trench line the elves could no longer shoot their crossbows. 
 
    Jen’Zadeer, Nessa and the dryads unleashed their potentially paralysing Ice Blasts as we fought, and the wood elves jumped into the trench with orders to seize the paralysed and drag them over to the backside where they could be murdered by their fellows. 
 
    However, it wasn’t long before the orcs flanked around the front and were dropping into the trench beyond where we fought them. Many of the wood elves still on the back lip pounced and gave us a few seconds longer but they weren’t geared or skilled for melee combat and would be nothing more than minor annoyances for the orc fighters. 
 
    We grew close to buckling, but that was part of the plan. When the infernal minotaurs dipped low on Health they slapped a multi-targeted Hex spell on the mass of orcs. 
 
    That was the cue for me to launch my chain lightning on Gorvag and his command group and then follow it up with a maxed out Lightning Bolt, but that wasn’t aimed at Gorvag. 
 
    I’d been watching him closely over the last several hours and came to the conclusion that he didn’t call Genya his daughter for some weird proxy reason. Somehow, she really was his daughter. 
 
    I also used the DDD to run some physical characteristic comparisons which confirmed this to be the case. I targeted her instead of him and hit the fierce orcess right between the eyes. 
 
    My alternate in the lounge watched as Gorvag followed the path of the bolt and his eyes enlarged with horror as she was hit and flopped backwards down the wet dirt slope like a crash test dummy, lifeless. 
 
    “GENYA!” he screamed and dashed, sliding down the hill, to cradle her limp head on his knees. 
 
    My battlefield avatar heard the cry of pain and loss but didn’t have time to confirm what had happened as Runx took Gorvag’s place on the battle line and swung his axe at my lupine face.  
 
    The infernal minotaurs then procced their multi-targeted Blood Rage on all of us still standing, while Jessamyn and the healers cast their Heal or Regrowth spells boosting the melee fighters back to maximum health before they withdrew to the Core floor as they had been ordered to do. 
 
    Now we went toe-to-toe with the orcs for another full minute and exacted a heavy price in blood and death. But we were outnumbered and, in many cases, technically forty ranks lower than them. One by one we fell like dominoes, including my warwolf avatar. 
 
    Yes, it was a bit of a risk to let my avatar expire. I wouldn’t be able to physically take part in the defence any longer, but in return, we reduced their numbers down to sixty, with all the survivors heavily injured. Plus, I had a good feeling about how Gorvag would react to me killing his daughter. 
 
    Rage. 
 
    Uncontrolled, blind, unreasoning, rage. 
 
    To describe the next, and final, twenty minutes of the invasion as anything other than a one-sided ‘fish in a barrel’ shooting exercise would be to do it a disservice. 
 
    The remaining orcs channelled their leader’s mindless bloodlust and careened heedlessly through the forested sections of the Core floor. I don’t think many of them were even aware of their companions dropping around them like flies or registered the crossbow bolts thudding into their own bodies, slowly depleting their health. 
 
    Gorvag and three others, all dungeon avatars and running on fumes, did make it to the fifth forest chamber. There they fought and were slain by the trolls in warwolf bodies. The army in the second wing didn’t need to get involved but was there in reserve anyway. 
 
    Had they somehow managed to get into the Core room they would have had to overcome Jessamyn, Nessa, Jen’Zadeer and the dryads too. 
 
    Events outside went as smoothly. 
 
    Makas and Vynar had arrogantly exited the dungeon presuming themselves to be in complete safety. They were swamped by my topside forces hiding on top of the grassy mound that housed my dungeon entrance, slain in short order and dragged back inside to face me. 
 
    The invasion was over, and we had prevailed once more. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    I dealt with the other dungeon avatars first. 
 
    They didn’t have much to say for themselves and refused my terms as I knew they would. I robbed them of their gear, their disciples, and sent them packing. Fully in the knowledge that I wouldn’t be forgetting or forgiving any of them. 
 
    I threatened that the next week would be a good time to get their affairs in order because I would be coming for them. That last part was a fib on my part, they’d be lucky if I really gave them the full week or even the rest of today. 
 
    Especially Makas and Vynar Scourgemaw. I couldn’t let the pair of them prepare for what was to come.  
 
    Simeon, Nel’Van, and the guilds were going to be busy siting guild beacons next week. 
 
    For my final interview of the day, I retired back to the Banquet Hall and had the inert forms of Gorvag, and his disciples brought in and seated opposite me. My harem either sat or stood around me. 
 
    I snapped my fingers and returned consciousness to the seven orcs. 
 
    As soon as Gorvag laid eyes on me, sitting opposite him with a pair of beauties in my lap and a very smug grin on my face, he bellowed with mindless rage. 
 
    He couldn’t move an inch, though. 
 
    “Is this what it was like when you interviewed me, Alyssa?” I murmured in the bespectacled brunette’s ear, as she was one of the beauties who currently adorned my lap. 
 
    Jessamyn was on my other knee, and Gorvag probably couldn’t see that Fiadh, Yanna, and Yuni were on their knees beneath the table, seeing to my ever-present needs.  
 
    “Hardly, darling,” she drawled with a teasing, tinkling laugh. “I very much hoped you’d find a way around it and ravish me on my desk. I doubt you would appreciate Gorvag’s intended attentions if he managed to do the same.” 
 
    I chuckled at her admission and then addressed the screaming orc. “Oh, hush now Gorvag. Genya is sitting right beside you, alive and well. And she can stay that way if I get what I want.” 
 
    I allowed Genya to speak and the ability to move her arms. 
 
    “Father, I am here,” she gasped when I did, and reached out to take his hand. 
 
    The sound of her voice and the feel of her touch settled that orc chieftain’s hyper-rage, lowering it to a barely contained simmer. If looks could kill I’d have been gutted on the spot. 
 
    “I’m listening,” was all he managed to eke out. The cords of muscle and tendons on his dark green neck taut and flexing, such was his justifiable anger. 
 
    I didn’t have children, yet, but if I had, my fury for any who harmed or threatened them would be equally incandescent. That wouldn’t stop what I was about to do, though, and he really wouldn’t like it. 
 
    “Well, I’m guessing, based on what we’ve seen, that unlike most of those other poor schlubs, you are not bound by the terms of a previous conquest. Therefore, you are in a position to hear my terms and will accept them,” I informed him casually but with stern authority, before continuing. “I should point out that I know Makas and Vynar are similarly unrestrained. And no, they didn’t make it out of the dungeon when they left you hanging. Kind of good news for you on the vengeance front, not so much on the negotiation end of things. I’m sure the treacherous little fucks would jump at the chance to screw you over to save their own hides.” 
 
    A bit of a lie mixed in with some truth, always helps the foul-tasting medicine go down. 
 
    “What do you want?” Gorvag asked begrudgingly. 
 
    “Simple really,” I smarmed. “I want you to ‘fess up as to who put you up to this, and who you are working with. I want names and places, all the dirt. If you play ball, I will let your disciples live. If not, well, you know the alternative. Do you want to lose your daughter to the Infernal Reaches?” 
 
    The final barb sealed the deal as I knew it would. Gorvag didn’t have a choice, not if he wanted Genya’s soul to live on. He nodded his head in defeat. 
 
    “Before you sing like a canary, I have one more thing to say,” I said, and he looked me in the eye. “Tamara the Gorgon.” 
 
    I saw Gorvag flinch visibly. 
 
    “Yeah, I know about her and who knows what else I’m already aware of, so don’t think about getting cute and trying to hold anything back. I hear a single falsehood or omission and the deals off. Do you understand?” I threatened. 
 
    “Yes,” Gorvag grunted angrily. 
 
    There was still fire in his eyes. I may have defeated him physically but not mentally. That blow would come in a few minutes. 
 
    Gorvag talked and gave me everything I needed to know about the cabal the Lords had working for them. They had promised if they did as bid, the Lords would go easy on them during their Divine Challenge. Apparently, the survival rate for dungeons was spectacularly low. The orc gave us names, locations, numbers, strengths and weaknesses. Everything. 
 
    The most interesting tidbit of information, though, was despite it being Timian who originally set them on the path to destroying me, the hurry-up for today’s festivities had come from Jezebel. 
 
    The naughty elf goddess and I would be having words, followed by a thorough spanking. For her, naturally. 
 
    When Gorvag was done, I motioned for Krista and Gadiel to join the orc group on the other side of the table as if they were going to escort them out. 
 
    “I think that is almost everything.” I grinned at him and returned his parties ability to move. 
 
    Gorvag snorted in disgust as he stood and sent the chair he had been sitting on flying, narrowly missing Krista who scowled at the orc with haughty disapproval. 
 
    Gorvag was uncaring and stalked away from the table towards the exit, but found he couldn’t leave, not yet. He was soon joined by his disciples, who were similarly rough with my furniture as they left the table. 
 
    “We do not need an escort. I have done as demanded and we can leave of our own accord. Now release us,” he growled with angry frustration. 
 
    That was true. Once the audience was over the defeated dungeon could return to their dungeon instantly. But I hadn’t ended the audience. 
 
    There was one small item of business left to conclude. 
 
    It was at that point Gorvag recognised that though Genya had risen from the table as his other disciples had, she hadn’t joined him. 
 
    I froze the orc group again and smiled widely. “Now Gorvag, the deal was that I let your disciples, including your fierce, but lovely daughter, live. I said nothing about letting them all leave.” 
 
    The orc chieftain’s eyes enlarged with panic. “No,” he breathed in horror. 
 
    “Father?” Genya said nervously, her confusion plain as she struggled to move. 
 
    “Genya of the Axebone tribe,” I intoned with all the formality I could muster. “I claim you as a disciple,” and smiled kindly at her. 
 
    Krista and Gadiel stepped on either side of her, put their arms through hers and gently, but firmly, guided the stunned orc woman over to our side of the table. 
 
    “You fucking bastard!” Gorvag cried with genuine heartbreak. 
 
    “Yes, I am,” I replied glibly. 
 
    “I will be back,” the maddened orc screamed. “I will rip out your spine and bathe in your fucking blood and take my daughter back.” 
 
    “Yeah, that’s not going to happen, and you know why. The moment you set foot in here, against my wishes, well, that’s when bad things can happen to your lovely daughter.” 
 
    As I finished my veiled threat, Krista and Gadiel finished guiding Genya over to me and Jessamyn slipped off my knee and kissed her fondly on the cheek. Then she urged Genya to take her place on my knee. The orc girl was too shocked to resist, and her surprise only increased when she got an eyeful of what had been going on under the table. 
 
    The threat was a complete bluff. Genya was mine now and I didn’t give up what was mine, under any circumstances. Gorvag didn’t need to know that, though. 
 
    “Go back to your dungeon. Then when you’ve calmed down, you’ll understand it is now in all our best interests to get along like one big happy family. And that my survival is your daughter’s survival,” I reasoned. “You will be my guy on the inside, Gorvag. Honestly, I’m not a bad boss, who knows you may even come out ahead in the end,” I joked, and snapped my fingers sending Gorvag and his people home before his vituperative, obscenity-laden response. 
 
    I wrapped my arm around Genya’s waist, pulled her into my chest and relaxed, letting my aura flow over her to distract and calm her inevitable upset. “Genya, love, I’m sure you have many questions,” I whispered huskily in her ear. 
 
    The responding scent of her arousal hit my nose like a fucking freight train. I’d smelt ardour from women who had only just met me before, incredibly strong ardour, but this was on another level. Which was unexpected but very welcome given what had happened with her father moments earlier. 
 
    Genya tore the clothes and armour from her body in a frenzy, kicked the ladies tending my cock away forcefully, placed her feet straddling my hips and plunged down, mounting me with a wordless grunt of satisfaction. 
 
    It was good to be the King. 
 
      
 
    End of Book 4.  
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
      
 
      
 
      
 
    Epilogue 
 
    Jezebel the Silver Lady 
 
      
 
      
 
    I cut my wrist and let a dribble of my essence flow into the sanctified adamantine bowl and mix with the herbal concoction already present. 
 
    The ritual for contacting Devantus Drakonis was utterly ridiculous. None of this was necessary, especially as the interfering motherfucker was undoubtedly watching anyway. But I had to go through the motions regardless. 
 
    I glanced over my shoulder. The heavy white, streaked with green, marble doors remained sealed, but I could see the etched seals I had traced upon them pulse with strain. Somebody searched for me, somebody with power much greater than my own. Timian. 
 
    I didn’t have long and healed the shallow cut in my wrist. I stirred the bowl’s contents with the same athame that I used to nick myself and chanted under my breath. 
 
    “Devantus Drakonis. Supreme Dark Sorcerer and Lord of the Unknown Ambits. I beseech thee for an audience as a humble supplicant. All glory to your name and power.” 
 
    “Devantus Drakonis. Supreme Dark Sorcerer and Lord of the Unknown Ambits. I beseech thee for an audience as a humble supplicant. All glory to your name and power.” 
 
    “Devantus Drakonis. Supreme Dark Sorcerer and Lord of the Unknown Ambits. I beseech thee for an audience as a humble supplicant. All glory to your name and power.” 
 
    I felt the seals flex, they were seconds from bursting. 
 
    “Come on you arrogant bastard, answer me,” I begged shrilly. 
 
    Blink. 
 
      
 
    *** 
 
      
 
    “You called,” the urbane and smug voice of Devantus echoed in my mind. 
 
    I opened my eyes. I was no longer in the small antechamber in the Heavenly Realm I’d taken refuge in. 
 
    The room had narrow braziers hanging from each of fourteen obsidian columns which lit up every part of what I could only describe as an over-the-top throne room. 
 
    The columns were adorned with banners in the same dark green as Drakonis cloak with various stitched images of him in a variety of mysterious poses. A scarlet rug covered the floor of the room and felt soft and welcoming on my bare feet. 
 
    Drakonis sat in a grand obsidian throne with scarlet cushions which matched the carpet. He wore his hooded dark-green cloak and liquid metal armour as he always did, and I felt, rather than saw, his impish grin at my annoyance. 
 
    His legs were spread and between them knelt a naked woman with long silvery blonde hair running down her back. Her ass was a perfect peach shape, and there was the swell of her breasts visible under her arms perched on his thighs as her head bobbed up and down gracefully in his lap. 
 
    I knew my eyebrow had arched with surprise and my lip had curled with disapproval. 
 
    “What?” he sighed with mock umbrage. “Just because I have the power to snuff out suns doesn’t mean I don’t enjoy having my one-eyed trouser snake properly taken care of.” 
 
    Then his laugh echoed throughout the chamber. 
 
    I ground my teeth in frustration at his games and odd phrases that took me a moment to comprehend. 
 
    “Very well,” he chuckled. 
 
    He cupped the chin of the young harlot and urged her to release his member from her mouth, which she did reluctantly with a needy whimper, and stand. Then he spun her around and slapped her buttocks firmly, sending her dashing past me as she giggled lasciviously. She winked as she ran by and licked her lips hungrily. 
 
    He did all this so that I could see, without a shadow of a doubt, that the young woman pleasuring him had been the spitting image of me. 
 
    My face burned with embarrassment, my cheeks a ruddy scarlet that closely matched the carpet. 
 
    What message was he sending me? 
 
    Would that be the cost of his help? 
 
    To pleasure him? 
 
    The very thought chilled me to the bone. Not because I was a prude, but I’d heard stories of what became of his paramours and their unthinking devotion to him. 
 
    Then he laughed uproariously once more at the look of panic in my eyes. 
 
    “I’m only teasing you, Jezebel,” he said lightly when his chuckles subsided. “Your buttons are too easy to push, my dear.” 
 
    “That was a very naughty succubus named Lynnith. She is a very talented girl and her glamours are sublimely perfect, even at a moment’s notice, as you have witnessed. I can introduce you later if you’d like,” he offered. 
 
    I regathered myself and stood straight, determined to ignore his mockery. “That is not why I’m here.” 
 
    “No, I don’t suppose it is,” he commented mildly. “I imagine you have someone else in mind to butter your muffin. She could copy even him, you know,” he suggested with a sly wink. 
 
    “This is not about sex,” I huffed angrily. “I have come to request sanctuary. We made a deal, and your payoff from it can only be met if I survive the coming weeks,” I pled my case with more confidence than I truly felt. 
 
    Drakonis reputation for being mercurial was justly earned and he may no longer care about the consequences of our agreement. 
 
    “Hmmm,” he hummed in a bored tone. “Sanctuary, eh? Let’s see what all the fuss is about.” 
 
    He waved his hand and an image coalesced in the air between two of the obsidian columns. 
 
    We could see the white marble antechamber I had been in moments before. The heavy doors, which I had warded, gave way, and burst open. Timian strode through purposefully, followed by Merrock, Garvax, and Kriger. 
 
    Timian’s face was a thundercloud of wrath, and he kicked the sanctified adamantine bowl, now empty, across the room with such force it shattered the green-streaked marble façade and became embedded in the wall. 
 
    “Where is that miserable, useless, interfering whore,” Timian raged. “She was here. I know it.” 
 
    “I thought you were the one who could see the future, surely you know?” Merrock commented with boredom. 
 
    Even going so far as to pick at imagined dirt under his fingernails, as if that held more interest than current events. 
 
    Timian turned on the turquoise skinned sea god, his eyes glowing with hate. “Do. Not. Test. Me,” he enunciated through gritted teeth. 
 
    Merrock smirked, turned on his heel and walked away. 
 
    Timian was the most powerful of us, but Merrock wasn’t far behind. 
 
    The oceans covered more than half of the worlds that made up the Realms and that gave him power, despite the scarcity of sea-dwellers that worshipped him. Fear of what dwelt in the deeps was a powerful motivator for tribute and sacrifice. 
 
    Merrock was one of the few who believed he didn’t need to fear Timian and his tantrums, even going so far as to actively needle him, like today. 
 
    Garvax and Kriger were Timian’s lackeys which is why they were with him. Merrock must have spotted them in the halls and tagged along to stir the pot. 
 
    “Perhaps she teleported back to the safety of her demesne,” Garvax suggested. 
 
    Timian glared at him before his expression softened from hate-filled to merely incredibly irate. “She couldn’t hide from me there. She has contacted another power who is hiding her. That is what the bowl was for, I’m sure of it, but the identity of her protector is hidden, for now.” 
 
    “Uhhh, my Lord,” Kriger nervously addressed Timian. “Why are we so angry with Jezebel for urging the cabal to act? I know it has strengthened Daxas, but didn’t we want him to make it to the Divine Challenge, so we can you know…” he paused and looked around unnecessarily. 
 
    He is a fucking God. I thought. He ought to be able to feel the presence of another deity nearby. How could these fools have more power than me? 
 
    Kriger lowered his voice and continued. “…face him directly and keep the energy for ourselves.” 
 
    Timian closed his eyes and when he opened them, seized Kriger by the hair and screamed in his face. “Because you fucking imbecile, the bitch went behind my back to speak with Tamara and covered her fucking tracks. Which means she didn’t want me to know until it was too late. This means she fucking knows what we’re planning and didn’t want the wolf cunt to make it to the Divine Challenge. And unless you want the traitorous skank blabbing to the rest of the pantheon, we need to find her and end her. Now.” 
 
    He released the cowering Kriger and turned to Garvax and produced a large amethyst gem from his pocket. “Take this idiot and break into her demesne, you should be able to handle that without me. Drain her adherents of everything, all of them, and funnel it into the gem. Bring it back, I will need the energy to overcome whatever sorcery is hiding her.” 
 
    “Are you sure, Timian?” Garvax questioned. “Direct draining is forbidden. We would be no different than the Infernal wretches.” 
 
    “Needs must and in a few weeks the rest of the pantheon won’t matter, if any of them still exist that is,” he replied with a cruel smirk. 
 
    Drakonis waved his hand and the shadowy screen dwindled from view. 
 
    “Well, you appear to be in quite the predicament,” he understated. 
 
    “Yes, but I had no choice. Daxas would be too powerful for other dungeons to overcome by next week, and when Timian kills him with his true mind present he would have murdered all of us shortly after,” I justified. 
 
    “I understand why you did it, Jezebel. But I’m not sure what it is you expect me to do about it,” Drakonis said calmly. 
 
    “Give me sanctuary!” I cried again; a bit more desperately than I’d intended. “We have a deal for me to speak on your behalf about Daxas in the future. I can’t do that if Timian eradicates me.” 
 
    “True,” he said lazily. “But you did just admit that you were trying to subvert that deal by getting Daxas killed. And if Timian is successful in the Divine Challenge, as you obviously believe he will be, I would get nothing anyway. I’m sorry, I just don’t see what’s in it for me.” 
 
    Then he blew on his armoured fingertips, mocking me with his nonchalance. 
 
    “Please,” I said. “This is my last chance. There is nowhere left for me to go. If you don’t hide me, I’m done…I…I’ll do anything you want,” I begged, genuine tears welled in the corner of my eyes. 
 
    It took all the mental fortitude I possessed to offer him everything and anything, without reservation. Swallowing my shame and self-loathing at my weakness at this moment. Dread and desperation can make you do things you never imagined. 
 
    And he chuckled. 
 
    I debased myself before him. Offered him anything he wanted, and he chuckled. 
 
    The motherfucker chuckled. 
 
    My fear diminished and was replaced by fury and my eyes blazed with white-hot fire. Power surged to my fingertips. If I was going to die, I would do it on my terms in one last futile gesture of defiance at these arrogant, pompous, MEN! 
 
    Drakonis shifted from his relaxed posture and perched on the edge of his throne. He made a gesture with both hands, two fingers closing against his thumb and the energy I’d gathered to blast him to smithereens was snuffed out. “There she is, the radiant beauty within,” he whispered with meaning. 
 
    “Self-pity is an unattractive look on anyone, and you’ve spent far too long wallowing in your own,” he elaborated. “If you want to live, then you fight, and you struggle, and you find a way. That is what life is.” 
 
    I held my peace. I wasn’t sure where this was headed, but maybe my plight wasn’t as hopeless as I’d believed moments ago. 
 
    “You were wrong earlier,” he added conversationally. 
 
    I quirked my eyebrow in question at him. 
 
    “You don’t have nowhere to go,” he explained. “There is one place you can go where Timian is powerless to strike at you. Unless he were to follow and make himself equally vulnerable.” 
 
    “Wait, you don’t mean…” I muttered as my mind spun. 
 
    Devantus Drakonis snapped his fingers and a swirling portal appeared beside us. 
 
    I recognised the high white walls of the City. The Proving Grounds on the ethereal plane. 
 
    “In the Proving Grounds,” Drakonis lectured. “Timian is bound by the Accords, as all the Lords are. Enter with your True Mind and his only option is to do the same.” 
 
    “But we are only permitted to do that for a Divine Challenge,” I argued, not willing to believe. 
 
    “And there is one underway as we speak. Luckily, you were too preoccupied with your current predicament to declare your level of participation. Doing so now…is unorthodox, but technically permitted,” he cajoled. 
 
    “What good will that do me,” I verbalised my internal procrastination “I will be sent back when the challenge finishes.” 
 
    “Have you learned nothing from Daxas, Jezebel?” Drakonis admonished. 
 
    Taking his cue, I mentally examined the Accords with regards to the Divine Challenge and my lips parted with an involuntary inhalation of breath when I saw what he hinted at. 
 
    The Accords only allowed us to enter the Proving Grounds, with our True Mind or otherwise, for a Divine Challenge. But it didn’t specify that it could only be for the current Divine Challenge. Provided I didn’t take part in the one underway right now, I wouldn’t be cast out of the Proving Grounds when it concluded. 
 
    I smiled, but my expression quickly transitioned to a frown. “Why do you want me in the Proving Grounds?” I asked Drakonis suspiciously. 
 
    “Your misgivings about me possessing an ulterior motive, wounds me, Jezebel,” Drakonis sighed theatrically. “You’re right, of course. I have many motives, both ulterior and otherwise. Let us say that we have a pre-existing deal and I need you alive to complete your part of it.” 
 
    I could feel his smugness as he threw my earlier argument back at me. 
 
    He knew I didn’t have a choice, irrespective of my distrust of him. I shrugged in defeat and stepped through the portal to whatever fate awaited me on the other side. 
 
    I may have lost this battle, but I wasn’t out of the fight. 
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    https://www.facebook.com/groups/LitRPGforum/ 
 
    https://www.facebook.com/groups/litrpgfantasyaddicts/ 
 
    https://www.facebook.com/groups/TheFantasyNation 
 
    https://www.facebook.com/groups/LitRPGReleases 
 
    https://www.facebook.com/groups/LitRPGAdventures 
 
    https://www.facebook.com/groups/litrpgguild 
 
    https://www.facebook.com/groups/540394709678045 
 
    https://www.facebook.com/groups/MonsterGirlFiction 
 
    If you want to find more great LitRPG Books, check out the Amazon store - https://www.amazon.com/litrpg 
 
    I have a Facebook group too, which you can join for a heads up on when Book 2 and future additions drop. 
 
    www.facebook.com/groups/disciplesofdevantusdrakonis/ 
 
    I also have a patreon group. Please consider joining it to offer me support, maybe my patron the supreme dark sorcerer himself won’t obliterate me or turn me into a luminescent gerbil if it does well enough.  
 
    You will get early access to whatever books I am writing up until the point they are published. Then I have to pull them as per the terms of KDP Select exclusivity.  
 
    https://www.patreon.com/Devantus_Drakonis 
 
      
 
    Copyright © 2022 by Devan Drake 
 
    All rights reserved. This book or any portion thereof 
 
    may not be reproduced or used in any manner whatsoever  
 
    without the express written permission of the publisher 
 
    except for the use of brief quotations in a book review. 
 
      
 
    

  

 
   
    Dramatis Personae & Character Sheets 
 
    Daxas: Dungeon Master of the Wolf King’s Lair 
 
    
     
      
      	  Name 
  
      	  Daxas 
  
      	  Race 
  
      	  Lupus Rex 
  
     
 
      
      	  Strength 
  
      	  26 
  
      	  Mana 
  
      	  50 
  
     
 
      
      	  Agility 
  
      	  26 
  
      	  Spell Power 
  
      	  20 
  
     
 
      
      	  Stamina 
  
      	  26 
  
      	  Resilience 
  
      	  25 
  
     
 
      
      	  Health 
  
      	  520/520 
  
      	  Dungeon Power 
  
      	  20 
  
     
 
      
      	  Rank 
  
      	  35-77 unspent 
  
      	  Unspent Experience 
  
      	  42 million and change. 
  
     
 
      
      	  Current Soul Marks 
  
      	  17,653 
  
      	  Fallen Total 
  
      	  2,209 
  
     
 
      
      	  Spells and Skills 
  
     
 
      
      	  Mining 46, Hunting 45, Gathering 47, Farming 45, Smelting 47, Butchering 47, Woodwork 46, Masonry 23, Metal Work 46, Leather Work 54, Alchemy 45, Enchanting 51, General Crafting 24 
    
  Spells: Life Affinity 
  Summon Beasts 2 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
  Description: 1) You may summon power level one beasts to fight by your side. Number of beasts summoned equals (spell power/10 rounding down). The beasts will remain with you until slain or for ten minutes. 2) When one of your beasts is slain there is a 50% chance it will revive at full health. 
    
  Venom 2 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 2 minutes. 
  Description: You imbue a weapon with a magical rank one venom. The next successful attack by that weapon will inflict a venom effect on the target. Rank two Venom: Causes 25 venom damage initially, and a further 10 venom damage every thirty seconds until purged. If purged, target can’t be affected by a rank one or two venom for one hour. 
    
  Regrowth 1 (Life) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to your spell power per point of mana used. 
    
  Electro Claws 2 (Lightning) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 2 electrical damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/5 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of twenty. 
    
  Lightning Bolt 2 (Lightning) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used 
  Description: 1) Throw a bolt of lightning at a target. On a successful hit the target takes electrical damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 2) Hit targets have a 50% chance to become a Lightning Rod. Damage from Lightning sources doubled. Target will absorb 25% of Lightning damage from other sources within 10 feet. 
    
  Chain Lightning 1 (Lightning) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 5/100 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Throw a bolt of lightning at a target. On a successful hit the target takes electrical damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana/5 used. The spell will jump to the nearest enemy combatant and inflict the initial damage divided by 2. This will continue until either there are no more unaffected targets or damage had been reduced to 1 or 0. A missed thrown spell costs 5 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 
    
  Heal 2 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to your spell power per point of mana used. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Bless 2 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 2 sanctified damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/ 10 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of ten. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Purge 2 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: None 
  Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked, is instantly purged of the effects of any rank one or two poison, disease or venom. 
  
     
 
      
      	  Special Effects: 
  
     
 
      
      	  Shifter: Battle Form (Warwolf), Passive Form (Lupus Humanoid) 
    
  Dungeon Dominator 2: Dominance aura x3 
    
  Damage Reduction (granted by Resilience): Impact 25, Piercing 25, Heat 20, Cold 20, Necrotic 18, Electrical 20, Corrosive 20, Venom 20, Poison 20, Sanctified 18, Infernal 18 
    
  Aura of Dominance: (30) A born leader, those without a similar/opposing aura, or of a lesser strength may be affected. Those affected will instinctively defer to you, making them more likely to submit to your will. Its effect is enhanced the longer they are in your presence. Holding a position of authority over a person will also enhance its effect. * (Passive and Battle Forms) 
    
  Aura of Fear: (15) You possess a fearsome form, reputation or natural fear inducing intoxicant. Those without a similar/opposing aura, or of a lesser strength may be affected. There is a chance their actions will be weaker, or slower, or may struggle to accurately verbalise spells or abilities. (Battle Form only) 
    
  Aura of Sexual Magnetism: (15) You possess a comely form, reputation or natural arousing intoxicant. Those without a similar/opposing aura, or of a lesser strength may be affected. Affected members of the opposite sex will view you more positively and be more inclined to accede to your requests. There is a chance that affected members of the same sex will view you negatively and be more inclined to refuse requests or act aggressively. ** (Passive Form only) 
    
  *As this dungeon has a Dominance speciality this effect is x3 
  **As this dungeon is of the Sexual sphere this effect is x2. 
  As this dungeon has a female affinity speciality this effect is x3 for females. 
  As this dungeon has a fertility affinity speciality this effect is x3 for fertile creatures.  
  As this dungeon has a lust affinity speciality this effect is x3 for if either party would be sexually attracted without its effect. 
  As this dungeon has a polyspecism speciality those affected by the aura who would usually object to a sexual relationship with another species are less likely to do so (auras strength determines efficacy). Magnetism x3. 
  
     
 
      
      	  
      	  
      	  
      	  
     
 
     
   
 
      
 
    Jessamyn Wolfsbride: First Disciple and Alpha Female of Daxas harem. 
 
    
     
      
      	  Name 
  
      	  Jessamyn Wolfsbride 
  
      	  Race 
  
      	  Wood Elf 
  
     
 
      
      	  Strength 
  
      	  10 
  
      	  Mana 
  
      	  30 
  
     
 
      
      	  Agility 
  
      	  15 
  
      	  Spell Power 
  
      	  20 
  
     
 
      
      	  Stamina 
  
      	  11 
  
      	  Resilience 
  
      	  0 
  
     
 
      
      	  Health 
  
      	  220/220 
  
      	  Unspent Points 
  
      	  115 
  
     
 
      
      	  Rank 
  
      	  35 
  
      	  Experience 
  
      	  1,705,500/666,000 
  
     
 
      
      	  Spells and Skills 
  
     
 
      
      	  Mining 60, Hunting 60, Gathering 60, Farming 60 
    
  Spells: Sanctified Affinity 
  Heal 2 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to your spell power per point of mana used. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Bless 2 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 2 sanctified damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/ 10 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of ten. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Purge 2 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: None 
  Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked, is instantly purged of the effects of any rank one or two poison, disease or venom. 
    
  Summon Beasts 2 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
  Description: 1) You may summon power level one beasts to fight by your side. Number of beasts summoned equals (spell power/10 rounding down). The beasts will remain with you until slain or for ten minutes. 2) When one of your beasts is slain there is a 50% chance it will revive at full health. 
    
  Venom 2 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 2 minutes. 
  Description: You imbue a weapon with a magical rank one venom. The next successful attack by that weapon will inflict a venom effect on the target. Rank two Venom: Causes 25 venom damage initially, and a further 10 venom damage every thirty seconds until purged. If purged, target can’t be affected by a rank one or two venom for one hour. 
    
  Flame Bolt 2 (Fire) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used 
  Description: Throw a sphere of fire at a target. On a successful hit the target takes heat damage (spell power/2 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 
    
  Flame Fists 2 (Fire) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 2 heat damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/5 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of twenty. 
  
     
 
      
      	  Special Effects: 
  
     
 
      
      	  Sanctified Spell Affinity: Sanctified spells cost half as much mana than usual. Remainders rounded down. Recast Cooldowns are based on original spell cost and not discounted cost. 
    
  Aura of Dominance: (20) [Daxasian blessing] A born leader, those without a similar/opposing aura, or of a lesser strength may be affected. Those affected will instinctively defer to you, making them more likely to submit to your will. Its effect is enhanced the longer they are in your presence. Holding a position of authority over a person will also enhance its effect. * 
    
  *Granted as the Alpha female of the Wolf King’s harem, its effect is x2 on other harem members. 
  As this dungeon has a Dominance speciality this effect is x2 
  
     
 
      
      	  
      	  
      	  
      	  
     
 
     
   
 
      
 
    Karragh Dvarhold: Second Disciple 
 
    
     
      
      	  Name 
  
      	  Karragh Dvarhold 
  
      	  Race 
  
      	  Ironskin Dwarf 
  
     
 
      
      	  Strength 
  
      	  20 
  
      	  Mana 
  
      	  10 
  
     
 
      
      	  Agility 
  
      	  11 
  
      	  Spell Power 
  
      	  20 
  
     
 
      
      	  Stamina 
  
      	  25 
  
      	  Resilience 
  
      	  0 
  
     
 
      
      	  Health 
  
      	  500/500 
  
      	  Unspent Points 
  
      	  121 
  
     
 
      
      	  Rank 
  
      	  35 
  
      	  Experience 
  
      	  1,168,500/666,000 
  
     
 
      
      	  Spells and Skills 
  
     
 
      
      	  Mining 31, Hunting 31, Gathering 31, Farming 31, Metal Working 58, Smelting 50 
    
  Spells: Earth Affinity 
  Stamina Boost 2 (Earth) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: 1) Stamina stat of target is increased by 5 for (Spell Power/2 rounding down) minutes to a max of ten. 2) Surge: Effect can be increased up to x4 by increasing casting cost or reducing duration. 
    
  Summon Beasts 2 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
  Description: 1) You may summon power level one beasts to fight by your side. Number of beasts summoned equals (spell power/10 rounding down). The beasts will remain with you until slain or for ten minutes. 2) When one of your beasts is slain there is a 50% chance it will revive at full health. 
    
  Venom 2 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 2 minutes. 
  Description: You imbue a weapon with a magical rank one venom. The next successful attack by that weapon will inflict a venom effect on the target. Rank two Venom: Causes 25 venom damage initially, and a further 10 venom damage every thirty seconds until purged. If purged, target can’t be affected by a rank one or two venom for one hour. 
    
  Heal 2 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to your spell power per point of mana used. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Bless 2 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 2 sanctified damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/ 10 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of ten. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Purge 2 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: None 
  Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked, is instantly purged of the effects of any rank one or two poison, disease or venom. 
  
     
 
      
      	  Special Effects: 
  
     
 
      
      	  Earth Spell Affinity: Earth spells cost half as much mana than usual. Remainders rounded down. Recast Cooldowns are based on original spell cost and not discounted cost. 
    
  Magnified Metalworker: [Daxasian Blessing] Metalworking and Smelting skills are treated as twenty ranks higher than current skill ranks. 
  
     
 
      
      	  
      	  
      	  
      	  
     
 
     
   
 
      
 
    Fiadh Longclaws: Third Disciple 
 
    
     
      
      	  Name 
  
      	  Fiadh Longclaws 
  
      	  Race 
  
      	  Savage Human 
  
     
 
      
      	  Strength 
  
      	  15 
  
      	  Mana 
  
      	  16 
  
     
 
      
      	  Agility 
  
      	  15 
  
      	  Spell Power 
  
      	  16 
  
     
 
      
      	  Stamina 
  
      	  35 
  
      	  Resilience 
  
      	  0 
  
     
 
      
      	  Health 
  
      	  700/700 
  
      	  Unspent Points 
  
      	  121 
  
     
 
      
      	  Rank 
  
      	  35 
  
      	  Experience 
  
      	  1,675,850/666,000 
  
     
 
      
      	  Spells and Skills 
  
     
 
      
      	  Mining 59, Hunting 52, Gathering 52, Farming 49 
    
  Blood Rage 2 (Infernal) 
  Cost: 20 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: Can only be cast when health drops below 50% 
  Description: Strength and Stamina stat increased by (Spell Power/2). 2) This spell will be auto-cast when the requirements are met.
Duration: Until no living enemies are visible. 
No other spells may be cast while Blood Rage is active.
As Stamina increases, so does the persons health pool. When the ability is deactivated their stamina and health pool will revert to its original size. If their current damage exceeds the new lower health pool, they will die without immediate healing. 
    
  
     
 
      
      	  Special Effects: 
  
     
 
      
      	  Battle Frenzy: An ability which allows a person to channel Mana to increase their physical attributes by 100%. Ability duration is 1 sec per point of Spell Power. It costs 1 Mana for each activation.  
  Once activated Battle Frenzy will continue to renew until all enemies are defeated or Mana is exhausted. 
  If the persons Mana pool is exhausted before the battle’s completion Battle Frenzy will continue. This will result in a 50% debuff to all physical stats at battles end (duration minutes*mana that should have been used).  
  As Stamina increases, so does the persons health pool. When the ability is deactivated their stamina and health pool will revert to its original size (or lower if they ran out of Mana). If their current damage exceeds the new lower health pool, they will die without immediate healing.  
    
  Wolf King’s Passion: [Daxasian Blessing] The activation and deactivation of the Battle Frenzy ability is now controlled by Daxas, the Wolf King. Mana will always recharge at a rate of 1 per minute provided Fiadh has no other spell abilities. 
  
     
 
      
      	  
      	  
      	  
      	  
     
 
     
   
 
      
 
    Nessa Fiveleaf: Fourth Disciple and claimed Dungeon 
 
    
     
      
      	  Name 
  
      	  Nessa Fiveleaf 
  
      	  Race 
  
      	  Oakheart Dryad 
  
     
 
      
      	  Strength 
  
      	  8 
  
      	  Mana 
  
      	  34 
  
     
 
      
      	  Agility 
  
      	  12 
  
      	  Spell Power 
  
      	  23 
  
     
 
      
      	  Stamina 
  
      	  8 
  
      	  Resilience 
  
      	  0 
  
     
 
      
      	  Health 
  
      	  160/160 
  
      	  Dungeon Power 
  
      	  5 
  
     
 
      
      	  Rank 
  
      	  30 
  
      	  Unspent Points 
  
      	  75 
  
     
 
      
      	  Current Soul Marks 
  
      	  N/A 
  
      	  Fallen Total 
  
      	  N/A 
  
     
 
      
      	  Spells and Skills 
  
     
 
      
      	  Mining 45, Hunting 45, Gathering 45, Farming 45, Alchemy 20 
    
  Spells: Life Affinity 
  Regrowth 4 (Life) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to your spell power per point of mana used. If the target is a life domain creature the effect is doubled. 2) May be used on dead Flora sphere creatures, returning them to life. 
    
  Summon Beasts (Plant-based) 2 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
  Description: 1) You may summon power level one beasts to fight by your side. Number of beasts summoned equals (spell power/10 rounding down). The beasts will remain with you until slain or for ten minutes. 2) When one of your beasts is slain there is a 50% chance it will revive at full health. 
    
  Venom 2 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 2 minutes. 
  Description: You imbue a weapon with a magical rank one venom. The next successful attack by that weapon will inflict a venom effect on the target. Rank two Venom: Causes 25 venom damage initially, and a further 10 venom damage every thirty seconds until purged. If purged, target can’t be affected by a rank one or two venom for one hour. 
    
  Heal 2 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to your spell power per point of mana used. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Bless 2 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 2 sanctified damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/ 10 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of ten. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Purge 2 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: None 
  Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked, is instantly purged of the effects of any rank one or two poison, disease or venom. 
    
  Ice Blast 2 (Frost) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Throw a blast of ice at a target. On a successful hit the target takes cold damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 2) Hit targets have a chance to be paralysed by the cold. Base chance is 50% less targets resistance. Paralysis lasts Spell Power x 2 seconds. There is a 30-minute cooldown before the same target can be affected by paralysis again. 
    
  Frostbite 2 (Frost) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 2 cold damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/5 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of twenty. 
    
  Chill Zone 1 (Frost) 
  Cost: 1 mana per square foot affected. 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
  Description: Create a chill zone that inflicts your Spell Power in Cold damage to anyone currently in or who passes through the area it effects. The zone lasts for five minutes. 
    
  
     
 
      
      	  Special Effects: 
  
     
 
      
      	  Fecund Abundance: (Verdant speciality) Health regeneration for living creatures in this dungeon is doubled. Growth for all living things in this dungeon is doubled. The following advanced dungeon rooms unlocked early. Jungle, Forest, and Meadow.  
    
  Life Finds a Way: [Daxasian Blessing] Life seeds from this ‘Mother’ have a chance to be masterwork items (based on dungeons % chance). A masterwork Life Seed, if charged with 1000 soul marks, can grant true life to whatever dungeon creature it is used upon. If uncharged it can be used as standard Life Seed. 
  
     
 
      
      	  
      	  
      	  
      	  
     
 
     
   
 
      
 
    Jen’Zadeer Shadestar: Fifth Disciple and claimed Dungeon 
 
    
     
      
      	  Name 
  
      	  Jen’Zadeer Shadestar 
  
      	  Race 
  
      	  Dark Elf 
  
     
 
      
      	  Strength 
  
      	  8 
  
      	  Mana 
  
      	  45 
  
     
 
      
      	  Agility 
  
      	  15 
  
      	  Spell Power 
  
      	  33 
  
     
 
      
      	  Stamina 
  
      	  10 
  
      	  Resilience 
  
      	  0 
  
     
 
      
      	  Health 
  
      	  200/200 
  
      	  Dungeon Power 
  
      	  8 
  
     
 
      
      	  Rank 
  
      	  33 
  
      	  Unspent Points 
  
      	  75 
  
     
 
      
      	  Current Soul Marks 
  
      	  N/A 
  
      	  Fallen Total 
  
      	  N/A 
  
     
 
      
      	  Spells and Skills 
  
     
 
      
      	  Mining 43, Hunting 43, Gathering 43, Farming 43, Enchanting 20 
    
  Spells: Frost Affinity, Destruction Affinity 
  Ice Blast 4 (Frost) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 15 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Throw a blast of ice at a target. On a successful hit the target takes cold damage (spell power/4 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 2) Hit targets have a chance to be paralysed by the cold. Base chance is 100% less targets resistance. Paralysis lasts Spell Power x 2 seconds. There is a 30-minute cooldown before the same target can be affected by paralysis again. 
    
  Frostbite 2 (Frost) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 2 cold damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/5 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of twenty. 
    
  Chill Zone 1 (Frost) 
  Cost: 1 mana per square foot affected. 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
  Description: Create a chill zone that inflicts your Spell Power in Cold damage to anyone currently in or who passes through the area it effects. The zone lasts for five minutes. 
    
  Strength Boost 2 (Destruction) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: 1) Strength stat of target is increased by 5 for (Spell Power/2 rounding down) minutes to a max of ten. 2) Surge: Effect can be increased up to x4 by increasing casting cost or reducing duration. 
    
  Armour Breaker 2 (Destruction) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: DR of target for Impact and Piercing damage is reduced by 5 for (Spell Power/2 rounding down) minutes to a max of ten. 2) There is a 50% chance a random item of armour provides no benefit for 30 minutes. 
    
  Crumble 1 (Destruction) 
  Cost: 1 mana per square cube affected. 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
  Description: Destroy any structures or barriers within the spells effect range. Deals no damage directly to living beings. 
    
  Heal 2 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked instantly regains health equal to your spell power per point of mana used. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Bless 2 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: 1) Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 2 sanctified damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/ 10 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of ten. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Purge 2 (Sanctified) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: None 
  Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked, is instantly purged of the effects of any rank one or two poison, disease or venom. 
    
  
     
 
      
      	  Special Effects: 
  
     
 
      
      	  Concealed Casting: Opponents will be unaware of the first spell cast, catching them by surprise. They will actively misinterpret the casters words or gestures.  
    
  Frost Spell Affinity: Frost spells cost half as much mana than usual. Remainders rounded down. Recast Cooldowns are based on original spell cost and not discounted cost. (granted by Spellcraft perk) 
    
  Cold Heart of the Deceiver: [Daxasian Blessing] The Concealed Casting ability works for the first casting of each spell the caster has learned. 
  
     
 
      
      	  
      	  
      	  
      	  
     
 
     
   
 
      
 
    Tabitha Greenfields: Sixth Disciple 
 
    
     
      
      	  Name 
  
      	  Tabitha Greenfields 
  
      	  Race 
  
      	  Hare-kin 
  
     
 
      
      	  Strength 
  
      	  14 
  
      	  Mana 
  
      	  13 
  
     
 
      
      	  Agility 
  
      	  27 
  
      	  Spell Power 
  
      	  19 
  
     
 
      
      	  Stamina 
  
      	  16 
  
      	  Resilience 
  
      	  0 
  
     
 
      
      	  Health 
  
      	  320/320 
  
      	  Unspent Points 
  
      	  126 
  
     
 
      
      	  Rank 
  
      	  35 
  
      	  Experience 
  
      	  1,655,850/666,000 
  
     
 
      
      	  Spells and Skills 
  
     
 
      
      	  Mining 43, Hunting 43, Gathering 45, Farming 43 
    
  Spells: Wind Affinity 
  Agility Boost 2 (Wind) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: Agility stat of target is increased by 5 for (Spell Power/2 rounding down) minutes to a max of ten. 2) Surge: Effect can be increased up to x4 by increasing casting cost or reducing duration. 
    
  Wind Blast 2 (Wind) 
  Cost: Channelled, min/max 1/20 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 seconds per point of mana used. 
  Description: 1) Throw a blast of wind at a target. On a successful hit the target takes Impact damage (spell power/2 rounding down) per point of mana used. A missed thrown spell costs 1 mana regardless of original channelled amount and has no cooldown. 2) Target is pushed back (Spell power/2 rounding down) feet. 3) Continuous: If caster does not move wind blast can be maintained. 
    
  Summon Beasts 2 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes. 
  Description: 1) You may summon power level one beasts to fight by your side. Number of beasts summoned equals (spell power/10 rounding down). The beasts will remain with you until slain or for ten minutes. 2) When one of your beasts is slain there is a 50% chance it will revive at full health. 
    
  Venom 1 (Life) 
  Cost: 10 mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 2 minutes. 
  Description: You imbue a weapon with a magical rank one venom. The next successful attack by that weapon will inflict a venom effect on the target. Rank one Venom: Causes 10 venom damage initially, and a further 5 venom damage every thirty seconds until purged. If purged, target can’t be affected by a rank one venom for one hour. 
  
     
 
      
      	  Special Effects: 
  
     
 
      
      	  Wind Spell Affinity: Wind spells cost half as much mana than usual. Remainders rounded down. Recast Cooldowns are based on original spell cost and not discounted cost.  
    
  Frith’s Fleetness: [Daxasian Blessing] When being pursued Agility is doubled for thirty seconds. This ability can only be activated once every thirty minutes.  
  
     
 
      
      	  
      	  
      	  
      	  
     
 
     
   
 
      
 
    Gretsch Vaggarlesgh: First inherited disciple 
 
    
     
      
      	  Name 
  
      	  Gretsch Vaggarlesgh 
  
      	  Race 
  
      	  Mountain Goblin 
  
     
 
      
      	  Strength 
  
      	  20 
  
      	  Mana 
  
      	  5 
  
     
 
      
      	  Agility 
  
      	  8 
  
      	  Spell Power 
  
      	  5 
  
     
 
      
      	  Stamina 
  
      	  20 
  
      	  Resilience 
  
      	  0 
  
     
 
      
      	  Health 
  
      	  400/400 
  
      	  Unspent Points 
  
      	  137 
  
     
 
      
      	  Rank 
  
      	  35 
  
      	  Experience 
  
      	  1,537,280/66,000 
  
     
 
      
      	  Spells and Skills 
  
     
 
      
      	  Mining 46, Hunting 46, Gathering 46, Farming 46 
    
  Spells: 
  Strength Boost 1 (Destruction) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: Strength stat of target is increased by 5 for (Spell Power/2 rounding down) minutes to a max of ten. 
    
  Armour Breaker 2 (Destruction) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: DR of target for Impact and Piercing damage is reduced by 5 for (Spell Power/2 rounding down) minutes to a max of ten. 2) There is a 50% chance a random item of armour provides no benefit for 30 minutes. 
  
     
 
      
      	  Special Effects: 
  
     
 
      
      	  Mob Rule: Damage dealt is increased or decreased depending on the numerical superiority or inferiority over the opposition in the current room. This change is proportional to that advantage or disadvantage. Increase maximum is 100%, decrease maximum is 50%. (Only affects Piercing or Impact damage depending on the weapon used) 
  
     
 
      
      	  
      	  
      	  
      	  
     
 
     
   
 
      
 
    Marux Splithoof: Second inherited disciple 
 
    
     
      
      	  Name 
  
      	  Marux Splithoof 
  
      	  Race 
  
      	  Infernal Minotaur 
  
     
 
      
      	  Strength 
  
      	  21 
  
      	  Mana 
  
      	  20 
  
     
 
      
      	  Agility 
  
      	  16 
  
      	  Spell Power 
  
      	  18 
  
     
 
      
      	  Stamina 
  
      	  21 
  
      	  Resilience 
  
      	  0 
  
     
 
      
      	  Health 
  
      	  420/420 
  
      	  Unspent Points 
  
      	  130 
  
     
 
      
      	  Rank 
  
      	  35 
  
      	  Experience 
  
      	  1,546,330/666,000 
  
     
 
      
      	  Spells and Skills 
  
     
 
      
      	  Mining 41, Hunting 41, Gathering 41, Farming 41 
  
     
 
      
      	  Special Effects: 
  
     
 
      
      	  Infernal Spell Affinity: Infernal spells cost half as much mana than usual. Remainders rounded down. Recast Cooldowns are based on original spell cost and not discounted cost. 
    
  Spells: Infernal Spell Affinity 
  Blood Rage 2 (Infernal) 
  Cost: 20 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: Can only be cast when health drops below 50% 
  Description: Strength and Stamina stat increased by (Spell Power/2). 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell.
Duration: Until no living enemies are visible. 
No other spells may be cast while Blood Rage is active.
As Stamina increases, so does the persons health pool. When the ability is deactivated their stamina and health pool will revert to its original size. If their current damage exceeds the new lower health pool, they will die without immediate healing. 
    
  Infernal Talons 2 (Infernal) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: Any target you can see or have previously marked inflicts an extra 2 infernal damage each time it deals damage. The duration is (spell power/10 rounding down) minutes, to a maximum of ten. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell. 
    
  Hex 2 (Infernal) 
  Cost: 10 Mana 
  Recast Cooldown: 30 minutes 
  Description: Highest physical stat of target is decreased by 5 for (Spell Power/2 rounding down) minutes to a max of ten. 2) Multi-target. May target up to 4 people with one cast of this spell. 
  
     
 
      
      	  
      	  
      	  
      	  
     
 
     
   
 
      
 
    Tenzing: A quarantined manifestation of the energy entity that inhabits the ethereal plane that makes the Proving Grounds possible. He acts as an adviser to Daxas. 
 
    Alyssa Hadrill: Another quarantined manifestation. Acts as a buffer between Daxas and the Lords. 
 
    Simeon Reedwhistle: Halfling Guild Chief of the Dark Moon Rising, a guild jointly founded by himself and Daxas. 
 
    The Dark Moon Rising: A guild whose members unknowing contribute to the expansion and feeding of Daxas. Notable members include Arash, Pacclo, Sindar, Garbrakken and his twin Gorbrukken, Krista Belhoff and Piotr.

Sone of the Shadow: A dark elf guild now controlled by Daxas. The official head of it’s council is Nel’Van Lackspire 
 
      
 
    Enemies and Rivals 
 
    Ironhammer: Divine Lord of Dwarves and Blacksmithing 
 
    Jezebel, the Silver Lady: Divine Lord of High Elves. Her following is devoted to chastity and temperance. 
 
    Timian: Divine Lord of Prophecy, a complete arsehole. 
 
    Gorvag: Short-tooth orc Dungeon Master. Part of a cabal of dungeons surreptitiously serving the Lords. 
 
    Genya: Gorvag’s daughter and disciple. 
 
    Runx: Gorvag’s first disciple 
 
    Tamara: Gorgon Dungeon Master. Part of a cabal of dungeons surreptitiously serving the Lords. 
 
    Reena: Lamia disciple of Tamara’s. 
 
    Gerhalt: Halfling Dungeon Master. Part of a cabal of dungeons surreptitiously serving the Lords. 
 
    Burstan: Rakshasa Dungeon Master. Part of a cabal of dungeons surreptitiously serving the Lords. 
 
    The Black Hills Brigade: A dwarf led guild in zone seven of the Proving Grounds with intentions to destroy the Wolf King’s Lair. (Now gone) 
 
    The Jagged Boar Tusks: A tribe of long-tooth orcs, responsible for draining Jessamyn’s soul marks and Nessa’s core crystal. 
 
    The Gleaming Towers: A high elf guild conspiring with the Black Hills Brigade. 
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